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Letter to Shareholders
Dear Shareholders,

Over the past 15 years, we have written many emails, notes, and updates to our
shareholders, but it is the first time we are writing an annual letter to all shareholders to
share our thoughts and story of company building in greater detail.

Let us first go back to understand why we do what we do.

We started this company with a passion for empowering Indian travelers by offering them
technology that helps them plan, book, and manage their trips. Our vision is to become
the most customer-centric travel company, by offering the best customer experience to
our users.

From the early days when we launched a flights meta-search engine for Indian travelers
in 2007 to our train-focused app launched in 2013 that offered valuable crowd-sourced
utility information for the underserved train travel market, to focusing on mobile apps and
becoming transactional over time, to ixigo Assured, (an offering built during the first
lockdown and launched in FY2021), offering a full refund guarantee when customers
cancel trains, flights or bus journey for any reason, we are a company that has not only
evolved with the times in terms of business model, but we have also been able to solve
for challenges faced by travelers and introduce product features that help millions of
travelers every day in getting meaningful travel information to make better decisions. We
have applied Atrtificial Intelligence (Al) & Machine Learning (ML) technologies across
offline train running status (using cell-tower signals), train running status prediction, PNR
prediction, TARA (our in-house Al chatbot that solves the vast majority of our customer
service queries without human intervention). This has resulted in faster growth, better
NPS as well as lower customer acquisition costs, leading to more than 85% of our
customers now coming to us organically every year (through non-paid customer
acquisition channels). All these steps have helped us in becoming the most downloaded
OTA app for the next billion users.

When the COVID-19 pandemic began in March 2020, we were in a very unique position
as a company. We had recently become an OTA across all categories and had a lean
team of 170 ixigems. We had been able to scale our user-base, monetisation, and
revenue rapidly in the previous 12 months, but we continued to retain the nimbleness and
agility to react rapidly to the changing business environment due to the impact of COVID
- 19 pandemic. We chose not to lay off any employee in the team as we understood that,
above everything else, this was a humanitarian crisis. The team contributed immensely
to our ability to manage the crisis and many ixigems worked on reduced salaries for
several months. We also made sure that all those ixigems got to participate in our ESOP
Schemes and rewarded their sacrifice and commitment with more ownership in the
company.

HMARO
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Where we are today, we owe to our cultural values of Customer Obsession, Empathy,
Ownership, Resilience, Ingenuity, and Excellence. We believe that everything we are,
and we do, we owe it to the talented and committed team of ixigems and to these cultural
values that we live up to. They define who we hire, who we promote, how we interact with
our customers, how we build products, how we treat our business partners and vendors,
and how we operate. These cultural values were always implicit at ixigo. We never had
posters on our walls talking about them, but we lived them through the actions of the
team, especially the leaders and founders. However, making them explicit allows us to
ask ourselves and our fellow ixigems whether we are living up to these core values day
in and day out. These actions and our team spirit helped us bounce back much faster
than the overall market, a fact also recognised by the Economic Times Start-up Awards
2021 where we won in the Comeback Kid category for our grit, resilience, and successful
comeback.

Our customer centricity was further displayed when during the pandemic we made sure
we focused on helping our users get back their pending refunds from airlines in a timely
manner, refunded even convenience fees for cancelled flights (which we do till date), and
we’re there to help our travelers in these uncertain and testing times with timely
information and updates on ever changing travel guidelines. We also went back to the
drawing board and built ixigo assured, our free cancellation offering that gives “no
questions asked” full fare refund to the customers who cancel their bookings for any
reason. Over time we offered it across flights, trains, and buses and it has become an
important driver of word of mouth and customer loyalty for us.

In FY21, we acquired ConfirmTkt, a fast-growing train-focused business, and together,
we became the #1 OTA for train bookings in India with over 42% market share among
OTAs by the end of FY21. We are proud to report that Confirmtkt has grown revenues
from Rs.372.36 Million in FY21 to Rs.1,282.05 Million in FY22, a 244.30% increase. In
FY22, we also added another important leg to our next billion user growth story, through
the acquisition of the bus business of AbhiBus, effectively becoming the second-largest
bus OTA in India. Together, we endeavour to drive more synergies in selling buses, trains,
and flights across the entire group to the next billion users from Tier 2,3,4 towns in India.

We are proud of touching some new milestones when it comes to scale. In March 2022
we touched 5mn daily active users cumulatively across our ixigo trains, ixigo flights,
Confirmtkt, and AbhiBus apps and websites. We have also crossed 8.47mn Monthly
Downloads and 55.45 Mn Monthly Active Users in the month of March 2022, making us
the most downloaded and most used travel app among the prominent travel apps in the
country as per data.ai (formerly AppAnnie). In fact, we are proud to report that both ixigo
and Confirmtkt made it to the Top 10 apps by Breakout Downloads globally in 2021 as
per data.ai (formerly AppAnnie). We have also been able to improve conversion and
cross-sell rates to monetize our large user base better, resulting in rapid growth in
transactions and revenues.

Despite the challenges that the COVID-19 second wave (in Q1) and the Omicron-variant
third wave (in Q4) threw at us, in FY 22 we have managed to grow our operating revenues
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ixigo

to Rs. 3,795.80 Million, registering a 180% increase in revenues, and have managed to
continue remaining Adjusted EBITDA positive, with an Adjusted EBITDA of Rs. 62 million
for FY22. This year, with the vaccination, ramp up in our country, reaching around 82.50%
of the population vaccinated fully by the end of FY22, we saw traveler confidence improve
and to resume its bounce-back with the pent-up demand of much of 2020 and 2021. At
the end of FY22, though train reserved demand in the country had already surpassed
pre-COVID levels, daily flight passengers, as well as bus passengers, still hadn’t fully
recovered to pre-COVID levels. International flight schedules have resumed from March
27, 2022, and we expect that international flights will commence recovering in FY23,
though the Russia-Ukraine situation has led to an increase in oil prices that continues to
keep fares on the higher side, preventing more rapid recovery.

15 years seems like a long time, but this epoch of the Internet ecosystem and the online
travel market in India will still be regarded as the foundational years for what is yet to
come. Our country still has one of the lowest penetrations of digital commerce adoption
in the world, one of the lowest per capita spends on leisure travel among developing
countries, and one of the most aspirational and young populations in the world. We are
committed to serving their ever-evolving needs when it comes to travel planning and
bookings, and we will continue our efforts to build the very best customer experience in
our space.

Sincerely,

Aloke and Rajnish
Co-Founders, ixigo

%= [ale
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATION

OVERVIEW
Indian Macro-Economic Overview

India is expected to move from being the 7" largest economy in 2018 to the 4" largest by
2030. The domestic market in India is sizeable, attracting foreign investors and businesses
to cater to this growing demand and utilize its workforce potential with strong economic
fundamentals.

The travel industry is expanding its overall contribution to the Indian economy as the share
of services sector increases from 46% to the GDP in 2016 to 67% in 2030. The contribution
to real GDP of hotel and transport as a sector will grow from 16% in Fiscal 2019 to 22% of
the real GDP in Fiscal 2030. This is mainly because of the organic population demand
surges are being met with innovative private enterprises, enabled by technology, and ably
supported by government investments facilitating policies in air, road, and rail transportation
and in branded and unbranded hospitality.

Travel Industry Overview

From 2015 to 2019, 1 in 4 new jobs created globally were in the travel and tourism industry,
which employed 272 million people in the year 2020. The overall contribution of the sector
has increased at a healthy rate of 5% from % 539 trillion in 2015 to ¥ 671 trillion in 2019.
India’s global rank in tourism spending is a respectable fifth, and it ranks tenth in terms of
percentage-of-GDP spending. India’s tourism spending contributed 8% to the country’s
GDP, which has grown at a CAGR of over 7% between 2015 and 2020. The sector
witnessed significant disruption due to Covid-19 pandemic and according to the WTTC, the
global travel industry suffered a total loss of over X 320 trillion in the year 2020.

The total Indian travel market has grown at an approximate CAGR of 10% from Fiscal 2015
reaching ¥ 3.90 trillion in Fiscal 2020. This market size is expected to grow by 7% and reach
% 5.01 trillion by 2024.

Key Growth Drivers of the OTA Industry

The drivers that spur the growth of the economy and individual transportation segments of
air, rail, bus, and hospitality are also significant drivers of the OTA industry. Today, travel
purchases rank second only to retail shopping, in online shopping in India.

OTA Industry across travel segments is driven specifically due to the following
factors:

e Rising penetration of affordable smartphone users which is expected to reach 829
million by 2022, and 1.1 billion in 2024.

o Telecommunication companies are expanding 4G services in rural areas with better
connectivity and speed such that customers can use apps and easily book tickets

online.
ixigo .‘
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o The exponential growth of UPI and other multiple modes of digital payments have
led to convenient and trusted online payments.

« Consumer browsing habits on the internet show how customers are accustomed to
spending many hours online, searching and comparing options before finally making
a travel booking.

« Well accepted value proposition of OTAs of providing information, convenience and
customer service as a one-stop shop for travel-related products.

« The ease of comparison between various travel options across carriers and modes,
which augurs well with the price-sensitive nature of the Indian consumer, who is
known to respond to even small price differentials.

« The ability of OTAs to offer competitive pricing on account of higher discounts from
OTAs themselves, as well as offers from tie-ups with various banking and payment
channels.

A shift in demographics of overall travellers to the age group of 18-35 years who are
dominating the Indian travel scene, comprising almost 66% of the overall trips. This age
group is much more comfortable using the internet to book and pay for services.

Review of the Consolidated Financial Performance

Important Considerations to be kept in mind while reviewing the comparative financial
performance of FY 22 vis-a-vis FY 21

1. Impact of Covid -19 on the financial performance of FY 22 and FY 21

Our financial performance of both FY 22 and FY 21 were significantly impacted by impact
of Covid-19 pandemic. During FY 21, the nationwide lockdown announced by the
Government of India on 24th March 2020 led to sudden impact on business operations,
which only gradually improved as restrictions were uplifted in a staggered manner. We
had to undertake emergency measures to reduce operating losses which included steps
such as temporary pay-cuts as well as significant reduction on other fixed overheads.
Again, during FY 22 the 2" and 3™ wave of Covid-19 pandemic in April - June 2021 and
December 2021 - Feb 2022 respectively led to business disruption, resulting in business
& operating losses. On account of these disruptions the financial performance is not
comparable between these financial years.

2. Full year consolidation of results of our subsidiary Confirm Ticket Online
Solutions Private Limited (Confirm Ticket) and Acquisition of Business of Abhibus
Software Solutions Private Limited (AbhiBus)

We had acquired maijority stake in Confirm Ticket in Feb 2021 and therefore its full year
results were consolidated in FY 22. Further on 15t August 2021 we completed the
acquisition of Business of AbhiBus through a Business Transfer Agreement. The
financial performance of AbhiBus, from the date of acquisition, is also included in the
consolidated financial performance. On account of these material acquisitions and their
consolidation of results, the results of FY 22 are not strictly comparable to FY 21.

These material changes should be considered while reviewing the financial performance

of the company.
3
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Consolidated Summary Statement of Profits and Loss

ixigo

(Amounts in Rs million)

S. No. Particulars For the year | For the year | Growth
ended March | ended March (%)
31, 2022 31, 2021
Income
| Revenue from operations
Gross revenue from operations 4,515.12 1,588.44 | 184.25
Less: Discount (719.32) (232.78) | 209.01
Total Revenue from operations 3,795.80 1,355.66 | 180.00
Il Other income 53.61 28.40 88.77
lll | Total Income (I +11) 3,849.41 1,384.06 | 178.12
Expenses
IV_ | Employee benefits expense
ESOP Related Expense 185.15 49.07 | 277.32
Other Employee Benefit Expenses 766.45 298.91 156.41
\' Other expenses
Distribution cost 616.57 499.60 23.41
Partner support cost 616.34 107.76 | 471.96
Customer refunds / cancellation costs 615.03 53.60 | 1047.44
Advertising and sales promotion 575.25 86.22 | 567.19
Payment gateway charges 219.29 7269 | 201.68
Outsourcing cost 80.30 40.78 96.91
Other Overheads 244 57 114.00 | 114.54
Total Other Expenses 2,967.35 974.65 | 204.45
VI | EBITDA (Il -1V -V) (69.54) 61.43 | (213.20)
Add: ESOP Expense 185.15 49.07 | 277.32
Less: Other Income (53.61) (28.40) 88.77
VIl | Adjusted EBITDA 62.00 82.10 | (24.48)
VIl | Finance costs 28.03 15.51 80.72
IX | Depreciation and amortization expense 78.43 18.85| 316.07
X Profit / (loss) before tax (VI - VIII - I1X) (176.00) 27.07 | (750.17)
Xl Total tax expense/ (income) 34.94 (48.26) | 172.40
Xll | Profit / (loss) for the year (X - XI) (210.94) 75.33 | (380.02)

*Adjusted EBITDA means Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortization and
is calculated as the restated profit for the period or year plus tax expense, finance cost,
depreciation, amortization expenses, changes in fair value of preference shares and
employee stock option scheme

Total Income

Our total income comprises revenue from operations and other income. Total income
increased by 178.12% from % 1,384.06 million in Fiscal 2021 to % 3,849.41 million in Fiscal
2022 due to an increase in both revenue from operations and other income.
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Revenue from Operations

Reconciliation of Gross and Net Revenue from Operations

(Amounts in Rs million
Particulars FY 22 FY 21 Growth
(%)
Gross revenue from operations 4,515.12 1,588.44 184.25
Less: Discount (719.32) (232.78) 209.01
Revenue from operations 3,795.80 1,355.66 180.00

Gross revenue increased by 184.25% from % 1,588.44 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 4,515.12
million in Fiscal 2022. This increase was primarily led by the growth in Gross Transaction
Value (GTV), which increased by 160.69% from ¥ 21,533.22 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥
56,136.01 million in Fiscal 2022 and improved Gross Take Rate. This increase in GTV was
due rising volume of transaction on our platforms as well as due to full year consolidation of
results of Confirm Ticket and acquisition of Abhibus.

Break of Revenue from Operations

Revenue from contracts with customers primarily includes revenue from ticketing,
advertisement - referrals, advertisement revenue and other revenue.

(Amounts in Rs million)

Particulars FY 22 FY21 Growth
(%)
Ticketing revenue 3,619.20 1,262.55 186.66
Advertisement referral 14.25 11.94 19.35
Advertisement revenue 129.95 67.72 91.89
Other revenue 32.40 13.45 140.89
Total revenue from contracts with customers 3,795.80 1,355.66 180.00

Net total revenue from contracts with customers, increased by 180.00% from % 1,355.66
million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 3,795.80 million in Fiscal 2022 and was primarily driven by (i)
significant increase in ticketing revenue by 186.66% from % 1,262.55 million in Fiscal 2021
to ¥ 3,619.20 million in Fiscal 2022 as a result of an increase in the number of transactions
on our OTA platforms as well as from the consolidation of Confirm Ticket and acquisition of
Abhibus; (ii) significant increase in advertisement revenue (including advertisement referral
revenue) by 81.02% from X 79.66 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 144.20 million in Fiscal 2022.

Other Income

Other income includes (i) interest income on deposits with banks and other interest income,
(if) gain on change in fair value of investments, (iii) gain on sale of investments, (iv) gain on
account of termination of lease contract and consequent write back, (v) rent concession, (vi)
rental income, and (vii) miscellaneous income.

Other income increased from % 28.40 million in Fiscal 2021 to % 53.61 million in Fiscal 2022,
primarily due to increase in interest income on deposits with banks of ¥ 18.17 million as well
as Gain on change in fair value of investments and Gain on sale of investments.

Annual Report 2021-22
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Expenses

Our expenses comprise (i) employee benefits expense, (ii) finance costs, (iii) depreciation
and amortization expenses and (iv) other expenses

Total expenses increased by 196.64% from ¥ 1,356.99 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 4,025.41
million in Fiscal 2022, primarily due to increase in Other expenses and Employee benefits
expense as well as on account of impact of consolidation or results if Confirm Ticket and
AbhiBus.

(i) Employee Benefits Expense

Employee benefits expense comprises (i) salaries, wages, and bonus; (ii) contribution
to the provident and other funds; (iii) gratuity expense; (iv) employee stock option
scheme expense; and (v) staff welfare expenses.

Employee benefits expense increased by 173.46% from ¥ 347.98 million in Fiscal 2021
to ¥ 951.60 million in Fiscal 2022, primarily due to an increase in Salaries, wages, and
bonus by 156.41% and increase in ESOP expense by 277.32%. Our employee base
increased from 192 as on March 31, 2021, to 407 as on March 31, 2022, which also
contributed to the growth in the employee expense.

(ii) Finance Costs
Finance costs comprise interest on borrowings and interest on lease liability.

Finance costs increased from ¥ 15.51 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 28.03 million in Fiscal
2022 primarily due to an increase in interest on borrowings from ¥ 5.93 million in Fiscal
2021 to ¥ 21.43 million in Fiscal 2022. This increase was offset in part by a decrease in
interest on lease liability from ¥ 9.58 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 6.60 million in Fiscal
2022.

(iii) Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

Depreciation and amortization expenses comprises (i) depreciation on property, plant
and equipment; (ii) depreciation on right of use; and (iii) amortization of intangible
assets.

Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by 316.07% from % 18.85 million in
Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 78.43 million in Fiscal 2022, primarily due to an increase in amortization
on intangibles assets by 1,058.55% from % 5.38 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 62.33 million
in Fiscal 2022.

(iv) Other Expenses
Other expenses include, amongst others (i) distribution costs; (ii) partner support cost;

(iii) customer refunds / cancellation costs; (iv) advertising and sales promotion; (v)
payment gateway charges; (vi) outsourcing cost; and (vii) other overheads

Annual Report 2021-22
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Other expenses increased by 204.45% from ¥ 974.65 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 2,967.35
million in Fiscal 2022, primarily due to following:

(Amounts in Rs million)

Particulars FY 22 FY 21 | Growth Reason of change
(%)
Distribution 616.57 | 499.60 23.41 Increase on account of increase
cost in volumes of business with our
partner
This travel services marketplace
agreement with our customer
was discontinued from January
2022 onwards.
Partner support 616.34 107.76 | 471.96 Increase on account increasing
cost booking volume as well as
consolidation of Confirm Ticket.
Customer 615.03 53.60 | 1047.4 Increase on  account  of
refunds / 4 introduction of free cancellation
cancellation product for flights business from
costs August 2021 onwards
Increase in free cancellation
transactions across business
segments
Impact of consolidation of results
of Confirm Ticket & AbhiBus.
Advertising and 575.25 86.22 | 567.19 Increase on  account  of
sales promotion acquisition of Confirm Ticket and
Abhibus.
Further we incurred expenses in
branding activity for increasing
our market presence and
increase customer awareness.
Payment 219.29 72.69 | 201.68 Increase on account of overall
gateway rise in the GTV
charges Impact of consolidation of results
of Confirm Ticket and acquisition
of Abhibus.
Outsourcing 80.30 40.78 96.91 Increase on  account  of
cost acquisition of Confirm Ticket and
Abhibus as well as due to
significant increase in overall
transactions during the year.
Other 244 .57 114.00 | 114.54 Increase on account of overall
Overheads increase in transaction
Impact of consolidation of results
of Confirm Ticket and Abhibus.
2,967.35| 974.65| 200.45

Annual Report 2021-22
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The EBITDA of the company for FY 22 was X (69.54) million as compared to ¥ 61.43million.
We continued to deliver positive Adjusted EBITDA of ¥ 62 million in FY 22, down 24.5%
from ¥ 82 million in FY 21. The reduction in Adjusted EBITDA was primarily on account of
increase in Other Expenses, which rose by 204.5%.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

Consolidated Summary Statement of Assets and Liabilities

Amounts in Rs million)

Particulars As at March 31, 2022 | As at March 31, 2021
ASSETS
I. Non-current assets
Property, plant, and equipment 16.20 3.96
Goodwill 2,541.37 816.97
Other Intangible assets 303.80 141.75
Right-of-use assets 25.07 33.42
Financial Assets
(i) Investments 5.60 3.44
(i)Other financial assets 66.39 10.01
Non-current tax asset (net) 88.60 78.92
Deferred tax assets (net) 5.01 51.19
Other non-current assets 3.54 6.54
Total non-current assets 3,055.58 1,146.20

Il. Current assets
Financial Assets

(i) Investments 397.89 21.51
(ii) Trade receivables 86.19 263.31
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 247.33 201.05
(iv) Bank balances other than cash and 798.04 104.34
cash equivalents

(v) Other financial assets 114.41 9.97
Other current assets 685.27 104.33
Total current assets 2,329.13 704.51
Total Assets (I+ll) 5,384.71 1,850.71
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

lll. EQUITY

Equity share capital 369.75 0.43
Instruments entirely equity in nature - 2,325.69
Other equity 3,057.11 -2,026.74
Equity attributable to equity holders 3,426.86 299.38

of the Parent

LIABILITIES
IV. Non-current liabilities
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Particulars As at March 31, 2022 | As at March 31, 2021
Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings - 98.44
(i) Lease liabilities 30.90 43.38
(iii) Other financial liabilities 507.20 310.93
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 28.84 37.33
Provisions 27.74 18.55
Total non- current liabilities 594.68 508.63
V. Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 51.19 40.07
Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 27.31 50.97
(ii) Lease liabilities 12.49 8.71
(iii) Trade payables
- total outstanding dues of micro 5.48 2.68
enterprises and small enterprises;
- total outstanding dues of creditors 439.88 192.50
other than micro enterprises and small
enterprises
(iv) Other financial liabilities 720.73 694.95
Other current liabilities 77.94 38.08
Provisions 28.15 14.74
Total current liabilities 1,363.17 1,042.70
Total liabilities 1,957.85 1,551.33
Total Equity and Liabilities (llI+IV+V) 5,384.71 1,850.71

Assets

Total assets include (i) Goodwill, (i) Other intangible assets, (iii) Investments, (iv) Bank
balances other than cash and cash equivalents and (v) Other assets. Total assets increased
by 190.95% from % 1,850.71 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 5,384.71 million in Fiscal 2022.
Following are the major reasons for increase in assets:

Goodwill

Goodwill increased by 211.07% from % 816.97 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 2,541.37 million in
Fiscal 2022 on account of acquisition of Abhibus on August 01, 2021.

Other Intangible assets
Other Intangible assets comprises Software, Trademarks, Non-compete fee and
Technology related costs. Other Intangible assets increased by 114.32% from ¥ 141.75

million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 303.80 million in Fiscal 2022 primarily on account of acquisition
of Abhibus.
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Current and Non-current Investments

Investments comprises Mutual funds, investments in equity shares/preference
share/debentures. Investments increased by 1,517.19% from ¥ 24.95 million in Fiscal 2021
to ¥ 403.49 million in Fiscal 2022.

Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents comprises fixed deposits. Bank
balances other than cash and cash equivalents increased by 664.85% from ¥ 104.34 million
in Fiscal 2021 to % 798.04 million in Fiscal 2022.

Other current and non-current assets

Other assets comprises prepaid expenses, advance to suppliers and balance with
government authorities. Other assets increased by 521.28% from % 110.87 million in Fiscal
2021 to ¥ 688.81 million in Fiscal 2022.

Equity and Liabilities

Equity and Liabilities include majorly (i) Equity share capital, (ii) Instruments entirely equity
in nature, (iii) Other Equity, (iv) Other financial liability and (v) Trade Payable. Total equity
and liabilities increased by 190.95% from % 1,850.71 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 5,384.71
million in Fiscal 2022. During FY 22 we raised additional funds from issue of equity for an
amount of Rs. 2,733.07. Following are the major reasons for increase in equity and liabilities:

Equity share capital

Equity share capital increased by Rs. 369.32 from % 0.43 million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 369.75
million in Fiscal 2022 with significant being on account Bonus shares issued during the year
by capitalising Securities Premium of ¥ 216.36million and Issue of equity shares pursuance
to conversion of CCPS of ¥ 151.48 million.

Other Equity

Other equity increased from % (2,026.74) million in Fiscal 2021 to ¥ 3,057.11 million in Fiscal
2022, with significant increase in Securities premium arising on account of fresh issuance
of equity undertaken in the current year as well as due to amount transferred on account of
conversion of Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares into Equity.

Other current and non-current financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities increased by increased by 22.08% from % 1,005.88 million in Fiscal
2021 to ¥ 1,227.93 million in Fiscal 2022 with significant increase in Liability being on

account of contingent consideration payable for acquisition of Confirm Ticket and increase
in Refunds payable to customers.

tigo J ot
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LE TRAVENUES TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Registered Office: Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,
Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India.
CIN: U63000HR2006PLC071540; Tel: +91 - 124 - 6682111
Email: secretarial@ixigo.com Website: https://www.ixigo.com/

BOARD’S REPORT

Dear Members,

Your directors have the pleasure of presenting their sixteenth report on the business
and operations of Le Travenues Technology Limited (the “Company” / “ixigo”)
together with the audited financial statements for the financial year ended March 31,
2022.

. Financial Statements and Results
1. Financial Results

The standalone and consolidated financial highlights of your Company’s
operations are summarised below:
(T in million)
Particulars Standalone Consolidated
FY 2022 | FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2021

Income

Revenue from operations 2,534.06 | 1,208.55 3,795.80 1,355.66
Other Income 58.04 27.61 53.61 28.40
Total income (I) 2,592.10 | 1,236.16 3,849.41 1,384.06
Expenses

Employee benefit expense 853.42 327.21 951.60 347.98
Finance cost 27.29 15.51 28.03 15.51
Depreciation and amortization 45.66 14.63 78.43 18.85
expense

Other expenses 1,993.58 856.08 2,967.35 974.65
Total expense (ll) 2,919.95 | 1,213.43 4,025.41 1,356.99
Profit / (loss) before tax (1) - (II) (327.85) 22.73 (176.00) 27.07
Tax expenses

Current tax - - 55.40 2.80
Deferred tax (7.40) (53.06) (20.46) (51.06)
Profit / (loss) after tax (320.45) 75.79 (210.94) 75.33

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified
to statement of profit and loss in
subsequent periods

Re-measurement (loss) / gains (0.83) 1.52 (1.61) 1.27
on defined benefit plans

Income tax relating to items that - (0.83) 0.20 (0.77)
will not be reclassified to profit

and loss

Total comprehensive income / (321.28) 76.48 (212.35) 75.83

(loss) for the year, net of taxes
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Particulars Standalone Consolidated
FY 2022 | FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2021

Earnings per equity share
(Nominal value per share - 1)
Basic (0.87) 0.26 (0.66) 0.25

Diluted (0.87) 0.26 (0.66) 0.25

2. Result of Operation
Consolidated Accounts

e Total income during the year 2021-22 increased to %3,849.41 million as
against %1,384.06 million during the year 2020-21, a growth of 178.12%.

e Loss after tax was 210.94 million during the year 2021-22 as compared to
profit after tax of ¥75.33 million during 2020-21;

Standalone Accounts

e Total income during the year 2021-22 increased to %2,592.10 million as
against %1,236.16 million during the year 2020-21, a growth of 109.69%;

e Loss after tax was ¥320.45 million during the year 2021-22 as compared to
profit after tax of ¥75.79 million during 2020-21.

Impact of Covid-19 and ease of restrictions on travel

The outbreak of the Coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic globally has resulted in an
economic slowdown. Various restrictions on travel were imposed across the globe.
Following the pandemic, the travel industry is experiencing an exceptional rise in
the number of travel bookings. Our performance was impacted in Q1 and Q4 of
the financial year 2022 due to the second and third (Omicron) Covid-waves and
the related restrictions. As of the end of the yearunder review, COVID-
19 restrictions have been relaxed and a significant population has been
vaccinated. With the increase in bookings, railway ticket bookings have surpassed
pre-COVID levels, with almost 2.7 million people buying reserved tickets every
day. ixigo is committed to focusing on creating value for customers and
making travel hassle-free for them.

3. Appropriation and Reserves
Dividend
Given the loss during the year, the board of directors of your Company (the
“Board”) does not recommend any dividend on equity shares of the Company for
the year ended March 31, 2022.

Reserves

Your directors have not proposed to transfer any amount to reserves for the
financial year 2021-22.
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4. Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures, and Associates of the Company

During the year under review, your Company had acquired the entire business of
Abhibus Services (India) Private Limited (“Abhibus”) effective August 01, 2021,
pursuant to a business transfer agreement dated July 22, 2021 (“BTA”) on slump
sale basis. The business of Abhibus comprises the operation of the website
www.abhibus.com and certain apps for booking bus tickets, train tickets, and
hotels, in India. Post the acquisition of Abhibus business from Abhibus, your
Company had identified Abhibus business as part of ixigo with its operations
primarily based out of Hyderabad.

The Company has the following subsidiaries as of March 31, 2022.

e Travenues Innovations Private Limited (wholly owned subsidiary);
e Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited (83.68% subsidiary); and
e Ixigo Europe, S.L. (wholly owned subsidiary) (incorporated on June 28, 2021)

During the year under review, your Company did not have any associate or joint
venture company.

A statement containing salient features, performance, and financial position of
each of the subsidiaries for the financial year ended March 31, 2022, is attached
with the financial statement of the Company in the prescribed Form AOC-1 as
Annexure - 1 and forms part of this report.

The entire set of subsidiaries’ financials are available for inspection at the
registered office of the Company and the same will also be available on ixigo’s
website, in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2013.

5. Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Company prepared as per the
applicable accounting standard consolidating the Company’s accounts with its
subsidiaries will form part of the annual report.

6. Revision of Financial Statement
There was no revision of the financial statements for the year under review.
7. Changes in the capital structure

During the year under review, there was no change in the authorised, subscribed,
and paid-up share capital of the Company except the following:

a) Increase in the Authorised share capital of the Company

The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
May 04, 2021, approved an increase in the authorised share capital of the
Company from %30,00,000/- (Rupees Thirty Lakh only) comprising of
10,00,000 (Ten Lakh) Equity Shares of ¥1/- (Rupee One only) each and
4,00,000 (Four Lakh) Preference Shares of ¥5/- (Rupees Five only) each to
%50,00,00,000/- (Rupees Fifty Crore only) comprising of 45,00,00,000 (Forty-
Five Crore) Equity Shares of ¥1/- (Rupee One only) each and 1,00,00,000
(One Crore) Preference Shares of %5/- (Rupees Five only) each.
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b) Private Placement / Preferential Allotment

Annual Report 2021-22

The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on May 31, 2021, had approved the issuance of 50, 14.5% Non-
Convertible Debentures (Secured) of ¥10,00,000 (Rupees Ten Lakh only)
each (Series B) at par (“NCD”) and 752 Compulsorily Convertible
Preference Shares (“CCPS”) having a face value of %5 (Rupees Five only)
each at a premium of 9,965 (Rupees Nine Thousand Nine Hundred
Sixty-Five) per share with an issue price of %9,970 (Rupees Nine
Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy only) per share on private placement /
preferential allotment basis to Trifecta Venture Debt Fund Il. In compliance
with the said approval, your directors had allotted fully paid-up 50 NCD of
%10,00,000/- (Rupees Ten Lakh) each at par and partly paid-up 752 CCPS
having a face value of %5/- (Rupees Five) each at a premium of 9,965
(Rupees Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Sixty-Five) per share with an issue
price of 29,970 (Rupees Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy only) with
a paid-up value of ¥1/- each on private placement / preferential allotment
basis to Trifecta Venture Debt Fund Il on June 09, 2021.

The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on June 14, 2021 had approved issuance of 29,934 equity shares having
a face value of %1/- (Rupee One only) per share at a premium of 39,969
(Rupee Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Sixty-Nine) per share with an issue
price of 9,970 (Rupee Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy) per share
for an aggregate consideration of ¥29,84,41,980/- (Rupees Twenty-Nine
Crore Eighty-Four Lakh Forty-One Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty only),
on private placement / preferential allotment basis for consideration other
than cash, to be paid by way of transfer of 41,871 equity shares having a
face value of ¥10/- per share of Confirm Ticket held by Mr. Kotha Dinesh
Kumar and Mr. Sripad Vaidya to the Company (i.e., a swap of equity
shares of Confirm Ticket with equity shares of the Company) based on the
valuation report of Confirm Ticket obtained by the Company in accordance
with applicable law with a fair market value of ¥7,127.80 (Rupees Seven
Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Seven and Eighty Paise only) per share
as part of the purchase consideration for acquisition of Confirm Ticket
Online Solutions Private Limited. In compliance with the said approval,
your directors allotted 29,934 equity shares on June 15, 2021, to Mr.
Kotha Dinesh Kumar and Mr. Sripad Vaidya.

The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on July 12, 2021, had approved the issuance of 85,432 CCPS having a
face value of ¥ 5/- (Rupees Five Only) per share at a premium of ¥31,635/-
(Rupees Thirty-One Thousand Six Hundred Thirty-Five Only) per share,
with an Issue Price of ¥31,640/- (Rupees Thirty-One Thousand Six
Hundred Forty Only) per share and 5 equity shares having a face value of
%1/- (Rupee One Only) per share at a premium of ¥31,639/- (Rupees
Thirty-One Thousand Six Hundred Thirty-Nine Only) per share with an
Issue Price of ¥31,640/- (Rupees Thirty-One Thousand Six Hundred Forty
Only) per share for an aggregate consideration of %2,70,32,26,680/-
(Rupees Two Hundred Seventy Crore Thirty-Two Lakh Twenty-Six
Thousand Six Hundred Eighty Only) on private placement / preferential
allotment basis for cash. In compliance with the said approval, your
directors had allotted 5 equity shares to Gamnat Pte. Ltd., Malabar India
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Fund Limited, IE Venture Fund - |, India Acorn Fund Limited, Bay Capital
Holdings Limited; 26,858 Series C CCPS to Malabar India Fund Limited,
Malabar Value Fund, IE Venture Fund - |, India Acorn Fund Limited, Bay
Capital Holdings Limited, Trifecta Venture Debt Fund Il and 58,574 Series
C1 CCPS to Gamnat Pte. Ltd. on July 26, 2021.

iv. The members at the annual general meeting of the Company held on July
29, 2021, had approved the issuance of 21,634 equity shares having a
face value of ¥ 1/- (Rupee One only) per share at a premium of ¥28,730/-
(Rupees Twenty-Eight Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty only) per share
with an Issue Price of ¥28,731/- (Rupees Twenty-Eight Thousand Seven
Hundred Thirty One only) per share for an aggregate consideration of
362,15,66,454/- (Rupees Sixty Two Crore Fifteen Lakh Sixty-Six
Thousand Four Hundred Fifty Four only) on private placement /
preferential allotment basis for cash and consideration otherwise than on
cash. In compliance with the said approval, your directors had allotted
21,634 equity shares for cash and consideration otherwise than on cash
on August 03, 2021, to seven allottees.

c) Rights Issue

Your directors have approved the rights issue of equity shares at its meeting
held on June 15, 2021, in compliance with Section 62(1)(a) of the Companies
Act, 2013 in the ratio of 1:3 i.e., to offer 1 (one) equity share of Re. 1 each on
the right basis at a premium of 199 (Rupees One Hundred Ninety-Nine only)
per share and at an issue price of 200 (Rupees Two Hundred only) per share
to existing shareholders of the Company on the close of the business hours
on June 16, 2021 (“Record Date”). In response to the rights issue, the
Company has received subscription letters from 16 shareholders with a
request to subscribe for 47,875 equity shares in aggregate along with the
subscription money and has consequently allotted 47,875 equity shares of
%1/- each at an issue price of ¥200/- each on June 30, 2021.

d) Allotment of shares upon exercise of options granted under the
employee’s stock option schemes

Your Company is having six employees stock option schemes namely Le
Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2009 (“ESOS
2009"); Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2012
(“ESOS 2012”); Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme
2013 (“ESOS 2013”); Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option
Scheme 2016 (“ESOS 2016”), Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock
Option Scheme 2020 (“ESOS 2020”) and Le Travenues Technology -
Employees Stock Option Scheme 2021 (*ESOS 2021”) (hereinafter
collectively referred to in this report as “Prevailing ESOS”) and your directors
have allotted the following equity shares during the year under review on the
following dates as set out below, consequent upon exercise of vested options
granted under the prevailing employees stock option schemes of the
Company:

(i) Allotment on June 30, 2021

e 270 equity shares of 1 each at a premium of ¥499 per share with an
issue price of ¥500 per share under ESOP 2012;
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e 875 equity shares of 1 each at a premium of 499 per share with an
issue price of 500 per share under ESOP 2013; and

e 390 equity shares of 1 each at a premium of 499 per share with an
issue price of 500 per share under ESOP 2016.

(ii) Allotment on July 09, 2021

e 25 equity shares of %1 each at a premium of %499 per share with an
issue price of 500 per share under ESOS 2009;

e 885 equity shares of 1 each at a premium of 499 per share with an
issue price of ¥500 per share under ESOS 2012;

e 2,022 equity shares of 1 each at a premium of 499 per share with
an issue price of ¥500 per share under ESOS 2013.

e 959 equity shares of 1 each at a premium of 499 per share with an
issue price of 500 per share under ESOS 2016; and

e 6,118 equity shares of 1 each at a premium of 199 per share with
an issue price of 200 per share under ESOS 2020.

(iii) Allotment on January 06, 2022

e 20,000 equity shares of %1 each at a premium of %0.25 per share with
an issue price of ¥1.25 per share under ESOS 2012;

e 6,74,000 equity shares of %1 each at a premium of %0.25 per share
with an issue price of ¥1.25 per share under ESOS 2013;

e 3,00,800 equity shares of %1 each at a premium of %0.25 per share
with an issue price of ¥1.25 per share under ESOS 2016;

e 3,65600 equity shares of ¥1 each at an exercise price of
%0.50 per share and at an issue price of %1 per share by utilising the
Securities Premium Account of 0.50 per share under ESOS 2020;

e) Receipt of entire unpaid amount (including premium) called on the first
and final call in respect of Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares
(“CCPS”) issued to Trifecta Venture Debt Fund Il and consequently
allotment of 3,255 CCPS having a face value of %5/- per share to Trifecta
Venture Debt Fund Il on being fully paid-up

Upon receipt of the entire unpaid amount (including premium) called on the
first and final call in respect of 2,503 and 752 CCPS originally issued to Trifecta
Venture Debt Fund Il as partly paid-up CCPS on January 25, 2021, and June
09, 2021, respectively, your directors have allotted 3,255 CCPS having a face
value of ¥5/- per share to Trifecta Venture Debt Fund Il on being fully paid-up.

f) Bonus Issue

The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
August 05, 2021, approved the issue of equity shares, by capitalising such
sum out of the securities premium account and the capital redemption reserve
account of the Company by the issue of equity shares credited as fully paid-
up (hereinafter referred to as the “Bonus Shares”) to the members of the
Company whose names appear on the register of members on such record
date as may be decided by the Board, in the proportion of 399 equity shares
for every 1 equity share held by them on such record date. In compliance with
the said approval, your Board at its meeting held on August 06, 2021, fixed
the record date as August 06, 2021, and allotted 216,364,932 equity shares
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to existing shareholders in the proportion of 399 equity shares for every 1
equity share held on the record date.

g) Allotment of equity shares consequent to the conversion of
compulsorily convertible preference share (CCPS)

Your directors at its meeting held on October 26, 2021, approved the
conversion of Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (Series A),
Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (Series B), Compulsorily
Convertible Preference Shares (Series B1 & Series B2), Compulsorily
Convertible Preference Shares (Series C) and Compulsorily Convertible
Preference Shares (Series C1) and allotted in aggregate 151,479,600 equity
shares of %1 each upon conversion of the entire series of CCPS issued by the
Company comprised of and aggregating to 3,59,396 CCPS.

h) Initial Public Offer

At the fifteenth annual general meeting of the Company held on July 29, 2021,
the shareholders approved the special resolution for raising capital through an
initial public offering. Subsequently, the Company had filed the draft red
herring prospectus (“DRHP”) dated August 12, 2021, with the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”). In December 2021, SEBI has issued the
observation letter, in compliance with which the proposed issue can open for
subscription within a period of 12 months from the date of the issuance of the
said letter.

8. Public Deposits

During the financial year under review, your Company has not accepted or
renewed any deposit falling within the purview of the provisions of Sections 73 and
74 of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) read with the Companies (Acceptance
of Deposits) Rules, 2014. Accordingly, the requirement for furnishing details of
deposits that are not in compliance with Chapter V of the Act is not applicable.

9. Amendment / Alteration of the Memorandum of Association and Articles of
Association of the Company

During the year under review, the Memorandum of Association of the Company
was amended with the approval of the members at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on May 04, 2021, for increasing the authorised
share capital of the Company to Rs. ¥ 50,00,00,000/- (Rupees Fifty Crore only)
and consequent alteration of the capital clause of the Memorandum of Association
of the Company.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on July 05, 2021, the
members had granted their approval for alteration of the Objects Clause of the
Memorandum of Association of the Company. With the approval of the members,
your Company had filed the requisite forms with the Registrar of Companies, NCT
of Delhi and Haryana for registration of the special resolution passed by the
members and for correction of the existing Corporate Identification Number
allotted to the Company for aligning the same with the business activities carried
on or to be carried on by the Company. On July 13, 2021, the Registrar of
Companies issued the certificate of registration with the revised Corporate
Identification Number is U63000HR2006PTC071540. At the said extraordinary
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general meeting of the Company, the members had also approved the alteration
of the Articles of Association of the Company to reflect the revised understanding
among the shareholders as per the Amendment Agreement dated June 30, 2021,
to the Second Amended and Restated Series B Shareholders’ Agreement dated
January 25, 2017.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on July 29, 2021, the
members had granted their approval for the conversion of Le Travenues
Technology Private Limited from a private limited company to a public limited
company and consequent alteration of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company and also approved alteration and adoption of a new
set of Articles of Association of the Company. On August 03, 2021, the Registrar
of Companies issued the certificate of registration with revised Corporate
Identification Number as U63000HR2006PLC071540 and name as ‘Le Travenues
Technology Limited.

10. Disclosures under Section 134(3)(l) of the Companies Act, 2013

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this report, no material changes and
commitments which could affect the Company’s financial position have occurred
between the end of the financial year of the Company and the date of this report.

11. Disclosure of internal financial controls

The internal financial controls with reference to financial statements as designed
and implemented by the Company are adequate. As per the report issued by the
statutory auditors with respect to the standalone financial statements on Internal
Financial Controls of the Company under Clause (i) of Sub-Section 3 of Section
143 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has, in all material respects,
adequate internal financial controls with reference to Standalone financial
statements and such internal financial controls with reference to Standalone
financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2022, based on
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance
Note issued by the ICAI.

With respect to the consolidated financial statements, the report issued by the
statutory auditors provides that, the Holding Company, which is a company
incorporated in India, has maintained in all material respects, adequate internal
financial controls with reference to these consolidated financial statements and
such internal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements
were operating effectively as at March 31, 2022, based on the internal control over
financial reporting criteria established by the Holding Company considering the
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by
ICAI.

12. Particulars of contracts or arrangements made with related parties
Particulars of Contracts or Arrangement with related parties referred to in Section

188(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, in the prescribed Form AOC - 2, have been
furnished in Annexure - 2 which forms part of this report.
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13. Particulars of loans, guarantees, and investments

At the fifteenth annual general meeting of the Company held on July 29, 2021, the
members had approved an enhancement of limit under Section 186 of the
Companies Act, 2013 for grant of loans and advances or making investments, or
provide securities or guarantees up to 31,000 Crore (Rupees One Thousand Crore
only) or the limits so prescribed under Section 186 of the Act, whichever is higher.

Particulars of loans, guarantees, and investments covered under Section 186 of
the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Meeting of Board and its
Powers) Rules, 2014 as of March 31, 2022, are set out in the financial statements
forming part of this report.

14. Disclosure under Section 43(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013

During the financial year under review, the Company has not issued any shares
with differential voting rights, and hence no information as per provisions of
Section 43(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with applicable rules is required
to be furnished.

15. Disclosure under Section 54(1)(d) of the Companies Act, 2013

During the financial year under review, the Company has not issued any sweat
shares, and hence no information as per the provisions of Section 54(1)(d) of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with applicable rules is required to be furnished.

16. Disclosure under Section 62(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013

The Prevailing ESOS are in compliance with the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat Equity) Regulations, 2021.
Except as disclosed in Annexure - 3, there are no material changes in the
Prevailing ESOS during the year under review.

Please refer to Annexure - 3 for details relating to Prevailing ESOS in compliance
with the provisions of Section 62(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Clause (9) of Rule 12 of the Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules,
2014.

17. Disclosure under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013

Your Company being an unlisted public company, the disclosure requirements
under Section 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 are not applicable.

Il. Operational performance

We are a technology company focused on empowering Indian travelers to plan,
book, and manage their trips across rail, air, buses, and hotels. We assist travelers
in making smarter travel decisions by leveraging artificial intelligence, machine
learning, and data science-led innovations on our OTA platforms, comprising our
websites and mobile applications. Our vision is to become the most customer-
centric travel company, by offering the best customer experience to our users. Our
focus on travel utility and customer experience for travelers in the ‘next billion
users’ segment is driven by technology, cost-efficiency, and our culture of
innovation. Our OTA platforms allow travelers to book train tickets, flight tickets,
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bus tickets, hotels, and cabs, while providing travel utility tools and services
developed using in-house proprietary algorithms and crowd-sourced information,
including train PNR status and confirmation predictions, train seat availability
alerts, train running status updates and delay predictions, flight status updates,
bus running status, pricing and availability alerts, deal discovery, destination
content, personalized recommendations, instant fare alerts for flights and
automated customer support services.

We endeavour that our OTA platforms are able to build significant user adoption
and engagement by offering convenience, utility, and value-added customer-
centric solutions for travel-related issues. Our Registered Users increased at a
CAGR of 76.07% between Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2022 and our Repeat
Transaction Rate was 87.83% in Fiscal 2022. Further, the yearly downloads for
our mobile apps on the Google Play Store and iOS app stores were 62.83 million,
69.61 million, 43.80 million, and 90 million in Fiscals 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022,
respectively, including the downloads for ixigo, ConfirmTkt & Abhibus apps from
the date of these acquisitions.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, several of our actions helped us build and grow
trust and word-of-mouth among our users and ecosystem. For example, we did
not lay off any team members during the pandemic, boosted the staff strength of
our outsourced call center to serve our customers, reduced our online marketing
expenditure and our innovative and engaging videos enabled us to organically
improve our brand salience as we continued to engage with users through
informative messages even during the lockdowns imposed due to COVID-19
pandemic which restricted travel. We built a COVID-19 Travel Guide section on
our website and apps to provide accurate, up-to-date information to our users for
travel restrictions, e-pass / COVID-19 testing requirements for various cities and
states in India, and visa and entry restrictions for foreign countries. We built and
launched ixigo assured, our free cancellation option for bookings, provided at a
nominal charge, to enable our customers to make bookings but receive refunds in
case they decide to cancel their trips for any reason. In 2021, we launched a
vaccine slot finder and booking tool that helped our users find slots and book their
vaccinations.

In addition, our MAUSs in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2022 also grew by 53.94%,
over the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2021.

The physical and emotional wellbeing of ixigems continues to be a top priority for
the Company with several initiatives to support ixigems and their families during
the pandemic including vaccination drives organized by the Company, giving last
Friday off every month during the COVID period to reduce burnout, and by giving
a work from home budget to ixigems to purchase ergonomic desks and chairs.

On train utility and ticketing across ixigo and ConfirmTkt combined, this year we
continue to remain the most used and largest train OTA in India, with a dominant
and rising share of train B2C OTA bookings, where we work in partnership with
IRCTC.

With the acquisition of Abhibus’ bus business, the Company has strengthened its
position in the next billion-user market. The Company has more recently cross-
integrated flights, buses, and trains across ixigo, ConfirmTkt & Abhibus, allowing
for more effective cross-selling of services across the three brands.
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Our employee strength has increased from 192 to 407 employees at the group
level as of the end of FY22, as a result of the acquisition of the Abhibus team, as
well as incremental headcount addition in our core business. Much of this hiring
has been in technology, product, growth, customer experience, and finance
functions.

Our distribution deal with Flipkart has ended in mid-January 2022, and we
anticipate more efforts to go into growing our organic flight business through more
efficient cross-marketing and cross-promotion of flights on our large user base.

Our business has always relied on building unique features and products to serve
the travelers that come from the next billion users (predominantly from Tier 2 and
3 towns of India). We crossed 55 Mn Monthly Active Users across all our apps
and websites on a cumulative basis by the end of the year, and our immediate
objective has always remained on how to ensure more of our users learned to
transact with our apps by continually improving our Monthly Transacting Users to
Monthly Active Users ration, which has reached 4.29% as of the end of FY22.

For a further detailed analysis of the operational performance of your Company,
please refer to the standalone and consolidated financial statements of the
Company forming part of the Annual Report.

lll. Disclosure related to Directors and Key Managerial Personnel
1. Directors

During the year under review, the following changes took place in the board of
directors of the Company.

a) Mr. Aloke Bajpai was reappointed as Managing Director and Group CEO
effective May 24, 2021.

b) Mr. Rajnish Kumar was redesignated as Director and Group CPTO (Non-
Executive) effective May 24, 2021.

c) Mr. Frederic Lalonde resigned as Non-Executive Director (Nominee Director)
effective July 27, 2021;

d) Mr. Deep Kalra resigned as Non-Executive Director (Nominee Director)
effective July 29, 2021;

e) At the fifteenth annual general meeting of the Company held on July 29,
2021, the members had approved the appointment of the following
Independent Directors on the Board

Mr. Arun Seth;

Mr. Mahendra Pratap Mall;
Ms. Shubha Rao Mayya;
Mr. Rahul Pandit;

Mr. Rajesh Sawhney; and
Mr. Frederic Lalonde.

f) Mr. Tej Kapoor resigned as Non-Executive Director (Nominee Director)
effective August 04, 2021.

None of the directors of the Company are disqualified as per the provisions of
Section 164(2) of the Companies Act, 2013.
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2. Declaration by Independent Directors

Your Board has received declarations from all Independent Directors confirming
that they meet the criteria of independence as laid down under Section 149 of
the Companies Act, 2013. During the year under review, there has been no
change in the circumstances affecting their status as Independent Directors of
your Company.

3. Annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees, and
individual directors

For the year under review, your Company was not covered within the threshold
limits set out under Section 134(3)(p) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with
Clause (4) of Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. Hence the
provisions of Section 134(3)(p) of the Companies Act, 2013 did not apply to the
Company.

4. Key Managerial Personnel

During the year under review, the following changes took place in the key
managerial persons of the Company as defined under the Companies Act, 2013.

a) Mr. Aloke Bajpai was reappointed as Managing Director and Group CEO
effective May 24, 2021;

b) Mr. Rajnish Kumar was redesignated as Director and Group CPTO (Non-
Executive) effective May 24, 2021;

c) Mr. Ravi Shanker Gupta was appointed as Chief Financial Officer effective
May 24, 2021;

d) Mr. Suresh Kumar Bhutani was appointed as Company Secretary effective
May 24, 2021;

e) Mr. Suresh Kumar Bhutani was redesignated as Group General Counsel and
Company Secretary effective July 01, 2021; and

f) Mr. Ravi Shanker Gupta was redesignated as Group Chief Financial Officer
effective August 07, 2021.

After the close of the financial year, Mr. Ravi Shanker Gupta resigned as Group
Chief Financial Officer of the Company effective May 04, 2022, and Mr. Rahul
Gautam was appointed as Group Chief Financial Officer of the Company
effective May 05, 2022.

IV. Disclosures related to Board, Committees, and Policies
1. Board Meetings

During the financial year under review, the Board met sixteen times in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made
thereunder on the following dates with the necessary quorum being present at
all the meetings.

April 09, 2021;
May 24, 2021;
June 09, 2021;
June 15, 2021;
June 30, 2021;

RN~
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July 09, 2021;

July 20, 2021;

July 26, 2021;

July 29, 2021;
August 03, 2021;
August 06, 2021;
August 11, 2021;
September 29, 2021;
October 26, 2021;
November 09, 2021; and
January 06, 2022.

Following are the number of Board meetings attended by each director:

S. No. Name of the Director Number of meetings
attended
1. Mr. Aloke Bajpai 16
2. Mr. Rajnish Kumar 16
3. Mr. Ravi Chandra Adusumalli 9
4, Mr. Shailesh Lakhani 15
5. Mr. Frederic Lalonde 12
6. Mr. Deep Kalra* 2
7. Mr. Tej Kapoor** 10
8. Mr. Arun Seth* 7
9. Mr. Mahendra Pratap Mall# 7
10.  Ms. Shubha Rao Mayya* 6
11.  Mr. Rahul Pandit? 7
12. Mr. Rajesh Sawhney* 6

* Ceased to be director effective July 29, 2021.
** Ceased to be director effective August 04, 2021.
# Appointed as directors effective July 29, 2021.

2. Directors’ Responsibility Statement

According to Section 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board of
Directors of the Company confirms that:

in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting
standards had been followed along with proper explanation relating to
material departures, if any;

the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them
consistently and made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the
Company at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss of the
Company for that period;

the directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for
preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

the directors have prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis;
and

the directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the
provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and
operating effectively.
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3. Committees of the Board

During the year under review, the Board had constituted the following five
committees:

a) Audit Committee;

b) Nomination and Remuneration Committee;
c) Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee;

d) Risk Management Committee; and

e) Corporate Social Responsibility Committee.

The Board has also constituted an IPO Committee at its meeting held on August
03, 2021, for raising funds through Initial Public Offer under the provisions of the
SEBI (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018, as
amended.

4. Policies
(A) Vigil Mechanism Policy for the Directors and Employees

For the year under review, your Company was not covered within the
threshold limits set out under Rule 7 of the Companies (Meetings of Board
and its Powers) Rules, 2014 read with Section 177(9) of the Companies
Act, 2013.

However voluntarily the Company has a vigil mechanism in place for
reporting genuine concerns or grievances by employees/directors. The vigil
mechanism provides adequate safeguards against victimization to any
employees and/or directors who use the mechanism to report their
concerns or grievances and also provides for direct access to the
Chairperson of the Audit Committee, in exceptional cases.

During the year under review, the Company has not received any complaint
under the Vigil Mechanism.

(B) Policy on Directors’ Appointment and Remuneration

Your Company had adopted ‘Le Travenues Technology Limited -
Nomination and Remuneration Policy’ in compliance with Section 178 of
the Companies Act, 2013 and other applicable laws, for identification,
selection, and appointment of Directors, Key Managerial Personnel
(KMPs), and Senior Management of your Company. The Policy lays down
the process and parameters for the appointment and remuneration of the
KMPs and other senior management personnel and the criteria for
determining qualifications, highest level of personal and professional ethics,
positive attributes, financial literacy, and independence of a Director. The
Policy is available on the Investor Relations section of ixigo’s website at
https://www.ixigo.com/about/investor-relations/

(C) Corporate Social Responsibility Policy
Your Board at its meeting held on August 03, 2021, constituted the

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee with the following directors as
its members:
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Mr. Aloke Bajpai, Executive Director (Chairperson)

Mr. Rajnish Kumar, Non-Executive Director (Member)

Mr. Arun Seth, Non-Executive Independent Director (Member)

Mr. Frederic Lalonde, Non-Executive Independent Director (Member)

ON =

The Corporate Social Responsibility Policy approved by the Board is
available on the Investor Relations section of ixigo's website at
https://www.ixigo.com/about/investor-relations/ As per the audited financial
statements, the Company doesn’t have average net profits during the three
immediately preceding financial years, requiring the Company to spend at
least two percent thereof in compliance with the provisions of sub section
(5) of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013. Based on the availability of
profits, the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee will consider taking
certain corporate social responsibility initiatives in compliance with the
Company’s CSR Policy and applicable laws.

(D) Risk Management Policy

Your Company has put in place a Risk Management Policy based on the
guiding principles of identifying, assessing, and mitigating risks. It is an
integral part of decision-making for your Company and is dynamic,
undergoing continuous improvement. The Risk Management process
involves setting objectives, identifying key risks (including identification of
elements of risk, if any, which in the opinion of the Board may threaten the
existence of the Company) on an ongoing basis, developing a mitigation
action plan, and monitoring.

V. Auditors and Reports

1. Statutory Auditors

S. R. Batliboi & Associates LLP, Chartered Accountants, (ICAl Firm Registration
No. 101049W/E300004) was appointed as statutory auditors of your Company
at the Fourteenth Annual General Meeting held on Thursday, December 31,
2020, for a term of five consecutive years from the conclusion of the Fourteenth
Annual General Meeting till the conclusion of the Nineteenth Annual General
Meeting of your Company, in accordance with the provisions of Section 139 of
the Act.

2. Statutory Auditors’ Report

The audit report issued by the statutory auditors on the standalone and
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended
March 31, 2022, is self-explanatory and doesn’t require any explanation or
comment from the Board under Section 134(3)(f) of the Companies Act, 2013
except on the following:

(i) Extract from the auditor’s report on the standalone financial statements:

Relevant Extract - Auditors’ Report Management Response

Emphasis of Matter
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We draw attention to Note 40 (a) to the financial
statements which describes the adjustment pertaining
to investments and the consequent impact on the
previous year numbers. Our opinion is not qualified in
respect of this matter.

Annexure 1, Para (vii), Clause (a)

Undisputed statutory dues including provident fund,
employees’ state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax,
service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value
added tax, cess and other statutory dues have
generally been regularly deposited with the
appropriate authorities though there has been a slight
delay in a few cases for goods and services tax.
According to the information and explanations given
to us and based on audit procedures performed by us,
no undisputed amounts payable in respect of these
statutory dues were outstanding, at the year end, for
a period of more than six months from the date they
became payable.

The report of the auditors is
not qualified and is self-
explanatory, hence the
Emphasis of Matter does not
call for any  further
explanations or comments
by the Board.

The slight delay in a few
cases for goods and
services tax payment was
primarily due to delays in
getting registration in more
than 20 states which were
necessitated by changes in
the goods and services tax
law. The Company has
further strengthened the
processes to ensure timely
payments of all statutory
dues.

(i) Extract from the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements:

Relevant Extract - Auditors’ Report

Qualifications or adverse remarks by the respective auditors in the Companies
(Auditors Report) Order (CARO) reports of the companies included in the
consolidated financial statements are:

S. No. Name CIN Holding Clause number of
company/s | the CARO report
ubsidiary which is qualified
1 Le Travenues U63000HR2006PLC071540 | Holding (vii)(a)
Technology Limited Company
2 Confirm Ticket U74110TG2015PTC098079 | Subsidiary | (vii)(a)
Online Solutions Company
Private Limited

Management Response

In respect of slight delays in payment of statutory dues, the Company and its
subsidiaries have further strengthened the processes to ensure timely payments
of all statutory dues. The delay in payment of goods and services tax was
primarily due to delays in getting registration in more than 20 states which were
necessitated by changes in goods and services tax law.

Secretarial Auditors

DPV & Associates LLP, Company Secretaries (ICSI Firm Registration No.
L2021DE009500) (“Secretarial Auditors”), carried out the secretarial audit of
the Company for the financial year under review in compliance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made thereunder,
Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, as amended and other laws
specifically applicable to your Company. The Secretarial Audit Report in Form
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MR - 3 for the financial year ended March 31, 2022, is attached to this report as
Annexure - 4.

The audit report issued by the Secretarial Auditors for the financial year ended
March 31, 2022, is self-explanatory and doesn’t require any explanation or
comment from the Board under Section 134(3)(f) of the Companies Act, 2013.

VI. Other Disclosures
1. Annual Return
In compliance with the provisions of Section 92(3) and Section 134(3)(a) of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made thereunder, a copy of the

Company’s Annual Return as of March 31, 2022, is available on the Investor
Relations Section of ixigo’s website at https://www.ixigo.com/

2. Prevention and prohibition of sexual harassment of women at the
workplace

At Le Travenues Technology Limited, we are committed to providing a healthy
work environment that is free of discrimination and unlawful harassment and that
enables employees to work without fear of prejudice, gender bias, and sexual
harassment. In keeping with this commitment, your Company expressly and
strictly prohibits any form of employee harassment based on race, colour,
religion, sex, national origin, age, disability, or status in any group protected by
state or local law. The Company has always endeavoured for providing a better
and safe environment free of sexual harassment at all its workplaces.

Your Company had complied with the provisions of the Sexual Harassment of
Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 (“Act”)
and Rules made thereunder, relating to the constitution of the Internal
Complaints Committee and had continued conducting workshops and
awareness programs for sensitizing the employees with the provisions of the Act
during the year under review.

For the year ended March 31, 2022, no cases of sexual harassment were
reported to the Internal Complaints Committee constituted by the Company.

3. Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange
Earnings, and Outgo

The particulars as required under the provisions of Section 134(3)(m) of the
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014
in respect of conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange
earnings, and outgo, etc. are set out in Annexure - 5 which forms part of this
report.

4. Awards and accreditations

Following are some of the key awards, accreditations, and recognition received
by your Company and its founders during the year under review.

e DMA Asia Echo Createffect Awards 2021 - Bronze for Best Social Media
Campaign.
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e ET Startup Awards 2021 - Awarded to Mr. Aloke Bajpai and Mr. Rajnish
Kumar in the 'Comeback Kid' category; and

e Entrepreneur of the Year Award to Mr. Aloke Bajpai and Mr. Rajnish Kumar
in Service Business - Travel' by Entrepreneur India magazine.

5. Non-applicability of maintenance of cost records
The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records under
Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made thereunder with
respect to the business carried on by the Company.

6. Reporting of Fraud

The Auditors of your Company have not reported any instances of fraud
committed in your Company by its officers or employees as specified under Sub-
Section (12) of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013.

7. Significant and material orders passed by the regulators, courts, or
tribunals

There are no significant or material orders passed by the regulators, courts, or
tribunals which would impact the going concern status of the Company and its
operations in the future.

8. Compliance with Secretarial Standards on Board and General Meetings
During the year under review, your Company has complied with all the applicable
provisions of Secretarial Standard - 1 and Secretarial Standard - 2 issued by the
Institute of Company Secretaries of India.

9. Change in the nature of business carried on by the Company

During the year under review, there has been no change in the nature of business
carried on by the Company.

10. Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016
During the year under review, no application has been made and no proceeding
is pending against the Company under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code,
2016.

11. One-time settlement with any bank or financial institution

During the year under review, there was no instance of any one-time settlement
with any bank or financial institution.

VIl. Acknowledgement and Appreciation

Your directors take this opportunity to thank the customers, employees,
investors, vendors, banks, business associates, and regulatory authorities
including the various offices of the Central and State Governments, Reserve
Bank of India, and the Registrar of Companies for the support, valuable
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assistance and co-operation continuously extended to the Company. Your
Directors gratefully acknowledge the trust and confidence and look forward to
their continued support in the future.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-

Aloke Bajpai

(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Gurugram
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Annexure - 1
Form AOC-1

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of

subsidiaries/associate companies/joint ventures

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Part “A”: Subsidiaries
(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs. millions)

S. No. Particulars Details Details Details
1. |Name of the Subsidiary Travenues Confirm Ticket Ixigo Europe,
Innovations Online Solutions S.L.
Private Limited | Private Limited
2. |Reporting period for the N.A. N.A. | Incorporated on
subsidiary concerned, if different June 28, 2021.
from the holding company’s Reporting period
reporting period from 28.06.2021 to
31.03.2022
3. |Reporting currency and N.A. N.A. | EURO
exchange rate as on the last Exchange Rate: 1
date of the relevant financial EUR = INR 84.66
year in the case of foreign
subsidiaries
4. |Date since when subsidiary was 09.11.2018 17.02.2021 28.06.2021
acquired/incorporated
5. |Share Capital 2.50 1.35 0.26
6. |Reserves & Surplus (2.31) 177.81 (0.53)
7. |Total Assets 217 360.79 2.80
8. |Total Liabilities 1.98 181.63 3.07
9. |Investments - - -
10. |Turnover 0.29 1,285.77 23.77
11. |Profit/ (Loss) before Taxation 0.1 193.33 (0.48)
12. |Provision for Taxation (Net) - 50.83 -
13. |Profit/ (Loss) after Taxation 0.11 142.50 (0.48)
14. |Proposed Dividend Nil Nil Nil
15. |% of shareholding 100% 83.68% 100%

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations - Nil

2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year - Nil

Part “B”: Associates and Joint Venture
The Company doesn’t have an Associate / Joint Venture Company - Not Applicable

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-

Sd/- Sd/-

Aloke Bajpai Rajnish Kumar
(Chairman, Managing (Director &
Director & Group CEO) Group CPTO)
DIN: 00119037 DIN: 2834454

Date: May 04, 2022,
Place: Gurugram
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Ravi Shanker Gupta
(Group Chief
Financial Officer)

Sd/-

Suresh Kumar Bhutani
(Group General
Counsel & Company

Secretary)
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Annexure - 2
FORM NO. AOC -2

Particulars of contracts or arrangements made with related parties
[Pursuant to Clause (h) of Sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013, and
Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 - AOC-2]

This Form pertains to the disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered
into by the Company with related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of Section 188
of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm's length transactions under third
proviso thereto.

Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm'’s length basis

a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship ~ All the contracts or
b) Nature of contracts / arrangements / transactions arrangements or
c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions transactions

d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or entered into during

transactions including the value, if any the year ended
(e) Justification for entering into such contracts or March 31, 2022,

arrangements or transactions are on an arm's
(f) date(s) of approval by the Board length basis, and
(g) Amount paid as advances, if any in the ordinary

(h) Date on which the special resolution was passed in course of
general meeting as required under first proviso to business, given
section 188 the same, the

details required
herein are not
applicable.

Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length
basis

The term material is not defined under the Companies Act, 2013, and the rules made
thereunder. However, it was defined under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as follows till
March 31, 2022:

“A transaction with a related party shall be considered material if the transaction(s) to
be entered into individually or taken together with previous transactions during a
financial year, exceeds ten percent of the annual consolidated turnover of the listed
entity as per the last audited financial statements of the listed entity.”

During the year under review, your Company had not entered into any
arrangement/transaction/contract with its related parties which could be considered
material and required approval of the Board. Accordingly, the disclosure of the
particulars of the related party transactions in form AOC -2 as required under Section
134(3)(h) of the Act is not applicable.

(@) Name(s) of the related party and nature of The aggregate value of
relationship other related party

(b) Nature of contracts / arrangements / transactions during the
transactions year ended March 31,
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(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements /
transactions

(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements
or transactions including the value, if any

(e) Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any

(f)  Amount paid as advances, if any

For further details on related party transactions, please refer to the notes to the

financial statements.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-

Aloke Bajpai

(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
DIN: 00119037

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Gurugram
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2022, is less than 10%
of the revenue from
operations for the year

ended March 31, 2022.

Given the same, the
details required herein
are not applicable
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Annexure -3

Details relating to Prevailing ESOS in compliance with the provisions of Section
62(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Clause (9) of Rule 12 of the
Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014.

Details with respect to the Prevailing ESOS as of March 31, 2022, are as follows:

The shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on August
05, 2021, had granted the approval to issue equity shares of the Company of the face
value of 1 each (hereinafter referred to as the “Bonus Shares”) to the members of the
Company, in the proportion of 399 equity shares for every 1 equity share held by them
on the record date. The shareholders had further authorised the Board to determine
appropriate adjustments for the allotment of Bonus Shares as aforesaid, to the
outstanding options granted to the employees of the Company under the prevailing
employee stock option schemes of the Company such that the exercise price for all
outstanding options as on the record date shall be proportionately adjusted and the
number of options granted but not exercised as on ‘record date’ shall be appropriately
adjusted. In compliance with the approval granted by the shareholders for making
appropriate adjustments for the Bonus Issue to the outstanding options granted but
not exercised under the prevailing employee stock option schemes of the Company,
the Board had approved on August 24, 2021, revising the total number of options
granted but not exercised from 1 to 400 and the exercise price for all the revised
number of options shall be accordingly adjusted to ¥1.25 and %0.50 as the case may
be. All values in the below table have been adjusted for reflecting the impact of the
said revision:

S. No. Particulars ESOS ESOS ESOS ESOS ESOS ESOS
2009 2012 2013 2016 2020 2021

(a) | Date of 30.09.2009 | 20.09.2012 | 30.09.2013 | 24.01.2017 | 29.06.2020 | 04.05.2021
shareholders’
approval

(b) | Total number 18,00,000 | 24,00,000 | 72,00,000 | 27,12,400 | 36,00,000 | 80,00,000
of options
approved under
the Scheme

(c) | Options granted 60,000 4,80,800 5,16,400 2,41,200 7,44,000 | 73,07,060
during the year

(d) | Options  vested 10,000 3,24,000 13,19,800 6,61,600 | 28,56,000 -
during the year

(e) | Options exercised 10,000 4,82,000 18,32,800 8,40,400 | 28,12,800 -
during the year

(f) | The total number 10,000 4,82,000 18,32,800 8,40,400 | 28,12,800 -
of shares arising
as a result of
exercise of option
during the year

(9) | Options lapsed 60,000 2,22,800 4,32,400 4,90,800 46,800 2,05,300
during the year

(h) | Exercise price (as Between Between Between Between Between 2125
on the date_of 21.25- 21.25- 21.25- 21.25- %0.50 -
grant of options) 26.20 26.20 311.24 25.64 2125

(i) | Variation of terms | Revisionin | Revision in | Revisionin | Revision in - -
of options during exercise exercise exercise exercise
the year price and price and price and price and

vesting vesting vesting vesting
period period period period

() | Money realized by 12,500 6,02,500 | 22,91,000 10,50,500 14,06,400 -
exercise of
options during the
year
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S. No. Particulars ESOS ESOS ESOS ESOS ESOS ESOS
2009 2012 2013 2016 2020 2021
(k) | Total number of 30,000 9,40,000 | 31,40,800 13,53,200 7,87,200 | 71,01,760
options in force at
the end of the
year
() | Employee wise details of options granted to
(i) | Key managerial personnel during the year
Ravi Shanker - 100,400 305,200 114,400 120,000 -
Gupta
Suresh Kumar - - - - - 80,000
Bhutani

Any other employee who receives

or more of options g

ranted during

that year (for FY22):

a grant of options in any one year of option amounting to

five percent

Rachit Khattar 60,000 - - - - -
Amandeep - 126,800 - - - -
Anshul Choudhary - 126,800 - - - -
Abhishek Kumar - 126,800 - - - -

Sharma

Nipun Bansal

- 126,800

Sourabh Rastogi

84,400

Saurav Gupta - - - 126,800 - -
Amrish Kumar - - - - - 400,000
Partik Madan - - - - - 440,000
Bharat Bhushan - - - - - 440,000
Divyanshu Singh - - - - 336,000 -
Vilkinson Derick - - - - 64,000 -
Menezes

O Hari Kumar - - - - 59,600 -
Ernesto Cohnen - - - - - 640,000
de la Camara

Miguel Cohnen - - - - - 560,000

(iii)

Identified employees who were granted option, during any one year, equal to or exceeding one percent
of the issued capital (excluding outstanding warrants and conversions) of the company at the time of

grant

Nil

The options granted under the Prevailing ESOS vest over a period of one year / four
years in equal annual installments of 25% each as per the terms of the respective
grants under each of the Prevailing ESOS. The exercise period is five years from the
date of respective vesting of each Option. The Source of shares is primary for allotment

upon exercise of options by an employee.

For further details please refer to Note No. 35 of the Standalone Financial Statements
and Note No. 36 of the Consolidated Financial Statements which form an integral part

of the Annual Report.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-

Aloke Bajpai

(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)

DIN: 00119037

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Gurugram
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Annexure -4

DPV & ASSOCIATES LLP
LLPIN: AAV-8350

REG. OFF: 1A/ I, SECOND FLOOR, GEETA COLONY, DELHI-1 10031

Ve

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON MARCH 31, 2022

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

The Members

Le Travenues Technology Limited

(CIN: U63000HR2006PLCOT1540)

Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,

Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India

We have conducled the Secretanial Audit of the compliance of applicable statutory
provisions and the adherence to good corporate practices by Le Travenues
Technology Limited (hereinafter called the "Company”), which is an unlisted public
company. Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a
reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/ statutory compliances and
expressing our opinion thereon.

We report that:

a) Maintenance of secretarial records is the responsibility of the management of the
Company. Our responsibility is fo express an opinion on these secretarnal records
based on our audit,

b}y We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate fo
obtain reasonable assurance aboutl the correctness of the contenls of the
secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct
facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe that the processes and
practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

c) We have not verified the cormectness and appropriateness of the financial
statements of the Company.

d) Wherever required, we have obtained the management representation about the
compliances of laws, rules, regulations and standards and happening of events
etc.

&) The compliance of the provisions of the corporate and other applicable laws,
rules, regulations and standards is the responsibility of the management. Our
examination was limited to the verification of procedures on test basis.

Page 1of &
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f) The Secretarial Audit Report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of
the Company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has
conducted the affairs of the Company.

Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minutes books, forms
and returns filed and other records maintained by the Company and also the
information provided by the Company, ifs officers, agents and authorized
representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, we hereby report that in our
opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year ended
on 31" March, 2022 (“Audit Period”) complied with the statulory provisions listed
hereunder and also that the Company has proper Board processes and compliance
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made
hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and
other records maintained by the Company for the Audit Period according to the
provisions of:

(iy The Companies Act, 2013 (the "Act’) and the rules made thereunder (*Rules");

(i) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed
thereunder,

(iii} Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1998 and the rules and regulations made
thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct
Investment, wherever applicable.

{iv) The Company is a technology company primarily engaged in the business of
providing travel and tourism related e-commerce services through its website
and various mobile applications including ticket bookings for airlines, railways,
buses and hotel reservations. As informed by the management, the Company
needs to comply with sector specific guidelines / laws e, IATA Guidelines for
Agents and the Information Techmology Act, 2000, in addition to other laws
applicable to the Company.

We have alsc examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the
Secretanal Standard on Meetings of the Board of Directors and on General
Meetings issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India, with which
the Company has generally complied with.

We report that the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules,
Regulations, Standards and Guidelines, lo the extent applicable, as mentioned
above during the Audit Period and the Company was generally regular in filing with
the Registrar of Companies and the Reserve Bank of India.

We further report that the board of directors of the Company (the "Board") is duly
conslituted with optimum combination of executive and non-executive directors,
women director and independent directors. The changes in the composition of the
Board that took place during the Audit Period were camied out in compliance with the
provisions of the Act.
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Adequate notice was given to all directors to schedule the Board and/ or committee
meetings, agenda and detailled notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in
advance other than those meetings which were held on shorter notice in compliance
with the provisions of the Act read with Secretanal Standard - 1 and a system exisls
for seeking and obtaining further information and clanfications on the agenda tems
before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting.

All decisions at Board meetings and committee meetings were carned out with
requisite majority as recorded in the minutes of the meetings of the Board or
commitiee of the Board, as the case may be,

We further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company
commensurate with the size and operations of the Company to menitor and ensure
compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards and guidelines.

We report further that during the period under review:

= The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on May
04, 2021, approved increase in the authorised share capital of the Company
from 30,00,000/- (Rupees Thirty Lakh only) comprising of 10,00,000 (Ten Lakh)
Equity Shares of %1/- (Rupee One only) each and 400000 (Four Lakh)
Preference Shares of ¥5/- (Rupees Five only) each to ¥50,00,00,000/- (Rupees
Fifty Crore only) compnsing of 45,00,00,000 (Forty-Five Crore) Equity Shares of
T1/- (Rupee One only) each and 1,00,00,000 (One Crore) Preference Shares of
Ta/- (Rupees Five only) each and consequently, Memorandum of Association of
the Company was altered.

= The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on May
31, 2021 approved issuance of 50, 14.5% MNon-Convertible Debentures
(Secured) of T10,00,000 (Rupees Ten Lakh only) each (Series B) at par ("NCD")
and 752 Compulsorily Converlible Preference Shares ("CCPS") having a face
value of ¥5/- (Rupees Five only) each at a premium of ¥9.965/- (Rupees Nine
Thousand Nine Hundred Sixty-Five) per share with an issue price of T9,970/-
{Rupees Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy only) per share on private
placement / preferential allotment basis. In compliance with the said approval,
the Board allotted fully paid-up 50 NCD of 210,00,000/- (Rupees Ten Lakh) each
at par and partly paid-up 752 CCPS having a face value of ¥5/- (Rupees Five)
each at a premium of ¥9 965/- (Rupees Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Sixty-
Five) per share with an issue price of ¥9,970/- (Rupees Nine Thousand Nine
Hundred Seventy only) with a paid-up value of £1/- each on pnvate placement /
preferential allotment basis on June 09, 2021.

« The members al the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
June 14, 2021 approved issuance of 29 934 equity shares having a face value of
T1/- (Rupee One only) per share at a premium of ¥9,969/- (Rupees Nine
Thousand Nine Hundred Sixty-Nine) per share with an issue price of 29,970/-
{Rupees Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy) per share for an aggregate
consideration of 29,84 41,980/- (Rupees Twenty-Nine Crore Eighty-Four Lakh
Forty-One Thousand Mine Hundred Eighty only), on private placement /
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preferential allotment basis for consideration other than cash, to be paid by way
of transfer of 41,871 equity shares having a face value of T10/- per share of
Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limited (‘Confirm Ticket') held by Mr,
Kotha Dinesh Kumar and Mr. Sripad Vaidya (founders of Confirm Ticket) to the
Company (i.e., a swap of equity shares of Confirm Ticket with equity shares of
the Company) based on the valuation report of Confirm Ticket obtained by the
Company in accordance with applicable law with a fair market value of
27,127.80/- (Rupees Seven Thousand One Hundred Twenty-Seven and Eighty
Paise only) per share as part of the purchase consideration for acquisition of
Confirm Ticket and the Board allotted 29 934 equity shares on June 15, 2021 to
Mr. Kotha Dinesh Kumar and Mr. Sripad Vaidya.

+ The Board, at its meeting held on June 15, 2021 approved the rights issue of
equity shares under Section 62{1)(a) of the Act in the ratio of 1.3 i.e., to offer 1
{one) equity share of Re. 1 each on right basis at a premium of ¥199/- (Rupees
One Hundred Ninety-Nine only) per share and at an issue price of 200/-
{(Rupees Two Hundred only) per share to existing shareholders of the Company
on the close of the business hours on June 16, 2021 ("Record Date®). In
response to the rights issue, the Company received subscription letters from 18
shareholders with a request to subscribe for 47 875 equity shares in aggregate
along with the subscription money and have consequently allotted 47 875 equity
shares of ¥1/- each at an issue price of T200/- each on June 30, 2021.

s Al the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on July 05, 2021, the
members granted their approval for alteration of the Objects Clause of the
Memorandum of Association of the Company. Further, the members also
granted the approval for alteration of the Articles of Association of the Company
to reflect the revised understanding among the shareholders as per the
Amendment Agreement dated June 30, 2021 to the Second Amended and
Restated Series B Shareholders' Agreement dated January 25, 2017.

= The members at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on July
12, 2021 approved issuance of 85,432 CCPS having a face value of ¥ 5/-
{Rupees Five Only) per share at a premium of ¥31,635/- (Rupees Thirty-Cne
Thousand Six Hundred Thirty-Five Only) per share, with an Issue Price of
¥31,640/- (Rupees Thirty-One Thousand Six Hundred Forty Only) per share and
2 equity shares having a face value of 1/- (Rupee One Only) per share at a
premium of $31,639/- (Rupees Thirty-One Thousand Six Hundred Thirty-Nine
Only) per share with an Issue Price of 231,640/- (Rupees Thirty-One Thousand
Six Hundred Forty Only) per share for an aggregate consideration of
¥2,70,32,26,680/- (Rupees Two Hundred Sevenly Crore Thirty-Two Lakh
Twenty-Six Thousand Six Hundred Eighty Only) on private placement /
preferential allotment basis for cash. Pursuant to the said approval, the Board
allotted 5 equity shares to Gamnat Pte. Ltd., Malabar India Fund Limited, |E

Venture Fund - |, India Acorn Fund Limited, Bay Capital Holdings Limited;
26 858 Series C CCPS to Malabar India Fund Limited, Malabar Value Fund, |E
Venture Fund - |, India Acorn Fund Limited, Bay Capital Heoldings Limited,

Trifecta Venture Debt Fund |l and 58,574 Series C1 CCPS to Gamnat Pte, Ltd.
on July 26, 2021.
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« At the annual general meeting of the Company held on July 29, 2021 the
members inter alia granted their approval for the following:

{a) Conversion of Le Travenues Technology Private Limited from private
limited company to public limited company and consequent alteration of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and also
approved alteration and adoption of new set of Articles of Association of the
Company. On August 03, 2021, the Registrar of Companies, Ministry of
Corporate Affairs issued the fresh certificate of incorporation consequent
upon conversion from private company to public company,

{b) Increase in the limits of borrowing by the Board under Section 180({1)(c) of
the Companies Act, 2013 and creation of mortgage or charge on the
assets, properties or underaking(s) of the Company under Section
180({1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 up to ¥1,000/- Crore (Rupees One
Thousand Crore only) or the limits so prescribed under Section 180(1)(c) of
the Act, whichever is higher;

{c) Enhancement of limit under Section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013 for
grant of loans and advances or making investments or provide securities or
guarantees up to 21,000/~ Crore (Rupees One Thousand Crore only) or the
limits so prescribed under Section 186 of the Act, whichever is higher;

{d) Issuance of 21,634 equity shares having a face value of ¥ 1/- (Rupee One
Only) per share at a premium of ¥28,730/- (Rupees Twenty-Eight
Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty Only) per share with an Issue Price of
T28,731/- (Rupees Twenty-Eight Thousand Seven Hundred Thirty One
Only) per share for an aggregate consideration of ¥62,15,66,454/- (Rupees
Sixty Two Crore Fifteen Lakh Sixty-Six Thousand Four Hundred Fifty Four
Only) on private placement / preferential allotment basis for cash and for
consideration otherwise than on cazh. In compliance with the said approval,
the Board allotted 21,634 equity shares for cash and for consideration
otherwise than on cash on August 03, 2021 to seven allotiees;

« The members al the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
August 05, 2021 approved the issue of equity shares, by capitalising such sum
out of the securities premium account and the capital redemption reserve
account of the Company by issue of eqguity shares credited as fully paid-up
{hereinafter referred to as the "Bonus Shares") to the members of the Company
whose names appear on the register of members on such record dale as may be
decided by the Board, in the proportion of 399 equity shares for every 1 equity
share held by them on such record date. In compliance with the said approval,
the Board at its meeting held on August 068, 2021 fixed the record date as August
06, 2021 and allotted 216,364,932 equity shares to existing shareholders in the
proportion of 399 equity shares for every 1 equity share held on the record date.

= The Company is having Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option
Scheme 2009, Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Oplion Scheme
2012; Le Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2013; Le
Travenues Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2016, Le Travenues
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Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2020 and Le Travenues
Technology - Employees Stock Option Scheme 2021 (hereinafter collectively
referred to as “Prevailing ES0S5™) and the Board allotted equity shares from time
to time dunng the Audit Period consequent upon exercise of options, if any
granted, vested and exercised under the Prevailing ESOS.

= The Board at its meeting held on October 26, 2021 approved the conversion of
Compulsorily Convertible Preference Shares (Series A), Compulsorily
Convertible Preference Shares (Senes B), Compulsorily Convertible Preference
Shares (Series B1 & Series B2), Compulsornly Convertible Preference Shares
(Series C) and Compulsonly Convertible Preference Shares (Senes C1) and
allolted in aggregate 151,479,600 equity shares of Re. 1/- each upon conversion
of the entire series of CCPS issued by the Company comprised of and
aggregating to 3,59,396 CCPS,

+ |nitial Public Offer: Al the annual general meeting of the Company held on July
29 2021, the shareholders approved the special resolution for raising of capital
through an initial public offering. Subsequently the Company filed the draft red
herring prospeclus ("DRHP") dated August 12, 2021 with the Securities and
Exchange Board of India ("SEBI"). In December 2021, SEBI| has issued the
observation letter, in compliance of which the proposed issue can open for
subscription within a period of 12 months from the date of the issuance of the
said |etter.

For DPV & ASSOCIATES LLP
Company Secrelanes
Firm Registration No.: L2021DEQQS2500

f’{ﬁf B E’j #

= 1
CS Parveen Kumar
Partner
F'lac?: MNew Delhi CP No. 13411 { Mem. No. F10315
Date: May 04, 2022 UDIN: FO10315D0004855286
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Annexure -5
Conservation of Energy, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange
Earnings and Outgo

Particulars, as prescribed by Section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013, read with
Rule 8(3) of the Companies (Account) Rules, 2014, in respect of conservation of
energy, technology absorption, and foreign exchange earnings and outgo, to the
extent applicable to the Company, are given below:

a) Conservation of Energy
(i) Steps taken or impact on the conservation of energy

Though your Company does not have an energy-intensive operation, every
endeavour has been made to ensure the optimal usage of energy, avoid wastage
and conserve energy. Due to the nationwide lockdown announced by the
Government of India, we have transitioned a substantial part of the work to be
performed by our employees while working from home resulting in a substantial
reduction in energy consumption.

(i) Steps taken by the Company for utilising alternate sources of energy

Le Travenues being a technology company, its operations are not energy-
intensive, and the energy consumption and energy costs constitute a very small
portion of the total cost. The steps taken by the Company for utilising alternate
sources of energy are not significant.

(iii) the capital investment in energy conservation equipments

We constantly evaluate new technologies and make appropriate investments to
be energy efficient for example using energy-efficient equipment and devices,
replacing CFL fittings with LEDs fittings to reduce power consumption, and timely
preventive maintenance of equipment. The air is conditioned with energy-efficient
compressors for central air conditioning and with split air conditioning for localized
areas.

b) Technology Absorption & Research and Development

We are a technology-driven company and our technology platforms have been
designed to deliver a high level of reliability, security, scalability, integration, and
innovation. Our technology team has adopted a continuous improvement, high-
frequency testing approach to our business, aimed at improving both traffic and
conversion rates while maintaining reliability. We use our technology infrastructure
to improve the user experience and optimize the efficiency of our business
operations.

We have developed our platforms in-house which has enabled us to better
manage our product and service offerings and improve operating efficiencies by
integrating our sales, delivery, and user service functions. Your Company has
incurred expenses of approximately ¥141.02 million on a standalone basis and
156.49 million on a consolidated basis during the period under review towards
technology and related costs.
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c) Foreign exchange earnings and outgo

The total foreign exchange used and earned by the Company during the year as
compared with the previous year is as follows:

Particulars Financial Year ended (%)
31.03.2022 31.03.2021
Foreign exchange earnings 9,73,67,737 6,22,22,750
Foreign exchange expenditure 9,29,54,115 2,62,62,159

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Aloke Bajpai

(Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)

DIN: 00119037

Date: May 04, 2022
Place: Gurugram
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S.R. BarLisol & AssociATes LLP el e SRR

Chartered & crtmnk Seclor 42, Secloe Road
S R e A Curugram - 122 002, Haryana, s

[ Tl 431 124 681 G000

INDEPENDENT AUMTOR'S REFORT

! To the Members of Le Travenues Technology limited
| Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
' Opinion

We have audited the sccompanying consolidated financial statements of Le Travenues Technology

| Limited (hereinafier referred to as “the Holding Company™) and its subsidiaries {the Holding Company
and its subsidiaries together réferred (o as “the Group™) comprising of the consolidated Balance sheet
as at March 31 2022, the consalidated Statement of Profit and Loss and the consolidated Cash Flow
Statement for the year then ended, and notes 1o the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafier referred to
a8 “the consolidated Ninancial statements™).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according o the explanations given to us, the
| aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013,

as amended (“the Act™) in the manner o required and give a true and Tair view in conformity with the
| accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at

March 31, 2022, their consolidated loss and their consolidated cash flows for the year ended on that
| date,

! Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (SAs), as specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those
Standards wre further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
I Financial Statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Group, associates and Joint

ventures i accordance with the “Code of Ethics” issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
| India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 10 our audit of the financial statemenis

under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder. and we have fulfilled our other ethical
| responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the auwdil

evidence we have obtained is sulTicient and appropriate o provide a basis for our audit opinion on the
| consolidated financial statements,

! Other Information

The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other
infarmation comprises the information included in the dirccior's report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s repont thereon.

Onir opinion on the consolidated financial stalements does not cover the other information and we do
i nol express any [om of assurance conclusion thereon.

! In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so. consider whether such other information is materially inconsistent

[ with the consalidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the awdit or otherwise appears
1 be materially misstated, If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

' misstatement of this other information, we are required 1o report that fact. We have nothing (o report i
this regard,

|
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S.R. BarLisol & Associates LLP

Charterad Accountants
Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statemenis

The Holding Company’s Board of Directars is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these
consolidated linancial statements in terms of the requirements of the Act that give a true and Tair view
of the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows
of the Group including in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India,
including the Companies { Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 specified under section 133 of the Act.
read with the Companies { Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended). The respective Board of Directors of
the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequale accounting records
in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for
preventing and detecting frands and other irregularities; selection and application ol appropriate
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively
for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and
presentation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the perpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Board of Birectors of the Holding Company,
as aftwesaid,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the Companies
meluded in the Group are responsible tor assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a poing
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but ta do so.

Thaose respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are also responsible for
overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our ohjectives are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due @ fraud or error, and (0 ssue an aisditor’s
report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance isa high level of assurance bul is nol a guerantes
that an awdit conducted in accordance with SAs will always deteet a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 10 influence the economic decisions ol users taken on the
basis of these consalidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the aedit. We also:

»  |dentify and assess the risks of malerial misstatement of the consolidated fMinancial statements,
whether due to fravd or emor, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate (o provide a basis for our opinion, The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resolting from
ervor, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
ewverride of intermal control,

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order o design audit procedures
that are appropriale in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)i) of the Act, we are also
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding Company has adequate imfemal
financial controls with reference o financial statements in place and the operating efTectiveness of
such contrals.

EE»Tlmil[l..a- aind related disclosures II'.IEI:II:' by management.
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S.R. BatLiBO1 & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants
*  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exisis related to evenis
or gonditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group and its associates and joint
ventures o continue as a going concern. |f we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or. if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion, Cur conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of owr auditor’s report. However, future
events o conditions inay cause the Group and its associates and joini ventures to cease to continue

85 i EOIng cOncern,

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial stalements represent the
underlying iransactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

*  Obtain sufficient appropriate audil evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors and whose financial
information we have andited, to express an opinion on the consolidated financial stalements, We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the financial
statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the
independent suditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial statements, which
have been audited by other auditors, such other suditors remain responsible Tor the direction,
supervision and performance of the audits carried out by them, We remain solely responsible for
our audit opimion,

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such other entities
included in the consolidated financial statements ol which we are the independent auditors regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevani
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regolatory Requirements

I.  As required by the Companies (Auditor™s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Crder™), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (| 1) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the “Annexurn
1" & statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3{xxi) of the Order

2. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, 1o the extent applicable, that:

fa} We have sought and obtamed all the information and explanations which o the best ol our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our sudit of the sforesaid consolidated
financial statemenis;

(b)) In our apinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid
consolidation of the financial statements have been kept so far as i appears from our examination
of those books;

{c} The Consolidated Balance Sheei, the Consolidated Starement of Profit and Loss and the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the books of
sccount maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial stalemenis;

I
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S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants

{(d)} In our opimon. the aforessid consohidated financial statements comply with the Companies
(Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 specified under section 133 of the Act, read with the
Companies { Accounts) Rules, 2004 (as amended i

(e} On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company as
on March 31, 2022 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the
reporis of the statutory auditors who are appointed under Section 139 of the Act, of its subsidisy
companies, associate companies and joint ventures, none of the directors of the Group's companies
incorporated in India is disqualified as on March 31, 2022 from being appointed as e director in
terms of Section 164 {2) of the Act;

() With respect to the adequacy of the imtemal financial controls with reference to consolidated
financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies and the operating
effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexire 27 1o this report;

{g) In our opinion, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2022 has been paid /
provided by the Holding Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in India to their directors in
accordance with the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule ¥ 1o the Act:

th) With respect to the other matters (o be included in the Auditor’s Repont in accordance with Rule 11
of the Companies { Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended, in our opinion and o the best of
our information and according 1o the explanations given o us:

i. I'he Group does not have any pending litigations which would impact its consolidated
financial position;

i, The Group did not have any material foreseeable losses in long-term contracts including
derivative contracts during the year ended March 31, 2022,

ii.  There were no amounts which were reguired 1o be transferred ta the Investor Education
and Protection Fund by the Holding Company. its subsidiaries incorporated in India during
the vear ended March 51, 2022.

.  a) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which are
companies incorporsted in Indin whose finsncial statements have been audited under the
Act have represented to us that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds have been
advanced or loaned or invested {cither from borrowed funds or sharve premium or any other
sources or kind of funds) by the Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries to or in any
other person or entity, including [oreign entities (“Intermediaries™), with the
understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall,
whether, directly of indirectly lend or invest in other persons or enlities identified in any
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the respective Holding Company or any of such
subsidiaries (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on
behalf of the Ulltimate Beneficiaries;

b} The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries which are
companies incorporated in India whose Rnancial statements have been audited under the
Act have represented to us that, 10 the best of itz knowledge and befief, , no funds have
been received by the respective Holding Company or any of such subsidiaries from any
person or cnfity, including foreign entities (“Funding Parties™), with the understanding.
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Holding Company or any of such
subsidiaries shall, whether, direcily or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entilies
identified in any manner whalsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate
Beneficiaries™) or provide any guarantee. seourity or the like on behalf of the Ultimate _g#
Beneliciaries; and
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S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accountants

¢} Based on the audit procedures that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in
the circumstances performed by us for companics incorporated in India whose financial
statements have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our notice that has caused
us to believe that the representations under sub-clanse {a) and (b) conmain any material
mis-statement.

iv. Mo dividend has been declared or paid during the vear by the Holding Company and iis
subsidiaries, incorporated in India.

For 5K, Bailiboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountanis
"-\ II'['_'.H.E Firm Registration Number: |01 048W/E3D0004

I v -H‘H"'
o
._{__J
b

per Yogender Seth

Partner

Membership Number: 94524
LDIM: 22094524 AIKOQCAES10
Place of Signature: Surigram
Drare; May 04, 2022
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S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartared Accountants

Annexure 1 referred to in paragraph 1 of Report on Other Lepal and Regulatory Requirements
of our report of even date

Re: Consolidated financial statements of Le Travenues Technology Limvited {“the Company™)
In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and given by the Company and its subsidiaries
the books ol sceount and records examined by us in the nomial course of audit and o the best of our

knowledge and belief, we state that:

(xxi) Cualifications by the respective auditors in the Companies { Anditors Report) Order (CARO) reports
of the companics included in the consolidated financial statements are:

S.No | Mame CIM Holding Clause number of
company/ | the CARC report
subsidimry | which s qualified

1 Le Travenuwes Technolopy | UAIOMHRIOMGPLCOTISE0 | Holding {viidu)
Limtited o iy

2 Confirm  Ticket Online | UT4110TG2015PTCO98079 | Subsidiary T E
Salutions Private Limited Company

For 5.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Charlersd Accountants
% ICAl Firm Registration NMumber: [01049%W/E300004

A
X
xj_"_‘

bt
per Tﬂgé'nlder Seth
Partner
Membership Number: %4524
LIDIN: 22094524 AIKOCARS 1D
Place of Signature: Gurugram
Date: May 04, 2022
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S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartered Accolnlants

Annexure-2 to The Independent Avditor’s Report of even date on the consolidated financial
statements of Le Travenoes Technology Limited

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clanse (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companies Act, 2003 (*the Aci™)

In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Le Travenues Technology
Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company™) as of and for the year ended March 31,
2022, we have apdited the intermmal financisl controls , with reference 1o consolidated financial statements
of the Holding Company which is company incorporated in India, as of that date,

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, which is company incorporated in India,
are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial contrals based on the internal control
over financial reporting criterin established by the Holding Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Intemal Financial Contrals Over
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accoumtants of Indin (ICAl), These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate intemal financial
controls that were operating effectively for ensoring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business,
including adherence to the respective company s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliahle financial information, as required under the Act,

Aunditor's Responsibility

Chur responsibility is 10 express an opimion on the company's internal financial controls with reference
to these consolidated financial ststements based on our audit, We conducted our audit in accordance
with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the
“Guidance Note™) and the Standards on Auditing, specified under section 143(10) of the Act, 1o the
extent applicable to an audit of mternal financial controls, both, issued by 1CAL. Those Standards and
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate mternal finnnecial controls over financial reporting
with reference to these consolidated financial statements was established and maintained and it such
controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
fnancial controls over financial reporting with reference to these consolidated financial statements and
their operating effectiveness, Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated
financial statements included obtaining an understanding of intermal financial controls with reference o
these consolidated Anancial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and lesting
and evaluating the design and operating elTectiveness of intemal contrel based on the assessed risk. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
migstatement of the fnancial statements, whether due o fraud or error,

We believe that the auditl evidence we have obtained. is sufficient and appropriaie to provide a basis for
our apdit opinion on the imernal financial controls with reference to consolidated financial statements.
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S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Chartersd Accountants
Meaning of Internal Financinl Controls With Reference to these consolidated financial statements

A eompany's internal financial control with reference to these consolidated financial statements is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to consolidated Tirancial
statements includes these palicies and procedures that { 1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary o permil
preparation of financial statements in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles. and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations ol
management and directors of the company; and (3} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unmnhorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s asseis that could
have a matenal effect on the Nnancial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting With Reference
to these consolidated financial siatements

Recause of the inherent limitaticons of internal fnancial eontmols with reference to consolidated Ninancial
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material
misstatements due 1o érror or fraud may occur and not be detected, Also, projections of any evaluation
of the imtemal financial contrals with reference to consolidated financial statemenis to future periods are
subject to the risk that the internal financial control with reference to these consclidated financial
statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Opinion

Inn our opinion, the Holding Company, which is company incorporated in India, have, mainiained in all
material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference 1o these consolidated financial
statements and such internal financial controls with reference 1o consolidated financial statements were
operating effectively as at March 31, 2022, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria
established by the Holding Company considering the essential components of mtemal control statéd in
the Guidance Mote issued by [CAL

For 5.R. Batlibof & Associates LLP
Chartersd Aceountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 101049W/E300004
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per Yogender Seth

Pariner

Membership Number: 94524
LI 22094524 AT OO ABS 1
Place of Signature; Gurugram
Diate: May 04, 2022
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Le Travenwes Technology Limited | Formerly Known as *' Le Travenuss Technology Frivate Limited™)
Consliduted Statement of Cash Flaws for the period ended March 31, 2022

Imll: arminaiatd s IR mallions, unless atharwise seabed)

A Cavh flow from aperaiing netivities

| 1 (Loss Profit before tx

| 2 Adjustwents io reconcile profit / (oss) befove qox to et cosh flows:

I

Dreprecistion and amoriizstion

Impalrmnent allowansce of made receivahles

Biod debis

[mierest on horrowings

Inder=at an Jease Labiliiy

Employes siock oplion scheme

Excess provision writlen back

Cizin on change m fair valve of invesoments {ne)
Ciain an sabe of investmenis {net)

Laas ! pain on sale of propeny, plant and equipment {nei}
Gain on foreign exchange {nel)

(Gain on sceount of termination of lease contract {net)
Hent concession

Interest income on meone o nefund

Interest income from:

« Ui depoanis with bank and others

- Oin other deposiis and sdvances

Operating profif [/ {les) before workiog capital changes (1+1)

Working capifal adjostmeris:

Creeranse (Increass) in irade recesvables
{Increase)  decrease i other financinl asscis
Im=pense n other carment and non-cument assels
Increase m oiher financial Hsbaliey

Diecrease in trade payables

Increase ! (decesse} 0 contract liability
Frcrease m other curnent liabilisy

tegrease [ (decrease) in provision

Mgt chonges in working caplal

Cash flow (used in) operating acilvites (3+4)

6 Mot Direct tnxes pabd ! (iok refibds)
7 Mei cash flow (used in) operating sciivities (5-8)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Paymont for parchass of noa-cument investments

[mvestment in term deposit for more ilian 12 monibe with banks

Payment for purchase of curreat investmenis

Proceeds from sele of current investments

Proceeds from sale of properiy, plant and eguipment

Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment aad intangibles
Payments towards Mon compese fee of Confirm Ticket Online Solulions Privaie
Limited {Refer nobe 42 (A))

Payments for sequisition of Abhibus buginess through BTA (refer pote 42 [BY)
Investmeni in figed deposics with banks

Eriteres received

Met cosh (used in) investing aetivities
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L& Travenues Technolopy Limited ( Foemerly Koown as " Le Travenses Technolegy Private Limits)" )

Consolidaied Sttement of Cash Flows for the perind ended Aarch 31, 2821
(Al pmourts in N E millions, unless tdherwise sinled )
C Cash Mow from finamcing activities:
Mayment ol Barmwvings
Praceeds Trom Borrowings
Payment of lease Tabilities
Frocecds from issue ol eguity shares and securilies premiane
Praceeds. Thom issue of imsnements enbirely equity i aaiang
Share npplicolin money received
lipamee costs paid
%t gash from fimancing wctivitees

i el inerease! [ibecrease) in coash and eash egabvplents (A+H+C)

E  Cosh & cash equivalents o5 i the begimning of the year
Clush & cash equivalenis a5 at the end of the year (D+E)

Cush and cash equivalenis comprises:

Cush an humd

Funds in rarsf

Chibers

Bakances widl bandks:

- Current aceounil

-ﬂepuul Fzoiial (with original maiurity of three mombs or kss)
Cash amd coxh equivalents [refer mode 12)

s Wank vverdrll {Seoured)

Tl cash aml cavh equivilents

San-cash investing sl financing activiths

Issuaniee ol equity shimes Ssued as part of the consdenition paid fisr gequisition o
Ablibus business under Daisiness Transiir R mei

Issiatsros vl equaly sharcs as par of Uhe consideration pdd o spquire additienal
shargholding in Canfiom Tecket Online Salutions Privaie Limited
Acguisnion ol Ahhibos besiness asests by assuming lizhilidics

Reter Miste 1 for Change in labilites arising frea hnancine scivitics,
Surmmary of significant accouniing policies

Ihe npeampanying noles ane an indegral pan of the Gnancial staicmcnls
Ax per vur reporl of even dole
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I Le Travenmes Teahmology Limbted | Formerly Knawe as " Le Travenee Technobogy Privaie Limibed" )
Consolldnied Stntement of Chasges in equity for the vear gmiled March 30, 2022

| (A amounts i TN xillions, wless otherwise stated)

Niks Equity share capital

Particulars Amoumnt
U Asat April 01, 2020 .43
Charges: in equity shure capdinl during the year -
| Aa ol March 31, 2821
Cliargses in equity share capital doring the year Joi.a2
| As at March 31, 2022 I59.75
I Mavement during fle year Amnung
As al Aperll 1, 2023 43
Add:
| Beonus ghares isesed during the year by capiialistng Securitics Fremium 21636
[z=ue of equity shares pursuance io conversian of CCPS 15144
[ Exercise af Sinck optives by Employees 137
Izzoe of share caplial for acquisstion ol A i Haote 14) LLE ]
ghar Tew mquaiss [ Ablafbas (Holer
Ispaz of share capiml for acquisstion of CTEL (Reder Moz [4) 004
| Fresh shares msued doring the year [ER1A]
Ax af March 31, 2022 ]E’Igg
I
. Instramends entlrely eqelty in nature
I Partkeulars Amaunt
As al April I, 2020 .
| Reclass from financinl zakilitles o equily {Reder Note 14 (d)] 132560
As at March 31, 2021 252569
| 1505 (March 31, 2021 = 2 500) 1.01% compulsarily sonvertible cumulative preference shares Series Bl of INR 3 each (Refer Mots 14 {el) 22 50
TR Mdarch 30, 2021 1 WIL) 0.01% compalsarily converiible cumulative profaence shimes Senes B2 of 1NE 5 each (Refer Mote 14 (gl 750
I 26, 258 (March 31, 2021 3 WIL) Q001 % compulsorily convertible prefersnce shares Senies © of TNEL 5 cach {Refer Moe [4 (g)) 49T
éMnﬁ: 31, 1325;3. MILy &}W@mmlﬁnh vanvertible preference shares Series O of INR § each {Kefer Moie 14 (e1) 1,&53,28
inco equity share cap er (F ] (5 1)
| Transfered o share premiven [£.5907 28]
As ol Maurch 31, 2022 =3
|
|
|
{Thir space has beer imentionalle lp® blamk)
|
|
|
|
|
I
I
|
I
I
|
|
|
|
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Le Travenues Technology Limited (Formerly Known as * Le Travenues Technology Private Limited")
Notes ty Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(AN smoumts i INE millions, usless siberaise siated)

I, Corporaie Information

The Grronp's consolidated financial stiiements comprise financial sttements of Le Traveines Teehbology Limited
{lormerly known as Le Travenves Technology Private Limited) (hereinafter refemed as “fhe Company™) and its
subsidiaries (coflectively referred 10 a3 “the group™) for the year ended Murch 31,2022, The regisiered office of
the Compuny is located at 2nd Floor, Veritas Building, Golf Course Road Sector- 53, Gurgnon 122002, On Aug
(13, 2021, the Registrar of Companies, Delbi, has seconded their approval to change the name of the Compaty frum
Le Travenues Technology Private Limiled fo Le Travonoes Technology Limited und granted it siatus of public
company as per the Companies Act, 2013

The Uiroup 15 engaged in the business of running online platforms named woow, ixigocom, s confirmikt corm.
www.nbhibiis.com for providing Information and booking serviess for the tnivel industry across gidlines, triins.
hotels, buses and cabs in real-time, The Group also provides software development and maiitenance services 1o
iz custamer.

The Group's consoliduted finadvial statemnents for the year ended March 31,2022, were spproved for isste i
sccordance with a resolution of the directors on May (4, 2022,

1.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepired 1o comply in all material respeuts with (he
Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS") nowfied under the Companies (fndian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015
and Compenics (Indian Accounting Standords) amendment Rules 2016 (a8 amended from time w i),
preseniation requirements of Division 11 of Schedule [ to the Companies Act, 2013, {Ind AS compliant Schedule
[}, a8 apphcable to the CF5 and viher relevant provisiens of the Act,

The consolidated finmeial statemens have been prepared on a historical cost busis, except for the following asseis
and liabilities which have been measured at fair value or revalised amount:

& Derivatve financial instrimsesis,
® LUertain Onancial assets and Habilities measured at fir value {refer accounting policy regarding finspcial
InEtrEmenis j,

The seeounting policies, as set out in the following parigraplis of this note, have heen consistently applied, by the
Cirgus, W all the perinds presentod in the said financial statements. The preparation of the said fimancial sttenwents
recuires the use of certain eritical accounting estunates and judgements. 1t abso requires the menazement  exercise
fhidgement in the process of applying the Group®s accounting policies. The arens where estimates ire significant 10
the financial statements, or areas fnvolving a higher degree of fudgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 3,

All the amounts included in the Anancial statements are reposted in millions of Indian Rupees and are rounded o
the nearest millions, except per shace datn and unless stated otherwise,

1.2 Besis of conselldation

The consoliduted fnancial statements comprise the financial smitements of the Compeny and its subsidisries as @
March 31.2022. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, o variable returns fromt s
mvolvement with the investee and has the ability 1o affect these retums through its power over the inveses.
Specifically. the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group hs;

*  Power over the investes (1e., existing rights that give it the corrent ability 10 direct the relevam activitdes of
the investes}

®  Exposuve, of rights, w0 virisble retums fromn s involvemens with the investee, and

®  The ability 10 use its power over the mvesiee to affect its Temms

CGrenerally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control, To support this presmption a
when the Group has less than @ majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Crroup comsiders nll
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it his power over um investee, including:

®  The contmetoal armangement with the ather vote holders of the invesice
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Le Travenues Technology Limited (Formerly Known as " Le Traveaues Technolegy Private Limited")
Motes to Consolidated fingncial statements for the year coded March 31, 2022
(AT amounts in [NE millions, unless atherwise stated)

s Rights urising from olber contracieal armangements

o The Group's voting rights and potential voling rights

s The size of the group’s halding of voting rights relative 1o the size and dispersion of the holdings of the ather
virling righis hoblers

The Growg re-asscsses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes 10 one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
abisins control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Asscis, liabilities,
income @nld expenses of o subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date the Group gains conteol until the date the Group ceases fo contral the subsidiary,

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other
events in similar circumstanees, 1F a member of the Group uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consalidalod financial statements For like transactions and events in similar crewmstances, appropriate adjustments
are made 0 that group member's financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements 1o ensure
eonfommity with the Crroup's aecounting policies.

Thi financial statements of all entities used for the purpose of consolidation are drawn up Lo same reporting date
as that of e Company, 1.2, year ended on 31 March 2022, When the end of the reporting period of the Company
is different from that of a subsidiary, the subsidiary prepares, for consolidation purposes, additional financial
information as of the same date as e Tinancial statements of the parent to emable the Company o consolidate the
linancial information of the subsidiary, unless it is impracticable e do so.

Consolidation procedure:

(a) Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash llows of the parent with those of its
subsidiarics. For this purpose, income and expenses of the subsidiary are based on the amounts of the assets
and liahilities recognised m the consolidated financial statements o the acquisition date.

ih) O¥fact (eliminnte) the carrying amount of the parent’s wivestiment w each sabsidiary and the parent’s portion
af equity of each subsidiary, Business combinations policy explains how to-account for any rebated geodwill,

(¢} Eliminate in full imragroup sssets and Labilities, egquity, income, expenses and cash fows relating 1o
transactions between entitics of the Group (profils or losses resufting from intragroup transactions that are
recognised in assels, sweh as inventory and fixed asscis, are climinated in full). Intragroup losses may indicate
an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated financial stalements. Ind AS 12 Income Taxes
applies to temporary differences that arise from the elimination of profits and losses resulting from intragroup
transacions,

Profit or loss and cach companent of oiber comprehensive income (OCT) are meribured to the equity holders of
the parent of the Group and 1 the non-controlling interests, even i this resulis in the non-controtling interests
having & deficit balance. When nevessary, adjusiments are made to the Anancial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their sccounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and
lihilitics, equity, income, eapenses and cash flows relating 10 transactions between members ol the Group ire
eliminated in full on consadsdanen

ud

1. Summary ef significant accounting policies V&
21 Business combination snd goodwill

Business combinations are acceunted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an scquisition is measured ws
ihe aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date Tur value and the amount of uny noen-
controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the nong
controlling interests in the acquiree &t fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquirce’s identifinble %

assets. Acguisitions related costs ane expensed as incurred. |
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Le Travenoes Technology Limited (Formerly Kaown as ' Lé Travenues Technology Privabe Lioited™ )
Notus to Consolidated financial statements for the vear ended March 31, 2022
(Al nmounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stpted)

Al the ucquisition date, the identifinble assets scquired and the liabilities assumed are recopnised ut their fequisition
dute Twir values, For this purpose, the liabilities sssumed toclode contingent (abifities representifg . pregen
ehligation and they are meastmed af their acquisition fair values irmespective of the faet tht outtiow of resoarees
embeodying ecanomic benefits is not probable, However, the following assels and liabilities agquired in a business
combination sfe meisured at the basls indicared below:

* [referred tax assets or labilities. and the assets or Habilities related 1o enplovee beriefit wrrangerments are
recegnised und measored in pecordomee with Ind AS 12 Income Tax and Ind AS 19 Employves Benetits

respectvely.

*  Powential tx effiects of temporary differences and carry forwarsds of an aequires that exist ol the acquisition date
ar arige s o result of the acquisifon are secounted in secordinee with Ind AS 12,

* Liabilities or equity instruments related to share based pavment amrangements of the acguiree or share — based
paymenis arrangements of the Group entered into 1o teplace share-bused poyment armogements of the peqitinee
are measured in accordance with Tsd AS 102 Sharc-hased Pavmants at the sequisition date.

*  Assets (or disposal groups) that sre classified as held for sale in accordance with Ind AS 105 Non-carreni
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in sccordanoe with tat st

* Reacquired rights are measured a1 8 value determined on the bagis of the remaining contractal rerm of i
related contract. Such valuation does not consider potential renewal of the rescquired right,

When the Group acquires o business. it assesses the financial asscts and labilities ussumed for appropriaie
classification ond designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic cirumstances and pertinend
canditions os ut the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
DoquireE,

IT Ihe business combination is achicved in stages, any previousty held equity inlerest s re-mensured at e
aequisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is secognised in profit or loss or OCI, 85 Appropeinie.

Any contingent consideration 1o be transferred by the acquirer is recopnised at fatr value at the acgusition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liakility that s o financial instrument and within the scope of Ind
AS 108 Financial Instruments, is measured 04 fair value with changes in fiir value recosnised in profit or loss. 11
the contingent comsideration is not within the scope of Ind AS 109, [l i measured in sccordance with {he
uppropriate Tnd A%,

Lontingent eonsideration that is classified s equity 15 not re-mensured ot subsequentt reporting dates and
sitbsequent its settlement is accounted for within equity,

Goodwill is initially measured ot cost, being the excess of the apgregate of the consideration (ransferred mnd the
amount recognised for non-controlling Interests, wnd any previous interest hekl, over e net identitiable e
ercuired and Tabilites assunied.

if the fuir vilue of the net nssets scquired is n exvess of the aggrepate corsideration wansfered, the Giroup re-
assesses whether 1t has correctly identified all of the asserts acquired and ull of the labilities assumed and reviews
the procestures taed lo measure the amounts o be recognised at the peguisition date. 17 he rewssessment still results
in an exeesy of the fair value of net assets nogquired over the aggrepate consideration transferred, then the gain i
recognised in UC] and sceumulsted in equity as capital reserve, However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain
purchase, the entity recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without rotting the same theough OC],

After initisl recognition, goodwill is measured a cost less any aceumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
ipaiment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination i, from the scquisition date, sllocazed 1o each of
the Giroup’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combrination, irrespective of whither other
assets or lishilities of the acquirée are assigned 1o those units,

A cash generating unit to which goodwill his been allocated is tested for impairment snnially, ormore frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be fmpaired, 1f the recoverable umount of the cash generating unii i
bes= than its carrying amount, the impaisent loss is alfocated fivst to e s carTying amannl of sy goodwill
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Le Travenues Techaolagy Limited (Formerly Known as " Le Travenues Technology Private Limited")
Notes to Consolidated financizl statements Tor the year ended March 31, 2022
(Al smounts in TNR millions, unless otherwise stated)

atlecated to the unit and then to the other ngsets of the wnit pro rata based on the carrving amount of each asset n
the unit. Asy impairment loss for goodwill i recognised in profit or Ioss. An impairment loss recognised for
poodwill iz not reversed in subsequisnt periods.

1F the initisl accounting for a Business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination ocours, the Ciroup reports provisional amounts for the items for which the aceounting i incomplete
Thase provisional amounts are adjusted through goodwill during the measurement pericd, or additional asscts or
linhilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtined about facts and eircumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have atfected the ameunts recognized at that date. These adjustments arc
called ws measurement pered adjustments. The measurement period does not exceed one year from the acquisition
date.

Linbility far non-controfling interests

Liubility for put option issued to non-controlling interests which do not grant present access 1o ownership interest
1o the Growp is recogmised at present value of the redemption ameunt and & rechnssified from eqoity. At the end
of each reporting period, the non-controlling interests subject to put option is derecognized and the difference
between the amount derecogmised and present valug of the redemption amount, which i recorded as a financial
linhility, is sccounted for a% an equity transaction.

2.7 Fairvalue measurement

Fair value is the price a1 the measurement date at which an asset can be sold or paid W transfer a lability, m an
orderly transaction betweca market pariicipants. The Group's accounting policies require, measurement of certam
fimanciall non-financial sssets and lizbilitics at Toir values {cither on a recurring oF non-recurving basis). Adso, the
fuir values of financil instruments measured as amornised cost are reguived o be disclosed in the said financial
slatements.

[he Croup is reguired (o classify the fair valuation method of the financial! non-financial asscts and habilines.
gither measured or dischosed at fair value in the financial siatements, using a three-level fair value hierarchy (which
refleets the significanee of inputs used in the measurement). Accordingly, the Group uscs valuation technigues that
are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient datn are available 1o measure fair value, Mg
the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are descnbed below:

Lovel 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices {or identical assets or liabilitics n active inarkets
Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are directly or indirectly observable
Level 3: Significant inpuis io the far value measurement are unobservable

131 Cocvent versus nop=carrent classification
[he Group presents assets and linbilities in the balance sheet based on current | non-current classification.
Defierred tax assets and linhilities are classified a2 non-current assets und Imbilities

An asset is classified as cument when it is expected 1o be realised or intended to be sold or consumed n ol <
aperating cycle, held primanly for the purpose of trading, expected to be realised within twelve months sfter the
reporting perind, or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a Lability for
it Teast twelve months afies the reporting period. All otler assets are classified as non-current ussets.

A Uability is classified as current when it is expected 1o be settbed in normal operating cycle, it is held primusiky
for the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or there is riges
unconditional right to defier the settlement of the liahility for at least twelve manths after the reporting perios, J
ather liabilities are clnsaified as non-current linbalities, f

The operating cyele is the tine hetwesn the scquisition of assets for processing and their realisation i cish'§

¢azh eoquivalens, The has identificd twelve months as itz operating cyele.
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Le Travenues Technology Limited {Formerly Known as " Le Travenues Tech nidogy Private Limited™)
Notes to Consolidated finnnelsl statements for the yvear ended March 31, 2022
iAll smounts in INR millions. umless otherwise stted)

14 Property, plant and equipment ('PPE")

An ilem is recognised ns an asset, iFand anly IF 1t is probable that the e cconomic benefits associnted with the
vem will few fo the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are imitinlly recognised ni cost. The initial
cost of PP'E comprises purchase price (including non-refundnble duties and txxes but exeluding any rade discoants
and rebates), borrewing costs if capitalization eriterla are mel and direcely attributable cost of beinging the asset 10
its working condition for the intended nse. Following initiul recognition. PPE are carried af cost less sccumuluied
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, iy,

Subsequent costs are inchided in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised a5 separate sssets, o5 appropriote, only
when it is probable that the future economic benefits associnted with expendinere will flow to the Ciroup and the
cost of the item can be measured relishly. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are reguired to
be replaced o ntervals, the Group recognises such components separatcly and depreciales them based o their
specific useful fives. All other repairs and mafnteniance sre charped o Statement of Profit and Loss ot the dime of
Incurranie.

Grains or losses nrising from de-recognition of PPE are measared as the difference bietwieen the net disposal
proceeds and the currying amount of the asset and are revognized in the statement of profit and loss when the assel
is-derecogningd.

Depreciation on property. plant ind equipment i caloulated on o writien down value method using the raees
armived at based on the usefirl lives estimaned by the manngement which are in line with she nscful lives
preseribed in Schedule 1T of the Companies Act, 2013,

The Grroup has used the follewing useful lives to provide depreciation on s PPE,

Particnlars Yeurs
Computers b
CHTice eguipiment 5
Furniture gnd 4ares 1

The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusied appropriately, at-least
ds-at each reporting date so ax (o ensure that the method and period of deprecintion are conslsient with the expected
pozterm of econoiibe benefits from these ssets. The effects of any change in the estimared wselul Hves: residual
values and / or depreciation method are accounted prospectively, and aceordingly the depreciation i caleuluied
over the PPE"s remaining revised useful life. The cost and the accomylated depreciation for PPE seld, scrapped,
retived or otherwise disposed off are desecopnised from the balance sheet und the resulting gains / {losses) are
included in the statement of profit and loss within other cxpenses | ofler ineome.

15  Intnngible assets

Idennifiable intangible assers are recognised when the Giroup controls the asset, it is probable that fture economic
henetits attributed to the asset will Aow 1o the Group und the cost of the usset can be measured reliably,

Intangible assets are measured on imital recognition i cost, Following inttial récognition, imgngible pssets are
carried ot cost kess accuraulisted mortization and accumulaed impairment losses, if any.

fotangible assets are amortized on s strught-line basis over the estimuted useful economic life, The Croup
amortizes intangible assets (Technology related costs and software) over the best estimare of its yseful lifie whicl
i5 3-3 vears,

The Groap has recapnsed certain intangible assens on acquisition of entity (Reler Note 42). The table below: shows
the values and lives of mtangibles recognised on acquisition:

Parficulars Lives
Software 7
Domam names and Tridemirks 3
Mopn-Compate Agrecment 3
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Le Travenoes Technology Limited (Formerly Known as " L¢ Travenues Technology Private Limiced™)
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(Al amounts in TNH millions, unless otherwise stated )

The costs related 1o planning and post implementation phases of development are expensed as incurred.
Expenditure on rescarch activities are recognized in the Staternent of Profit and Loss as incurred,

Development activities relate 1o production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Dreveloprrent
expenditure incurred on an individual project 1s recognized os an intangible asset when the Group can demonsirite
all the followimng:
= The technical feasibility of completing the inmngibie asset so that it will be avaitable for use or sale.
= [ts intention to complete the assel and its ahility and intention to use or sell the asset.
How the assct will genernte fiure econemic bencfits.
The availability of adequate resources to complete the development and to use or sell the assel
The whility to measure relishly the expenditure attribulable 1o the intangible assct during development.

The amortzation period and the amortization method are reviewed at least at each financial year/period end. [T the
expected nseful life of the assel is significontly different from previous estimates, the smortization peniod s
chunged accordingly. 1 there has heen a significant change in the expecied pattem.of economic benefils from the
asse, the amortization method is changed to reflect the changed pattern. Such changes are accounited progpectively
in aceordance with Tnd AS 8 - dcoowniing Pollcies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Ervers.

Ciaing or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between e net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when
U usset is derecognized.

2.6  Impairment of neo-Ansncial assets

Assets that are subject 1o depreciation and anwrtization are reviewed for impaiement, whenever events or changes
in circumatances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable or when annual impaiment testing for
an ag4et is roquired. Snch cirenmstonces include. though are not limited to, significant or sustaiméd decling in
revenues or carnings and maserial adverse changes in the econginic environment,

An impaiment loss 15 recogiized whenever the corrving amount of an assct or its cash-penersting unit cxceods (6
recoverable smount, The recoverable amount of an asset is the preater of its fair value less costs o sell and value
i wse. To caleulate value in use, the esfimated future cash flows pre discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax diseount rate thal reflects current market rates and the risks specific to the asset. For an assel that does not
generaie largely independent cash inflows. the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which thic asset befongs. Fair value less costs 1o sell is the price that would be recerved to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an erdesly tramsaction bebween market participants, less the costs of disposal,

Goodwill is tested for impawment annually st year end and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value
meay be impaired

Imparrmint 1 defermined for poodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of CGLI 10 which the poodwall
pelates. When the recoverabie amount of the CGLU s less than U5 carrying mmound. animpairenent 1oss is
recignised

LT Lenscs

The Group assesses at contract meepiion whether a contraes is, or contains, a lease. That 15, 41 the contract Eu‘li'r.l‘._'r's
the right 1o conral the yse of an identified assed Tor a pertod of time in exchange for consadesation.

Whre the Grroup is the lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-tesm leases and

leases of lww-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease puyments and right-ol-use asgee -2
representing the right @ usc the underlying assers.
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Le Travennes Technalogy Limited (Formerly Known as " Le Travenoes Techoology Private Limbted" |
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 3], 2022
(Al amoants in [NE millions, unbess otherwise stated)

A Ripl-o=use gssony

The Group recognizes right-ofvmse sssets at the commencement date of the lease (ie., the date the underlying
ussel s availble for usc), Right-of-use nssets are measured ot cost, bes any sccumalited depreciation and
accuimlmed impatrment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease Habilities: The cost of right-oi-use
ansels fncludes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurmed, and lease puyments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease incentrves received. Right-of-nse assels are depreciated on
siraighi-line basts over the lease femmi,

If ownersliup of the Jeased asset wransfers 1o the Group al the end of the lease term or the codt reflects the oxercise
of & purchuse option, deprecistion is calealated using the estimated useful life of the msset.

The right-nf-use assels une also subject to impoirment, Refer 1o the accounting policies in seetivn 2.9 bmpairmen
of non-financial asseds.

B, Lrage Liabdlines

At the commencement dite of the Tease, the Group necognizes Tease liabilities measused a1 e present vilue of
lease payments W be made over the lease term. The Jease payments include fived paveninis ineluding in substanee
fixed pavments) less any lease meentives reccivable, variable lonse puyments that depend on an index or o rate.
wid amoumts expeeted W be paid under residual value guasantees, The lease payments alss nclisde the exercise
price of & purchase aption reasonably certiin o be exercised by the Group amd payments of penaltles for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reficots the Group exercising the oprion 1@ Lerminte. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index ora eate are recognized as expenses (unless they ate ineurred to produce
tnventories} in the period m which the event or condition tha triggers the paymient occurs.

In calculiting the present value of lesse payments, the Croup uses its incremental horrowing rute wl the lease
commencement dute becsuse lhe interest rate dmplicit dn the lease 18 not readily determibnable. Afler the
commencement date, the amount of fease Habilitics is mereased to reflect the seeretion of lerest ind reduced Tor
the lease payments made. In addition, the curyimg amount of lease liabilities s remensured i there s »
modifieation, » change i the lease lerm, o change in the lease pavments {c.4. changes lo ftuce poyvinents resliing
from a change in wn index or rute wsed w determine such lease payments) or 1 change in e assessment of i
aptron to purchase the underlying asset,

C Shar-tevm leaves and Ieases of Tow-valie assets

The irvwip applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to-its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(Le., those lases thal have o lease term of 12 months or less from the comamencement date and do not contain 4
parchase optioa). It also applics the Tease of low-value asseis recognition exemption 1 leases of office equipment
thot are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value nssets ane
recognized ag ¢xpense on o stmight-lTine basis aver e fease 1em

Wihere the Gronp i the lessor

Leases in which the Group does aot trunsfer substantially all the risks and rewsrds incidental to ownership of 4n
assel are classified as operating lenses. Rental income arising = nccounted foron a stroight-Hine basis over e Jease
term. Initinl direct costs incurred in negotinting and arunging an operating fease are added 1o the carrying smoun
ol the leased peset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis a5 rentul income. Contingent rents are
recognized as revenue in the period in which they ure ezmed.

18 Borrowing cost

Bomrowing costs direetly attributble to the sequisition, construction or production of a0 asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sule are capitalized as past of e cost of the
respeetive asset. All other borrowing cosds wre expensed in the period they vecur, Bormowing costs ponsist of
imterest und other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Bomowing cost also
mcludes exchange differences to the extent negarded as an adjustment 1o the borrowing costs.
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Le Travenues Techaology Limited (Formerly Known as " Le Travenues Technology Private Limited"™)
Notes to Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
{ All amounts i INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

29 Finsncial insirmmenis

A financial instrumend is any contract that gives rise 1o 4 financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity,

(i} Financiul sssets
Initial recopnition and measurement

All financial assets wre recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly atributable 1o the
acquigition of Minancial assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) are added to the far
value measired on initial reeegnition of financial asset. Purchase and sale of financial assets arc accounted for i

gattlement date

Subsequeni measurement

The Group deteemines the classification of its financial mstruments a1 initial recognition. Financial assets are
classified, al initial recognition, as subseguently messured at wmortised cost, fir value through other
comprehensive income {OCH, and fiir value through profit or loss.

Fintancinl assets at amortizd cost
A finapeial instrament is measured of the amortioed costif both the following conditons arc meL:

a)  Theasset is held within a business model whose objective is o hold asseis for collecting contraciual cash
flesws, and

b} Contractual terms of the asser give rise on speeified dotes 10 cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and intercst {SPPI) on the principal amount ouistandiig

After initial measarement, such financial assets are subsequently measared af amortized cost using the effective
interest mte {EIR) method, Amortized cost is caloulated by taking inlo account any discount or premitim o
acquisition and lees or coses that are an intcgral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization 15 mcluded in other
iseome in the statermnent of profit and loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in the statement of
profit and Ioss. This entegory includes cash and bank balances, loans, unbilled revenue, trade and ather
reccivables

Finnnetal assets at Fair Value throngh Other Comprehensive Inecome (*FYTOCT)

A financial instrument is classified and measured at farr value through OCI of both of the follewing criveria are
et

a)  The objective of the business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows nnd selling the
financial assets, und

b} The asset’s contructual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest

Financial instruments incheded within the OC1 category are measured initially as well as a1 each reporting dite ot
fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in OCL On derecognition of the assel. cumulative gain ar loss
previously recognized in OCT is reclassified from OCT to statement of profit and loss,

Financial assets at Fair Value through Profit nnd Less ('FYTPLY)

Any financial instrument, which docs net meet the oritera for categorization at amortized cost or a1 fair value
through other comprehensive income, is classified at fair value through profit and loss. Financial mstrutments
included in the fair value through profit and loss categary are measured at fair value with all changes recogpume

in the statemnent of profit and loss.
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Equity investments

All equity imvestments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value, Fyuity fstruments which are held for
tracing are clossified as ot FYTPL, For all other equity instruments, [he Liraup may make an frevocahle,

clection to present in other comprehensive income subsequent changes in the fair value, The Geoup makes such
eloctiof o i instrument-by-instiument busis. The classification is mode on initial recopnition and i ivevocable

Tithe Group decides to classify an equity mstrument 15 wf FYTOCT, then all fair value clinpes on the instrument,
excluding dividends, ure recognized in the OCL There is wo recveling of the amounts from OCT 10 PEL. even on
sale of investmcnt,

Equity instruments ineluded within the FYTPL extegory are measured at fir value with all changes recognized m
the staiement of profic & loss,

Derecopnition of financial asseis

A financial psset is primarily derecognized when the rights to reeeivie cash flows from (he ssot have expired, of
the Giroup hes ranaferved its rights (o receive cash flows from the asset,

Impairment of fnancial assets

The Group recogmizes loss allowances using the expected eredit luss (ECL) model for the finaneial assets which
are not fair vishued through profit and loss, Lifetime ECL allowanee i recopnized for made receivables with no
significant financing component. For all other firncial assels, expected crodit losses are measured ot an wmowns
equal to the 12-month ECL, unbess there has been s significant increase in credit risk from initial reeognition in
which case they are messured at lifetime ECL. The amount of expected eredit losses {or reviersal) thit 18 reguired
tor sucjunst the loss allowance at the reporting date i recognized in the statement of profit and loss,

The Group follews simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss sllowance on trade recaivables. The
applieation of simplified approach does not requirs the Group to track changes in credit risk, Rather, it
recognizes impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at sach reporting date, right from its initial
recognition.

ii} Financiol liabilitics
Initial recognition and messurement

All financial labilides are recognized mitially st falr valve. The Giroup”s financial lHabilites imelude trude poyahlos
and otlier pavables

Subseguen! measremend

After utial recogmition, financial labilites are subsequently measired ar amorceed cost using the effective
Interest riute (EIR) method, Gains amd losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the linbilities
are derecognized s well as through the EIR amortizmtion provess,

Amurtized cost 18 caleulated by taking into scoount any discount or premium on neguisition nad lees or costs that
are wn integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortizution is included as finunce costs in the statement of profit and
s,

Financial liabilities at fair value throogh profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair vaiue through profit or loss include Compulsery Convertible Cumiglative prelerence
(CCPS) shares for which gain or lexs i8 muted through profit or logs. For more details on CCPS, refer 1o Node 14,
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Financlal liabilities at amartised eost (Loans and borrowings)

Adftes inftial recognition, inferest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently messured at amortised cost using
the EIR method. Guins and losses are rocognised in profit of loss when the lisbilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is caleulated by taking into account any discount or premium
on aeguisition and fees or costs tht are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amorisatian i included as finance
coals in the staternent of profil and loss.

This cazcgory gencrally applies 1o borrowings. For more information refer Note 16,

Derecognition
A financial linbility is derecognized when the obligation under the liability 15 discharged or cancelled or Expines.
Offsetting of financial instroments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offser and the net amount s reported in the balance sheet if there 55 a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amsounts and there is an intention to settle on @ net basis,
to realise the asseis and seitle the labilites simultaneously.

210 Reveaue From contract with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer . an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects w be entitled in exchange for
thase goods of services.

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that cconomic benefns will fow to the Group and revenue
ity he refiably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of considesation received or recervable, laking into
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty,

The Group assesses its revent arangement agnins specific eriteria in order to determine if il i3 acting as
principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale of airline tickets, Train
Tickets and Bus Tickets as the supplier s primarily responsible for providing the underlying travel services nnd
e Group does not conrel the service provided by the supplier to the aveller. Traveller is also referred as ¢nd
LISEE.

Income from services
A, Tickenng revenue

Convenience fees from reservation of rail tickets, airlines tickets and bus tickets is recognized on camed basts, as
fhe Company docs not assiine any performunce obligation post the confirmation of the 1ssuance of the ticket to
the cuatomer,

Commission income camed from air ticketing and bus ticketing services 15 recognized on a net basis as a0 agent
on the dute of completion of performance obligation by the Compiny which is date of issuance of tekel 10 cage of
fele of aclinebus tckets. -

Revenue from free cancellations option given fo the traveller is recognized on actual cancellations. Amounts paid
e the rravelier as benefil ore included under customes refunds in other expenses.

The Company has messured the revenue in respect of its performunce obligation of a contract af its standalone
selling price. The price thal is regubarly charged for an item when sold separately i5 the best evidence of jts
standalong selling price. P

Thwe specific recognition criterin deseribed below is alse considerad before revenue 15 recognised.

Cost incurred on ticketing revenue from third party is recorded as disinbution cost.
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8 Advertisement Services

The revenue from the ndvertising services rondered is recognized when the services huve been rendered, the price
i fimed or delermyinoble and collectability 5 reasoniobly sasured.

Advertisement Referml - Revenue is derived primarily from click-through fees charged th travel pariners for
traveller leads sent to the travel pirner’s website, In certain contracts revenoe is recognized on actual buokings
made on travel parner’s website by the traveller for leads referred by the Compuny,

Advertisement Revenue - Display advertising revenue s recognized rateably aver the advertistig period or upon
deltvery of sdvertising impressions, depending on the terms of the ndvertising contract.

£ Technlen! andd other sigppovi fee

fir - APY Servivex

The Group has entered contracts with on-line platfrm companies, where, the Group provides back-end support
with regard to real-time updates on teavel infomastion, These contracts are shori-term eontracts and the revenue is
recoinised, as and when, the services are provided by the Group % per the terms and conditions stipulated in the
apregments enfered,

fifi Revewme from Mawrenance aid sathware development

Revenuc s primarily derived from software development and related serviess, Arrangemenits with customers. for
software development and related services are on a fived price basis,

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with custmers, when it satisfies o performance obligation by
transferring promised good or service to a customer. The revenue i recognised to the cxienl of franssction price
alloeated to the performance obligation satisfied, Performance obhigation is satisfied over time, when the transfer
of gontrol of nsset {pood or service} to o customer i done over timse and tn other cases, performance oblization is
sntisfied ot & point in fine.

T'ranssction price is ollocated to cach porformance obligation based on relitive stand-alone selling prices, In case,
comireet contains mone than e distmet good or service.

Transaction price is the amount of considerstion w which the Group expects to be entitled in exchonge for
transferming good or service o 0 customer excluding amounts collected on behalf of a ithird party, Variahle
consideration is estimated using the expected value method or most lkely amount as appropriate in e given
circumstance, Payment terms agreed with a customer are #s por business prachice and there s no finsmcing
compatent involved in the transaction price.

For performence obligation satisfied over time, revenue is recongnised us performance under the smamyements
uaing percentage of completion based on costs ineurred velative 1o total expected vosts, The differences between
the iming of revenue recognised (based on costs incured) und customer billings (Based on contractual terme)
resulis in changes to revenue in excess of billing or billing in exces of revenue.

(i) faecane fraie fmeifaliom

Revenue earmed for facilitating webstte aceess 1o trave] imswanee companies are being recognized as the services
are being performed.

[meome froan technical support fee 1s recognized on acerunl basis 86 services are rendered as per the terms spectfied
in the service sinmiric,

Revenue & recognizad net of allowances for cancellations, refunds during the period amd mxes,
Revenue is allocated between the lovalty program and the other componienis of the sale. The smount allogated 1o

the foyalty program is deferred and is recognized as revenue when the Company fulfills its obligations to supphy
the prodocisservices under the termp of the progrum,
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The Compony also incurs cestomer inducement and acquigition costs for acquiting cusiomers amd promating
trangactions scross vanons booking platforms such as upfront cash incentives which were mcwrred ane recarded as
a recluetion from revenne

Interest Income

Fie all deht instruments measured ot amortized cost, interest income i3 recerded using the effective mierest rate
{EIR), Other mierest income is recoguized on o time proportion basis tnking im0 sccount the amount oulstanding
and the interest ruie applicable,

Contract balssnces

Contract nssels

A pontract asse is the rght o consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred 1o the customer, T the
Ciroup performs by traneferring goods or services to o customer before the cusiomer pays consideration or hefore
payment is due, 4 conteact asscl is recognised for the carned consideration that is conditional,

Trade Receivables

A receivable represents the Group's right Lo an omount of consideration that is uncomditional (i.e., only the passape
of tirme 15 required before payment of the consideration is due), Refer to accounting palicies of Minancial assets in
section (2.9 Financial insiramcnis,

Contract labilities

A contract liability is the obligation to ransfer goods or services oo costomes for which the Group has receisved
cumsideralion (or an ameant of consideration is due) from the cusiomer. 1T a customer pays consideration before
the Group ransfers yoods or services to the customer, a contract hnbility w8 recognised when the payment is made
or the payment is due {whichever is carlier). Contract liabilitics are recognised a5 revenoe whien the Cooup performs
ke thi contract.

KRetund Habillties

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received from the
iraveller, The Company's refund Labilitses arise from irmveller’ mght of retin, The Company updates ifs estinaics
uf refiund liabilitics (and the corresponding change n the trensacion price) at the end of each reporting period.

2.11  Faoreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the funcnondl and presentational currency of the
company. For each entity the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial
matements of each entity are measired using that funetional currency, The Group usces the direct method of
consolidation and on dispesal of & foretzn operation the gain or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss roflects the
anpount that arises from wEing this method,

Transactions and halinces

Transactions m foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities af their respective functionl
currency spot rales af the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. However, for practicnl reasons, the
Group uses an averige rate il the average approximates the sctual rate at the date of the transaction,

Monetary assets and lishilities denominated i foreign currencies. are translated o the Tunctional currency spot
rates of exchange at the reporiing date.

Exchange differences arising on settlement or ranstation of monetary items are recognised in profi or loss with
the exception of the follewmg:

¢ Exchange differences arising on monetary items that forms part of & reporting entity’s nef investment in
foreipn operation are recognized in profil or loss in the separate financial statements of the reporting entity,
the individunl finoncial siatements of the Toreign operation, as oppropriate. [n the financial statements (je
include the foreign operation and the reporting entity (e.g.. conselidated financial staternents when the foreiEgE®;
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uperition i o subsidiary), such cxchunge differences are recognised fuitially m OCL These cxclange
differences are reclassified from equity 1o profit or loss on disposa] of the et ivestment.

* Exchange differences arising on monetary ilems that arc designated as part of the hedge of the Group's e
mvestment of a fofeign operation. These are recopmised in OCT until the nel tvestment is digpoged of, at which
timige, the cumubalive amunt is reclassified to profit or loss.

*  Tax charges and credits sttributable to exchunge differences on those monctary items tre also recorded fn 0C],

Nan-maretary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translatéd using the
exchinge rates at the dates of the initial imnsactions, Non-monetary iems mensared af falr value in a farcign
eirrency are translated osing the exchonge rates at the dote when the fir solue is determined, The gain or luss
artsang on trinslation of nop-monetary items menssured at Sir value i treated in fine with the recagrition of the
givin or loss on the change in fiur value of the item (i, translation difforences on iteins whose fiir value sain or
Inss i recognised in OC1 or profit or loss ae also recopnisad in OCT or profit or loss, respectively)

Cironp companies

Un consolidation, the asses and liabilities of foreign operations are fransinted into TNR ot the mte of exchinae
prevailing at the reporting date and their statemenis of profit or loss wre ranslated o exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the ransactions. For practical ressons, the Group uses an aversge rle to translate ineome and Expense
items, if the average rate approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the rransectivns. The oxchange differences
arising on translation fir consolidation are recognised in OC1. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of OCT relating 1o that particular foreign operstion is recognised in profit or loss,

Amy goodwill arising in the acquisition’ business combination of a foreizn operation on or after | April 2016 4nd
any fair value sdjustments to the carrying amownts of ussets and liabilities arising on the sequisition are treaied ax
assets and liabilities 0f the foreign operation and translated at the spot rate of exchanze at the reporting date

Any goodwill or fair velue adjustments arising in business combinations’ acquisitions, which ocesirred helose fhe
date of transition to Ind A5 (1 April 20169, are treated as asset and labilities of the enitity rather thon as agsers and
linbilities of the foreign aperation. Therefore, those assets and lishilities are non-monetary items alpeady expresed
in the functional currency of the parent and no firther translation differences ocour.

Cumulative currency wranslation differences for all foreign operations are deemed m be zero ot the dase of
transition. viz., | Apeil 2016, Gamn or Joss on o suhsequent disposal of ay foreign operation excludes translstion
differences thu arose before the date of wansition but includes only ininskation differcnces arising after the
iransition date.

212 Employee benefits {Retirement & Other Employee benefits)

Retrement benefit in the fonm of Provident Fund is 2 defived contribution schense snd the Ciroup las o obligetion,
uther thin the contribution payeble tw the provident fund, The Group recognizes contributiun pavahle 1o the
provident fund scheme as an expenditure, when an employee renders the related service. If the contribation payehle
ey the sclene for service received belare the balanee sheet date exceeds the contribution alrendy padd, the deficit
payable to the scheme is recognized as 3 lisbility nfter deducting the contribution already paid

The Ciroup operates defined benefit plan for its emplovees, viz., gratuity, The costs of providing benefits under the
plan are determined on the basis o acturrial valuation ar esch year-end. Actusrial valsation is corred out for sk
the projected uni credit method. In sccordance with the ol laws and regulations, all the emplovees in Indis are
eatitled for the Gratuity plan. The said plun requires a lomp-sum payment to éligihle ermployees (meeting the
required vesting service condition) at retirement or wermination of’ employment, based on 8 pre-defined Formls,
The obligation towsrds the sid benefits is recognised in the balance sheet, il the pricsent value of the defined
benefit obligations Tess the fair value of plan agsets (being the funded portion). The present value of the said
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated fiture cash outflows, using interest rates of povemnent
honds. The interest incone ¢ (expense) are caleulted by spplyimg the above-mentioned discount rite 1w the plen
yssels and defived benefit obligations lability, The net interest ihcome | (expense) on the net defined benefit
liability 15 necoghised mn the statement of profit und loss. However, e related re-messurements of the net defined
henefit fiability are recognised direcily in the other comprehensive income in the period in which they arlse. The
said re-megsurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses {arising from experience sdjustments and changes in
avtuarial sssumptions). the return on plin assets (excluding interest), Ro-measarements are not re-clussified to the
statement of profit and loss in any of the subsequent perinds. A,
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Accumitlated leave, which iz expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is weated as short-term employee
benefit. The Group meusures the expected cost of such absences as the sdditional amonnt that it expects lo pay as
a resslt of the unused entitlement that has acoumulated at the reporting date.

The Giroup treats aceumulated leave expected to be carned forward beyond twelve months, as long-term cmployoe
henefit for measurcment purposes. Such Tong-term compensated absences are provided for based on the atunrinl
valuation using the projected unit eredit method at the yeor-end, Actuarial gains/losses are immediately token o
the statement of profit and loss and are not deferred.

The Group presents the lewve as a current Lability in the balance sheet, w the extent it does mot have an
unconditional fght 0 defer ils settlement for 12 months after the reporting date. Where Civonp has ihe
unconditional Tegal and contractual right w defer the settlement for @ period bevond 12 months, the same s
presented us non-eurrent liability.

113 Share-hased payments

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group recerve remuneration in the form of share hased payment
transactions, whereby cmplovees render services as comsideration for equity mslruments (equitv-settled
IranEacions ).

The cost of equity-scttled transactions fs detenmined by the fair value st the date when the grant is made using an
appropriate valuation medel, Further details are given in Note 37

That cost is recognised, together wilh 3 cormesponding increase in share-based payment (SBP) reserves in eguIty,
aver the period m which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benelits expense, The
curmislative expense recognised for equity-setiled imansactions at each reporting date unti] thie vesting date reflects
the extent m which the vesting period has expired and the Group”s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest, The expense or credit in the statement of profit and loss Tor 2 perind represents the
movement in comulative expense recognised as of the beglnning and end of that peniod and i5 reoopnised in
employer benefils expense,

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken intg account when determining the grant date Tair
valise of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed a5 part of the Group's best estimate of
(e number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflecied within the
erant date fhir value, Any other conditions attached to an oward, but without an associated service requinsment,
nre considered to be non-vesling conditions, Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead 10 an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service andior performance conditions.

No expense i recognised for awnrds that do not ultimately ves! because nen-markel performance and/or service
conditions have not been met, Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated
a5 vested imespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition s satislied, provided that all ather
performance anddor service conditions are sutishied.

When the terms of an equiry-serfled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised s the gramt date fair
vilue of the unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the awand are met. An sdditonal expense,
mieasured #s ot the date of modification, i recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial t the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the
entily or by the counterpurty, any remaining element of the fir value of the award is expensed immediately through
prrofit or loas.

The dilutive effiect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the compaistion of diluied
earmings per share.
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204 Income taxes

The income tax cxpense comprises of current and deferred meome wmx. Tncome tix 15 vecognised 16 the statement
of profit and loss, except o the extent thet it relates to lems recognised in the other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the related income tax 18 also recopnised accordinaly.

o Currend tux
The current tax is citlenlated on the basis of the wx mtes. lows and regulstions, whicl have been enacted or
substantively enscted as ot the reparting date. The payment made in excess !/ {shartfall) of the Group's income
tix obligation for the period ere recagnised in the hulance sheet as current income tax assets / liabilitey. Any
mterest, relited to accrued liabilities for potential tx assessments are not included in Income iax charge or
{eredith, but are rather recognised within fAnance costs,

Current inconse tux assets and liabilities are off-set aguinst each other and the resultant net smount i presented
m the balance sheet, if and only when, (31} the Group currently has a legally enforceable right o ser=off the
current income tax assets and liabilities, and (B) when it relales 1o income mx levied by the same mxation
authonty and where there @5 an intention o settle the current ficome ax balances on net bagis,

b, Deferved tax
Deferred tax is recognised, using the tability method, on lemporary differences arising between the b bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying vatues in the fnancial saemens.

Deferred tax assets are recoguised only to the extent that it i probable that future tsble profit will be
aviilahle against which the temporary differenees can be ulilised.

The unrecopnised deferred tax assets / eamrying afwunt of deferred tax ussees ave reviewed at gach reporting
dute for recoverabiliny and ndjusted appropristely,

The carrymg mnount of defierned mx asses s reviewed ot ench reporting date aod reduced 10 the extent Liat
it 1% no longer probable that sufficient axable profit will be available 10 allow all or part of the deferred tox
assel t be utilieed. Unrecognised deferred tx ussets are re-assessed nt cach reparting dite and are recognised
t the extent that it hos become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tx asset o be
recovercd.
Deferred tax assels and liabilities are measured at the mx rates thin are expected 1o apply in the vear whn the nsset
i5 remlized or the Tmbility issetthed, based on oy mates (aod mx s that bave been épaeted or enbstantively enocted
at the reporiing date.

115 Earnings per share

Basic carnings per share are caleulated by dividing the profit or loss for the perfod atidbuiable to egui
sharcholders by the weighied average number of equity sharces vutstanding during the perod. The weighted avernge
number of equity shares outstanding diring the pertod s adjusted fior events such i botus issue, boms element in
8 rights issue, shire split, and reverse share split {consolidation of shures) that have changed the number of eyuity
shares outstanding, witheut & corresponding change in resources.

For the puspose of caleulating diluted eamings per share, the net profit or loss for the period sitributable to equity
shareniolders and the weighted average number of shares cinstanding during the period wre sdjusted for the eifects
ol all dilutive potential equity shares.

216 Proviglops

A provision is recogmized when the Group has s present ohligation as a result of past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and & reliable éstimare
can be made of the smount of the obligalion. Provishons are not discounted o their present value if the effect of
time vitlue of money is aol material and are determined based o the best estimate required 1 setle the obligation
at the reporting dute, These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date anad adjusted to reflect the curnent best
catimates.
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Where the Group expecits seme or all of & provision to be reimbarsed, for example under an msurance contrigt, the
reimbursement is recogiized 25 a soparate assel but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to any provigion is presented in the statement of profit and joss et of any renmbursement.

217 Contingent liabilitics

A diselosure for 3 contingent linbility is made when there is & possible obligation or a present ebligation that may,
but probably will vl require an outflow of resources. When there i a possible obligation or a present ubligition
i respet ol which the likelinood of outflew of resources 1& remote, no provision or disclosure is mide. The Group
does not recognize a contmgent liability but discloses ils existence in financial statements.

218 Cash and eash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in haad and shon-term deposits with an origmal matarity of
three muonths or legs (that are readily convertible to known amounis of cash and cash equivalents and subject to an
msignificant risk of changes in value) and funds in ransit, However, for the purpose of the statement of cash Tows,
in addition to above items, any bank overdrafts / cash credits that are integral part of the Group®s cosh management,
are also inclded as a compoenent of cash ond cash equivalenta

21%  Segment reporting policies

Identification of segments — Operating segments are reported i 2 manmer consistent with the infemal reporting
provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). Only those business activities are ientiliod as operating
seament for which the operating results are regularly reviewed by the CODM 1o make decisions about resaurce
allocation and performance measurcment. For details Refer Note 35,

Segment accounting polivies - The Group prepares its segment mformation m conformity with the sceounting
policies adopted for preporing and presenting financial statememts of the Growp as a whole.

3. Critieal sceounting estimutes and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said finaneial statements are continuously evaluated by the Group and
are based on historical experience and various other assumptions and factors (including expectations of furure
evenm), that the Group believes o be reasonable under the existing ciroumstances. The said cstimates are based
on the facts and events, that existed as at the reporting date, or thai oceurred after that date but provide additional
evidence about conditions existing as a1 the reporting date. Although the Group regulicly assesses these estimates,
acmal results could differ materially from these estimaties - even if the assumptions underlyinj such estimates were
reasonable when made, if these resilis differ from historical experience or other aggimgplions do not tum out to be
substantially mccurate. The changes in cstimates ane recognized in the financial statements in the period in which
they becime kwown,

The key assumptions concerming the future and other key sources of estimahion uncentainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounis of assets and linbilities within
thie next financinl year, are deseribed below. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Fair value of Gnsncial instruiments

Wihsen the fair values of Fnascial assets and financial linbilities recorded m the balance sheet cannot be measured
based on quated prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation 1echniques including the
present valuation technigque, The inpats to these models are taken from ohservable markets where possible, but
where this is not feasible, » degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include
considerations of inputs suchas liquidity sk, credit risk and volatdity, Changes in assumptions abg fhese factors
could affect the reported Fair value of financial instruments, For details, refer o Note 38, e g
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b, Taxes

Delerred tx assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the exient that it is probable tat taxable profit will be
available agaimst which the lusses can be utilized, Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amoynl of deterred fux assets that can be recognived, based upon (he likely timing and the level of future raxable
profits logether with fidure tax planning stralegies.

¢, Allowasnee for ancoliectible trade receivables and sdvances (Refer Note 11)

Trade receivables do not cury any interest and sre stited at their nooninal value ok reduced by approprinie
allowances for estindted imecoverable amounts, Estimited frrecoverable nmounts are based on the dgeing of the
recetvuble balances and historical experience, Addivonally, & large number of minar recelvables s grouped tip
homogeneous gronps and assessed for impairment collectively, Individual wade seceivables are writlen off when
mamagement deems them not o be collectible are provided m Mode 11,

d. Defned henefit plans

The costs ol post retirement benefit obligaion wnder the Gratity plan are determined uging schiarial vahsations.
Anpctiariil valuation invalves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developmenis in the future.
These include the determination of the discount rate, future silary increase, moetality rates and future pestsion
increases, Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long form nature, 3 defined benefil obligation
i Irigghly sensitive to changes in these agsumptions. Al assumptions are reviewed st esch reporting date. For defails,
refer lo Mote 33,

2. Business combination

In accounting for business combinations, judgment is reguired in identifying whether un identifiable intangihle
asset s fo he recorded separately from goodwill. Additionally, estimating the acquisition date fair value of the
identifiable nssets sequired (including useful life estmates), lobilitics sssumed, and contingent considerstion
agsumed dovolves manngement jodgment. Thiese mensurements are based on Information availoble n the
segauisition date and ace based on expectations and rssumpiions thai have been deemed ressonable by management
Changes in these judpments, estimntes. and assumptions con msterinlly affect the resulis of operations,

Estimates and judgments are contimually evahuted. They are bused on historical experience and other Bretors,
imcluding expectations of future evenis that may have a financtal impact on tie group and that are believed 1o be
reagonahle under the eircumstances,

I' Contingencies

The management judgement of contingencies is based on the iniemal assessments and opinion from the
o ltants for possible outflow of resources, i ony.

3.0 Standard! Amendments Bsaned
The Ministry of Corpamte Affurs {MCA) vide Notifieation dated June 18, 2021 potified the new Compsanies
{Indian Aceounting Standands) Amendment Rules, 2021, The noificatton has made amendments o vorious Ind
AS. Some of The Key amendments wre:

i) Ind AS-116 Leases
The practical expedient reloting Lo ren! concessiony arising a3 a résult of COVID-19 allowed Jessees 1o
not consider COVID-19 related rent concessions o be lease modification provided the Jease payments
were griginally due on or before 30 June 2021, The relief provided by the practical expedient hies no
been extended and is applicable for all lease payments originally dwe on or belure June 30, 2022, The sald
amendment is applicable for annual réporting periods beginning on or &fver | Aprtl 2021, The impact of
this amendment has beea considered in the preparation of these consolidaled Mnancial statements.

Annual Report 2021-22 Page | 76



Le Travenues Technology Limited (Formerly Known as " Le Travenues Technology Private Limited")
Mates (o Consolldated financinl statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(AN smounis in TN milliens, unless otherwise stated)

i) Ind AS -103 Business combination

The amendment stutes that 0 qualify for recognition as part of applying the acquisition method, the
identifiable assets acquired and lishilities assumed must meet the definitions of assets and liabilities n
the Framewark for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements in accordance with Indin
Accounting Standanls issued by the Institute of Charrered Accountants of India a1 the scquisition date.
Therefore, the soguirer does not recognise thase costs as partof applying the scquisition method. Instead,
ihe acquirer recognises thase costs in its post-combination financlal statements in accordance with other
Ind AS. Thes: smendinents has no impact on the fmancial statements of the Group.,

(i) Amendment to lod A5 -105, Ind -AS 16 and Ind-A%5 IR
The definition of *“Recoverable amount™ is amended such that the words “the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use™ are replaced with “higher of an asset's fuir value less costs of
disposal and its valse in use”. The consequential amendments are made in Ind AS 105, Ind AS 16 and
Ind AS 28, This amcndment has no fmpact on the financial statements of the Group.

iv) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2
This amendment relofes o [nterest Rate Benclimark Reform — Phase 2 {Amendnents o Ind AS 104,
Ind A% 107, Ind AS 109 and Ind AS 116) which addresses issues that might affect financinl reporting
after the reform oF an interest rate benchmark, including its replacement with alternative benchmark
rates. Some of the key amendments arizing from the interest rate benchmark are:

a. Ind AS 108 New guidance has been included on changes in the hasis for deternimng the
contracual cashflows as o resull of mterest rate benchmark reform. An entity should apply the
amendments Tor annuwal reporting periods beginning o or sfier 1 April 2021

b, Tnd AS 107 Addivonal disclosures related to nature and exient of risks to which the entity is
exposed arising from financial instruments subjest o interest rate benchmark reform and how the
enlity manages these risks.

¢. An entity shoubd apply the smendments when it applics amendments 10 Ind AS 109, Ind AS 104
or Ind AS 116. The edoption of the amendments did not have nny material ingact on its financial
stalements

(%) Amendments to Ind AS Consequential to Conceptual Framework onder Ind AS
The amendments relating W Ind AS 102, Share-based Payment; Ind AS 103, Busmess Combinations;
Ind AS 106, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources: Ind AS 114, Regulatory Deferral
Accounis: Ind A% 1, Presentation of Financial Statements; lnd AS B, Accounting Policies. Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors; Ind AS 34, Interim Financial Reporting: Ind AS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilitics and Contingent Assets; Ind A5 38, Intangible Assets, are consequential due 1o
changes in the Conceptual Framewark undes [nd AS, made in August 2020, The revised Conceptisl
Framewark infroduced some new concepts and cladfications along with revision i definitions and
changes in recognition criteria of assels and liabilities under Ind AS, The Group does not expect the
consegquential amendments 1o have any significant impact in its consolidated Ind Financial Statements.

The Group has considered the amendments to Schedule [ of the Companies Act 2013 notified by Ministry of
Corposate Affais (“MCA”") via notification duted 24 March 2021 in the restated Ind AS consolidated Summary
Statements disclosures, wherever applicible,
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3.2 Standard dssned buf not vet effective
Thi: Ministry of Comporate Aftairs has notifled the following amendments 1o Ind AS which g effective fhom April
i, 2022, Amendments applicable 1o the Group:

1)

(i)

Oherows Coneracty - Costs of Fulfilling & Contract — Amendments to Tod A% 37

The amendsments 1o Il AS 37 specily which costs an entity necds 1o inehude when psressing whether o
cantract is onesous of kess<muking. The mmendments apply a “directly refated cost approach”. The costs
that refate direetly 1o a contract to provide goods or services include bath ineremental costs wmd an
wlloeanon of costs directly related 1o contruen activities. Genernl and administrative costs do not relode
directly o a contract and ure sxcluded unbess they are explicitly chargenble to the coamterparty under the
contract

The amendments are effective for annual reponting perbods begtiining on orafter | April 2022 The Cimup
i enrrently assossing the impact of the smendments to determine the impoet ey will have on the Group's
aecoiting pulicy disclosures,

Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendments to Ind A5 103

The amendmenss eeplaced the reference 1o the ICAs “Framewurk for the Preparation and Preseatation
uf Financial Stutements under Indian Accounting. Stndards™ with the reference o the “Conceptual
Framework for Finaneial Reporting under Indian Aceounting Stusdurd™ without significantly changing
il5 TequTemenls,

The amendments also added an cxception to the recognition principle of Ind AS 103 Busincss
Combinations o avoid the issue of potential “day 2" gaing or losses arising for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of lad AS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilitics and Contingent
Assers or Appendin O to Tnd AS 37 Levies, if incurred separately,

I hay also been clarified that the existmg guidance in Ind AS 100 for comtingent assets would not be
affectod by replacing the reference o the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Finaneial
Sttements under Indian Accounting Stundards.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or afler | Apeil 2022 The
nmendinents are not expected to huve a matenal impact on the Group.

(i} Property. Plunt and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to Ind AS 16

Thic imendments modified paragroph 1T(e} of Ind AS 16 w clanfy that excess of net sabe proceeds, of
et produced over the cost of testing, i any, shall not be recognised in the profit or loss but deducted
Grom Lhe dlirectly aitribsable costs considered as part of cost of an fiem of property, plant. and equipment,
e nmendments are effective for annnal reporting perinds. begioning om or atter T April 2022, The
wimendments are not expected 1o have a material impact on the Group.
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|LE Travenwes Technology Limited { Formerly Known as " Le Travenpes Technobopy Private Limited'™)
Notes to Consolidated MAnancial statements for the year eaded Marel 31, 2022

(Al amouni=s in INE miflions, unless otherwise stated
|

1 12 Cash and cash cquivalents

.l Detalls of cash and cash egquivalents are as follows:
As at Asar
March 31, 2013 Marech 31, 2021

Cash i hand G2 0 1&
| Funds in wansit* 164.27 68.04
Balancos with banks:
| - 04l Clreent accousts T6.0] a].39
| = Dheposits with origimal matrity of Jess than three manthg*®* T3 41 46
Total 24733 . 2074015

*Funds in rznsl represenis the wmount collecied from customers through cords! nel bankmg! UPH ppsment which is suisianding af vear 2nd
] and credited fo Company's bank account subsequent to yvear end,

*#Cach uf banks samy interesl based on bank deposit rales. Shori-term depesits are made for varying penads of belween oné day and three
| monihis, depending on the immediate cush requitements of the Growp, and eam inierest at the respective short-term depasit rales.

13 Bank balances other than caxh and cash cquivalents

| As ot A at
March 31,2022 March 31, 2021
| Bank deposits with crigingl maturity of more than three months but bess than twelve months* 638.20 1534
| Lien marked deposits with oniginal maturity of less than three months® 155,54 1R
Totul TOH. b 10434

"These deposits includes hen marked bank deposits of INE LET.BS (March 31 2021 £ INR 104.34).

i (Thiz space has been fntenfionally left hlank)
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= j Travemses Technalogy Limiied { Farnsorly Kaown as " Le Trovenwes Technology Private Limited ™)
R i Comsolidated Mnencial statemends e dbe year ended Murch 31, 2023
rﬁﬂ pipsorunes in IME millicms, unless otberwize saned)

14 Share Capital

|
{a} Aotharised share capiisl
| Ax i Asut

: March 11, 2022 Muorch 31, 2021
A0, DO (s 31, 20EE0: | AHHO00E0) Equity sbases of ENEL | each 43000

| 10000000 Warch 31, 202 | 400,000) Preference shanes of INR 5 sach ﬂ_m

[

1 Tha Carapeny had anly emi gliass of equity shares, having a par vales of IMR | per share, Each sherehalder & efigilile twoane vote per fully peid squisy share held
The davidend propossd, il any, by the Bearnd of Direviors & subject to oppraval of shareholders in the ensaing Annual General Moedling, excepl m case of islerirm
divalend. The repayment of equity share capital m the event of liquidstion and buy beck of shares is pessible subjset 1o prevalant reguloians, Is the event of

| Eguidation, normally he eqguity sharchodders are eligible in receive the remaining nesets of ke Company aier distribuisan of il preferential amounts, in propotion
i their shareholding,

r Asat A at

March 31,2022 March 31, 2021

Sl &

||||:| lzsaed, subscribed and Mufly paid-up share capital

IG0 AT 200 (March 34, 202 1- 431,276) Equity shares of [ME | each 306975 D43
| 369,75 0.43
by Instrumests entlrely equity in nature
Mal {March 31, 2021 : 48,733) 0% compubonly convertible comuliive
| preference shares Smce A of INK 5wch b 5347
Mil (March 30, 2021 - 220.976) LH%Y compulsenty comvenible camulmive
1 preference shares Senes B of MR 5 each = |, 78598
LI5E

nl} Terms and righis atiached (o Compulsorily converdible preference shares:
| Preference shares shall corry & preferentiol right with respect io/{a) pavenent of dividend agd (b) repayment, in the cuse ol @ winding up or repuyment of copital,

| The voting rights of preference share holders on every reslution pleced before the Group shall, t the extent permissible under Jaw, be in proportion 1o the share
capital of the compeay that the shares held by such sharsholider represent on o pari passw hesis on e oas il converied badla

Thie ratso of comversion for o prefenence share inta equity share is determined im Investor ngresmenis

| Durng the year the baard of direcicrs of the Campamy o its meeiing held oo Jume 09, 02| msped 32 Compalsorily Convertible Prolsenes Shanes (“CCFS™)
Eeries B2 nnd an Tuly 24, 2021 issued Serivs T 246,858 CCPS and Series C1 58,574 OCPS oo private placement / preferendial 2lloement basis

| The terms of the proference shares wens -
fii} Compalsorlly convertible camelative priference shares Serbes A - [Serie A CCPS)
| Compulsarily converiible cumulgiive preference shares series A of INR 5 each spe compulserily converishic info equity shans ab any tims upon (b sarber of (i}
she expiry of 1% years from the dare of issianee; or (i) i conigeibon with an 170, prios 1otbe (iing of 2 red heming prespocius wilh the regiimr of companics,
| Sertes A COPS shall carry & pre-determaned cumulasive dividend rate al 48194 per asnom ar such oaly as paid io the holders of Equity Shares in cocess of 0, 1% per
Armuim,

| .[il Compalsorily convertible cumuslative preferoace shares Series B - (Serles B COPS)
Compalsonly canveriible cumulative preforence shares series B oof [NR 5 each are comepoliorily convestible ime equity shares az amy time upon ihe sarbier of (i)
| one day prior io the expery of 20 years frant the date of allounent; or (i) in connection with an 1PC), price jo the filing of & red kerring prospectus wiih the regisimr
uf gampenies. Seres B CCPE shall carry a minioum preferential dividend mie of (RO0E% per annumm ar such rele e paid o the helders of shares of all alher
| chisses {including Bquity Shares| ve seoves vn a pro mia, o3 if converted basis.

'r'l Comgpulsoriby comyertible cumulative preference shures Series B & Serics B2 = [Series Bl CCPS and Series B2 CCPR)
Compulsonly comvenible curmilalive preforence shanis senes Bl of INR 5 sach are compubsorily comvenible imo squity shares ol any time upan the earlier of {i]
th expiey of 19 years [rom ibe doie of Bsuance, or (2] i conoestion with an TP, prios (o (ke ling of 2 red heming prospecius wath the regisirar of compani=s,
| Serles B CCPE shall be envithed 1o a cusmulative divadond of 001 % m preferencs of Equity Shares.
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o LI:.I.#IH.I- Technolopy Limided [ Farmerly Kpown 2 ™ Le Travenues Technobogy Privaco Limfted™)
" tn Coazalidated finonclal siatements for the vear emdidl March 31, 2022
r.1l1 amratunes an FNR millioss, vnless atherwme sated)

{¥} Compubsorily comveriible préference shares Series © - (Series C COPS)
| Compalsarily comvestible preference shares series C of INR § each are compulaneily comventible imto equity shares ot amy fme upan the eartier of (i) ane day prios
to the gxpiry of 20 years from the dote of allomient; or (ii] in connection with an [P, prior b5 e fling of a red bering prospecbas with the registrr of companies.
| Ezch Beries O OCPS shall be entitled ie 8 comubative dividend of 0.001% in preference of Equity Shores, Dividend sholl be poid s ond whes it s paid and
dectured by the Boand

| i} Compalsorlly comveriible preference sharvs Series C1 - (Series O1 CCPS)
Compulsonly convertible preference shapes sevies ) of TNR 5 each are compulsenily ecarvertible iste egaity shars ak any tme upon the earlier o (§) one day
| prioe bo the expiry of 20 years from the date of allofment ar {6 in cosnection witl an [P, prior 1o the fillisg of & red herring prospechs with the regismar of
comparies. Fach Senss C1 CCPS shall be entitied o a cusmibative dividend of 0,001 % per anmiem in preforence of Eqmity Shares and all other Preference Shares.

T I: In respect of Series A and Serves I compalsarily comvertilie preference shares, the preference sharhalibers of the Campany, In 1emme of the spreement dated 25
damuury 2007, hod exit righis inchadimg requiring the Compasy = buy back shares held by them. On 5 July 2021, the sharcholders approved amendment 1o (he
terms ol agreenment 1o rescind their rights io reguire buy hack by ke Company effectve Inseption of the Sharebaolder™s Agreermenl

| Cansidermy, the hay-back phbigation of the Compary, the preforeste deares, al ingeplion, wers recorded a8 lizbility ol i vele through profic and loss, As ot
April 1, 201% and March 31, 2020 the fuir value of liabibly amounied i Bs 2 31569 and Bs 212538 respeciively, Consaquent in the ahove ansendment, ihe
Conpany, an April |, 2020 hag reclaspfied tlie labilsy 10 egquity {instrument entirdly equity in rature) and the difference hetwesn the foir valoe of sguicy ani
carrying value of Giabibivy hes een recovded in Satemeni of profil and less accoum

{e} Senes B CCPE, Series B COPE, Series C OCPS anid Series O CCPS preferonce sharod ame mandatonily converitble inlo equity shares on fived ratio. Thess
| shares do not have any redemption rghts, Accordingly these have been eonsiderod a3 irginameni anlinely equity in nahee.

'|'| Durimg the year the Hosrd of dircciord ol the compasy 3l 18 meeting held on 26th Oclober 20210 approved the comversion aff 48733 Series & CCPS inen
2ET0400 equity shares, 321 976 Series B CCPS imo B2, TRLAD) cquity shames, 2503 Series Bl CCPS il 334,400 equity shares, T3l Senes BI OCPS inte
1L 60 eopafiy dhinres, 26R5% Series C COPS imio 10,743,200 cquity shares & 38 374 Senes C COPS inin 25 426 600 squity sheres

Acoordingly, e ml March 31, 2022 the instrumenls sotinely equity in nature hove been tonnsfared to equity (Seeurites Premiam) (Relor Mote B3 (153

|
(g} Dhetails of shareholders hobding miure (hon 5% ghares in the Company

I A at Asal
M=rch 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
| Mumber of % holding in Mumber of %h holding in
shares ilse cluss shnres the elnss
| Equity shares of INE 1 each fully paid-up held by
SAIF Panners lndis [V Limited B &5, 03, 201 2303 12008 5] 3%,
| SCI Investments 502,00, 0} LGN a =
Gamnat Pre. Lid. A,55,50,440 LR L) - -
| Hajnish Eusnss 3,22,.54 8000 LAk L i3 139 i4.682%
Aldokz Bajpai 305,62, 000 E2T% fiify, fi 65 15,44%
Micromax Infoematics Lad 21947571 204% - -
| MakehdyTrip Limited = : 75417 17.53%
|
.1% compalserily cenvertilde cumulative preference shares Series A of
| IMEL S each hedd by:
Micromax Infocimtics Limited = - 48,733 1EM1
|' 001 %% compuisoriy convertible cumulative preference shaves Serbes B ool
IME S each held by
SCI [ovestmenis W - - 1479450 GG T
| Fasym Kinzon Capicad Mo Lid B . Ti9R6 15.35%
| 1411 % eompalsority comvertible comudntive preference shares Serles BY of
I%R % cach held by:
J Trlecta Vimture Debi Fand - 11 - - 2503 105%
i
|
I
I
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® ¢ Travemies Techipalegy Limited { Formerky Koown a5 = Lo Travenues Technalagy Privaete Limiled™)
reides o Conanlldated financial stafements far the vear ended March 31, 2022
] ?I amuumts in MR omillions, unless ocherwize staged)

h Share isswed for other than Cash consideration®

Agat A% ml As ot Asal
l March 31, 2022 March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2021
| Mumber af Ansgunl Mumber of Aamomnd
Sharcs Shares
Equiry Shepe ablamed a5 flly padd Booas shares by capiafisng Securities 21,53,64.032 —

Fremium

lasimnon of equity shires (ssued in parsuance bo conversion of 45733 Series &

CCPS inba THUT0A00 aqoity shares, 221,976 Series I CCPS inlo B, 7590 400

| oquity shares, 2505 Sened B CCPS ipo 334,400 equity shares, 752 Series B2 15,14, 75 G00 EST.4H
CCPS imin 111,500 equity shares, 26858 Sevies C OCPS il 10,743,200 equity

| shares & 58 574 Sorcs O CCPS mio 21,429,600 equity shores.

st ol equity shares. lseood as part ol e comasderation pasl for acyaisation 21114 i
| of Abhibus business wwler Bustness Transfer agreement <y r
Tssumpcn of eyuily shares a8 part of ¢ comshlerstian paid o ocquite additionz] 26934 nas

J sharsholding in Conlirm Tickel Onling Sahstioms Private Limited

O - - -

*Diurng the lest four preceding vears, Company bad not issued shares other than Cash corideration

B Shares reserved for issue under aptions

Fir deinils of sharcs reserved for isue ander the Shase Bused Paymesd Plan of the Group, refer note 36
[} Shareholding of promaters

The Company is 0 profssssonally ranaped eompany and docs not awe an wdentifialsle pramoter i erms of the Socorilies ond Exchange Beard of India (lssee of
I {Cupatal and Desclosure Reqeiremenis) Regulatices, 3018 and the Campaivies Act, 2013,

| {Thix space kas been intemtionally leff hlank)
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||.,: Travenaes Techivalogy Limited { Formerly Known as "' Le Teavenoes Technolopy Private Limited ")
Mates to Consolidated Anancial statemenis for the year ended Yiareh 31, 2022
(Al mmounis m IR mallions, meless otheraise stabed )

|
| 15 ihler eguiny

a) Belzined exrnings

As al April 0, ZOZ0
| Prodit far the yuar
(kher comprehensive imcome Far the year
| Transher from employee sieek options isiosding secoumi on forfeinne of vested stock opluons
Tramsler 1o debeniure redampion reserve
As ol March 31, 2021
l Lass for ihe vear
Oiiher comprelienstve bags for the year
| Trangfer i setnintd carmings on aocount of forfebure of vested sock options
Heversal of Debeniure redempibon reserve

| A at March 31, 2022

| B) Secarities premium
As sl April 01, 2020

| Issiee af ghare capdtal
As mr March 31, 2021

Tranzfermed from Empleyee stock apfian reserve an exercise of siock optians
| Exereise of Stock opitons by Employecs

Fresh shares jsgued during the year
| Issse of share eopital for sequisithan of Abhibus (refer note 42 (BY)
10 of share capital far acguisition of CTPL {refer note 42 (A))
| Hanies shares Isseed during the year by capitalising Securities Premium
Share iss0e expenses | refor naie £3)
| Amnoumt ensferred an seeount of Gonversbon of Irsmments enbirely squiny m natue

Ax nf Morch 3], Z021

¢ Capital redemption reserve
As ot April 01, 2020
| [ncrease / [decresse) during the year
Asal March 31, 2021
| Iricrense / [decrease) during the vesr
As ail March 31, 20232

d}  Share based peynical reserve
| As gt April 0, 2020

Experse recognized danny the year

Transfer 1o sttement of prodit and loss oo accoond el Forfeinee of vesvead siock opgions
|' As at March 31, 2021

Trensfer io share premiom necoant on exercize of sick optioas
| Transfer i statement of profit and loss on account of forfelure of vested srock options

Emgloyer compersation expense for the year
| As at March 31, 20122

| Shares to be Bmed on account of busbness combination (refer noto 42)

Ay al April 81, 2024
| Addditions during the vear

A at March 31, 2021

Shpres issued during the year on acecant of investiment in subsidiary (Refer Wote 42 (A0
| As at Mareh 3, 2022

| ) Debentere redemption reserve
As ol April 1, 2030

| Aklitions durivg the vesr
As b March 31, 2621

| Reversal of Debenture redemption reserve
As ot March 11, 2022

g Bemensurement of Fair Value of Conlingent Conslderation (refer nite 42)
As of April 01, 2020

| Change in fair value of NCL {Refer Note 42 {A])

As af March 31, 2021

l Annual Report 2021-22
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Lé Travenwes Technolspy Limbted | Formerly Kaown a5 * Le Travesses Techoology Private Limibed ")
Inites ta Consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(Al amoonis i INR millians, ombess atherwise stoled)

hj
l

a)
]l'

| i}

[}

I ()
{e}

i

Share application money pending allotment
Ax nd April 01, Z0ED 3
Share appication amsunt recolved pending allobmen =

As i Mareh 35, 2021 =
Share application amoant received pending allotment .15
As i Mareeh 31, 2033 2%
e ———
Mature and purpose of reserve
Spcurities premiun

Where the Company issues shares ol » premium, whether for cash ar etherwise, o sum equal 10 the aggregate amoand of the premiem received on those
shares is ransferred o “Securiites Fremium™.
Tl seeurities premium can be utilised only in secordence with section 52 of the Companivs Act 2013

Share based payment reserve
The share options-hased payment reserve is used o recognise the grant date fair value of options issusd m emplovees under Employes stock option

plan.

Capltal redemplion reserve
Capital redemption reserve was created on accaunt of buy back of equiry shares.

Debeniure redemption reserve
The amount credited 1o debenture redempition reserve shall pot be uiilized by the Compeny except fur the purpose of redemption of debettures
sceprdance with the prosisdons of the Companies A, 2011

Shares 1o be issaed an sccount of bosiness combination (refer nate 42)
The ehares to be issued on ncoount of business combinarion represents the equity shares thal will be isssed i the foture as an settlement of purchase
comeidemtion for acquisition made during (ke year,

Share apglication money pending slbatnvent
Compary recaived mmount on the application an which allotnsent is nat yet made (pending allatment)

(Thir spoce b heen finterifarally lefl blak)

|
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| Le Travennes Technology Limited { Formerly Known as " Le Travenues Technology Private Limited™)

Motes to Consolidoted financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022

|{A.II amounts i [NR millions, onless otleranse stated)

21 Provisions
a) Details of provisions are as follows:
As i Az at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

A. Non- current
Provision for employee beneliis
Provision for gratuity (Refer note 32) 274 L B55
Total (A) 2T 18,55
B. Current
Provision for emplovee benefits
Proviston for gratuity [Befer note 32) 7.61 3.26
Provision for eompensated absences 19,59 L
Dithers
Proviston for Cusiomer loviliy programme Cost * (L35 1.3%
Total (B) I8.15 14.74
Total (A+E) 5589 33.19
*Customer loyally programme

The Group provides lovalty program under which participating customers eamn loyalty points on current fransactions that can be
redeimed for future qualifying transactions. The cost of the reward -points is recovded basis the rend of past redempiion over the

accumulated balance of reward poinls issued.
The reconcilistion of provision for costomer loyally programme cost is provided below:

A al A al
Miarch 31, 2021 PMarch 31, 2021
Al the commencement of the year 1.39 148
Provision made during the vear naBS 34,10
Proviston utilised during the year {63,333 (34.17)
At the end of the year .95 1.39
21 Oiher liahilities:
As at Az at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Current
Statutory dues payable T84 1508
Tustal TT.94 3808
{(Thix spece has been intentionally el Blank)
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o Yravesoes Techndlegy Limlind { Fermurly Kesownoas ® Le Travesoe Technalagy Privaie Limiled)
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Li Travesues Technolegy Limited | Formerly Knowe s ® Le Travenues Teelanbopy Private Liméted")
Bates o Cansalknied inancial siplements for the vear ended March 31, 2022
(AR wmoines s MR mdlloms, anless aiherwise siaend)

L

ch

i}
|

I o
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Revenoe from sperations

Dizagprepgaicd revinuy informarions

St out brlow is the dissggregatson of the Groap's revenue fram contmcts with custamers:

For ihe year ended Far ibe vear ended
Mlarch 31, 2022 March 31, 2028
Remderiog of services
Theketing revenue 3E10M 1,362.55
Audvertisemeni refermal 14,25 11.94
Auchvorl omienl ruveELg 120.95 67,92
Technimal and ather support fos 32,40 13,45
Tatal pevewue from conlruets with cusopsers 31,705,580 133566
Imdin 3460291 |, 29227
Ciurside i 1258 6339
Totwl revesue frnm controcts with customers T I | M55, &6
Timing of revenue recopnition
Goods 2 Service imnsfemel ot o paint in thme 3,705 R0 1,355.66
Services rmnsfemed ver e - -
Total revenss from contrects with castomers 3795 R 125566
Contract bolances
s @l As mk Ag at
_ Niarch 313023 Mareh 31, 3021 April i, X028
Trmile recesvahlos 8619 16331 5136
Contract Jishililies alag .07 30,06

Tmile Teceivahles mne mon-interest beirlng nd ore generbly oo serms of O 1o 30 daye. In Sesch 31, 2622 TNR 116 March 31, 02T IR 2,13} was recogmised s

pravistan for sapected erodin losses on imile receivabies,

Cosdract assers relates to revenne amed friom tickeling, sdverfisensent and other revenue services wihish ans unlsilled as the end of the year

Criract linhilities comsisis of deferned ruvomis pertsining 10 revesue received in advance for frow ganesflerion facility offered fo customers mnil for Bitere

anticipated cincgllalians

Reesnciling the smount of revenue recegiised I8 the stncement of profit amd loss wiih the contracted price

Fir the wear ended Fr the vear gnded
Mnrch X, 2822 Mareh 31, 2831
Grass pevenne [FEVEDEE ns per centracied price as [per custaner coniracs] 4,515.12 I.58844
Adpustznems
Less Discount oiliered lo cysomens on tickeling Revenue ik r ] (232.78)
Revenue [rem contracts witl costomuers JEE.N 135806
Ferformanee obligationy
Tnformalion abedt 1he Cieoug's performance ohbgmions are summarsed below
The massackion price allocatad 1 the remaining performance obligations (umsaisfied of panially unsavisfied) zeas follows:
A As
Murch 31, 2022 Miareh 31,2031
Witk o yiar 51.19 ApaT
More than ooe venr - =
51,18 a7
Movement of contract Habiliiies during the year As al Asat
Mlargh 31, 2022 Nlorch 31, 2021
Cpsenbng Amoani 0y 109G
Amcunt meeopnised duniag ke yeur 11.53 0,11
Clesing Amouiit 51.09 4007

{TThis spece b hesy imesnioniny foft honk
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Le Travenues Technolugy Limited { Formerly Known as " Le Traovemees Technalogy Private Limiiel™)
hﬂnm to Copsofidated Neancial stabemands for ihe year suded Magch 31, 2022
(AN pioranis in INR millons, unlos olberwnss stated)

18 Odher imceme

i Interest Incomne carricd ot amanised coat:
- Din depogae witl bank
| = Unwinding of interest on security deposits
{raie om champe in falr valoee of invesmmoests (nery
| {fain om sale af investments (net)
Exccss pronasion wrilten hook
Crate an pecound of ermdnatbon of Il conirps [me)
I COVIDR 1T roleied rooi concessim [refer nole 33}
Eomlal iccoeno
I Bdiscellnnecas income
Tuotal

ity gpucy fuer g fenentisielle bl Slauly
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Far the year gnded

Faor the year pnded

Mlwreh 31, 3022 Adareh 31, D021
I2.60 443
037 143
1025 LT
8.6l 1.44

| 3
. 5.H3
T.6E L 1AM
z .50
EAL 137
ﬂ_jil 384l
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(Le Travenues Techpolopy Limited { Formerly Kpown &s * Le Travenwes Techmology Privaie Limited')

‘™otes to Consolidated financial statements for the vear ended March 31, 2022
I[.J-.il amounts i INE millions, unless otheraise sioted)

i 26 Employes benefiis expense

Fir the year ended For the year ended

h March 31, 2022 Mareh 3, 2021

! Salaries, wages and bonus ThAHZ 286,48

| Contribution to provident and other funds (Refer note 32} 1221 4.76
Cratuity expenses [Refer note 325 LL1G 541
Employee stock option scheme (Refer Mot 30) 18515 49.07

| Suffwelfurc 26.26 226
Tatal 451.40 347.98

The Code on Social Security, 2020 (“Code’y relating to emplovee benefiis doring employment and post employment benelits received
l Prasidential assent in Septernber 2020, The Code has been published in the Gazette of Indiz. However, the date on which the Code will
come ino effect has not been notified and the final rules/interpretation have noi yet been Bssued. The Company will gssess the impact of
| the Code when o comes into efTect and will record any related impact in the period the Code becomes effective, Based on & prelimanary

assesament, the entity believas the impact of the change will not ba significant.

| 27 Finance cosis
For the vear ended For the year ended
i March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
| Inberest on borrowings 11.43 503
Imterest on lease lability .40 958
! Touwml 18.03 15.51
| 24 Depreciation and amortization expense
For the year ended For the year ended
| March 31, 2822 March 31, 2021
|
Deprectation on property, plant and equipment {Refer oole 4) T35 116
| Depreciation on right-of-use assets (Refer nete 333 B35 .32
Amortization on inangible assets (Refer note 5) 61,33 3T
| Toual 78.43 1R85
|
| {This space has beer intentionally left hank)
|
|
|
)
|
|
I
|
|
|
|
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Lz Travenues Technalogy Limvited { Formeerly Knavam as ™ Le Travenues Technology Privaie Limioed™)
|'."-Intﬂ tn Consolidaied financind sinfements for the venr ended Morch 31, 2022
{ Al ampuants IR milbions, imless alberwise sated)

1% Oiher pxpenses
I

For ihe year ended For the vear emded

March 31, ZHE1 Murch 31, 2021
|
| Elsetricity changts 078 iE4
Rent {shan term lease paymenis) 5.4 054
i Rates and taxes 194 0.2
Insurance expenses T4 0,07
Repair and maintsnance 581 5,10
| Adveriising and sales promation 57525 RA.22
Trvelling and conveymmee GiA TET
| Cormminication costs 145 557
Legal and professional sxpenses {Refer note {a)) 273 1175
§ (hesaurcing cost BO.30 4078
Impairment allowance of rade receivables {Refer note |15 I 1a 213
| Lbgense fond 504 042
Lias an forsign exchanyes {neth LK (0
| Pariner suppor cost 61654 7.4
Distribution case G1EST 4G G
Techmology anid refated cost F56.4% 8471
| Customer refimds | cancell=tian cagls 1503 5368
Peyment gatewny charges 21828 L0
I Bad debits 0.22 D08
Loss on sale of propeny, plani and equipment (i) a3
| Direcrors Fmting Feos 578 .
Miscelloneous expenses 1064 2104
| Tutal 106738 47465

al Detuils of payment msde to oadiiors are as (ollows:
For the vearended  Far the year ended

| March 31, 2021 March 31, 20IL

" As amditor:

L Andil fee 515 393
Tox Al s {120 k07

| Total 535 300

| B Corporste Social Responsibiliey
The Grgup les net camed net profit in theee imeediaiely preceding Minancial years, erefons, thene: was no amaunt as per section 135 af the Act which
I wis peguired 16 be spenl an CER activities (o each of the respective fimancial years by the Group,

{Thiz gpace has been invemmamatiy left awk)

|
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L Travenues Technolopy Limited | Formerly Koown gs " Le Travenues Technolegy Private Linited")

lHutH te Consalidnted financial stetements for the year ended March 31, 2022
AN ameands in THR millions, undess oiherwise slaled)

|
|
|

M Compenents of pther compreheasive ineceme (0CT)

Annual Report 2021-22

For the year ended For the year enaded
March 31, 20121 Mlarch 31, 2821

Re-measurensent gind loss oo delined benelil plans {1.61} 127
Ingome sy effeel 0.2 (77}

{1.41) .50
Comprehensive loss for the year
Adtritatoble 1o
Equity holders of the parent {1.18} {40
Men contralling insensse (025} R 1]
Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS amounts are caloalated by dividing il profic for the wear nomibaiable 16 equity holders by the weiglied average namber of equify shares
oatstnrsling during the year.

luied EPS mmounis are chloulated by dividing the profic steributnble o equity holders after adjusting for infesest-on the comvertible proference
shares, if any) by the weighted average mumber of equity shares owtstanding during the year plas the weighted average nmmber of equity shares hal
wonkd be igsed on camversion of all the dilotive potentinl eqaity shares inso ecuity shares,

The following reflects the profit and share copilal datn vsed m the bagie and dilaeed EPS compaintions;

Weighted average number af Equity shares Tar Fuor the vear endod For the year ended
Baslke purming per shure (BEPSY Diluted carnlig per Nlorch 31, 2022 Marel 31, 2024
share (DEFPS)

Mumber of equity shares ok the beginning of the yeer 4311276 451,275
Equiry shares issved (weighted overage) 3,650,390 I
Equity shares - issued upon conversion of Canvenible preference shares 15,04, 70,60 11,7052, 8000

Aald; Impact of baniss issee affected sfier March 31, 2021 Z184,11.535 172125717

Welghted wverage number af equily shares auistanding at the end of the year 36,86,82.701 20,9609 793

Effeet of Dilution :

Shire opiwns - 33,05, 600
Weighied average number of equity shares sdjusted For the effect of dilutisn 36.836.82.791 I0.28,75,393
oetstanding ot the cod of the year

For the year eoded For the yeor ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Profit aerihetnble w equaty holders of the Group for bosic samings (243.83) TLRE
Basic eamings per share {{khi) nas
Diluied eamings per share {1LA6) n2s

For the year ended March 31, 2022; 12.858,516 (March 31, 2021 : Nil) employee stock option were excluded from the catcalation of ditused
weiphied averape sumber of ordinery shores as their effect would bave been anbi-dibutive

Pursuani to apprinal by our Baand and Shareholders vide tleir resolutions dated August 3, 2020 and Augiest 5, 2021 respectively, the Company has

fssued banis shares in (e mtio of 1:399, As per Ind AS 33 - Eamnitg per Share, the EPS of the Company far the yesr ended March 31, 2022 and
fior all ihe periods presented has been computed [ adjusted after considering the boous isame.

{Tihis space hax beew infentionnity (el biaik)
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Le Travenses Technology Limited | Formerly Kaown as ™ Le Travenues Technology Private Limited™)
Motes to Consolidated financinl stafements for the year ended March 31, 2622
(ALl ainounts o INE millioos, unless othereise stated)

11 Emplayment benefil plan

L

)

Defined eontribution plans

The Group has o defined coniribudion plon, Copfribulions sre determined as 8 specific percentage of wuployss salers o
respest of qualifying employees towards provident fund and labour welfane fnsd. The conlributiond are made o regisiersd
provident lond pdministered by the povernment The obligetion of e Group iz lisived o the aoount contributed and it hes v
further contractual nor any construciive ohligation,

The expense recogrised during the year ended March 31 2022 towands defised comabution plan ss INE 1221 (March 31 2021
MR 4.76),

Far the vear ended Fior the vear ended

Muorch 31, 27022 farch 31, 2021
Cioyiribution to provident fund 12.0% 467
Crmiribution b mbour welfore fomd ni2 {105
Total 1221 4.76

Detined benedil plans: Gratuily scleme

The prauity plan is govermed by the Payment of Grateicy Act, 1972 Under the Act, employees wise bove completed five years
of service are eolithed o specific benefit. The lovel of benefit provided depends on the member's benpih of service and salary
retirement ape. The employes is entitled o a benafit equivalent in 15 days snlary si drosm for each completed yeor of serace
wilh pani thereof in excess of six monihs subject to maximum Jimil of THRE 20 lakhs. The same is paynble on termination of
service or relirement or deaih whichever is earlier.,

The present value of the obligntion under such defined benefit plan is defermined bagsd on an aciunrinl valuation as =i the
reporiing date using ihe projected unit credit method, which recognises each perind of service as giving risz to pddisonsd unil
of employes bepefit entitlement and measures ench unil separately to build wp the fnal obligntion, The obligations ane
measured of the present vilue of the estimated futare cash flows. The discount rae osed for determining the present value of
the whligation under defined benefit plans = based on the markel yields on Government bonds as ai the daie of actuarial
valuation. Actuarial gains and losses (ned of tax) are recognised immediately in the other comprehensive income (OCT),

This i5 an unfunded benefit plan for qualifying employesi. The schems provides for 2 lump sem payment o vested employses
L retirement, death wiidle in employment of on femination of amployment. Viesting occuns upon completn of fve years of
servide.

The following whies summarise the componenss of net benefit expense recognised o the satement of profit or loss and the
funded status and smounis recognised in thbe balance sheot for the respective plans:

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are, as follows

As at s alt

Mareh 31, 2032 Mareh 31, 3021
Defined benefit obligation at the beglining of the year 21.81 1595
Liability acquired on acquisition * 1442 355
Adjustnsents on account of BTA® {1284} -
[ndetest cost 1.84 1.04
Currant service cost 444 4,37
Fasl service cosl - -
Actuarial loss|gain) on oligation
~ECORGITC ESEUmplions .57 .
-demographic assumptions 2.5 0,08
-experience adjustmeant (] B4} (1.35]
Benefits paid {0.58) {1.83)
Definel benefil oblipaiion ol closing of vear 1.81

*All the emplovees of the Company were transfeored to Purchoser as part of the Business Transfer Agreement | “"BTA™ &
were given the contineed service period beoefit by the Purchaser. The Grakdity liability of the company was deiermined basis
thot ng on 3 18t July 2021 & sccounied for a5 a lability

*=An amount of [INE 12,84 wae paid as an interim Gratuity for past services to certain eligibbe employees who were frans fermad

16 the Purchaser as part of the Business Transfer Agreement | "BTA™). The ampunt se paid is rensfered o the Parchaser
which will be adjnsted from the final poy-out at tee tme of separatonemygSerraithose employvees from the Porchaser
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Le Travenues Technology Limited { Formerly Known as * Le Travennes Technalogy Private Limited"™)

Mutes to Consolidnbed finencial statements for the vear ended Mareh 31, 2022
{A1) nmoants i INR millions, onless otherwise stated)

Asat Asal
Classification Infe currentnon-current March 3, 2012 March 31, 2621
Current linbilily il 3.2h
Mon=current lizkdlity 27.74 1855
Tatal Rability 1535 21.81
As at A al
Balance Sheet Marel 31, 2033 March 31, 2021
Present value of defined benefie abligution 3535 2181
Met beneflt exponse (recognised in profit or loss)
For the year ended Fuor the voar endeid
March 31, 2022 Mareh 31, 2021
Cmrent servica cosl b4u 437
Inlerest cast on bersfit abligation .54 1M
Bt bemofit expense 11,33 541
Fxpenses recognised in Statement of ather comprehonsive income
For the year ended  For the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Agtuarial (goins]  lnmses
- change in demographic assumpticms 1,90 {108
= change in financial assumptions 0,57 -
- paperience variance (1.e. Al experience vs assumplions) (1.36) {1.35}
141 “..31'!

The principal actwarial assansptions nsed for estimoting the Group's deflned benefie obligations are st out bl

Dhiscount rafe

Fururg sslary increase

Average eutstanding service of employee
Ttetnement age (Y ears)

Soriality raies inchusive of provision For disabiliy®
Withdmwal rate (%)

Lipte 30 years

From 31 o 44 years

Above 44 years

A oot As at

March 31, 2022 Mlarch 31, 2021
G804 tu
15.00%% 15,00

20,35 3103
G 0,00

TALM 2012-14 ulL LALLM 200214 ul.
5% & 1% 25 AN
250 & 10% X5 (5%
25% & 10% 25,00

*Indian Aszured Lives Martality (2012-14) Ultimste represents publishod monality table used far martality assumption,

{Thix space hax been intentionally feff blank)
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Le Travenues Technolopy Limited [ Formerky Known as " Le Trovenues Technology Private Limited")
Muotes to Consolideted fnancinl statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
i Al gmounis in INR millioas, unkess otherwise sated)

A guantitative sensitivity analyeis for significont pssnmptions is shown below:

A5 af Az at

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021
Impact of the change n discount rute
a} [mpact dus b increase of 1% [2.24) (o)
b Impact due o decrease of |4 148 L1
Impaact of the change in salary increase
a} Impact due to increapz of 1% .53 .64
hj Impact dus 1o decreage of %% i1.50] .67}

The sensitivity analyses ahove have been delermined hased on 2 method e extrapolates the impact on the defined henefit
obligation as a resslt of rensonable changes in key assumptions cocurring at the end of the reporting year: These analysis are
based on n change in o significant sssumption, keeping all other assumgtions constant and may not be represeniative of an
ol change in the defined bemefit obligation as il is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of ang
anather.

The following payments are oxpected confributions o the defined benefil plan in fulure years:

As At Asat
Mareh 31, 20232 March 31, 2021
Year | .84 136
Yoear 2 T.25 142
Year 3 6.9 111
Yeard h3n 319
Year & 5458 188
Yoot 6 ampards 3862 11.858
T3040 £l

The averags duration of the defined benefit plar obligation ot the eod of the réporing vear i5 & and | 5 years {March 31, 2021,
T years),

(Thiz space hox been brlevtionally leff Mok

I
Annual Report 2021-22 Page | 102



Le Travemues Technology Limited [ Formerly Known as ** Le Travennes Technology Private Limited")
Motes to Conselidated finoneial siatementis for the vear ended March 31, 2022

|{AII amounts in TNE millions, unless atherwize stated)

13 Leases

As a bessoe
The Group has lease contract for office premise having lease term of 9 years, The Group's obligntions under its leases are sacured by the

lessor's fitle to the l=ased assets. The Group has Jease contracts for other office premvises and parking spaces baving term of 12 menths or
Tess for which The Group applics the ‘shori-tenm lease’ recognitien exemplions for the lease,

Set oot below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use asseis recopnised and the movements during the year:

Amount
As at April 81, 2020 54.90
Additions -
Dieprecintion expense i 132)
Deleticns (1116}
As i March 31, 2021 33.42
Additions =
Depraciation expense (8.35)
Dreletaons —
As at March 31, 2022 507
Set out below are the carrying amounis of lease Fabilities and the movements doring the yewr:

Amouni
As at April 01, 2020 78,40
Aceretion of iveTest 058
COVID-19 related rent concession * (4.78)
Payments (14,13}
Mlztions (16.5K)
As gt Muorch 31, 26021 5209
Agererion of inlenest .60
COVID-19 relaed renl concession * (7.63)
Payments (.63}
Dictetions -
As of Mareh 31, 1022 43,39

* COVID=1% related rent concession

Many lessors have provided rent concessions to The Groug as a result of the Covid-19 pandemsc. Rent concessions intludes rent holidays or
rent reductions for 3 period of time. As a practical expedient, The Group has elected pol 10 assess whether @ Covid-19 related rent
concession from 4 lessor is a lense modification and aceordingly changes in the lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent
coneession hag been accounied for in the somse wey i owould bave account for under lnd AS TLG, af the chinge were nol & lease
modification. The practical expedient applied cnly to rent concessions ovcurned as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemie.

Group hes applied the practical expedient to all rent concessicns that meet the conditions for the practival expedieal. Propery lease (oflice
leases) are the conlmacts 1o which Group kas applied the praciical expedient,

Maturity analysis of lease labitiies Is as Tollows:

Particulars Marech 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Within noe year 17,60 15,30

After | year but not more than five years 33.20 52.50
51,80 .10

{This space hax beert intertionally feft dank)
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|Le Travenues Technology Limited { Formerly Known os " Lo Travenues Technology Frivate Limited™)
Motes to Comsolidated fAnancial siatements for the year ended Murch 31, 2022
|{.#..LI ansounts in INR millions, unless otheraiss stated)

The following are the amounts recogaised in profit or foss:
For the yoar ended For the year ended

' Murch 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

ll Diepreciation expense of right-of-use assels B335 1032

L Interest expense on lease Labilitics 660 G358
Remi concession (T.65) {11.060)
{Ciain oz oo ermination of leases = i5.83)

| Expense relating to shori-term beases (included in other expenses} 340 .59
Totn! emeunt recognised ln prafif or loss 1170 EXT

The Group had tetal cosh outflows for leases of INR 13,06 (March 31, 2021 : INR B.50).
B} As a lessor

l The Group enlersd inti operating besses on its Right of use asset consisting of office buildings. Remal income recognised by The Group
during the year ended is INR Mil (March 31, 2021 : INR 0.30). These leascs have expired in the financinl year ended March 31, 2021

{Thix space Inas been intentionally lefi Bankl
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Li Travenues Technology Limited | Formerly Koows a3 " Le Trovesues Technology Private Limited™)

teés o Consalkfsted Mnancizl slatements far the voar ended March 31, 2022

(A0 amnemis in IR millions, usles olbawiss siated)

34 Reloted parties

|

Tnte A1 prosddis the infisersaion sk the Gireem's strueiure mcliding the detaile of the subsidiories and ihe hidding Compansy

| a} Momes of refzied pariies and related party rebationship

|
I

L

Hev munaperial personnel {KMP]

Aloke Hajpas (Managing Director & Group CEO)

Ragnish Kumar (Direcior & Group CPFTO)

Favi Shanker Cugta (Giroup Chisd Flaanelsl Officer) (wee U 3me 24 20315
Szl Kimar Bhuteni (Group Generzl Counsel & Company Secretary (e [ Moy 24 20205
Arup Seth {Tndependent Divector woe § Juby 28, 2021}

Maberidea Pratap Mull {ledenendend Direcior w.e.f Tuly 29, 2031)

Fuahul Pandit {Indopendant Dinector woed July 29, 2021

Fagirdh Sawheey {Independent Dircolor w.e. £ Jaly 29, 2021)

Shobha Bao Mayya (Independen Dirscoor woe § Juby 28, 2021)

Frederic Latonde {Independent Directar wee l July 28, 2021}

Dretpils of redafed party iranssctines ore as helow:

Particulars Foribeyenr ended  For the vear endoid
March X1, 2022 Mlarch 31, 2021

Ealory, bonus amid other allowanges®

Aloke Bajpi 5w T.26
Teajnigh Kusnar
-Le Travenues Technology Limiiad 2.6 726
=laigo Bwmapi, 5L (Wholly cwncd Farcign sibsidiany) 0. 08
Bawi Shamker Gopta ** 151 :
Suresh Humar Bhutani®* 248
Aruit Seih [.08 z
Mabendrs Praap Mall [.0R -
Flabul Pandit (Ji: =
Ragizh Snwehney (] £
Shubtha Rao Mayya AR i
Frederic Lakonde 034
Skare based payminis
Havi Skacker Qupla 15 r
Surcel Kumar Bhutani 140

*#|ncluding provision for Variable consideradion

[detalls nf putstanding balamces {pavalsle) of relatod pariies

Asat As ol
Same of related party Mareh 31, 2032 March 31, 2121
Salory Fayahle#
Aloke Bajpol 071 242
Rajnish Kusmes ' 4o
Bavi Shanker Gupin 456 -
Saresh Kamar Bt [Es -

plnelisding provision for Varishle vonsidsmtion

The amonnts disclesed in the inhle sre the amonnts recognised s an expense dunng the reposting penod related o key maeagement personnl,
*The rerameration fo v ey mansgemend personnel dots net incbade the provision omde for grakoity & componsaied sheentes, as they ane delermined on on

actuarial basis For ihe Group & & whole,

' Annual Report 2021-22
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* & Travenoes Technolopy Limited { Formerly Known as * Le Travenues Technology Private Limited")
mited to Consolidated finnncisl statements for the vear ended March 31, 2022
rf.ll. amounts in N millions, unless otheraise stnled)

'fs Segment Information

| The Managing Divector and Group CEO (MD & CEQ) reviews internal management reports for The Group as a whele. Accordingly, the
Managing Director and Group CEO (MD & CED) is considered fo be the Chiel Operating Decision Maker {CODM), The CODM assesses
performance snd allocates resources at entity level, Accordingly, the Group's business activity is a simgle segiment operation,

Geographical [aformation

The Growp aperates in India end thercfore caters fo the needs of the domestic marker. Therefore, there is only one peographical segment
| and hence, geographical sagmend informstion is not required to be disclosed,

The Group provides services to customer in Indis. Further there are no material non current assets outside in Indis.

| Information shout major custaners

| Considering the nature of business, customers normally include individuals and business enterprises. Further, none of the corparate and
ather customers account for more than 10F% or maore of the Group's Tevenies

| (Thiv space has beew Infeniionally left blank]
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1L!T|‘I'H'HI.1IE’5 Technilopy Limited ( Formerly Known as " Le Travenues Technology Private Limited™)
Motes bo Consolidated fnancial statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(Al amounts in INE miliions, umless otherwise stated)

AT Capital Management
| Focthe purpase of Group's enpital management, capital includes issued equity capital, conventible preference sharea, secuzities premum and all
ather equity reserves attributuble to the equity holders of the parent, The primary ebjective of the Group's capital manageiment is th muximise the:
| shareholder valus.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to 1, in light of changes in economic conditions, To maintain or adjust the
| capital strueture, the Group may adjust return cagital w sharcholders or issuc new shares. The Group monitors capital using 3 gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt, The Group includes within net deld, interest bearing bormowangs, trade and ather
| payables, less cash and cash equivalents and other hank balances

s af As ot
| Mareh 31, 2022 Mareh 31, 2021
Barrowings - 143,78
l Less: Convertible preference shares (unsecured] ai - {5.63)
fair valoe throngh profii aid loss (FYTPL)
| Lessetiabilities 43,39 5209
Trade payables 445.36 195.18
| Ooher financind liabilitics 1.227.93 | 05 44
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 24735 (201.03)
| Netdeht 1,469.35 1,100,258
| Equity 3 A26 856 200,38
Instruments entirely equity in nnbune - .63
| Total Capital 3426.06 305,01
| Capital and net dekd 4.5%96.21 1,495,126
| Gearing ratio 30,01 %a T9.60%

| Ieondee 1o achiove this overall bjeutive, the Group's capital management, amongsl ofhee things, s o ensuse that it woets terms & conditions
aitnched to the interest-bearing Ioams and borrowings that define capitsl stucture requirements

| Mochanges wers made in the objectives, policics or processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2022 and yeor cnded
Miarch 31, W21,

| {This space has been inentionally feft blank)
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Le Travenues Technalogy Liniied { Formerty Ksown as * Le Travenues Techusdsgy Private Limibed")
Iﬂ.m 1 Consnlldsted Anancial sisdements for the yeer ooded March 31, 2022

{ AL nmounts in FNE millions, ueless otherwyise smid)

34 Fair valse mraseremenis

| Br out below, is o comperrison by ¢lsss of e esrrving amounts and fxir vl of the Geoup's Hisncie! instumencs, metading Soer with carying smousts that sn: resamblo

sppruximations of Fup values:

| Carrying calnes Falr values
Az A il Mgl Az ol

| March 31, 2022 Mureh 31, 2021 Mareh 31, 2022 March 31, 1821
Fimancial miecty

| tvestmens 403 49 14.95 dod Ay 2495
ik financial esseis JAM.E0 19.58 | Ak 19,58

| Tn 4.1 44, 58439 23,99
Finan¢ial Habsdliises

F BorEawings 1.3 [E T30 14441
Cobeer finarcizl Hahifties o fh ] | AHIE.ES 1,327.03 1 [Hls BE
Toral 1,255,324 1,155.1% 1,255,204 115519

L Annual Report 2021-22

Mipsprmten lis apsessed thet trade receivables, sh and cuvh squivadenis, oiher bank balancey, e payebies ard bomowings ipproissie their carrying amoants largely due
1 Hae ghedi-term matarilies of thess nstrumeiis,

The fais valses of the un-guoied ghanss tased on the viluaton report from independent vabier and ur values of muiisd fimds are hased on price gaogtions a2 the neporing e

THscotnt rete used 1o determine Fade valiie
The inferest sk wsaedl 1o discount estimated fatveo cash (ows, where upplicoble, nro hased an the neremennal borrowing mie of bormwer which in case of finanial liskditie &

aveerge market cosl of borrewings of the Group and i cose of financisl asset i the pverye mskes rate of similar eredit ruied. insmmen, The Group ninimaing policies and
procedures 1o value fingncel ssscts or finencil labifities uang the kot and most sl dais available

The falr valoe of Thi Fnsrein] mesets and liskilities is included at the smiust ot which the isssmmon: moubd be cachanged in @ cumenl mmsaction hetwotn willing pamies, other
them iz a foreed or liguidaen sale.

The fafiowing metheds and aspmptices were used o esiinmie the fair wloes:
The fair values of the Gioip's afvesoes ore deiermined by using Hseount rare that refleres ghe incrimsenial boraiug rale as af fe end of the regoiting perioi.
[hier rigties ol sigmificond weehservabls impuls to vainnbisn

Thie significim unabervekls s weed in the fir valoe messunment giegorized wighin Leved ¥ of i fir value ke together with m quamtilative sensmivan anatyss as &
%larch 31, 2022 and 31 March 2021 ore ax vhown bl

¥luatinn Shamilicand Bnnge {weighted average) Semsitinity af 1he npud bo Fale value
techminisr wenhiervable inpwis
alaility Mareli 51, 3000 3T 004 1% inrease i ihe velotiliny wold roaill s inenese in
g T vl by IRRE 0,57 (3] Bemrch 2021: IMR 123
March 312020 S0 0 e e the volatifity wonkd resel in decresse in
Liskdiny on-necoant ol busi s oty wabo by B (A2 (30 Mok 2001 ENR BUET
combimlion WD March 31, 23T 17 40 1% Encreass in Khe vahiifiny wiuhd nesull in incoease in

fanir valng by INR 4 an a1 hlarch 3020 INRE 012}
1% doeresse in the volatility would resuliin dacreise in
flair value by TNHE, 505 (31 March 2020 INRAOTTY

Befarch 36, 2021 1590

{1 e i Bures fentaemnicinadly foll blewkd
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L Travenues Techsolagy Linslved | Forserly Knows g5 "' Le Travenwes Technology Private Eimited™)

|Hﬂm 1o Cnasolidated (Bnancial sintensends for ike venr ended March 31, 2022

1Al amounis im TNR malhoos, unless othorwise simiod])

' 49 Fair value hierarchy

All finoncial insinnsents for which far valee is recogmised or deciosed are criegonsal wwihin the fwr velng Wearchy. deseribed as folioas, basad on the
livwest bevel inpul that & significant o the fir vatos meassrement as & whole,

Lewvel |: This kevel of Wismrcy meludes (imncisl asseis thet sre measured by refoemer 1o guobed (unadusiod) poces m adive markests for identcal ssssts ar
linhilitiea.

Lewe] 2: Thas level af livmchy inclodes Meaneiad ssscie th ane teasupal waing leput, other ihen quoied preces iscluded wethin lovel 1, tho oo ohserablz
fioer such items, directly or indiremby.

Lol 3: Thas leweel ool |eranchy includes dlems measared using @ valuetion model based om assumpiions thot are neiiher sspporied by prices from obsorablz

ourrent markel anssciions m ihe smme Estromeets nor based on avanlible mark dasa,
Fhe follewing ble prowdes the far wiloe moensuremoed higrarchy of b Gooup's asscts ind Babililics.

1 Fnir value measwremant higrarchy For assees ad af March 31, TH2Z: Falr vabug mslsurensenl uslng
o Slgmificant Sigmificani
| o Q = il oy HI'I 1I:Iur ahyervble wnonbrerviabie
: inpues (Level 23 Inputs {Level 3)
I Flenncinl assers mensured at foir value
revestrmnts o1 Gile value Thigagh Feuln or lose
= Bfuiusd finds EL ) ¥a.m = o
|  «Shems 144 - 344 -
« Dabenbore: F T = b |1
I Fimnncial Hahiities mezsured @ Duir value
Listiliry on eecount of Busimess combinstion TRl 4 e 74141
t Fimangial Habilities mvasipnd sl ansbrtizad oo
|. Bormownnes o - Fr ]
There are no irmmsfer beiveren levels daning the year ended hfarch 31,2022
I
Foir value measmrement lerarchy for assets as af March 31, 202): Fair valup moadirtasial uslng
Todd  Quated privsiinative  EwSeEl  CShpkiican]
wbrkts (Lavel 1) absarvable mnohservalibe
| inpuits (Level 2 Inpuds (Level 3)
Fimnneial asspis mdasirod ar T value
I pvestrmenis ol fur vabse throogh peofil o loss
= Whnual funds 2151 21.51 - -
I - Shwes T8k - idd -
Fiznnzinl Habf#ide: messured 2l Dnir value
| Hogromings - Preference shores 543 % . 563
Linhility on secount of Bsinzss combinaion ARR.TI ~ = ST
| Fimancinl Babilities messured si ameariized me
Borrimemjgs 14378 - 143 7% -
l There are po mansber Beiween lovels during the year emded Bdarch 31, 202 ]
|
Inter-rebadivmship bevwesn
. sigmificani
| Type Vabiation tecknigue  Sigaificant usohservable inpais unabscrvable inpues mnd Fair
vilue measaremeal
| Rrvestereis al faly wnlue Weaugh prodit oe loss Proemling ; il It
it o loss an mluiy mrdres e W dissount Tunee i
Discoumnied cngh Mows ks Tl
| th Wiakalitiny, value of the Compeay, expecied
Evosronwings - Pre(erenoe shares Oplon pricing mode) verm of the insirumea
| Actiunl m perthe lerms
Linhility oo ocoouni of investmen! in sebsidiary of swre purchms Adjusied epning of poquired entity .
|
- - Prevailing inlerest mie in market, fsture B
Eoomowings Dizountid ssh Mo —_—
|
| Bebaw is recosclllution of falr value measwrements cotegorized within level 3 of the feir value hierarchy
April 00, 2021 Wlivmienl Transfir ta pgukty  March 31, 2022
'I daring the yiar
Beoorowings - Prefersiios shancd 563 - 15637 -
l Liabilary oo apcouni of business combisali ihH 7| M * 74545
Total : (74.34 #5012 -E-l THYRY
I
|
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Le Travenses Technabery Limibed [ Farmeidy Knovwe a8 * Le Travensss Technology Privete Limited™)
| Mades ve Consalidaced fEnsncial stabementy for the vear esided March 31, 202
| Al amounts in TR miflions, unless ctherwise ataled)

]HD

I

|
&l

]

Financial fisk mamagansent objectives ond policies

The Group's activlies are exposad &0 wanety of fisancal risk: oeds nsh Bguidity risk =d foreign ourrency tisk. The Group's senior - mamagement oversees e
maragemen| of 1hose risks. Tha Giromip's sanicr niansgement enseres that the Groop's Gnaedizl sk sctiviies are poversed by spproprizee policess and procedares and ihai
fimancial ks a0 idenbifed, messured and managed in socorilamee wath the Group's poticies and risk chjectives. The Giroup reviews: and agrees on podicses for managing
each uf these risks which are summanzed below

Crnlil risk

Credin risk s the gk tear g guimier parry will st mes 2 obligstions under a finmmcial instnament or nesiomer coséract. beading 0 3 finmial loss. The fruup is exposed 1o
credit mek [fom ils operabing ativities {primarily made receivabies), inchading deposiis with fanks and financie® insiswions, fSreign exchange rormacniens and odser
finoncial instnunzents.

Trade receivables

Trade pecehvahle e typically unseored. Cradil risk s managed by e Gromp tirough eredil approvals, exiabiiching credil fimits and comtimuipusly moneomng the
creditworthinen of csanmers o which B Gintug prants cradit lerss in the normald conrse of business.

The apeing analy=es of frade recelvables o of the reporming lese b 4e Folknic

Linballil Doz Mol Dus Mare chiaa 188 ds

A ab March 31, 2022 V&7 F5.08 |6.34 f.44 e o sl ] HIZ.07
As ol March 31, 2021 136 22754 i k2 4.24 64T 110 TR0

The npeing of irade receivables does nol isclode expected credil oss

Hecencillation of Impalrment 2llnwance aik ieade snd sihier feccablo asil ceniret nsseis
Impairneent nllsvwance measured as per sinvplified approzely

Impairment allowsnce ax om April 0120620 12.59
Prowision lor expecied crodst Inss 213
Reevrsail of provision

Ax al March 31, 1021 1473
Présvisann for expecusd eredin hash .75
Revessal of provizion (1,593
Agat Maseh 312022 IE
Liguidity rish

Laquadity risk is e cisk thut the Gronp ey uol be dsde 1o mest i3 preset mnd Sature comh and collsseral obligstions withoun inomring nraccepignle lsses. The Genmps
ohyeciive is o, a all tmes maisuin optrmm levels of lquiday i mest e cash pad eollienl rquizememts. The Group closely nuoniors iis lquidity pesition seed dephoys u
robust caslh anagement sysiers. It musininiis sdequie sescces of Timaneing mclnding oans Fom bmeks ot an optinesead oo

The table below summarises the matorily predide of the Group's Aeangial liakilities based oo contrectunl undiseoented paymients,

g Ax ot March 31, 2620
Carrying On Demand Lipt | Vear I-5 ¥ears Totnl
Boeririings 731 ] | - . 3731
Lense linkslines 4339 - 176 35.20 5250
Irade payables 445 36 . 4453 . 445 7
Dber finmscial linbilifies [Fer s - 720,71 507.20 L237.0%
Tl 1,743.99 73| 1,1R3.69 542,40 L785 40
As ai Mavel 35, 2021
Careving Dn Demand Uptn 1 Year 1<% Years Taral
RS T
Hertowings 49l - 085 11180 182 B4
Lenes Hahilities F2.0% - 1538 S2.B0 aR.110
Tmde payahles [¥5. 18 = jLLRE S - 195,18
Dither financial lisbilities 1,005 55 . #3428 11003 |05 EE
Tota T : e 4872 ESITN

T itn ppase Das boan fintenioeeliv b blankj
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Le Travenuws Techmology Linglied | Fornserly Koswe s Le Traveneses Techmology Private Limiged" |
tﬂnhs g Camsolldaded Anosclal siutemmemis Tor the year ended March 31, 2021

LAl mmnonmts in BN mmllinns, unless olherwise siatdd])

) Mbarket risk

Miarioel risk is the rizk thal the Rir valos of R cish Nows ol Trandal et will Mueeoatie beoase of changes o markel prices. Market nsk comprises threo iypes
| of risk: interest rbe risk, curmney risk and ather price fsk, s as aquity pice rlik aml commndiny A=k Firancaal insiruments affecied by marken nsk inchade ndvances,

depnsiis and FYTOCT imvestmanis

{1 Dterest Rete Hisk

| Tnterest rage risk is the risk that the Eir value or Foniine cash Nows of & Geaneal instrmes will fusioase beeaise of changes i market inerest rses. The Group's exposure
e The risk of changes in market inieresi rares refaies 1o the Group®s Bank Cverdmit Beiiny with Boalimg bleres] rates,

| Exposure o inkéresd rade tisk

The Interest rate predile al the Geoup's inperest-bearing Fmangial msinamenis a3 neporied 1 menapemeni iz as folloss

Asnf ha &l
| P thewinwe March 31, 1832 March 31, 2021
Wirlalde ralc insirements
| Bamwings 373 -

Inferist raie sensitihvity amalvsis for vorinhle isstromenis;
| T follewing table demonsiraies the sesailivity 1o & reasonably possible change fn (nseres mee of honowings. Wiih all oiher vorizbles held conslant, e Group's pratil
hedivre ey w5 affecied through the impact o flnsting mie bormaangs, as fllows:

Particalars Frr itse year ended | For the year emded
| March 31,2022 | Miarch 31, 2631
] Impoct on Statesmest of Profil aml bess Tr the year

Imcremss by 511 s pulad il 14) c
1 Crevrease by 50 Bagis peinl [ BE .
| Impact an totad eguicy for the year

rscresrse by ST sy pn [ .
| Perrease hy 5 basis poink (LN .

i} Forelge surrency risk

The joreign curreney pxpessare af Group on receivabled anid payubles o non masennl,
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L Travemoes Technoloe: Cimiced § Furmects Koown as 7 e Trasenoes Technalopy Privobe Cimaled™)
Mobes Le Consulidajed Bngagial sraienienrs Tae e vear ended occk 31, 2D
(AL reveverea oy INEE millione, vooess atharwza: slaiall

41 Sforement ennininme spacriic disclosnrs ol dhe endifica nhich are isladed meansaldeted Binimeial stemenis Gor e przoe coled Maoch 31, 2033
Pori Soeseela e Lnlad dasca =, ; . 5 ne e
[ e Share o pmﬁ: anu Lass Shary innlher enoepuciicesive Ings SEmTe 10 coiul comprehenyive ingame
s belal lathilidics
y . Pereralape i 5 At b ! |
Maiile of e encloy An gie group Gelatiunsthip Holding Astqof A Y of Consalid .I:-:|] il ud Bl Cnenladzied
Cunslilied Jnanl (onsaliclared FealE|  Amnoat gy U Amepnt [Tl iawaprelicnsive Ammnuod
_ Comprehenzive
Mzl Asaris & Loass | ncaaae
Tnwinine
e 1 avendes Taehnalnge Limiled Preizg 1B T4 17524 1151925 132045 JIRETE [l HE: [ 1%L Gy JIIL2E)
JLeian Conpe, Secisdad Limilada Fareian Seiaidicy] 1WEi R H ] (.25 (22230 (L7 TN E 102385 L )
T rvcnusas Ironrer aomes Fovsnte Lionsst Indian Zubsdiory | 10T 2A1% 012 LR, 1z .00 ; [EH LIRS
Uyl Uickes €10 v odunioos Yoems Zimiled  Dedian Sobsidiory (HS AH 3.23% 1T 7B 1250 (41 22%) DAL A 1452 |
Tadal T404%  ReLLs2 13350 {17330 (L TRTTE {r.41} I3l ) (1771
|
Chasehdiec adjusuceniselinininons : 2 | P B b el [1Edra) PR ILY] L - (13, LR
Trtal | WULS | 54586 [ AN {20EU4] ey T R TR C T4 (21235 |

Sratement containies specific s losmm: ol e colities whigh 2re included In comsolidited Timancial siagemeota foe chi year ended Morel 31, 21021

- ; _I I e = - I T - - .
| HH.J"HH’ e I."”: Lo SNhare e profld ond jess Shmrei un:l."c'r e Share I incel enmprefensre inoome
1 mE ey bl Tialhalieey iarume
! - FPrrLen of ;
mexme of Ehe emtfty in che erenp Hide onslip ”mbilﬁ A Sl Az th ool c H:'j'""]q': :I{h" : As " b nnzoebdnb=d
x L .
el 1o Anenunc | Uoaselidoted Craflt Amamoi "".I b ’ amweunt  |'Tadnl Comprebensive Amynad
i prehcasive
Net Asseks & L [nvaae
Iz
Lo Travemz: Ty Lonied |Farent 12,885 L5720 AT 7570 A 00% .52 VRIS Tl
Tioerees Innasbors Private Limied Labian Bubanlury | HIEHS [ He L (T H L2 0l.22) (R - i)
Cacdirm icaet Coiline Solutivns Privatiz Lot [Dx s abmiding [ 10% 1 2 k| iy LR £ 120k L) LU R{EX 371
Tulul LS55 ran L7245 41.51 L0000 1L511 HITER% EdA0 |
Comsockialin adiv s b lmimid ey ' 0. 35% 1058 (7.0d%50 {5.NHY = T R [ERCN
ezl (IR EreIEL] [ EEE [RITTRTTE kAN LIRS Taad

[ TRy pae iy Aedn i'E.'l.h'llI.:llll:'.i T 1T
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Le Travemues Technology Limited { Formerly Knowe as " Le Travenoses Techodlogy Private Lindied "}
Metes to Consolidnied Anzncial stntements for the yesr ended Morch 31, 2022
(ALl amouris in IME millions, ankess otherwise stated)

Business combdnatinns

| A) Acquisition duoring the year endead March 31, 2021

{n)

i)

{ch

Aequisition of Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private Limdted

The Ciroup executed: o Share Porchase Agreensent witli sharcholders of Confirm Tickst Onling Soluibons Private Lumabed (e "CTFL") Jor scguisiivon of
50,1% stake in CTPL a5 on Jamuary 31, 2021, @ exchange for payment of appeoximaiely [NR 1T and non cempeie fee of TMR 60, The Group reconded
iransterred ideniifiable asgets (tangible and imnngible) besis fair valuation, Comssquent o this basmess acquisbon, CTPL teulls were consolidated
pifeciive Febnaary 17, 2021, Finaneial staiements as 21 Japuary 30, 2031 wiere coimidersd for thiz puspose as conyenience afjusted with impact of sevenieen
days

Bruring the vear, the Ciroup paid IMR 60 a5 non-gumpeie fee ond issved shores anwontiog o TNE 37298 (basis fair valustbong resulting in CTPL bemg
#3,68% subsidiary ns at March 31, 2022, The Group will acquire the remsaining stske of CTPL in maltiple mnches basis certain performance condstions of
the acguired business. Pesding sequisitiaon of balance sinke, ibe Group has afnbuted the profit and cach eomporent of OCT (if any) o nes-cosimtling
imlerest.

Purchase consideration

Comsiderntion discharged throagh Bank 1150
Muin-campelz foe 60,00
Slaares 10 be isswed on pecouni of busnese combination 70
Fuitre aceuisdiion linbility os sl March 31, 2021% 1026
Total considoratinn 47.55
*Refer note &

Assets mequired and Habilities assumed

The purchese price of IMIL 947,55 @5 on the dats of acquizitinn had been allocaied 1o the acquired asseis and Fabilides as folloss:

Mei working copitel (including cash} 24.54
Imtangibles 8117
Noa-compese 2,40
Dicferred ta Habdlity {37.33)
Cloodwil] Hl6AaT
Tatal P47.55

The identifiable wngihle snd infngible ossets hove been determingd basis independest valuntion o were coneluded wilhm the measorement pericd m
accardanca wiih Ind AS 1035,

| () Amulysis of cash flows o sequisition:

(e

Met gash poquited with the subsidiary (included m cash Nows from mvesting sctivilies) 57.28
Casly patd™ {179,583
Met cash Mow on acquisitian {1E2.31)
Payment for non campete fee during ke year (A

IIT!J]t

Usefl Ik of imtangibles recognrized on scquisition
The table helow shows the values and lives of miangibles recopnissd on asquisinion:-

Life Amaant
Soitwnre T yisrs 98
Cramaim mames and trademarks 3 years 1.21
Man cattipels I wvears §2.40
Intangibles recognized on scquisition 143.58

N Acquired receivablis

o adjustnsenis have bhem made iz acquired irade receivables and cush and bank balances,

{2} Accouniing policy choloe [or noo-controlling inferesis

The group recognises non-canirolling interests in sn stquired ontity @ the non-comtralling imerest’s propartiooate share of (he scquired enity's net
lentifiable asmela. In case where ihe Group doss ol have present sccess 1o ownership interest, i is rocopgnized at the present value of ihe redempiion amount
and is reclassified frons eqaity. AL the end of gach wporiing peried, the non-conirolling interests subject bo the put option I8 derecognized ard the dilference
beiwesn the amourd dercoognized and present value of the redemiption smount, which is recorded a5 a fimoncial Hability, is accounted for a3 an squily
transacisun.
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Le Travomues Technology Limited { Formerly Kopwo 25 " Le Trovenwees Techoology Privace Limited™)
Noles te Consolideted fimancial stntements for the yesr ended Maorch 31, 2022
: (Al amounis in IR miltions, unbese otherwise staied)

{h} Fair Valse of Mon Controlling Interest

!
|

0

As at April 01, 20210 THT .06
Less: Paynaeni 1o owners {43258
Add - Wan controlling share in the resulls for the year 12.65
Audd: Fair velumfion impact of Pul apticm liability 410,92
Asal March 31, 2022%* m,gi

* The amount as af Apsl 01, 2027 consist of Sharss to be lamied on acommnl of business combinntice ameanting o INR 9925 disclosed & Stalement of
Changes in equity and Liahility on accoimi of business combination amouiting 1 INR 63983 {Current poriion [MRE 35850, Mon cument poribon THR
310300 disclesed in other financial Habilities,

&% The mmound 28 al March 31, 2022 consig of Shares te be issued onoaccomt of business combinaticn smountmg e INR 24,70 disclesed in Siatement of
Chonges in equity and Linbility on account of business combination amounting o INE 753,83 {Currenst portion [NE 246,63, Mon cument poriion THR
507,200 diselosed imother Minanceal liabilities.

Hevenue contribution
I the combination liad teken place af the beginking of the pravious year, revenue would hove been increased by INR 231,12 million arsl the prodil before fax
for the Group would have been increased by INR 1560 million for the finecial yoar 2020-2031,

(Tl kpace b been Infemtlampally fefi bleak)
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L& Travenoes Technobopy Limdted ( Formerly Konawn as " Le Travenoes Techaslegy Privaie Limited")
i Maotes 0 Consoligzied finapcial sintemenis for the year ended March 31, 222
. (Al ansounis m IR millions, unless ctherwise sated)

fa]

|
'|

Aciuisition during the veur ended Mareh 31, 2021

Ahhibes business acquisition under Buglness Trapsfer Agrecment:

As approved by the Beard of Eiresiors, the Group on July 22, 3021, esiered in io o Bosingss Trnsfer Agresment {'BTA") with Abibus Services (India)
Privale Limied [“the Abhitm™) end s fouinder (both ogetber referred 1o as the “Seller’) | w soquire Abhibos business including 155 asseis, Habiliies.
cplovecs, indclieciual property and business combracts ddentified i BTA (Underinking ) = a grang copcem oo a Slump Sale bagis % ke Acquired
bustmess™) for a totzl considerniion™ of INR 171350 o be senled by issalng equity of IMBL 612.95 and INR 1,100.55 consaderation ihrosgh kanking
channels and assoming additional net liabaliies of TNR 16,95, The oiald consideration is b be ndjusted in case of non-transfer of’ busieess contmcts ander tbe
BT A as ai the cleging date. Ag per the berms of BTA, the Group tssued swn sheres wortl TR 612,95 om first closing and pasd THE 104% 61 through anking
clamneds over muliiple ranches, Az gl March 3|, 2002 the amount payshle is INR 50,94 wivich will be pnid in sehssquent tmeches.

The Group ohtalned conirol over il Acquired business and is deemed o be the beneficial ewner of the Undenaking effactive Augost |, 2021, The
consolidated starement of profit and ks fic 1be year ended March 31, 2027 and the copsolidoted balonce sheet as at March 31, 2022 inclode ibe impact of
oparations of Abhibus, Accosdingly the curment year numbers are not comparable with those of previous year.

] b} Purchase cansiderating

e}

Consideration to be dischasged 1hrough Bank {inclading TNR 230 for non compete fee)® L, 1003, 55
Shames sxoed an aceounl of bugites combinttion bl2.95

Hanfierted for iwcraape in g abilivier erranmed

Asgeis pogiiced and liabilktes assimed
The purchase price of INE. 171350 &4 an s dato of acquisition had ben allocated to the acquired assers dnd liabilites as follows:

Property plant and sqsipmeni 0.78
Trade receivable 17.0%
{rher curvent assee 2493
Curren Liabiliny 1505
Mam Curreni Lizhility (231,64}
Mt Assuts negalrediA) (17695}
Intangibles

Soltware 16E.27
Trade mark .18
Hom-compeie 55,03
Dieferred tnx liahility (58,340
Met Intanglbles scquired{Bj __E-I_
Met Asgets pequired (A+H) (108900
Purchase Confdetntiom 1,713.50
Goadwill l!IEdEI

The ideniifiable inngible and intangible neseis have been determiised basly independem valuadion. These allecations ave preliminary based on manogement’s
estimates. The Group & in the process of making o fingl dewrminstion of e fair value of ssets and lizbiliies. Fianlizanen of the porclase price nliocation
may result in certzin adiusimemts 1o the above albncation.

Usofal life of intangibles recognised on nequisition
The table below shows the valies and lives of iniangibles recoprised on acquasition:-

Life Amount
Solbware 7 years 18827
Dromssin names and trndemarks ¥ yeurs 18
MNan campebs 3 years 55493
Intamgibles recognized an sequisltion 124.38
Acquired receivabbes
Ma adjustments hove heen made b acquired frde receivibles.
Analysis of cash flows on nequbsition:
et cigh acquined ve acguisitbon -
Cazh paid {LO49.61)
Mt cash used on acauisition {LO49.61)
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Le Trevenues Technolegs Limied | Formorly Kaswn s * Le Trovennes Technoligy Privane Limioed")
Mntes b Consulidabed lossciul stodeavends e the yoare eaded March 30, 202
1AL armunreds = PN millioes. unkess: olherwise st

43 Shrc lsiie Expenos |
The Company sz ingmal anespandiiung of (48 $463 (as et Mok 3, 2057 ) meards the proposed iniled peblic sfes [P0 of which TN 480 Being s Bom
sglling shershulder ks boen regmmdal wnder Diher Finmecual iesels. Remaining INK #6059 5 cmried Tirard as prepaikd xpense o be ser o wilh seoamiings piosts a) 1=
e ol be of shares i eccondonce with requinement of Section 52 of the Compates A, 2003,
Dyering the year, the Company ssacd shanes BL4R9 | Preference BAA34; Exyuily 31 fae THE 367323 |Peefrencg MR 3673 117 Bquey IR 0,16} o0 preferemial sfiouseni
b and wmowened incidenis! shane issue expense amoeniing o N2 T 12 whick his been adpested with seoarilies prémium in accordance with Section 32 nlMhe Conpeaics
Al 23

44 v et ligiines B Paeti fepgmoupesd in Eag with fuirenl war prosgEainon
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of Le Travenucs Technology Limited

Repart on the Amdit of the Siandalone Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the wccompanying stndalone Rnancial statements of Le Tavenues Technology
Privaite {*the Company ™), which comprise the Halance sheet ax st March 11, 2022, the Sunemem of
Profitand Loss, including the statemient of Other Comprehemsive Income. the Cash Flow Sistement and
the Statement of Changes in bauity Tor the vear then ended, snd nofes 1o the standulone financiul
statements, including & summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatiry information.

In our opinion and 1o the best of our information and aceonding to the explanations given to us, the
afiresaid standalone financial staements give the information required by the Companies Act, 201 3, as
amended (“the Act™) in the manner o required and give o tree and fair view in vonforminy with the
sccounting principles genernlly accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company s at March 31,
2022, its lows including other comprehensive income, its cash Nlows and the changes in equity for the
year ended an that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our sudit of the standalone financial stements in aceordance with the Standards on
Auditing (5As), as specified under section 143010) of the AcL Our responsibilities under those
Standards are Turther described in the *Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the standalone
Finuncinl Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company in acéordance with the
"Code of Ethics” issued by the Institate of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant 1o our amdit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act
and the Rules thereunder, and we have Tulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in sccordance with
these requirements and the Code of Fthics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained s
sufficient snd appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone financia! statements,

Emphasis of Matier

We drmw attention 1o Note 40 () mw the finsncial statements which deseribes the adjustment perianing
To imvestments and the consequent impact on the previous vesr numbers. Our opinion i not qualified
in respect of this matter

Other Informatiog
Phe Campany's Board of [ireciors is tesiponsible Tor the other information. The other mformation
comprises the information ineluded in the Directors report, but does oot inelude the standalone noncin)

stntements and oor audinor’s repon thereon

Qe opinion on the stindalone linancial statements does not cover the ather nformation snd we do nan
express any form of asserance conelusion theroon.
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In connection with our audil of the standslone financial siatements, our responsibility is o read the
pther information and. in doing so, consider whether such other informaiion is materisily inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge oblained in the audit or olherwise appears o be
materially misstated. 11, based on the work we have performed. we conclude thet there is 8 material
misstatement of this other information, we are requined (o report that fact, We have nothing o report in
this regand.

Responsibility of Management for the siandalone Financial Statements

The Company®s Board of Directors is responsible for the matlers stated in section 134(5) ol the Act
with respect 1o the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of
the financial position, financial performance including other comprehensive income, cash Mows and
changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in
India, including the lndian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under section |33 af the Act read
with the Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This responsihility also
mcludes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for
safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
iregularnities; selection and application of appropriate accomnting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintensnce of adequate
miernal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accurncy and completencss
of the accounting records. relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone financial
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
OF EIror,

In preparing the standalone financial stafements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or o cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but o do =o.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company s financial reporting process,
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Aodit of the standalone Financial Statements

Ohr objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as
a wholc are free from material misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error, and o issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always deteet 8 material misstatement wher it
exisls. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered maierial if, mdividually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected (o influence the economic decisions of vsers taken on the
basis of these standalone financial sistements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the aodit, We also:

= ldentify and assess the risks of material missiatement of the standalone fnancial siatements,
whether due 10 Treaud or emor, design and perform sodil procedures responsive 1o those risks, and
abiain audit evidence that is sulTicient and appropriaie 1o provide a basis for oor opinion. The risk
o ot detecting a material misstatement resulting from fravd is higher than for one resuliing from
error. #s [raud may mvalve callusion, forgery, intenlional omissiens, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

= Obuin an understanding of internal contrel relevant to the sudit in order 10 destgn audit procedures
that are approprisle in the circumsiances, Under section 14303811 of the Acl we are alse
respomsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial
contrels with relerence to Ninancial statements i place and the operating effiectiveness of such
cantrosls,
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*  Evalunate the appropriniencss of accounting polivies used and the ressonsbleness of sccounting
estimutes and related disclosunes made by management

«  Conclude on the appropriatencss of management’s use of the going concern basis of sccounting
and, bascd on the asdil evidence obtained, whether a materla] uncernimy extsis related 0 cvenls
o eomelitions that sy cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continge us a going
cancem. If we conclude that a materinl uncertninty exists, we are required (o drw attention in our
nuditer’s repon to the related disclasures in the financial satements or, iF sueh disclosures are
irticlexuiale, o modity our opinion, Chir conclosions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 10
the diste ol our suditer’s report. However, Fature eventy or conditions may cause the Company @
ocise 10 continge &6 0 g0ing concem.

*  Evaluate the overall presenation, structure and contenl ol the standalome finameinl statements,
in¢luding the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial stulements represent the underdying
transactions and events in @ maper that achieves fair presentation.

We communleate with those clharged with governance regarding, among other matiers, the phinned
scope and Hming of the sudit and significant sudit lindings, including any significant deficiencies in
mternal contral thar we sdentify during our audi

We also provide those chorged with govermance with a statement that we have complied with releyvant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 10 communicate with their all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on owr independence, and where applicable, related
safegunrds.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Reguirements

|, As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Repont) Order, 2020 (“the Cider™). issved by the Central
Government of India in wrms of sub-section (11} of section 143 of the Act, we give in the
“Annexure |7 o satement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

{a) We have sought and obtmined all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and beliel were necessary for the purposes of our sudit;

ih) In our opinion, praper books of account as requined by law have been kept by the Company so
fur a5 i appears from olr examination of those books:

(e] The Balance Sheer, the Stmtement of Profit aod Loss includine the Sttement of Other
Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Changes in Equitydeal
with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account:

(i} Do own opinion, Hie aloresaid standalone Anancial stasements comply with the Accoenting
Standards specilied under Section 133 of the Act, vead with Companies (Indian Acoounting
standards) Rules, 2005, as amended;

(e) On the basis of the weitien representations received [rom the dicectors o8 on March 31, 2022
tuker on recond by the Board of Directors, none of the directons s disgualified as on March 11,
2022 from being appointed s 4 direcior in terms of Section |64 {2) of e Aot

{1} With respeet to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to these standalone
financial statements and the operating effectiveness of such controls, reler 10 our separme
Report i *Amnoxure 27 o this repon
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(g} In our opinicn, the managerial remuneration for the year ended March 31, 2022 has been paid
¢ provided by the Company to il directors in sceordance with the provisions of section 197 resd
with Schedule V (o the Act;

() With respect 1o the other matlers o be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies {(Audil and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as amended in our opinion and o
the best of owr information and according to the explanations given fo us:

i, The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impaet its Ffinancial
position;

ii.  The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for
whith thure were any material foreseeable losses:;

Wi,  There hias been no delay in transferring amounts. required to be (ranslerred, o the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Company

v, &) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no fiunds
have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium
ur any other sources or kind of funds) by the company 10 or in any other person(s) or
entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries™, with the understanding, whether
recorded i writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, divectly or indirectly
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on
behall of the company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any gusrantee, security or the
like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

b} The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, no funds
have been recesved by the company from any personis) or entitviies), including foreign
entities (“Funding Parties™). with the undersianding. whether recorded In writing or
otherwese, that the company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other
persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on belall of the Funding
Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries™) or provide any puarantee, security or the like on behalf
of the Lltimate Beneliciaries; and

¢} Based on such sudit procedures that were considered ressonable and appropriate in the
circumstances, nothing has come tw our notice that has caused us to believe thar the
representations under sub-clause (a) end (b) contain any material misstatement.

¥. Na dividend has been declared or paid during the vear by the Company.

For SR Balliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAL Frrm Registration Number: 10 049W/E3 0004

per Yogender Seth

Partner’,

Membership Number: 94524
LITMN: 22094524 AIKQS02127
Place of Signatre: Gurugram
[rate: May 04, 2022
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Annesure | feferred toin paragraph 1 of Report on Other Legal and Regutriory Reqalremenis
of onr report of even dute

Het Le Travenves Technology limited (“the Company™}

In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and glven by the company and the
buaks of account and records examined by us in the normal course of sudit and {0 the besi of our
knowledge and beliel, we state thai:

(i (ap (A) The Company hias maintained proper records shawing full particulars. including quantitative
details and sitvation of Property, Plant and Equipmeni.

{B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangibles assets,

{b) Property, Flant and Equipment have been physically verified by the management during the
wenr and no miaterial discrepancies were identiled on such verification.

(e} There is no Immovable property {other than propertics where the Company is the bessee and the
lease agreements are duly executed in favour of the lessee), held by the Company and
accordingly, the requirement io report on clause 3(i)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(d} The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment {including Right of use assets)
or intangible assets during the year ended March 31, 2022,

¢} There are no proceedings initiated or are pending against the Company for holding any benami
Rl ; Ed B
property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act. 1988 snd rules made
thereunder.

{iida) The Company’s business does not require maintenance of inventories and, sccordingly, the
requirement 1o report on clause 3(ii}a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b} Asdisclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, the Company has been sanctioned working
capital limits in excess of Rs. five crores in ageregate from banks andfor financial institutions
durmg the year on the basis of security of current assets of the Company, The terms af the
working capital limits requires the Company to file annual statement with the respective banks.
The Company will be submiiting the required statements in due course.

(bi)ia) During the vear the Company has not provided loans, advances in the nature of loans, stood
vuaruntee or provided security to companies. firms, Limited Liability Parinerships or any other
parties. Accardingly, the requirement 1o report on elase 3(ii(a) of the Order is not applicable
to the Company.

ih

——r

IFuring the year the Company has nol made investments, provided gustantees, provided security
and granted loans and advances in the nature of loans W companies, firms, Limited Liability
Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the reguirement to repor on clause 3k of
the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(e} The Company has nol granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to companies, (iems.
Limvited Liability Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, (he requirement 1o report on
clanse Miiife) of the Oyder is not applicable o the Company.

(d} The Company has nol granted loans and advances in the nature of loans to companies, (ins,
Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties, Aceordingly, the requirement 1o report on
clause 3(H0)(d) of the Order i not applicable 10 the Company.

Annual Report 2021-22



S.R. BATLIBOI & ASSOCIATES LLP

Cinarveresd Secourlanis

(€ ) There were no loans or advance in the nature of Joan grnted 10 companies. firms. Limited
Linbility Partnerships or any other parties. Accordingly, the requirement 1o report o clanse
Iinpe) of the Order is oo applicsble 1o the Company .

(1) The Company has not gramted uny lomns or advances in the salure of loans, either repayable on
demand or without specifving any terms or period of repavment 1o companies, firms, Limited
Liability Partnerships. or any other partics. Accordingly, (he requirement to report on clagse
Miii W) of the Crder &= not applicahle (o the Company.

(i) Lowns, investments, gusrninees and securily in respect af which provisions of sectivms 1RS and
186 of the Companics Acl. 2013 are applicable have been complied with by the Company,

(v} The Company has neither sceepted any deposits from the public nor accepled sny amounts
which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of sections 73 1 76 af the Companies Act
ard the rules made thereunder, (o the extent applicable. Accordingly, the requirement 1o report
on claose 3(v) of the Order is not applicable w the Company.

{vi)  The Company ix st in the business of sale of any goods or provision of such services as
prascribed. Accordingly. the requirement to report on clause 3vi) of the Ovder is not spplicahle
to the Company

(v} (anh Unchsputed statutory dues including provident fund, emplovees” state insurance, income-tax,
siles-tax, service tax, duty of custom, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and other statutory
dues have generally been regularly deposited with the appropriate suthorities though there has
been a shight delay in a few cases for goods and services 1ax, According to the information and
explanations given 1o us and hased on audit procedures performed by us, no undisputed amounts
piyable in respect of these statutory dues were outstanding. ut the year end. for a period of more
timn six months [rom the dote they became pavahle,

(b} Thereare no dues of goods and seevices i, provident fund, employees” Gate insurance, income
tax; sales-1ax, service tax, customs duty. excise duty. vitlue added mx, cess, poods and service
tik and other statutory dues which have not been deposited on account of sy dispute.

(wiil)  The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transaction, previously unrecorded in the
badks af account. in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 ax income during the
vear, Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3{viii) of the Order is not applicable to
the Comipamy,

{ix}{m) The Compony hns not defadlted in repayment of loans or other borrowings o in the payment
of interest thereon o any lender

(b} The Company has e heéen declared wilful defaulter by ooy bank or Anancial — Institation
or goveriment or any govermment authority

1€} Termi leans were applied for the purpose for which the loans were obtained

(d) O an overall examutation of the fnancial statements of the Compay, ne funds rmised on shion
term basis hove been used for long-term purposes by thie Conpany.

(e} Chan overall exsmmination of the Gnanclal statements ol the Company. the Company bas not
tken any tunds from any entity or person on aceount of or o meet the obligations of its
subskliarbes. associales or joint ventires,
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(1} The Company has oot msed loons during the yenr on the pledge of secorities held m s
subsidinries, joint ventures or associate companies. Hence, the requirement 1o repert on ¢lge
L)1) af the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(x)(a)  The Company has not rmised any maney during the yeur by way of initial public offer ! further
public offer {including debt instruments) hence. the requirement to repon on clause 3(x)(a) of
the Order is ml applicable o the Compuny.

{h)  The Company has complied with provisions of sections 42 and 62 of the Companies Act, 2013
i respect of the preferential allotment ar privite placement of shares! filly or partially or
optionally convertible debentures respectively during the year. The funds mised. have been
used for the purposes for which the funds were missd

ixija) Mo fraud! material fraod by the Company or no fraud { material fraod on the Company his been
noticed or reported during the year.

(b} During the vear. no report wnder sub-section (12) of seetion 143 of the Companies Act. 2013
hers bewen filed by by ws in Form ADT —4 as preseribed under Rule |3 of Companies { Audit and
Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Government

€] As represented 1o us by the management, there are no whistle blower complainis received by
the Company during the year,

(xii)a) The Company is not o nidhi Company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013
Therefore, the requirement 1o report on clavse 3{xii}a) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

{h} The Company is not a nidhi company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013,
Therefore, the requirement 1o report on clause Jixiih) of the Order is not applicable w the
Company.

(¢} The Company is not a nidhi company as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013,
Therefore, the requirement 1o repon on classe 3(xiipc) of the Order is nol applicable o te
Company.

{xiy  Transsctions with the related parties wre in compliance with sections 177 and 188 of Companies
Acl. 413 where applicable and the details have been diselosed in the notes fo the financial
statements, as reguired by the spplicable sccounting standards.

ixivita) The Company has an internul sedit system commensunite with the size and nature of s
bisingss.

{1 The intemal audit reports of the Company isswed 1l the dite of the sudit repart, for the period
itnder audit hovie been considensd by us.

(xv)  The Company has nol entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persans
connected with its direetors and lence requirement 1o report on clause 3ixv ) of the Order 18 no
apphicable to the Company.

{xvijia) The provisions of section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank of India Acl. 1934 (2 of 1934) aré nol
applicable 1o the Company, Accordingly, the requirement to seport on clause (xvi)a) ol the
Chreder w5 ot applicable to the Company,
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(b} The Company has not conducted any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finanee sctivities
withoul obtaingd a valid Centificate of Registration (CoR) Mom the Reserve Bank of India 45
pier the Reserve Bank of Indis Act, 1934,

(€} The Company is not a Core Invesiment Company as defined in the regulations made by Reserve
Bank ol India. Accordingly, ihe requiremient 10 report on clause 3{xvi) of the Order is not
applicable 1o the Comipany.

() There are no other Comptmiex part of the Group, hence, the requirement to report on ¢lause
Jlavipof the Order &5 not applicable to the Company.

(xvhi)  The Company las incurréd cash logses amounting w Bs 13057 Mn in the current year

(sviii) There has been no resignation of the statutory nuditors during the year and accordingly
requirement 1o report on Clause 3{xviii) of the Crder is not applicable to the Company,

{xix ) O the basis of the finonciml mtios disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements, ageing and
expected datey of realization of financial assets and payment of financial Habifities, other
information accompany ing the financial statements, our knowledge of the Board of Dircctors
and management plang and based on our examination of the evidence supporting the
assumptions, nothing has come 1o our attention, which causes us to believe that any material
uncerainty exists as.on the date of the audit repont that Company is nod capable ol mecting its
luabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they il due within a period of one
year [rom the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future
vinbility of the Company, We lurther state that our reporting is hased on the facts up 10 the date
of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling
due within a period of one vear from the balance sheet dite, will pet discharged by the Company
as and when they Tall due,

(xx)in) In respect of other than cngoing projects, there are no unspent amomnts that are reguired 10 be
transferred 1o o fund specified in Schedule VIl of the Companies Act (the Act), in compliance
with second proviso o sub section 5 of section 135 of the Act. This matter has been disclosed
in nate I8(b) 1o the linancial statements.

() There are no unspent amounts in respect of ongoing projects, that are required to be transferred
10 special dccount in compliance of provision of sub section (6) of section 133 of Companies
Act. This matter has been disclosed in note 28 (h) to the financial statements.

For S.R. Bailibol & Associates LLP
Chartered Avcountants
FCAL Firm Repistrotion Number; 101049 E30G004

S
o 1 - -
g -

S

per Yopender Seth

Partner

Membership Number: 24524
LJIDIN: 22094524 ATKOQS02 127
Place of Signatuie; Curugram
Date: May 4, 2022
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Anoexure o the Independent Auditor's Report of even date on the Standalone Financial
Statements of Le Travenves Technology Limited

Report on the Internal Financinl Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the
Companics Act, 20013 (“the Act™)

We have sudited the internal Fnancial controls with reference to Standalone [Tnancial statemients of Le
leavonues Technology Limited (“the Company™) as of March 31, 2022 in conjunetion with aur audil
of the Standalone financial statements of the Company for the vear ended on that date.

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company's Management is responsible o establishing and imalntaining internal fnancial contrls
hased on the mternal control over financial reporting criteria estmblished by the Company considering
the essential components ol intermal contrel stated in the Guoidance Note on Audit of Intermal Financial
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Charered Accountants af India (“ICAT™).
These responsibilities include the design. implementation aad maintenance of adequate internal
financial contrals that were operating effectively for ensuring the onderly and efficient conduct of its
business, incloding adherence wo the Company”s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention
and detection of Fauds and errors, the sccurscy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013,

Auditor's Responsibility

Ou responsibility is 1o express an opinion on the Company’s internal fnancial controls with reference
1o these Standafone (inencial stntements based on our sudit, We conducted our audit in sccordance with
the Guidanee Nate on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting {the “Guidance
Note™) and the Stwndards on Auditing, s specified under section 143(10) of the Act, to the exten
applicable to an sudit of internal financial controls, both issued by ICAL Those Standards and the
Ciuidance Note require thut we comply with ethical requirerments and plan and perfonn the audit 1o
obtain reasonable sssumance about whether adequate intemal Francial controls with reference 1o these
standalone financinl statements was estblished and mainmined and iF such contrals opersied
effectively in all matersal respects.

Chur audit involves performing procedures 10 obtain audit evidence sbout the ndequacy of the internal
financial controls with reference 0 these Standalone financial statements and their operating
effectiveness., Our audit of interoal Faancial controls with reference wo Stundalone lnancial statements
meluded obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference o these Standalone
Fimancinl statements, assessing the risk that o material weakness exists, und testing und evalumting the
design sind operating ellectiveness of internal control hased on the nssessed dsk. The proceduncs
seleched depend on the auditor's judgement, including the nssessment of the risks of material
misstaterienl of the fivancial statements, whether due o lraud or gror,

We helieve that the audin evidence we have obtuined is sufficient and appropriste o provide a basis for
our awdit opision on the Company™s interoal Gumeial controls with reforence 10 these Standalone
Ninancinl statoments:
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Chartareld Accoinnilants

Meaning of Internal Finnocial Controls With Reference to these Standalune Financinl Stutements

A compomy's intermal financial controls with reference 1o Standalone financial stalements is b prooess
designed o provide reasonable assorance regarding the reliability of financial reposting and the
prepicution of fAnancisl stalements for external purposes in sccordance with generally nccepred
accounting principles. A company's internal Rnancial controls with reference 1o Stndalane fnancial
statemenis incliides those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 1o the maintenance of records that, in
reasanable detail, sccurdiely and iy reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assety of the
company; (2} provide reasonsble assurence that transactions are recorded 85 pecessary 1o permit
preparation ol financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of ihe company are bemg made only in accordance with autharisations
of management and directors of the company; and (3} provide ressonable wssurance reparding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or dispasition of the company's assets
that eould have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inberent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls With Reference to Standalone Financial
Stntemenis

Because of the inhereni mitations ol internal financial controls with reference to Standalone financial
stutements, including the possibility ol collusion or improper management override of controls, mierial
misstatements due t error or fmud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation
iof the internal financial controls with reference w Standalone financisl statements to future periads ire
subject to the risk that the intemal Ginancial eontral with reference 1o Sundalone fnancial ststements
may become inndeguate because of changes in conditions, or that the depree of complianee with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate,

(rpinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects. adequate intemal financial controls with
referenee to Standalone finoncial statements and such termal financial controls with reference 1o
Standalone financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2022, based on the internal
contriol over financial reporting criterin established by the Company consideting the essentinl
companenits of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAL

For S.R. Batliboi & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountunls
' H.T.:M I"imﬁﬂgiﬂ raticin Wumber: |0 1049W/EI000N4

N %

per Yogender Seth

Pariner

Membership Number: 94524
LIDIN: 220945324 A1K0OS02 12T
Place of Signaiure: Curugrmm
Drate; hay 04, 223
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Le Travenues Technology Limited (Formerly Koown g8 " Le Trevenues Techuology Private Limited")
Notes tu financial statements for the period ended 31 Murch 2022
{All smounts in INR millions, unless otherwise stated)

1. Corporaie lnformetion

Le Travendes Technology Limited {formerly known as Le Travenues Technology Private Limited) (hereinafter
referred as “the Company™) was incorporated on 3 June 2006 a5 a private limited company In Now Delivi, India,
The Company is engaged in the business of running an online platform numed wwww.ixigo.com and ixizo maobile
epplications for providing infonmation and booking services for the rovel industry across waing, sirlines, buses,
hotels and cabs in real-time, The registered office of the Company is located et 2nd Floor, Verits Building, Golf
Course Roud Sector- 53, Gurgaon 122002, On Aug 013, 2021, the Regisirar of Companies, Dethi, kos accorded
their upproval 10 chonge the name of the Company from Le Travenues Technology Private Limited m Lo
Travenues Technology Limited nnd granted it status of public company as per the Companies Acl, 2013

8 Summary of slgnificent recounting policles

21 Basls of preparation

The: financial statements of the Company have been prepared 1o comply in all material respeets with the Indian
Accounting Standards (“lnd AS™) notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards} Rules, 2015 and
Companies {Indian Accounting Stendards) asmendment Rules 2016 (as amended from time to time), preseniation
requirements of Divigion 11 of Schedule 11 w the Companies Act, 2013, (Ind AS compliant Sehedule i1}, ns
applicable to the SFS and other rolevant provisions of the Act,

The Company prepared its financial stntements in accordance with sccounting standards notified under the seclion
133 of the Companies Act 2013, read together with paragraph 7 of the Companies {Accounts) Rules, 2014
("previous GAAP" or “Indian GAAP™). The figures for the previous periods and for the vear ended March 31,
2022 have been restated, regrouped and reclassified, wherever required 10 comply with Ind-AS and Schedule TIT
to the Companies Act, 2013,

The fnancial statements hiave been prepared on & historical cost basis, except for the following assets and liabilities
which have been meagured at fair value or revalued amount:

& Denvatve finencial instruments,
* Certain financial assets and linbalities measored at fair value (refer sccounting policy regording fnancial
imstrumants).

Thesa financial statements are authorized for issue by the Board of directors on May 04, 2022,

The secounting policies, ns sct out in the following paragraphs of this note, have boen consisiently spplicd, by the
Compeany, to all the periods presented i the said Anancial sttements.

The preparation of the said fnancial statoments requires the use of certun eritical nccounting estimetes and
Judgements. It also requires the management 1o exercise judgement in the process of applying the Company's
accounting policies, The arcos where estimates are significant to the financial statements, or areas involving &
higher degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 3.

All the amounts included m the financial sttemenis are reported in millions of indian Rupees und are rounded Lo
the nearest thousands, except per share data and unless stated otherwise.

2.2 Fair valoe measarement

Fair value is the price ot the measurement date at which an asset can be sold or paid to ransfer g lability, i an
orderly transaction between markel participants. The Company's accounting policies require, measurement of
certain [mancial non-financial assets and liabilities af fair values {either on 4 recurming of non-recurring basis),
Also, the fair values of financial instruments measured o amortised cost are required 1o be disclosed in the ssid
financial statermients,
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The Company is tequired to classify the fair valuation method of the financial! non-financial assets and liabilities,
cither measured or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements, usmyg & three-level fair value hietarchy (which
reflects the significance of inputs used in the mensurement). Accordingly, the Company uses valuation 1echnigues
thar are sppropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 1o measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable mputs und minimising the use of unobservable nputs.

The three levels of the fair value higrrchy are described below:

Level 1: Queted (unadiusted) prices for identical assets or lizhilities in active markeis
Level 2: Significant inputs to the fair value measurement are dircetly or indirectly observable
Lewvel 3: Significant inputs to the fair valiee measurement are unobsenvable,

2.3 Current versus nop-current classification
The Company presents asses and labilithes in the balance sheet based on current / non-current classification.
Deferred tax assets and linbilities are classificd os non-current assets and liahilities.

An assel is classified a3 carrent when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed m nonnal
operating eyele, leld primarily for the purpose of trading, expected o be reahsed within twelve months after the
reparting perind, or cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from bemg exchanged or used to seitle a hability Tor
ot lgast twelve months after the reporting period. All other asseds are classified as non-Current assets.

A lighility is classified as current when it is expected 1o be setiled in normal eperating cycle, it is held primariby
for the purpose of trading, i is due o be settled within twelve months afler the reporting period, or there is no
uneonditional right to defer e settlement of the lisbility for ot least twelve mwonths sfter the reporting period. All
other liabilities are classified as non-current liabilities.

The operating ¢vele is the fime between the acquisition of assets for processing and therr realisation i cash and
cash equivalents. The company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (*PPE’)

A ftem is recognised as an asset, ifand only if, it is probable that the future economic benefits sssociated with the

item will flow to the Compiny and its cost can be measured reliably. PPE are initially recognised st cost, The
imitial cost of PPE comprises purchase price {including non-refimdable duties and taxes but excluding any irade
discounts and relates), borrowing casts if capitalization criteria are met and direcily atiributable cost of bringing

the asset vo its working condition for the inended use. Following mitial recognition, PPE are carried at cost less
aceumulnted depreciation and aceumulated impairment losses, iFany.

1EL
Subsequant costs are included in the asset’s corrying amount or recognised as separile assels, as appropriate, mﬁét-_'r'f
when it is probable that the future econamic benefits associated with expenditure will flow to the Company fmed’
the cost oF the item can he measured reliasbly, When significamt parts of property, plant and equipment mtﬂqug_h%' T
to bie peplaced at intervals, lbe Company recognises such components separately and depreciates them hmd'li_ﬁ, A

their specific useful lives. Al other repairs and maintenance are charged to Statement of Profit and Loss at the

tirne of incurrence.

Gains or losses arising from de-recoguition of PPE are measurcd as the difference between the net disposilesss
proceads ind the carrying umount of the asset and are recognized in the stotement of profit and loss when the qghel
is derécognized, T
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Depreciation on property, plent and equipment i calewlated on & written down value methed using the mies
arrived at based on the usefil lives estimniad by the management which are in line with the usefi] lives
preseribed in Schedule 1 of the Companies Act, 2013,

The Company has used the following nseful lives 16 provide depreciation on s PPE

Fartleulnrs Yoars
Comptiars I
Office equipment 1
Furniture and fxiires 1

The wseful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted approprigmly, ul-least
as it cach reporting date so as to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of cconomic benefits from these assets, The effects of any change i the estimeted wseful lives, residial
vitlees and | or depreciation method are sccounted prospectively, and accordingdy the depreciation i5 caloulaied
aver the PPE's remaining revised useful life. The cost and the scoumulated depreciation for PPE sold, serpped,
retired or otherwise disposed off are derecognised from the balance sheet and the reaulting gains ¢ (losses) are
included in the statement of profit and Joss within other expenses / other income.

2.5 Intangible assetg

Identifinble intangible assets are recognised when the Company controls the asser, it is probable that furure
seonomic benefits attribured to the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset con he measured
reliably,

Intangible asscls arc measured on initial recognition a1 cost, Following initil recognition, intangible pssets are
carvied ot cost less dccumulated amortization and sceumulated impairment losses, if any

Intangible assets are amortized on & siraight line basis over the estimaled wsefil economic Tife, The Compamy
amortizes intangible sssets (Technology related costs and software) over the best estimats of its useful life which
i 3-5 years. The costs related o planning and post {mplementation phases of developinent ame expensed as
incurred. Expenditure on research sctivities are recopnized in the Statement of Profit and Lods as inourred,

Development sctivities relate 1o production of new or substantially improved products nnd processes, Development
expenditure incurred on an individual project is recogmized ax an intangible nsset when the conmpaly can
demonsirate all the following:

- The technical feasibility of completing the intangibla asset so that it will be available for use or sale

- Itg intention to complete the asset and its ability and intention 1o use or sell the asset

- How the asset will generate fiiture sconomic banefit

£ The availability of adequate resources to complete the development snd touse or sefl the ssset

- The ebility to measure reliably the expenditore atiributable to the intangible asset during development,

The amortization period and the amonization method are reviewed at least at each Anuncial year end, IF the
expected useful life of the asset i significantly different from previews estimates, (he amerization peried is
changed sccordingly. If there has been 4 significant change in the expecied pattern ol eeonomic benefits from e
assct, the amartization method is changed fo reflect the changed pattern. Such changes are gecounted prospectively
n secordance with Ind AS 8 - deeownsing Poficies, Changes in Accotnting Estimates aned Errors,

Caing or losses arising from de-recognition of un imangible asset are measured as the difference between the net

disposal proceeds and the camying amount of the asset and are recognized in the sttement of profisand loss when
(hie asser s derecognized. :

.6 lmpairment of non-financial assets
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in circumstunees indicate that the carrving amount may nod be recoverable or when annual impairment testing for
an asset s required, Such circumstances include, though are not limited t0, significant or sustained decline if
fevenues or camings and maerial adverse changes in the conomic environmet

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset ot its cash-generating unil exceads its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount oF an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs 1 safl and value
in use, Te calculate value in e, the estimated fiture cash flows are discounted 1o their present value using a pre-
tux discount rate that reflects comrent market rates and ihe risks specific 1o the asset, For an assel thal does noj
generate larpely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating it o
which the asset belongs. Fair value less costs o sell is the price that would be received to sell an assel or paid to
transfer & hability in an orderly ransaction between market participanis, less the costs of disposul

Goadwill is tested for impairment anmuslly at year end and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired.

impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable smount of CGU to which the goodwall
relates. When the recoverable amount of the OO is less than it's carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recogiised,

2.7 Leunses

T Company assesses at contract inception whether a coniract is, or containg, a lease, That is, if the conirael
cunveys the right to control the use of an wdentified axset for @ period of time in exchange for consiacration.

IWhere the Company is the lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of Iow-value assets. The Company reconizes lease liabilities to make |lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the nght fo use the underlying assels.

A Right-of-use arsels

The Company recognizes fght-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease {i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use) Right-of-usc nssets are measured ot cost, less any accumulated deprecintion and
accumulated impairment losses, and adjnsted for any remeasurement of lease lisbilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets fncludes the amount of lease liabilities recognized. initial direct costs ingurred, and lease payments made
at of before the commenceinent date loss any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
atraight-ling basas over (he lease term,

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of (he léase torm or the cost reflects the
exercise of o purchase option, depreciation is cabeulated nsing the estimated oseful life of the asset,

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer w the accounting policies in section 2.6 Impairment
ol son-finamcial assets,

B Leoase Liafilfties

=
At e commencement date of the lease, the Compuny recognizes lease linbilities measured at the present \'nllntj.:lfi!'l -
lease payiments to be made over the lease texm. The lease payments include fined payments {including in substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, varinble lease payments that depend on 2n index or a rate,
and amounts expected 1o be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of & purchase option reasonebly certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variakle lease
paymients that do not depenil on an index or a rete are recognised 4s expenses (unless they are incurred to produes
fnventaries) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment ocurs,
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in ealeulating the prosent value of lease payments, the Company uses ity incremental borrowing rare af the lagse
eommencement date becoose the imerest ot implicit in the lense is not readily determinsble. Afer the
commencement daté, e umount of lease labilities s increasad to reflect the acoretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, (he carrying amount of lease fabilities i remcesured if there is a
modification, & chenge in the lease torm, a change in the lease payments {e.g., changes 10 fulure payments resulting
from a change in an index or rale used to determing such lease payments) or a change in (be assessment of an
aption to purchase the underlying nsset.

C.  Shert-term leavas and leases of lovevaloe axsers

The Company applics the shortierm lease recognition exemption to its. short-term leases of machinery
equipment (i.¢., thase leases that have a lease term of 12 menths or less from the commencement date and do ot
contain i purchise option), 1t also applics the lease of low-value assets recogmition excmption 1o lesses of office
equipment that are considered to be fow value. Lease payments on short-tenn leases and leases of low-value assats
are recognised as mepense on a straight-line basts over the lease term,

Wiery the Company ix the fessor

Leases in which the Company dots not transfer substantially all the risks and rewnrds incidental 1o ownership ol
an agset are classified as operating leases, Rental income arising is aceounted for on 2 straighl-line basis over the
fease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in segotiating and amanging an operating lease are added to the canrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the seme basis as rental fncome. Canlingent reals
are recognised as revemnue in the period in which they are eared.

2.8 Borrowing eost

Borrowing costs directly attributabie w the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessartly
takes & suhstamtial period of fime o gel ready for i1z intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the
respective azset. All ather borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of
imtevest i other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borowing cost elso
includes exchange differences to the extent regarded s an adjustment to the: borrowing cosis.

2.2 Finnneial instruments

A financial instament is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of aihe entity and a financial liahility or
equity instrument of another enity,

() Financial assets
Initial recognition und measurement

All financial assets are recopntzed initially at fair value. Transaction costs that s dircetly attribisble fo the
acquisition of Gnancial assels (other than financial assets a1 fair value diroth profit or loss) are added to the fair
value measured ou initial recognition of financial asset. Purchase and sale of financial assets are accounted for at

satthement dute.

Sohsequenl mensurement

The Company determines the classifieation of it Bnancial instruments &t initial recognitiog,. Finuncial nssets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, foir valee through  other
comprehensive income (OCH), and fuir value through profit or loss.

Finnncial sssets st amorikeed cost

A financial instrumient i measured a1 the amorized cost if both the fulkawing conditions ave met;

) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold zssets for collecting osizictunl cash
flows, wngd
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by Contractual terms of the asset give rise on speeified dates 1o cagh Nows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPP1) on the principal amount outstanding.

Afier initia] mensurement, such finaneial nssers are subsequently méasured al amortized cost using the effective
interest rate (EIR) method. Amortzed cost is caloulated by tuking into account any discount o premiam on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization 15 included in other income
i the statement of profit and loss. The losses ariging from impairment are recognized in the stitlement of profit
and Toss. This category includes cash and bank balances, loans, unbilled revenue, trade and other receivables,

Financial assets at Fair Vale through Other Comprehensive [ncome {(*FYTOCT)

A financinl natrament is classified and measured ot fair vatue through OCT if both of the Tollowing criteniu are
miet:

al The objective of the business model is achicved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
fimiencial assets, and

h) The asset’s cantractunl cash Mows represent solely paymenis of principal and mterest,

Financial instruments included within the OCT category are measured initially as well as at each reporting date at
fuir value. Fair value movements are recognized in OCL On derecognition of the asset, cumulative gam or loss
previousty recognized in OCT is reclassified trom OCT to statement of proficand loss

Financiul wssets at Fair Vale through Profit and Loss (*FYTPL')

Any tinancial instrument, which does not meet the critena for categorization at amortized cost or at fair valoe
threugh other comprchensive income, 15 classified at fair value through profit s loss, Finanginl instruments
included in the fair value through profit and loss category are measured al foir value with all changes recognized
in il starement of profin and less,

Equity investments

The Company recognises iis investment in subsidinries, mssociates and Joint ventures ol cost less any unpairment
losses. The said investments are stod for impairment whenever circumstances indicate that their carrying values
miy exceed the reooverable ameunt (viz. higher of the fiur value less costs 1o gell nndd the value-in-use). A call
option over shares in an acquired subsidiary is initially recognised as a financial asset al its fair value, with mmy
subsequent changes in the fmr value of the option recognised in profit or loss. Where a call option is exercised, the
financial asset (or financial liability) is derecognised with an adjustment to the cost of investinent of purchasmg
the shares subject to the option.

All equiry investments in scope of Ind AS 109 are measured at fair value. Equity instruments which. are held for

trading are classificd as at FYTPL, For all nther equity instrunents, the Company may miake an irrevocable eleation

o presen! in other comprebensive income subseguent changes in the Tair value. The Company makes such election

ot an istrument-by-insirement basis, The classification is made on initial recognition and is inevoeable. _
1

If the Company decides 1o clussify an equity instrument #s &t FYTOCL then all fair value changes on the -

instrument, exchuding dividends, are recognized in the OC], There is no recycling of the amounts from OCEy

P&L. even on sale of investment. 1! (o

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are messured at fair value with all changes recognized in
the statement of profit & low.

Derecagnition of fimancial nssers

A fimanclal asset is primarily derecognized when the rights to veceive cash flows from the asset have -r B o
the Compiny hes ransferred its rights to receive cash Nows from the asset. 1= |
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Imipairment of Nnnocial assets

The Company recogmizes Ioss allowances using the expected credit loss (ECL } model for the financial wsseis which
are not fair valued through profit and loss. Lifetime ECL allowance is vecognized for trade receivables with no
significant financing eomponent. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses &re measored At &n Emonnt
equil to the [ 2-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in eredit risk from inftial recognicion in
which case they are measured at Efotime ECL, The amounl of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required
l&» aljust the loss allowance at the reporting date is recognized in the statement of profit ond loss,

The Company follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trads receivables, Thie
application of simplified approach does not requite the company o rack changes in credit risk. Rather, it
recognizes impoinment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs ut each reporting date, sight from its initisl
PeCOpnitom.

i) Financial Bnbilities
Imitiel recognition und measurenent

All financial labilities are recognized Inbtially al fir value, The Company's finencizl lisbilities include trade
pavables and other pavables,

Bubsequent messurement

After nitial recognition, financial liabilies are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
miterest rate {EIR} method, Gains und losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss when the Habilities
are derecognized as well as through the ETR amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculited by taking into aceount any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs Ot
are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is icluded as finance costs in the statement of profit ind
loss.

Financiel liahilities at fnir value thraugh profit or loss

Financial lizhifities at fair value throngh profit or loss include Compulsory Convertible Cumulative preference
(CCPS) shares for which gain or loss is routed through peofit or Toss. For more details on COPS, refer 1o Note 16,

Financial Behilities st amaortised cost

Adier initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings ase subsequently measured at smortised eost ising
the EIR methed, Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well a2
throngh the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is caleulated by taking o aceount sy discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or eogts that are on integral part of the EIR, The EIR amortisation is included as fnance
costs in the statement of profit and fogs.

This category generally applics to borrowings. For more infonuation rofier Note 15,

Deracopnition

A financial hability is derecognized when the obligation under the Hability i discharged or cancelled or expives,

CMizetting of nancial instromenis

Financial assets and fnancial lishilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance shget if there 15,0
currently entorecable legal right o offset the recognised amounts und there is an intention 10 setile on o mat hatdy.
to realise the assers and settle the ligbilities simultaneously.
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210 Revenue from conteset with customers

Revenue from conteacts with customers is recognised when control ef the gouds or services arce transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration ta which the Company expects 1o be entitled in exchange
for thiose gonds Or Services,

Revenue is recognised 1o the exient that it is probable that economic benefits will flew Lo the Company end
revenue con he reliably measured. Revenue is measured af the fair valoe of consideration recetved or receivable,
tiking im0 aceount contracmually defined temng of payment and excluding taxes and duty.

The Company assesses its revesue arrngement agoinst specific eriteria m order to determme if it is acting as
principal or agent. The Company has concluded that it is acting as agent in case of sale of Adrline tickets, Train
tickeis and Bos tickets as the supplier is primarily responsible for providing the underlying truvel services and the
Company does not contral the service provided by the supplier 1o the traveller. Traveller w also referred as end
1EREF,

Inepme from services
A, Tokeyng revenue
Convenience fees from reservation of mil tickets, nirlines tickes and bus tickets is recognized on tamed basis, as

the Company does not assume any performance obligation post the confirmation of the issuance of the tcket 1o
thiz customer.

Comnmission income carned from air ticketing and bus ticketing services i recognized on a net busis as an agent
on the date of completion of performance obligation by the Company which is date of issupnce of Ticket in case of
sabe of mirline/bus tickets,

Revenue from free cuncellations option given 1o the aveller is recognized on actual cancellabions. Amounts paid
to the taveller as benefit are included under cusiomer refunds in other expenses.

The Company has measured the revenue in respect of its performance obligation of 2 contract at its standalone
selling price. The price that is regutarly charged for an item when sold separately is the best evidence of its
siandalone selling price.

The speeific recognition criteria desenbed below is also considered before revenue is Tecognised,

Cost incarred on ticketing revenue from third party i recorded as distribulion cost

B ddvernsement Services

The revenue from the advertising services rendered is recognized when the services have been rendered, the price
is fixed or determinable aud collectubility is reasonably assured.

Advertisement Referml - Revenue is derived primarily from click-through fees charged to travel partners for
traveller leads sent o the travel partner’s website, In cerfain coniracts revenye is recognized on actual bookings
mide on travel pariner’s website by the waveller for leads referred by the Company. b

Advertizement Revenue - Display advertising revenue is recognized rateably over the advertising period or upen
delivery of adventising impressions, depending on the terins of the advertising contract. I "
C dmcoee from fcifalion

Revenue earmed for facilitating website aceess to travel insurance companies are being recagnized us the sery i
are being porformed.
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income from lechnicel suppost feeis recognized on sccrun] basis s services sre rendered o per the terms specificd
i the service conitacis,

Revenue is recognized net of sllowances for cancellations, refunds during the period and taxes.

Revenue is allocated between the loyalty program and the other components of the sale. The amount allocaied to
the loyalty program is deferred and Is recognized as revenue when the Company fulfils its ohligationg to supply
the products/sorvices under the tems of the program.

The company alzo incurs customer inducement and sequisition costs for gequiring customers and promoting
transections across various booking platforms such as upfront cash incentives which were incurred are recorded o=
a reduction frony revente,

Interest Income

For ill debt instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using the cffective interest cate
(E1R). Other interest ineome is recogntzed on a time proportion basis taking into sccount the amount Dutsisnding
and the interest rate applicable.

Contrect balnnces

Contract assets

A contract assel is the right to consideration in exchange for poods ot services fransferred 1o the customer, 1f the
Company performs by transferring geods or services o a customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment i3 due, a contract asset i recognised for the carned consideration that i2 conditional,

Trade Receivables

A receivable represents the Company s mght to an ameunt of consideration that is unconditional {i.e,, enly the
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due), Refer to accounting policies of finaneial
assels in section (2.9 Finangial inairurments,

Contract linbilitles

A contract lighility is the obligation to transfer goods or serviees to s customer for which the Company has recerved
consideration (or an amount of consideration is doe) from the customer. IT & customer pays consideration hefore
the Company trunsfers goods of services to the customer, & contract liability is recognised when Use payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract linbilitics are recognized as revenue when the Compsny
performs undér the contracl.

Refund liskitities

A refund liability is recognised for the oblization to refund some or all of the consideration received from the
waveller. The Company s refund lHabilities orise from raveller right of retim. The Company spdates its estimates
of tefund labilitics (and the comesponding change m the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

211 Forcign currencies

The financial sutements are presented in Indian Rupees which is the functionn] and presentational currency of the
Company,

Transactions in foreign cunencies are initinlly vecorded in the relevent functional curvency s the rates prevailing
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liahilities denominated in foreign currencies are tanstated mto
the functional curvency at the ¢losing exchange rute prevailing 4 at the reporting date with themenliing foreign
exchange differences, on subsequent restotement! setthement, recommized in the statement of profic and loss within
other expenses! other income.
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2.12 Employee benefits (Retivement & Other Employee bencfits)

Retirernent benafit in the form of Provident Fund is o defined contribution scheme and the Compady has no
obligation, other than the contribution payable to the provident fund. The Company recognizes contribution
payable to the provident fund scheme as an expendimre, when an employee renders the related service. 1F the
contribution payable o the scheme for service received before the balince shect date exceeds the contribution
already paid, the deficit payahle to the scheme is recognized us a liability afier deducting the contribution already

pard,

The Company operates definad benefit plan for its employees, viz,, gratuity. The costs of providing benefits undes
the plun are determined on the basis of actwarial valuation gt each year-end. Actuarial valustion 12 cirried out Tor
using the projected unit credit method. In accordance with the local laws and regulations, all the employees in
Indlia are entitied for the Granuity plan. The said plan requires a lump-sum payment to eligible employees {meeting
the sequrized vesting service condition) at retirement or termination of gmployment, based on & pre-defined formula.
The obligation towards the suid benetits is recognised in the balance sheet, at the present value of the defined
henefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets (being the funded portion). The present value of the said
ohligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash oulflows, using interest rates of govemment
honds. Thie interest fncome | (expense) are caleulated by apphying the above-mentioned discount rate to the plan
asscts and defined benefit obligations lisbility. The net inferest vcome | (expense) on the net delined benefit
liahility is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. However, the related re-measurements of the net defined
benefit liahility are recognised divectly in the other comprehensive income in the peried it which they arise, The
said re-measurements comprise of actuarial gains and losses (arising from experience adjustments and changes in
actaarial assumptions), the retum on plan assets {excluding mierest), Re-measuremants are not re-classified o the
statement of profit and loss in any of the subsequent pediods.

Aceomulated beave, which is expected 1o be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as shori-term employee
benefit. The Company measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that it expects to pay
a5 a result of the unused entitlement that has aceumulated at the reporting date.

The Company treats accumulated leave expected o be camed forward beyond twelve months, as long-tesmn
employes benefit for measurement purposes, Such long-term compensated absences are provided for based on the
actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method at the year-end. Actuarial gains/losses are immediately
taken to the statement of profit and loss and are not deferred,

The Company presents the leave ns a current liability in the balance sheet, to the extent it does not have an
unconditional right to defer its settlement for 12 months after the reporting date, Where Company bas the
unconditional legal and contractual right o defer the settlement for a peried beyond 12 months, the same is
presented as non-curvent liability.

213 Share-bascd payments

Employees {incliding senior executives) of the company receive remuneration in the fonn of share based payment <«
\ransactions, whereby emplovees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-seifled
transaciions), |

The cost of equity-seitled trmsactions is determined by the fidr value ot the date when the grant is made uz‘in:g un
appropriate valuation model. Further details gre given i Mote 37.

That cost is recognised, fogether with a cormesponding increase in share-based payment (SBP) reserves in equity,
aver the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled m employee benefits expense, The
cumulative expense recognsed for eguity-setiled transacsions st each reporting date witil the vesting date rellog -_'_".-
the exsent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best estimate of the number of effs
i £ iJ| ultirnately veste T credit in the ststerment of profit and loss for i reprehe
Annual FBETPSY 3l il ves. The xpens e i il
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tie movermant in eumulative expense recognised &8 ol the beginning and end af that period end 15 mcogaised in
employee bencfit: expense.

Service and son-market pecformance conditiong are not taken inte account. wlisn desmining the grant dote Fair
value of awards, but the likeiihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Company’s best estimate
ol the number of equity instruoments that will ultimstely vest. Market performunce conditions are reliected within
the grant date fair viloe. Any other conditions attachied to an award, bat without an associated service requirement,
nre considered fo be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
bead to wn immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or pesformence eonditions.

Mo expense is recognised for awards that do not uitimately vest becanse nos-markel performence and/or service
conditions have not been met. Where awards include o market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated
a5 vested imespective of whether the markel or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided thar ol other
performunce ond/or service conditions are satisfied,

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair
value of the yamodified pward, provided the original vesting tenms of the award are met. An additional TXpensa,
measaired a5 ai the date of modification. is recognised for any modification that increases the wial fair vatue of the
share-based payment transsction, or i otherwise beneficial to the emplovee. Where an award is cancelled by the
emtity ar by the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately through
profit or loss.

The dilative effect of outstanding options is reflected a5 additionzl share dilution in the computation of diluted
garnings per share.

2.14 Income taxes

The income tax expense comprises of current and deferred imcome tax. Income tax 3 fecognised in the statement
of profit and logs, except to the extent that it relates o items recognised in the other roitprehensive Incomne o
drectly in equity, in which cose the related income tax is also recognised nccordingly.

. Current fox
The current tax is caleulated on the basis of the tax rates, lnws and regulations, which have been enseied or
substantively enacted as ot the reporting daic. The payment made in excess / (shortfall) of the Company's
meome tax obligation for the period are recognised in the bolance sheet a8 current income tax pssets |
habilities. Any interest, related to sccraed liabilities for potential tax asscssments ars not included in Income
tax charge or (eredit), bur aze mther recognised within Nnance costs,

Current income tax assets and lmbilitics are off-set against gach other and the resultant net ssount i presented
i Lhe balance sheet, il and only whens, (8) the Company corrently has o legally enforceable righl lo sct-off
the current income tax assets and liabilities, and (b) when it relates to income tax levied by the same tnxation
authority and where there is an intention o setile the current income tax balances on net basis.

The Company periedically evaluates positions taken in the tax returis with respect to situations @ which
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where apspropnate on the
bassis of nmounts expected 10 be paid w the lax anthorities,

b. Deforred tax
Deferred bax is recognised, using the lability method, on temporary differences arising betwesn the tnx bases
of essets and lishililies and their carrying velues in the financial statements.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only 1o the extent that it is probable that future tassble profit will be
aveilable agains which the femporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for oll deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of dnesed fix
credits and any unised tan losses. Deferred tax ussets are recognised o the extent thal it is prabobie at
taxable profit will be available againss which the deduciible remporary differences. and the carry forwund of
unised fax credit and unused tax losses can be uftilised, RSB,
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The earrying smount of deferred (ax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extant that
it {4 ne longer probable that sufficient tacable profic will be available o allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset 10 be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax asscts are re-assessed ol each reporting date and are recogmised
to the extent that it has become probable thai future txable profits will allow the deferred tax asset 1© be
recovered.

Dieferred tax esscts and liabilities are mepsured al the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
aksel is realised or the liability is setfled, based on tux rates (nd tax laws) that hove been enagted or
sulstantively enacted ot the reporting date.

2.15 Earnings per share

Basic eamingt per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the penod atirbotble 1o cquity
shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the persod. The weighted average
namber of cquity shares culstanding during the period is adjusted for events such as honus issue, bonus element in
a rights issuc, share split, and reverse share split (consalidativn of shares) that have changed the number of equity
ghares outstanding, withou! & corresponding change in resources.

For the purpose of caleulating diluted cemings per shave, the nat profit or loss for the period atmburable to equity
sharchalders and the weighted average numbser of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted For the effects
of all dilutive potential ¢quity shres.

216 Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event, it 15 probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be regquired to settie the obligation and a reliable
estimate cun be made of the amount of the obligation, Provisions are not discounted 1o their present value if the
effect of time value of money is not material and are determined based on the best estimate required to settle the
obligation at the reporting date. These estimates are reviewed at each veporting date and adjusted 1o retleet the
current best estimates.

Where the Company expects sorme or all of a provision to be reunbarsed, fir example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognized &5 @ separate assel but only when the reimbursement is virtually certam. The
expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit and loss nct of any reimbursement,

2.17 Contingent liabilitics

A disclosure for & contingend liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may,
bt probably will not, reguire an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or o present abligation
in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote. no provision of disclosure is made. The
Company does nol recognize a contingent lability but discloses its existence in financial statements,

218 Cash nad cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an origingl materity of
three months or less (that are readily convertible 1o known amounts of cash and cash equivalents snd subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value) and funds in transit. However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows,
i addition to above items, any bank overdrafts / cash credits thar are integral part of the Company's cash
management, are also includad a5 a component of cash and cash equivaleats.

2.19 Sepment reporiing pilicies

Identification of segments — Operating segments are reporied in & mannes consistent with the imtemal reports
Annual I__Ecréablgﬂj Edjyﬁ%‘.ﬁl‘ﬂpnﬂﬂhg Decision Maker (CODM). Only those business activities ane tdentified as operati
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segment for which the operating results gro régularly reviewed by the CODM o muke deckiions about resouroe
allgcation and performance measurement. For detnls Befer Mote 34

3. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The estimates used in the preparation of the said financial slatements are continuously evaluated by the Company
and wre based on historical experience and variows other assumptions and fectors {including expeciations of furare
evenis), thaf the Company belicves to be reasonable under the existing circumsiances, The said estimates are based
on the fcts and events, that existed g at the reporting date, or that oecurred after that darz but provide additianal
evidence sbout conditions existing as ol the veporting date. Although the Company regularly sssessed these
estimates, sctual results could differ materially from fhese estimates - cven i the assumptions underlying such
estintates were reasonable whan made, if these results differ from historical experience or other assumpnons de
net furn out o be substantiatly accurate. The changes in estimates are recognized in the finuncial siatemenis i the
period in which they become kiown.

The key assumptions conceming the future and ather key sources of estimation ungerteinty at the reporting dare,
that have a significant rigk of causimg @ material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and fiabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. Actual resulis could differ from these estimaies.

a.  Falr value of uancial instruments
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balanee sheet cannot be measurad
based on queted prces in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques including the
present valuation technique. The inputs to these models are taken from ohservable markets where possible, but
where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement s required in cstahlishing fair values, Judgements include
considerations of mputs such as liguidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. For details, refer to note 38,

b, Tases
Dieferred tax assets are recognised for wnused tax losses o the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
avilable agamst which the losses can be utilised. Significont management judgement is required 1o detesmine the
amdunt of deferred lax nssets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of furure txable
profits together with fimire mx planning strotegios.

o Allowance for uncellectible trade receivables and advances (Refor Node 10)
Teade receivables do nol carry uny interest ond are stated at their nominal value as reduced by sppropriate
allowances for estimaied irrecoverable amounts. Eslimated imecoverable omounts ere based on the ageing of the
receiviable balances and historical experience. Additenally, » lange number of minor receivables is grouped ini
lomogeneows groups and assessed for impairment collectively, Individual rrade receivables are written oft when
imanagement deems them not to be collecrible are provided in note 10

d.  Defined benefit plins
The costs of post retirement benefit obligation under the Gramity plan are detenmined using achearial valuatione
An setuarial valuation invalves making various assumplions that may differ from actual developmenis in the finre
These nclude the determinetion of the discount rate, finire salary increase, monality rates and futmre pension
increases, Due to the complexities involved In the valuatbon and its long term nature, & defined henefit obligation
15 highly sengitive to chiunges in these assumptions. ARl assumnptions are revicwed at cach reporting date, For deuiils,
refer 10 note 31,

g Contingencies
The management judgement of contingencies is based on the internul assessments and opinion from e congsulbms
fiar pogsible outflow of resources. if any, i
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3.1 Standord! Amendinents Dsoed

The Minisiry of Corporate A Mairs (MCA) vide Notification dated June 18, 2021 notified the new Companies
{Indian Accounting Stundards) Amendment Rules, 2021, The notification hos made amendments to various Ind
A8 Some of the Key amendments are:

i) Ind AS=116 Leuges
The peactical expedient relating 10 rent concessions arising as a resull of COVID-19 allowed lessees 1o
ned consider COVID-19 related rent eoncessions to be lease modification provided the lease payments
were originally due on or before 30 June 2021, The relief provided by the practical expedient has now
been extended dmd is applicable for all lease payments originally dve on or before June 30, 2022. The said
amendment is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after | April 2021, The impact of
this amendment has been considered in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements,

({1} Tnd AS =103 Business combination

The amendment states that to qualify for recognition as part of applying the ascquisition method, the
identifiable asscts acquived and Habilities assumed must meet the definitions of asscts and liabilities in
(e Framework for the Prepamtion and Pregentation of Finoncial Statements in accordance with: Tndidn
Accounting Standards issued by the Instimte of Chartered Accountants of [ndia at the acquisition date.
Therefore, the aeguirer does not recognise those costs as part of applyving the acquisition method. Instead,
the ieyuirer recognises those costs in its posi-combimation financial ststements in aceordance with other
Ind AS. These amendmenits has no impait on the fancial statements of the company.

(i) Amendment 10 [nd AS =105, Ind -AS 16 and Ind-AS 28§
The defindtion of “Recoverable amount™ is amended sueh ths the words “the higher of an asseCs fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use™ are replaced with “lngher of an asset”s fair valoe less costs of
disposal and its value in use”, The consequential amendments are made in Ind AS 105, Ind AS 16 and
Ind AS 28. This amendment fias o impact oa the fnancial statements of the company.

fiv} Interest Rute Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
Thig amendment relates to ‘Interest Rate Benclimads Beform — Phase 2 {Amendments to Ind AS 104,
Ind AS 107, Ind AS 108 and Ind AS | 16 which addresses issues that might affect financial reporting
afier the refonm of an interest rate benclunark, incleding its replacement with alternative benchmark
rates. Some of the kev amendments arising from the interest rate benchmark are:

& Ind AS 10% New goidance has been incloded on changes in the basis for determinmg the
conmactual cashilows as o result of interest mie benclmark reform. An entity should apply the
amendments for anmual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

b, Imd AS 107 Additional disclosures relmed to nature and extant of risks to which the entity is
exposed arising from finsncial instrisments subject to interest rie benchmark reform and how the
entity manoges these nsks,

¢, An entity should apply the amendments when it applics amendments e Ind AS 109, Ind AS 104
ar Ind AS 116, The adoption of the amendments did not have any material impact on its finaneial
slaternemnis,

Amendmients to Ind AS Consequential to Conceptual Framework under Ind A5

The smendments refating to Ind AS 102, Share-based Payment; lnd AS 103, Business Combinations; Ind

AS 106, Explosation for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; Ind A8 1 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts;

Ind AS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements; Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, Chenges m Accoanting

Estimates and Ermmors; Ind AS 34, [nterim Financiol Reporting: Ind AS 37, Provisions, Contimgent
120D kiR 2nd Contingent Asseis; Ind AS 38 Intangible Assets, ure consequential due 1o changes in fRgge | 149
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Concepnunl Framework under Ind AS, made in Asgust 2020, The revised Conceptunl Fromework
inirodiuced some new concepis und clarifications along with revision in definilions and changes i
recognition eriterin of assets and liabilities under Ind AS, The company does not expect the conseguential
ormcdments 4o have any significant fmpect i iz consolidaied Ind Financial Statemenis.

The company has considered the amendments 10 Schedule T of the Companices Act 2003 nogified by
Mimstry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA™) via notification dated 24 March 2021 i the restated nd AS
consolidaed Sutnmary Statements disclosures, whercver applicabile.

Stnbement of profit and loss:

Additional disclosares relating to Corporate Social Responsibility {CSR 1. undisclosed income and
rypto or virual currency specified under the head ‘ndditional mformation’ in the notes forming part of
standalone financial staiements,

The Company will evaluate the same to give effect io them as required by law,

3.2 Standsird Bawed but oot yver effective

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified the following amendments to Ind AS which are effective from April
01, 2022, Amendments applicable fo the Company:

(i) Onerous Costracts < Costs of Fulfilling 2 Contract - Amendments to Ind AR 37

The amendments to Ind AS 37 specily which costs an entity needs o include when assessing whatlier a
contract 1s oncrous of loss-making, The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach™. The costs
that relate directly to a contract o provide goods or services inclode both incremental costs and an
allocation of costs directly refated to contract activities. General and adminisirative costs do not relale
directly to o contract and are éxcluded unless they are explicithy chargeable to the countesparty under the
conrast.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods boginning on or after 1 Aprl 2022, The
Company is currently assessimg the impact of the amendments o determine the impact they will have on
the Company's accounting policy disclosures,

(i} Reference to the Concepronl Framework - Amendments to Ind AS 103

The amendments replaced the reference to the ICAT's “Frameéwork for the Preparation ond Presentation
of Financial Statements under indian Accounting Standards” with the reference to the “Conecptual
Framework for Finnancial Reporting under Indian Acoounting Standard™ without significantly changing
its fegquiraments,

The smendments nlso sdded an exception o the recognition principle of Ind AS 103 Business
Combinations {0 avold the issue of potentin] ‘day 3° gains or losses arising for lisbilities and contingent
lrabilities that would be within the scope of [nd AR 37 Provisions, Comtingent Lishilides and Contingent
Assets o Appendix C to Ind AS 37 Levies, if incarred separately,

It has also been clirified that the existing guidanee in Ind AS 103 for contingent asseds would not be
affected by replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Stnteimvents under Indian Accounting Standands,

The arrendments are effective for annual reporting pertods beginning on or after 1 April 2022, The
amerdinents are not expected to have & material impact on the Company,

{iii) Property, Plant nnd Eguipment: Proceeds before lotended Use - Amendments to Ind AS 16

The amendments modified paragraph 17(e) of Ind AS 16 to clarify that excess of net sale proceeds of
items-produced over the cost of teating, if any, shall not be recognised in the profit or Ioss but deducied
from the directly attributable costs considered as pert of cost of un iem of propesty, plant, and equipment
The amendments are effective for annmunl reporting periods beginning on or afier | April 2022, The
amendments are 0ot expected to hive o material impact on the Company.
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4 Fraperty, plant ond eqalpment

Computers (Hifice equipments FIH'IIE HIIH"“ Troetml

Carst
AS af April B1, 2020 T3 L bt Buld
Addifions | iHp s - 1.5
Digpodals i35 - - (L35])
A at Mureh 31, 2021 TG 130 4% 74
Additions 1530 k72 - 18.0]
Apquistzon of Anhibes business lropgh BTA {Refer ol 41) A5 ITRL i 76
Digpusals - .14 LR = {0.28)
As &L March 31, 2022 98T 1.08 "‘LE ]9,13_
Iheprecintion and impairment
As at April 01, 2020 .78 - iz 335
Depréciation chorge for the wear 2 152 033 L 20
On dispisals (26} . - {026}
Ag-at Mareh 31, 2021 204 IL.AD .24 A5
Deprectatian charge fir the year 732 32 1.4 7.5l
O disposals i13] {013} - (.25}
&g af Mureh 31, 1022 1213 140 .24 1340

—— —————
Met earrying value
As al March 31, 2022 14.64 {198 .32 15.53
As af lurch 31, 2021 1.9 .50 2% AT
Motes:

(1} During the yeor ended March 31 2022 1l Company has issued 14,5% Serice B Debentures dmoonting INR 50 millions (March 31, 3821 ihe Cmpany lad
isued 15% Series A Debenturs smaunting to IMR 150 Millicns | against which it has pledged all its property, plamt and oquipenent. Reler ot 16 (i),

[0 puce by heen imearanally Leff okl
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& lovestmemnts

A st s it

Marel 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

A, Non-carrent
(i} Investment in equity shares/debeniure, usgquoded (ol mportised cast)

lnvestment in squity ghores
luvestment In subsbdiaries
113,208 (March 30, 2021 ; 71,351 ) Investment i equity shares of Confinm Ticket Onling B1LET 139,59
Falations Private Limited (refer noke 449
Dreermed Investment m Confirm Tickes Onlive Soludons Privae Limired (Refor Mote 333 4 84 a7
A0 (March 31, 2021 5 Wi} Investment in sgquity shores of Ixigo Borope, 5.1, 26 -
Totul BI7.68 240,26

24000 (hiarch 3, 2031 249,998 fppestment in Travenues Innovations Private Limiced of [MRE Bl (March 31, 2021 ¢ Mil) hove been

rmpasreed durmg the financial year ended March 31, 2020,

(ik) Tovestment in shaves, usguoted {af Tair volue throogh profil and loss)
luvestment in egaity shares - others

| {harch 31, 2021 - |} equity shares of Rs. [0 cach fully paid-up o Gogo Mability 0.02 0,02
Privote Limited
Tnveatment in preference shares « others
213 (March 31, 2021 : 213) preference shares of Rs, 100 each fully prid-ug in Gopo 342 141
blohility Private Limited
Investmaent i Debentures
21600 (March 31, 2021 : Nil) Fully compulzorily convertible debentures of Rs 100 each .16 £
fully paid in Goga Mability Private Limied
Total 560 143
Tstnl {A) 623.29 43655
it Current

{1) Iovestment in muotual fands, quoted {3t falr value throogh proflt and loss)
D413.19 (Murch 31, 202 1; 341319 ) units of Axis Liquid Fund Direct Plan Growly* 222% 21.51
415173023 (March 31, 2021 Wil 3 umits of” Adityn Birla Sun Life Savings Fund Direct I #4858 &
Plan Grgrorih
42425 44 (dlopch 31, 2027: Mil) wug ol Acos Banking and PSU Delt Pund Diveot Plag L
Girawili
[6F50,07 (Morch 31,202 |: Mil} units o’ Axis Tressury Advantpze Fund Drireet Plon 43,80
Growih
21240.83 {Maorch 31, 2021 Ml = B} es off lnveseo Indis Mooy Modier Fund Direcs 54.07
Plan Growth
Total (B) 397.49 1151
Tudal [A+H) 121,18 IS

* Inwestimen with & carmying nmound of iIME 2235 (March 31, 2021 : IME 2151} ore subject o first clarge 1o decure the Company's bank

overidrait.

Agirepaie book valioe of guoied invesimenis

Aggrepate markel value of quoted investmenis (réfer ooiz 38)
Agpresaie value of unguatad mvestaients

Agpregate amwant of imparrment in value of investments
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397,89
397,89
e Rl

(250

21.51
X1.51
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Le Travennes Tichoology Limmited { Formerly Knovwn as " Le Travenues Technology Frivale Liodted ™)
Motes 1o Standalons lnanclal siniements for the vear ended Muorch 37, 2022
(AL pmeoumis iy TNE mitlions, unkess atherpise staied)

T Nos-current tox nssed {Mef}

As af As gi
March 31, 2022 Mimrch 31, 2021
Mon-corvent tmx asset (Met) B4 7310
Total Aldn TR0
B Oiher Ninancial sels
Agat An ot
Mareh 31, 2022 Mareh 31, 3021

s e S s Sant L SR
A, Mon-curren!

Unsecored - considered good

Security depasits 11.39 a.H
Teirn deposits with more than 12 months maturity® 3204 :
Total (A) 64,39 501
*These deposits mefudes lien marked bank deposits of INR 52.00 (March 31 2021 - INR Nil) apainst bank poarsnice issued to
CLETmET.

B. Curremnd

Unsecored - considered good

Inderest acomed

- 0 fined deposits 555 0.34
Becunty deposits 03z .
Drerivative Asseie®™ (Rafor Note 40 (¢)) 45 -
Other receivables® Ti02 3.96
Taotal (B) 100,34 4.30

*Includes share issue expenses amounting 1o [NR 48,040 (March 31, 2021: Mil) which tn the event of successful [P0, is recovernble
from the selling sharcholders in tee proportion of shares offeved for sale for the proposed 11O {Refer Mote 43}

% (Other curreni asscts

Asat Ad at

March 31, 2013 Muoreh 30, 2021
Unseeured-considered gpood
Prepaid expenses {Refer Moie 433 Ti35 T4 13
Advance to sappliers 391,13 34.16
Balonge with govemment authonties 31.73 -
Defered cos 4,30 o587
Advance o emplovess 13,41 0.26
Tata) 490,16 49.20

FIhix spoce has beew infentionally left blank)
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L Trerianes Technoiney Eimited { Formeedy Keon s " Le Trovenued Techosioey Privale Limiced" )
Mades 10 Bizaadulode fipsackl staiesarts Tor the renr soded Marck 31, 2032
Al i b R o, enkess ethereie stosd|

13 Bty Sheerd Cuplind

) Awlhnrisws! sare rapliol

Ad gt Ao al
lorcic 36, KD Menech B, BEEE

430,000,000 {Maeeh 31, J0TL: 1000000 Bty ahares o0 MK | gk ASDn [RC1]
FOLGEM, DA [Pelare®h 10, 202 1% 00,0001} Preference alkires o INE 5 cach SO .00
111 38

.

Ternw' righiy alched B oypuicy sliaees;

T Couspary. bees urdy ooz chass nleguity thares. having o por vale ol IR | por dhore. Enel sheisliolie b elgilie o e voee por iy paid aquily disie Behil. The deidend
proptssed, i By, by e Boand of Dieseions i@ auljest ko approval of deoehishlers an iha enssitg Ansial Ceser| Modling el in case of aienm dividind The pipasman
il eqoiy sl eapilal in the evenl of lgadssnn and buy back of siares 15 possible sehject o prevdem repdlations, B the evem of liguidsinn pormaly the sqeiny
sharehoiders wre dighe in roconve the remainmg e of the Compoy alier dismbabhm ol all prelerential amomin, i peopomion i @er sharshokiing.

by Tamisedl, msieritiad e Dy (1id-up shore espital

ST, 00 (hiaeh 31, 2020 431290 Eguity shares of T9H 1 eseh I 75 L4h
36878 (LA
g} Endbrnmisdy deliroy dquity in meees
Pl (Wlarch R0, A0 & 7306 1% commisanly cosvariihke oomdlanive poefsencn thare: . 30,71
Gunhes Al TR S mach
il {larch D1, 3020 0 220000 00T compulssrRy comvemidle comuaive prefermes - 1, 72554

wheinizs Hevies B al |MNER 5 cach

{d} Terms amll righis obizched to Cempuisorily omveriible preberasoes sl nsd
Fratimesia sharcs <Hafl cary u prolerentsl righl wifth et = () pryseni of ilividend mal (v) repaymend, m b case of @ winding g or repsrmeni of Gipis

Tho voling rights of profercace dan: lalde oo cvery seclinon ploced Beloee the G aball o e exed permisdhls muder o, Be i prepotisn 1 ihe a2 capinl of e
caiuiny e (ke sl held by wich dargbolder rgrrasant an n pee paesu Sl onoan o8 F eomvoricd beeis

T reti of comersion T § preforesce shars i ety share & deiermined in bevesio dypeeaments
Dt (e veur Wi boand of disectund of e Compamy o s mootieg kol oo I 86, 7031 ssned 752 Conpulserity Utnvartibk Profomnm Shees (“CCFPR) Serias 12 mid
o Juby 36, 01 fevsnd Serips © 26858 CCTS and Serkas 1 38,574 CCPS an prvato plagessen ! proferencal aloimes hasis,

The sers o Bie profereies sl wens

{ip Comgruleeriy comverdible commuleiive prefereree sharas Series A - (Series A CCTS)
Compulescily' convertisle comelative prefmence saenes serics A af (R 3 cach ar snmpelsily convertible isin gty stares m any tine spoa he s of (§) $e aspry af
149 yaars o the e ol isssanec or (i} in comeoatien wiih an EMI; prtor o e fling of & red berreg prospocis with te repbaar of contuinies.. Serles A OOPS shall eamy
o e -dotdminil susnddres dividend ros oF (1, 1% per agtiam & such mie as prid & e Bolées of Bauity Shares @ excess o 3 7% porammn.

(il Commulserly eomveriihle camulaibve proferenss sharas Serics B - (Serivn B CCPS)
Cumpiilamily comecrtlale cumulalive prafisence sharos sevics ol INE 5 suchus sompstsmly comioriibis o ity sharas a1 o e s ihe saddier o (i} oo day prisy
1 ih ey i 20 vers from o daio of alletmens: or (i) mocomodion sdilom 10, prioe n o (leg of 2 ed boring prospeeies « &% the repsir of conpanies. Bores B
CCPE shall ey 0 mumineum prefoezial dividend mic of 07000 % per woam o suzh i os paid 1 the nldors of shanes of all other lavees (inchsling Equisy Ssares) or
scries il 8 prw rata, ak if converind hasie

Irvh Comproiseriy comveriible camulative preference shiares Sercs Bl & Serigs B2 - (Seehes BE CCPY aed Series BI OCPE)
Campalsoinly comecruhle cumaibaiive mkwm*.mmlrd]ﬂl 5 caph are compslvorily comverdtie et cqnecy sheees al any Gme veom (he aarbier of {1 the eaping ol
19 yoars Thom e dete of maunee or (H) n etneaiin waly an TR0, peier 16 i Tliag of 3 rod Berstig prospestis wis e sagianir of seuponics, Sos Bl CCPS shall be
et e s cumeikribee dividend o[ 001% m peefitenee ol Eystly Shorrs

vk Cemgridueri®y enpuriible preloranse shires Seris T - {Rerits © CCPS)
Iy etmsenible profenoe sians serics O ol INR 8 siehane conguisany comversble min oquiy shies @ any Ume oy e enlicr of (7] one ey jiir b T
vapiryuf 1 wcars from $ic dew ol slotmend; or (i} m o comeetion ath an 1M, pror 5 e Wnig of 2 med bemng prospectus wilh e rogiviree ol crspance Bagly Sorex ©
CUTE wall he eristfiod 1o i comelaizee drvdend of G001 e proference of Equey Shares. Davilend stiall b padd as ol when @ is pagd and decksed by the Beanl

1¥ip Camipiilserdy comverilhle preference shiares Seris OF = (Serles C OCPS)
Compulsoeily eotvertible prefeace shoms swies Cl ol INR 3 cach e compubiorly comeenile isio equicy shares il any ome upon e cadier of il oar Say prior 10 e
enpiry off 20 veurs B tha doe of sl or () 16 cendeoiios sl an PO, prior oo the Mg ol & ol Teviog grospeeius with e soptran of oaipenies. Eaoh Seriga O
COPS shall be qnisilod in i ganreliss droibed SO0 9% mearmarmy in piefenescn of Bguny Shares il all ciher Preloenes Sreers,

i) In respent off Serres A and Senes B compulary eoavemihle preferenice diars, the preference slamdinlders. ol the Conmprny, in e ol e geeoment dated 2 Jamery 3007,

il gt v ol gy recpuieteg dhe Compiany o by becle shar Dl by e, Cin 5 July 2021, the sharsholilons sppronnd et by th iz of agrodmeal nonescnd
Uil nightx to seqeine Buy back by the Compeny elfecize tepion of Ue-Shoceholder ‘s Apresineni,
Considming Mie buwdack abligaiing of 1he Company, e prefemenes shunes, al ineeption. wepe reeovided s Daldling oo (o valee theoeph, profll aed loss. As o Apl |, 200%
i Tllarch 3 1, 20011 e Rk vubae ol bty amocned 5o Be 232560 aud R 2,028 35 seapeviively. Cirsequen U e deove anomdsen), e Oomsposy, on Al |, 3020 e
recbsilimd 1k lahiliey o eqety (mstnmient snttrely sty in sssrel el the dfferesce betuves the fir value of apry md. cerring valie of lebiley los been moerded m
Suipem of profil med st accouni

(&) S 31 DUPE, Series B2 CUPS, Sones © COPS and Setics ©1 O0FS prefenenos slmrei are meadaionily convertibie ke equity shams o loed miks These siares do ool
mzmmu@u.mﬂnﬂ-mrmummﬂhﬂumwuﬂrqma i,
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i) Durmig the yeor iy Boand of @neounn of S earaping o iy mievting heid on 2640 Cossher 321 apprned e coavenion of $5730 Serden & COPE fmo 238,070,400 equiiy
shiaris, 125,97 Senes B CCPS fma 51,790,400 equiry shares, 1503 Sedes B1 OOFS into 134,400 equity shaies, 752 Seriis B COCFS o 111600 suity shses, 26455
feries O CUPS i 10,743,200 equiy sheses & SRIM Serids ©F 0P oo E3,4630 600 ity shared

Aevoingly, ds 61 Mardh 31, W07 ihe iesinimesis emicedy cauity in saiims fove boos massfered i eguliy (Seoiiies Trosime (haier Soie 18 050k

dgl Dotells of shuretaliers koldines mey the 3% stinrey In e Compery
Ay Mgl

Margh 31, 3033 Fiimreli 31, 2020
Mumber of o haliling ln fumber of % baiiling L
e the cluse Enrer ehie lEis
Erpity sbares of INIL 1 ench Taily pain-m Beld b
SAUF Parmers Indle TV Liseed 8, E5,63,200 Ihs 211 4uR 1M
SCL dcsamenss, W 5,02,00,000 AR - e
Ciremnai Pio. Lid 365 5400 B L - 0100
Rajnish Bimor 32254800 LA GELIER 442
Mlrke Bajpa 305,562,000 k2T fid B 15 4a%
Mierumen Infhmmainies L 2047571 LT - 11T
Wlzkebdy Trip Lanked ] TEAIT A
i.1%, eeaipulserily converilide enmulafive prelerence
shares Beries Aol INR 5 cach held Iy
Bdiaroinan Infoesies: Limilgd . # AR 715 (..
801 %% compalsorily conver il conmdaiive
prefercac: dere Rerles B of [V 5 cack liekd by:
SC1 Bivcalneinie - - | 47 500 L Forat
Frstm ¥inesn Copilsl Pe Lid - - 7198 131
1.01%% campulseiy comerilile comslaibro
prelevence shares Serfes B ol TR 5 oach hiold byt
Trhfo<in Weneane Debil Fand - 1T = - 2455 P
ihi Share teseed for sthor Han Ol cansid=roiinn®
A al Amat BT Al
Merch 30, 2030 March 31, 1032 Mierch 31, 20F1  Masreh 31, 2021
" Nemsbar of Kumber of Ay
Shires Aormhdiinn Bharci

lgmiry Stese alldiiad an fally pald Bame ilses by 21.03,04 553 I -
capitalising Seouritics Promdim
fwmmmmce: pf ity sharcs pussimace w comesnsion ol 15,14, 70600 14748 - -

ARTHY Sorles A CCPS ine 20,070,400 wyuy shares,
220,076 Series B OCPS o AL 790,800 cqubty shares,
3505 Seris Bl OCPS it 334400 cquity shares, 751
Scrias B2 CLTS dain | | 1500 osity shans, 36838 Serics
£ CCPS into 10,243,200 oquiy sharos & 53,574 Serics
€1 CCPS i 13425600 ety abemes.

lmianee &f wpity shares loesd as. pap oof the 11,334 a2 - =
comidertion paid for saqusition of Alhitas hisneis

uinker Busicss Trareir semermonl

bonsimes of ity sheses s pert of ihe considarmunn pad 055 uo3

tor eoquind idditional ahiwechebding 1 Confiim Ticker
Cirdine Salathin Priveig Lisiicd

25— : :

*Thurirg e List firer priscteding roem, Conpany lud sid waued sharms sihier ilun Cash donsid mion

il Shores reserved B lssne ander apliom
For detidis of daees rewmved for so onder e Ssen: el Pryment Pl of die Crvsjusry, e npis 15,

b Shorelalding af prammlery
The Comnpariy # 3 pmibssinnaly mossged aimpay s doos aot have an dentifiabk: promoes i wms of e Sosieites s Fechanpe Booed of T (e of Capis] and
Thssfonim Benoiremiaish Rilulasiens 200 K ard the Companies it 2613

{Theii gpave hie hrvw (nimasenalfy Jeft ddamks
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Ls

Travenoes Technadopy Linalied [ Fermery Koown as ¥ Le Travenoes Teshnedopy Privaio Lisiiea=)

Hedes o Btnnsdabear Mnonecal satements for the yoer ended Maveh 31, 32022
(Al amounis & [MB oillkoes, unless oiherwise simed)

4 Ol ety

) Hotnhnid exrubngs

Auwt Apell 01, 7010
Fralin fur the yoa

Ciber compredenisive teame Tir fhe sear

Tramgler i Debemure Redomplion Reserve

Transfer from exmphvee seck oplions cutalanding scoomam on fortiziisme of véssd snek apions
A af March 31, 2621

Lais Tor the vear

Chiher compretienssve Gns for he year

Transtier 10 reinined srnings on aceonm of forfestune of vesied siock oplices

Beverssl of Debasting redempiion reyene

As ar hinreh 31, 2022

1 Securithes Promiam

i

As b Aprill 81, 2030
Isseas ol share: enpiral

Asar Mareh 31, 2028

Trangferred from Employes mock ophion reserve o excrelsr of sieck apifons
Exercise of Stock opions Iy Employecs

Fresh shares saned diring the year

Tssume of share capiial Gy scquistion of Abibus {refer note 41 {13

Tgsuie il wlinpe eapriln] for poquisstion of CTPL frefer soie 40

Beomus shies (smed during e pear by copitalising Secorities Prepivem

Share maie expentes (refor moos 41}

Antcemt trandferred om acoount of comverslen of insimitmenis entinely sqaiiy in rahae
Axwl Muarch 38, 2822

Caplinl redempiion reserve

Ax ot Aprdl OF. 820

Imorease | (docrease) during the yenr
At Murch 30, 2021
Trrease | {deurcase) durimg the yr
As ot Murch 34, 2d1

Share tased paymait reserve

Asar Aprd 111, 2620

Expense feeognized for the year

Traafer In satervenl of profit and less oo sccoost ol forfizines of veaed stock apfions
Ax ot March ¥1, 2421

Trarsfor io share pramiisn seeoumi on unsrelse of siock opdions

Tranalor io siatdment of profil med 1nss on sccount of forfilene of vessed stock cpdions
Empéoryoe conpanssion eapense Toe te yer

Sluares tmsed payman B el al subsidiary

A af Marel 31, 2022

fey Deebentmre vedemriian reserve

As of Aprid B, 2020

Additions durieg the yemor

e af Marck 31, 2021
Eovorsl of Didtentare redompsion reseres
s ot March 20, 2022

Shore spplication mosey pending llsimemi

As ut Aprll 01, 2030

Shore applicoion anoue receved pening allomen)
Az at Marel 31, 3021

Sharz applicolion ameuns received ponidisg alkimoni
As i March 37, 3022

{Tiely spposw hove bewn ineveniomntly bt blaui)
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L Trevimsion Teshosdopy Limibed | Farmerly Kiawn sa ™ Le Trovenset Tecinslogy Poivate Linshiod ™)
Hates so Standnlosto Enapcizl stutements for ibe voar nded Marel 3, 2021
{All nmoums in TNR millions, unless atherwise siated)

Matnre pnd porpase of reserves
[a) Beewrilies preminm
Whene Wb Company issues shoms o o premivn, whihior for cash or otherwise; o e squl w ils nperepite amooni of ihe premium received on thoss dhared i
transierred 1o “Socuriies Prejism =,
The securities premiiim cas be dtilised only in accondunce with sestion 52 of il Oompanizs Act 2011

(b} Cepdist redanprion reserve
Capital redempiion resene wis cresied on accoant of by back of equity shares,

(&) Skeare based Paymieni reserve
The shame opisans-based paymment niserve 15 used w0 necagnise the grant date fir valoe of opfions tsued m employes under Erpleye stock opgion plan

[d] Beleature redumpiton reserve
Thcmmpl ercdited b debentant nedemytion restrve shall oo be wtiloed by the Company excepe for e prnpose of nedempticn of debestures 0 acenedisen with
ke proscisions of the Coenpasies Act, 2013

i£) Shure oppleation muney pending allntmest
Compisry fetvied omount on the appéicalion on which slhiment is sof vet made (pending ollobsaith

{ Tl e ba Fros Snten ity foft blanks
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L Travemues Tonli bty Eisibed | Formerly Kaovwn s e Travemins Teelmolop Pricste Limiing 5
Piibis Aw Slemiblene Sasaicial siziereenty B fhe yeer onded ¥asch 35, 245
[ arpaiids b INR midlieos, usliss ditwrwiss saisdi

14 Nnmrawisgs
A, Noz-earrend
15% Erabemiire Ceoooeed dn st pifisd cus™*®
Covreaitilde proPetipie sics 1 1yl ey
ol Hhinaish preedil sed Lo F%TTLI
Falal LAY
. Carirenl
1575 Deboimang dsegeradd o2 amorined o™
Tutal runreat barpswinss
Tobal {4 KBy
Taii| carreni
Tirial im-zieent

“ Bk avend il carmy (b fofbssniy i v rabes
+ £.15% seginal by bypaibsoaion of mrmal st
Fiwwd dupish swia phas Q0% - 180G scvamed by ygrostisation af fivid depeiis
uttpiifel oo s mondiby loste o (5o o] et olilisad sod ure sepeyshls i dpstasl

Aa Minch 31, 201t Cormpony bad available IR 847234 i0aich b, 30305 MR 230000 oFusidéies Somaey il s,

Edfkefiin ntwrmt Aami Abal
3L, ed2 Mzsrca 11

EE 3 pua. - s
§iid

- A

15 1 1197
| o

7 oy
Bl Ll

i 08T

- i

*“Thw pariqiy Miade pregayrmers ai (30 (Cns tandrod fifly} Noo-Lisverishie Dot (Seourod] of Ra. 10 M esel i ot por (Seekas AL on iy 25, 220 and 30 (i) 14900 Mo
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La Travantiss Teckmabemy Linilied | Furaecty $avan o * Le Travesiss Teelusisn Privets Linlipd™)
Paptex. 10 Rivaialen: Gagazlal stalemenin for e vevsr eniiod Maseh 39, 3803
Al et is INK aiflicos, unizss pihorsibas simiedh

17 Trade jry b
i Anul

Blnsrcli 30, ZR2E
Tl ird st s Ol stiores ot it vl sl s s oty 1o Lo ki | A58 (813
Tl mrieiing (ke ul coadibers by (han necro sl i md el T
= Pavulivhs fu rebaad prervies {rodie nete 135 L .
- Fuvullks o orarg Lt R E
Totsl §TINE =

| Trusks prapsbden wrg o borest b g o amgsaarrpa by swiflo s S0 dny iormia. [ncww whare 9 daidile & ol ber sgresd expviily, sbove agelag i proguid Hoe e e daay
T THE Errerdn duc b avens, smel sl el o lzrpebes o defined (n e " Ao, Snell sl Kioin Evgrpise Develifst fe, 50067 (RSED) b bam gt 1 fhe oo wik
prarties Waws been | dumifid sin fhe o af ffieraiian safabie i) e Compu. The diclosma Rt s e i, sl end md iom eeies o o amkr,

Agar ALl
Pursheslers Mk 31 3033 March 3§, W31
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(1} Thee omtaeuart ol aviwest ibie and payalile o the period of dulsy i making payeos
Ceftich bavee hizen pald bun bepend dhe appoimed day diisieg thie year) by wiiboat sdiing
thie mukeread pect el onder b WUEETY Jcl YK
diw The prtast of st secrid o Tervddeing uspind o ihe ood of ooch accosisng pear - -
(ud The anmnre of fitlher infered swntaiving e imil piyohle cvee i B sbocinding vedr, 2
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Le Travenues Technolopy Limited { Formerly Known as." Le Travenves Technology Private Limited'™)
Motes to Stondalene finasciad statements for the year ended March 31, 2022
(AL amouns in INE millions, mnless oiherwise gaied)

19 Contract Hxlilfties

Al ot Al at
Mareh 31, 2022 March 31, 3021
Crarment o
[referred revenie 32l 21
Toial 3161 1196
2 ribier corrent Hnhiliiles
A% Rk A% nt
Mareh 31, 2023 March 31, 2021
Blatusry dues payable T1.49 2984
Tatal T1.4% 29 K4
—_—— e —
21 Provisiong
Ak g Aaal
Mareh 31, 2022 March 31, 2027
AL Mow- current
Provision far employes benefiis
Provisim for grauity (Refer nots 31) 214 15,24
Tatal (A) 2134 1526
B, Curremt
Prevision for omplayee bhenefits
Provision for gratuty {Refer note 31} 7.20 1558
Prowvigicn for compensated absences 17.33 L)
Drthars
Frovison for customer loyalty programeme cost® .95 139
Total () 1548 1447
Total (A+H) 4682 i&&

*Customer boyalty programame

The Company provides liyalty program under which participating customers eam loymlty poins on cusrend frmnssctions that can be
receesned for future qualifying wansactions. The cost of the roward points is recorded hasis the trend of past redemplinn aver the
secunwilated balance of reward points issued.

The reconciliation of provision for customer loyalty programme cost is provided below:

Al ot Al at
March 31, TR Mareh 31, M1
At the commencement of the year |34 1.46
Provision made during the vear el 3k.10
Proveion uhilised during the vear [h3.33) 3417
At the cad 'of The year 008 139

(Tir gmice ferw bien futemiionaly lefl Wnk)
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Le Trovesues Technalgy Limlied { Farmerly Ko ss ® Le Traveniies Techoslopy Private Lindisg®)
Modes o Stansdilnne fAnanclel stedemonts Tor Usd yoer endod March 31, 303
(Al enoenis in BNR asillini, wnksi olhorwess sisted)

Tl Incume lawi

i

11k}

&}

The mutjor ionapsmamis of inoome o expenee for e jear endal 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2025 o

Tznmee fax expmive n e stadmneal &f proft s Inds-comprives;

Tax supemss:

Curreet fas

Dhifieried jax:

Retuting s ceiginatinn and reversal of wnpooary SMmnos
Tuggane tey axpemar reported bn ibe et of prelil or s

hiher Comarehensive [nessse AT section;
Deferred tax i=loning w ivens m U070 in the pearn

et bosss o remiiinemest of defined hensfit ploned

Far she yeer anibdl  For the year coded

Mapgh 31, 2623 Mareh 31, 2801
Ty (ka1
L Af) (53.49),
For tho year andad  For the year ended
— Marel 0, 2023 Mgeeh 303000
- LT
- AN

Recenciliation of tay expense and the sctountivng proflt mulitplled by Tsdia’s denistc tax rate Tar 31 Movel 2022 und 31 Sorch 2020;

Far e yoor emded T (e yoar cosdled

3 AT
Prafiey Loss) before imcome e (3271.EY) 21,73
Avinamniing profit o) before Tngsme {ax (RETEE) ILTA
A It s stafuiory income inx mwe ol 26% TRSI 55
Mun-dedurtible evpenses for ox pposs &5 1w 1134
Dieferrad s nal resondéd on urnend year Ingses 455 .
Lhilssation of carry forward ke and weabsordsed deprecimion - {20,224
Chimpe in imrocopmised temponery differences - L
Ereferred tan recorded un ressoitnble certainiy = (3300}
Taripenry differances nn wikich Deferred s ssecis no mocopnised .83 .
Chiteers. {07 =
frcome 1ax eipense {740k 153,00
Enganre fan expunse reporisd in the saicmeni of profil and ins [EETH {53.05)
Linbillties for cxrvest g {net) e k]
— Derch 30,2037  eegh 30,3031
Carvent (ax; Habditles (petj - =
Deferred tnx essesd relales 18 (o Gollovring @
Stdement of profis amd o Balanee Shier
Foribe year emded  Far fhe vear endad A5 at AL et

022 el S
Frupeny, Plaw & Fquipient | impect ol differenee - L2 Lik Likh
beiweon tax depeoeianios and depresiation amortizaion
churgal for the Fmancial repoming
Frivviesom Tor sl ful debiz - (RN 13 3.4
Lazmsse 1Eabsliifics - LR 1354 3=
Prevvintom Tor Sirbuing Qi 404 Aund
Provisiom for Leave ereadliiten 143 LA ano
Rirnus lad 4,1 CE ]
tmpaci al expendinee el o the simament of prodii
and Fesms in the coment petod sed siilier yeers bui (16T (1§ (103
illerahle for tas purposes on payseem bass
Carripd Tornamd koss and wabisnred dépeecintion (i 2217 e )
Dheferres) tax Enibilisy on Iniong s sssseis (Refer noae 411 (7400 . r%._?&] E:

e ]} it Lif Sldb,

Doring. te Crrent yoar-, defomad s peséis are nsopmeed o the e hae o b probably than bl pofit will be availabie sgaim widsh he didoaiti fempomry diiferences

and The carry firwasd of soused weredits and usssed 23 nsses cam be milised:
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L= Trmvenues Technolony Limtad | Ferusecly Known o Lz Trevemoes Technology Pefvad: Limbied")
Mobeg Lo Standlelone TEeencisl statomesis for 1 yeor ended Mares 31, 222
LA mcants in PNE mioes. spdess otherwise aaded)

The dedall fow umresognied Deferred tnx belenee b s Gollmwe:

Al LER
Mnreh 31, 2002 Mareh 31, HOE
TVempornry Djfferences H.RE ¥
Camied forward Toes anid unabsorhed depreseition 0.4 L0
1034 Ji638
Dl jompsrary differences for which no deferred inx sssest is recopaised:-
Perticulers Espiry daie As uf Marel 30 2027 | As st March 31 2022 | Az ni Morch 31 2630 | Ax ut Maoreh 31 2020
Ta gt Toximonel |
| Tox Loases p1Tr k] = - 11244 2013
23 TLI8 [LES 0% 1531
132,16 Tk [FFAT] ETR
MRS 15164 043 15164 Wl
IS kL] 7056 035 |
Flir Aiad b S5 Ak 4G ]
2028] 3050 1347 50,90 1547 ]
P17k 74,14 11 39 - :
Toinl Trx logses 112285 291510 115695 05 |
Bl scpiry periad [k 4364 15120 ]
Uther difference 2T _&85 - -
Lal6=l M4 i 15 I
}mw&w (M5 3T iz (BE.17 i
[P F T 11824 1, 21638 H6.30 |

Mo deferred lox sty bave been recogaized oo deducnible wonpanny diffensnesd of March 31,2022 | TNR 6.83 (March 3. 2000 INE Hil) and 1o losses of PR 1,122.63 (March
3, Ba2): MR | 51200, as it is st probable thar mxable prodli will be sveilable n pesr Sonpe againi whidh thase can be wlilizad. O of theee i loeses, unabsorbed deprecialion
of INR 167,90 (March 31, 2021: INR 142 11] is avafbble mdofinitely (or offsekng agaizea Pumre iomble profts and wa losess are svailside = an ofTee apaingl fees faxaiile muli
axpiring & varkes dulcs through 1028,

Hecpeiligtisn ol Sferrad tax aset (net):

A nt Ax ut

Pk A, 2053 March 31, B35
Dipenimg balancs 212 -
T inecime{expense] durisg the yoar rezognisod m prodil o loss = £1.045
Dizlorred tax lahility rosugnised on imimsgedes sescis e por BTA 15534) [
Resersnl of dofiemed 1 lsbainy 140 -
Taa mconseexpenso) dureg the year recognised i O] - (033}
Clioshap bebumec of daforrad e assel (net) 123 53323

The Conpany aifseis o assets and Bahilizes i and osky i i Bes 3 logally sifaoeabde right 1o sl ol aurem @x assos and oacmem $ax fiabilites and the deferred 1am asscls and
diefierred tax lahilites relase W incomse o evied by the same o autdcn,

{ Thin s daan dewy Fremninuddly dir bk
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L& Traveaues Techoobopy Limslbed { Foemerly Known = " Le Trovenues § ecimobegy Privame I imited" )
Naotes 1o Btnodiloee Beaneinl sifements fer the yenr ended Marel 31, 30122
(AN mmocnis s INE mdllions, uniess olbsrise sioed)

13 Revenue {rom operatinmg

®)

[Hsaprrpaied rovence ielormueiion
Hel auil belvw is the disnggregaion of ihe Conypany’s revenue from coptracts wish costemers:

For the your ended For lhe year epded

Ninrch 31, 2832 _H._'Iu.nn]: 3. 20di
Readering of sorvices
Tiekoling rovenion 1AnHSS 1128y
Adlvertiseiment refeml 14.52 1184
Advorigement 149,72 L]
Technbeal and ot suppont fee e GAT
Tatul révenoe frnm énmtracts with eustomiers 53406 1,055
Indin 20436 40 I,146.33
iside Indis 7,57 v
Todal revdmue Mmom comrueds wiil costarmess 55& ]ﬂha
Timirg of revenee rezeanitlon
Goods and services imnglerred ab d paing i 1ime 153400 1. 308,55
Tatal vevonoy frem conirocks wiil cusnameed L5406 1,28d.55

b} Conirnct balunces
Av gy Asat

March 31, 0x3 Mlwreh 31, 2031
Trade recewuhles 50 26350
Contraet Hobifiks 1241 2.9

d

Gros revense {rovenue 95 (4 cosirasted price} 22839 144133
Afjus s
Less: Discount affered 10 ustomess an Tickelmp sevime {710,253 PR
Hlovenies froal comtracts with ensdomaors 1534, 0 ll':ll.!B
o Performapoe oblgntions
Inbarmation aboar the Company's perionnamee ohligations ane sammasised bilons
The rranssctivn price ullocated to ihe rensning perlommance obligations funsatisfied or partially ussatisfied) are &3 folko:
For the yoar coded Fr il year emded
March 31, 2832 fdurch 31, 221
Within cme year T1hl 31,96
More then une yewr 3 =
T 1155,
e} Movemsent of conbract Uohliies doring ik voar Far ihe year oudled For the year ended
Mlareh 31, 2032 Merch 31, 2921
Uhpewing Amiun 1106 Al
Aivvourd reeogmmised dorg the yeap b5 9,00
Chosing Amsunt Lol 11.9%
{TRir rpove bt hecy fuenckanny (et Mamk)
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Trude reoshvnhles ars non-inienest besting and wre genoraily oo ferms of 010 M0 devs, I March 31, 2022, TNE 3,24 {Mlareh 51, 2021: INIE 2. 140) was recngnised

s provision for expecied credit logses an tmde receivalvles,
Contruct nasets relates to revese eamed from ticketing snd adfveriisement services wivich ure wnbillid 1 the o o the year.

Coitract liahilities consists of defered revenue pertaining 1o nevenue received in advance for fres enncellstion fecilizy oifered fo cusiomers.

Set nmt bebaw ks the amoust of revensue receguised Trogns
Far the year eniled

For the year endod

Mlmreh 31, 222 Wireh 31, 2931

Performmnce clsligations smisfied in previong vears 1,108.55
Rrcomriling the amount af reveoue recagndsed |o che stateisent of prafis nod Ins wiih the coatracied nrice

For the yeor ended

TAIFTEN

Far ibe year ended

March 31, 2623 Piarch 38, 2121




L Travenoes Technalogy Limbied | Farmerly Kpown as ¥ L Trovesoes Technslomy Privote Limited™)
[Notes to Sinndolone finunclo] ciensents Tor flwe year ended March 31, 2822
(Al mmousis dn INE milHes, wnless ollerwise stated)

24 Dibver Incsme
For v year eaded Far il vear ended
el 3], JET [March 31, 2023

Interest Incoeme careled 1 amanied cost

» O dopoeits with bank 20EE 375

- Unwinding of infenes! pe seoamily dcposin 57 143
G o chanpe (i fair valss of investments {pel) 1n.z5 270
Frir walie gain froni derl vatives 445 -
Ciain on salo of investments [neif] 761 144
Txcess provigion writken back (] -
Ginin o foeeigs cacteaigs (o) iy -
Giain on aceeunt of lermmalian of loasc conime (ned) - 5E3R
COY 1019 relatod romd concession (rofer nabe 33} 455 Han
fental ineco: - 0.3
il lantoms incamy L.27 L1k
Tatal 51,04 1761

{8y gource furr fpaw fatentimmlie foih ilanki
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Le Trovennes Technelopy Limited { Formverly havwe ng ® Le Traveooes Techoobpy Privaie Linlied")
Mptes to Standolone fnasclal sintements foe te fesr ended Marek 31, 2022

(AL ammcmts in IME millioms, unless ollenvise smeed)

15 Empioyes benefits expense

24

27

Solaries. wages and bany

Comribution i provident and atber funds (Befer note o, 515
Cirmtiity expenscs | eber noe 31)

Employes stock option scheme (Fefer Mobe 35)

Seaft wolfire

Toial

For ihe veur ended

Far the yeur ended

March 31, 2022 Mareh 31, 2021
827,85 26704
ILEI 457
a1 51
175,85 45,100
25,7l el
45342 aril

The Code oo Social Seeunify, 20230 {"Code'} relating 1 employee benefis during emaployment ond pest employment benefits received Presidentiol assont in
Sepiember 2020, The Code hos heen pobilished m the Gazette of Indis, Howsver, the dote on which the Code will come ing e has pat been astilied and
the fimal rulesfinterpretatian hove not yet been issued. The Company will assess the impact of the Code when it comes inlo effect and will record aay relared
impaes i the period the Code becomes effective. Bnsed on o preliminary assessmenl, the entily believes the impnet of the-chenge will not ba e e

Finonce cosis

Inberesy on harrowings
Inieress on lease Hability
Todul

Deprecistion and smortization expense

Diepreciation on properiy, plant und eguipmenl | Reler Mode 4)
Trepreciation on nphi-of-use sssets {Refer Node 12§
Aumoriieation on inmpgible s (Refer Made 55

Total

Oither sxpinses

El=cricity charges

Rent {ghort ey Jease prymoenis)

Purdes angl tanes

Ingsmunee expeises

Regpnir nid mimaenance

= Chhers

Advertiging md sales pronmisin

Travelling ovd conveyance

Commurication £osis

legal and professippal éxpenses [ Reder oot (1))
Chsssuaraing cisst

Bad dekas

Impairment allovwnnes of frode receivaldes { Rebor nobe 10}
Cragtomer refands‘cancellation cos

Liss on eale:of property, plani and equsproent {met)
Loss oo foreign exclange (ngt)

Distribution cowst

Partner support cost

Technology nnd relafed cos

Payviment gateway chirsés

Direeiors Saming Foes

Bliuce | lanooas eapenses

Tatnl

Annual Report 2021-22

Far the year saded Fur the year ended
March 31, 2022 March 31, 102)
2069 51
.61 .58
I7.18 15.51
Fur ihe yoar ended For the year eaded
H'lr'th_’lli 1032 March 31, THI1
760 141
B35 132
20071 | M)
£5.56 1463
For the year eoaded Far the year emdsd
Marech 31, 2013 Ivizpeeh 31, 2021
.75 L8]
257 -
|45 rav
.12 -
581 5.10
343,34 f.2.50
024 .66
a2 5.5
4h.di .80
&L.08 .44
022 .08
hid 234
0748 D464
.03 -
= 0.0
&29.19 449,59
264.85 855
141,02 60,67
156.3] il
S48 =
1 (Li5E 19,09
1.993.38 Ria, 0
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a) Detalleof paymeent mzde to andliers nre a8 Follows:
Fur the yeor ended Far tle year ended

Muaorch 31, 2823 M=rch 31, 221
As anditor:
Stanscry nudit fee 410 3,05
Tax acuds fie a. i .08
Tetal 4.30 313

b} Corperate Secial Respansibility
The Company hag pot camed #et profit in three rmmedinbely. preceding firaneinl vears, ithercfore, there wias no amoutl ax per section’ 135 of the Act which
wins pregquired o b spend on CER activibies in ench of the regpeenive finaneial vears by the Compaimy,

Thie giew bax v atesirbeainily faft lomk)
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Ly Travenues Technalogy Lisiided { Foemedy Kooen es " Le Traveauss Teehiralogy Privote Linalted" )
Mofes bo Binodnkone iancial statements foy thie venr onded March 31, 2023
(Al s in MR millices, enless otherelss sl

I Composents of niker comprehesiive fpcome (OCT)

Rteiained earnkngs
For the vear sndd Far the year encdod
March31, 2821 Mareh 31,2001
Re-messurement gain on defined benedis plans (ILEX) 1,52
[moame tax effect - {083}
D (P

Earnings per shore [EPS)

Bame BPS amounts are caleulated by dividing the profit for the year nitributsble i oquity holders by the weghted verdge nustbir of Equity shares putsianding
ihiring: the ypoar

Drilutetd EPS amounts ure ealealied by disiding the profit stirdburabie o oy holders {adter adjusiEny for inderesl on e conventibie prefenence shares. i any) hy
lhe wittghied sveeage nuiher of Equity slres ootitanding during the ves plus b witighsiod overazes roméer of Fapisily slinres 1hat wiould he issed an comersion of
il thisz dlifvitive patentiol Eeuity shares inie Equity sharncs.

The folkowing ritlects ibe profit and share capital dats used fn the hasic ond dibuted FPS compuiations:

Far the yesr eaded For the year anded
arch 31, 2 Morch 31

Webshtod avorapn mumber of cquity chures
Humber of ity shares of the beginning of the year 431,276 436375
Equiiy shares Haued {weighiod overage) 3,060,350 |
Faquaty shares that willl b 5sed upon conversion of eompwilsorily conveitsble prefurence sharss 15,14, 79400 LT E2 500
Adhl: Impact af bosus fsse cffected afber March 31_ 2021 21,64, 11,525 13025713
Welghted avirsge nimber of equity shores ouistanding &t the end of the year 36,86 52,797 TH,%6,00,793
Effect of Dilation 1
Bhare ppliong - AL05.600
:ﬂmwmﬂur-fq-unhm adjusted for the effect of ditution ontstanding at the vl Raas 76,393

Far the year endgd Far thie yeiur cnded

March 31, 2027 Mareh Jitﬁl

Profisioss) obtribatable to ibe equity bolders of ithe Company {32045 L
Earmings per share L&) .26
Lithuiend earnings pershore (LRT) .26

Fur the yeer ended March 31, 2002) 1ZRSBS16 (March 31, 2021 ¢ Nil) employie stotk eplian were exclsded from the calculmion of dilured weightid averngs
fiiunber of sodinany sheres as thefr effect woukd have bee oti-dikive,

Parsuasi to spproval by our Board usd Sheseholders vide their resolutions dsted Auvgust 3 2021 and August 4, 2021 respeetively, the Cospany lins issued bonus
shares i the ratic of 1,380 & por’ nd A5 33 — Eorniog per Shore, the EPS of the Compmy for the pericd snded Decomber 31, 2021 snd fur ol the perods
jrresenled bas bees compried § acjused sffier considening the bonus issue,

Ty e S e imsenitennmliy ferk Sl
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L& Travegues Technslngy Limdicd { Formerly Koovwn o ™ L Travesuss Techoobegy Privaie Lingesd"}
Nates ta Atondalivng Annscial stalésmindy for the yeor endel Mareh 3§, Az

AN amedmis in INE wailfions, unbess ailwerwise stmed)

3 Employmant bopefit plan

#) Dbefizmd eombrilowikan plens

The Company hes = defined comribation plan. Costribisices are dessevined i o specific pavernage of conployee sabanies in tespect of qualifying emplayecs
savardy provident fund and labowr welfise flanil. The consribiiioms sme mode w registersd prvident fund administered by dhe gevemenen, T ohligstion of
Ehe Contipazry {5 Hieniged 10 the ssmum enncribied and it has no funher santmchinl sar iy comminetive obtignien.
The eapenss necopniscd duning the vear ivwoeds deflsed eoiribntion il ig IR LB (Provioas yesr @ (R 4574,

Comritition s proovident fend
Comtribalion b Lahous WelSee Fumd
Tndnd

b Dufined leeefit plass: Grahelry sehome

Far the yens eoded — For (he year srded
—Mimreh 31, 2072 Marek 31, 2021
LL&9 [T
12 BEICE
11.51 57
= ——

The gratuity plan is gedvermed by the Payment of Geatoty Agi, 1972, Under the Azt cavipieces wivd hove comipboned Five vears of sorvice arg eitivked 1o specific
bengfie The level of benefit pravided depends en the memiber's lezigth of service nnd salary retiroment age, The cinglyoe {s entitled w o benefit fgmivalent o
15 driy snlnry fost drawn for eneh eompleted veor of sepvico with nivm theseof in oxcess of #ix months subjeot 1o mosipmim limit of INE 5 lakhs. The same is

payahle o ferminstion of serviee oF retironiens or deach whichever is carfier,

The present wulise of he chligation under such defined benefit plan Is determined based on s arnasrst valimtion o8 a the reparting dute sl the projecied
unit eredit methed, which recognises cach perind of service g giving tiae to additional unit of emiployies banefit entitlenicnl unel rmensiires sach unic sepurasedy
1o bl oo the Fnul obligition. The ablfgations are mensmered af flie prusunt valne af the-esimimed furore casl flows, The dissount e wseal for determiming 1he
prssent volue of the abbigntian ander defined benelit plns (s basad on the morke viekds oy Cresemment bonds s e the darg of acrarial walontios, Achmrial

gains mmid kospes {pet of 1§ e recogslpad immediotely i e Other Coemprefensive npome [DC),

This 8 an unfiinded beneflt plan far qualifying enployees, The schemo provides for o fumnp sum payment b0 wested employees af refireniéns, death while in

employment or on terminatsan of empayment, Vesting occurs upan eompletion of five yeams of deridss.

The Tollewing tobles summiariee thie compomsens of net benefit s recognised in the maicment of proft ar loss and ihe Rended sty ard omounis
recognised i the balonce sheet far the respective pliss:

Drefined beselil vhlignilon s il beginming sf the vear
Liabiliy avquired an nequisition *

FAddstnuenis on aecousd of BTA®Y

Toteresi pos

Crnend service cast

Past service e

Actunrial bassigain) on ohligation

-Financial assampiions

Defned benedfit aldigstion of closing of year

Axat Asat
March 31, 222 Mureh 31, 2871
1785 1555
14,02 s
{ILR4 -
159 102
Tab +23
124 0.0k
1.82 ;
3% (e
10,59 (1.53)
— =2 ¥

"All the amplayees of the: Campuny wese irmnaferred to Purchaser g pant of the Business Trunsfer Agreement | "BTA™] & aete ives the contimued service
periad berefin by the Parcluser, The Crtuity Rabiliy of i Company veus determined basds that oy o A e Juldy 2021 & avconinuad foras o labili,

**An amuoind of INR 1284 was paid a2 an interim Granty for past services 1@ cetdin eligitie employees who went inmefirmed so the Machaser a2 pen of the
Business Trassler Agrsermont § “BTA”L The smousd %0 paid 18 transfemed 10 B¢ Purchager whish will b sdfusted o i Gnol pay-oi 28 e 1fimi of

sejtarmion bemminabion of thise cmplyess fom the Turcheses,

Classification o ¢arrent!nan-cigrent
Currens liakdliny

Miom-gairrent Tabiliy

Tirkal liakiNey

Balpmee Shavt
Presei value of defined benefit obligsion
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ALt Az at
—Maoreh 31, 2003 _Maggh 31, 2821

.20 |
I1.34 1516
T 17.85

ASNE s
2854 | TS
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Li Travennes Techmalogy Linibed { Farnwerky' Knsvwe o "' Le Travenss Technalopy Privits Limbred™)
Mrdes i Sfnndnlens finpncio] satements for the veer anded Mareh 31, 2021
(AL smounts in (MR miilioas, onless cthernisg siaced)

Expemies cecopnlsed in Brafemunit of profit and les
For ibe year ended Fowr the-yoar anded

[zl 31, 2922 Marci X1, 2021

Curreml servies cost 7.58 4.2%
Enteres) cogt oo henelil chligation .59 |2
Mot lenpfld espenee 827 Ei_

Expemues recopnised b Statement of other comprebeiive inoame
Far the year cndei Fier thee yeur ended

_ March 31,2082 Maveh 31,2031
Acvanninl (guisa) S bosses
~chutige m framcal saiptinns ] (X1
=chunge m demographic naswmplinns 143 -
= EXPETICNCE Vnance [1.e. Aclual experience v assmimpgions) (2.3%) i1
L AT
The pelacipal actusrial wessmptoas ued for esiimmting the Campany’s defined beeefi ablizativas are set aut below:
Aot As ot
—March 31, 2622  Muorch 31, 203]
Dhsgoant mbe £, 51 6 Hi%
Fitture salory increase 15,00r% 15,001
Aopernye exposead filure working i | Ya) 2800 AL.03
Retlrensan ope | Viears) Ol 0 Bk
Martality mies inclusive of provisics for disaliling® ALKE 2002-14 1, CALME 2073-14 h,
Withdmwal raie (%)
Lipbo 30 yedes 255 50
Frotn 31 to 24 yenrs 5%, a3 (19
Above 44 yewrs 250 150

Flndiam Adsured Lives Moradity (201214} Ultimme represents publisbed metabity table nsed for nsomtslity sssunsphion,

A quantifative sensifivity analysis for slpaificand usemptions ks shoen belows

Ax ut ARl

Mareh 31, 2022 _Murch 31, 3031
Impaet of the change In discount rale
) Impact dug 1o inersase of | % [1.6i6) (0. 77}
&) bmgpact due to decrease af 1 % 1.8 .44
Tenpract of the ehnmge in slary mersme
A} Imapat dese o incrosse of 1% .24 257
s} Tmpact due o decrease of 1% (21 {51

The sensilivity analyses dbove have been defermined based un 2 meitiod eximnpilabes the impect on the defiwed benefit obligation as 8 reeli of ressonable
Changis i key assamptions occwming s the end of the reparting year. These anabysis ure based an o change in @ sigarflean nssmpdion, keeping all piler
assumgtiang constant snd may not be pepresentative of an sctual change in the defined benefit obdigmbon a it & unikely thm changs in dssamptions woulkd
ircrur in isalalion of oee anether.

The faltewing payments nre expected comtribations to the dofined benefit plen in Tetuye vears:

Agal AS il
3 i Marck 31, 2021
Wair 1 T4 n?
Yaur 2 w79 2.15
Wigar 3 6.34 LT3
Yoear 4 579 1l
ear § 513 237
Your i omwands 1545 11,63
27.14 4Té

The weighted sverage dusation of the definesd benefit plen obligatian at the s of to neporizng yoar is & veirs | March 31, 2021 7 yenrs|,

i This spve Aoer ees fasenrioomdly fefd Sl
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Le Travens Techmalegy Limited { Farmesly Roown = Le Travewoe Technalogy Privare Limied''}
Motus o Standnlone fnnnelal statensents for the vear asded March 31, 1022

{ Al mmosnis b [MR millices, unless oherwise simed)

A Lisukis

a} Az o leseee

The Campany hos ase comtract far offies presmise hoving femse teon of 9 pers. The Coenpany’s obbipaitons ander & lenses ure-seviped by the fessor's dills b e
kensed assets. The Company has lease comrects for parking spees heving term of 12 months o les. The Campuay applics the *sbor-erm keise” recognition
rxgmptions for the |eass

St guit bidon are the corvying ansounis of righi-ofuse rsels recupnised and the moyimenis during the voar:

Aomomnt
Adof April 1, 283 .00
Depreciation axpimse (1033
Detletanns (1E.15]
Ag at Murch 31, M1 1342
Deproginlion csprss (153
Daletions -
Al at March 34, 30232 2507
Sef cut lebaw are the carrying amounts of lease Sakifities snd the movements during tee year:

Amount
As at Aprdl 1, 2030 T
Charge dirlivg ihe year 058
COWID=1D relnied rem comeesson® (MR
Fiyienis [TH1)
Dieleiians [ T SR)
As ot Mareh 31, 2021 %09
Charge dummg the year fr 5401
DONVTD- b9 relased rend concossion® {165
Pasmicnts 17.65)
Dicletinns -
Current [MNote 1f) (145
Nem-curen| (Nade |} EJLEL
FCOVID=19 redated real concesslns

Many bessors huve provided rent cancessions t the company as 2 sesult of the Covid-19 pandemic. Rent concasséans incbides cent holidnys or ron reductians or n
period of dime. As o practical expediens, The Group hus clected not to assess whither o Covid-19 relmied rens concesson from a lessar is # leise modificatian asd
accerdingly changes in The lusse payments resulting from the Covid-19 related renl concesssan hag hessy scoonited foc in the samne way {1 woulid hivve sccven fior
under fnd AS |16, if the clsnge wers oot n |l.'-l;&::mﬂdi:l'rtatinn.T]1E[ITJ-:-I.iﬂ]wmlippﬁnﬂwhlm[mtmminmnﬂmndnsldiulmm{mnfh
Covid-15 pandemic,

Company bas appiied (be practical expedient s all teol concessions ibat meer (e coprditions fir the practics] expodiend. Property loase (office leases) are the
cutiiratis loowhich Groep Ins applicd the poetical expediame,

Moturity snalysis of lease Gokilliles b5 24 Follons:

Puriiculars Mareh 31, 022 March 31, 382]

Within one ver 1760 15.30

After |y but nut moce iban five vears 145,20 S2.H0
SLB8 = Bi.1e

The fellowing are the nmnanls vecosniiod in proft or boss
For ihe yenrended  Foribye year eided

Moreh 31, 2032 Murek 31. 2021

eprecation oxpenae af righd-of-us nsselx #.15 133
It cxpaisag oo leass Bohilines i, ol .58
Rent conpesion | a5 RAREH
[Emin s va ierménsiion of lesscs = (5.1
Expense relating w ahigt-termn leases {included in ather expenses) .57 .
Tetal amousi recegnised |& prefit or bess i 1.0
The Company hisd total cash cutflows for lesses of INR 10.22 (March 31, 2020+ INRL 20,111, e

B} As w lessor

The corpany entered into aperating lemses on ils Right o ke 3801 consisbing of oifice ballding: Bgaal income recagnise] Ii',!'S'HI: Ly G the vear ended
s DN Wl Pisrel 21, 2021 TNR 0300, These leases have expired in the Dnanssl yEr endg ..-,'_ : i \
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L Travenues Tecknsdogy Limbted | Formerly Keonm gs " Le Troverues Techandingny Private Lindred™)
Mabes tn Stendabune Mnancinl siatements for (e yoar coded Morch 35, 2022
(AR amosmis i (MR miflices, wnless cdherwise staied)

33 Melzkwd parties

al

L]

Mames uf related portles and feloted party relntionship

Subsidinry

Travemies litovativezs Privaie Limied (Whikly pwoed subsidiany)
Culirm Ticket Online Salutions Frivaie Dimmited (w.of Febroary 17, 2021
Ixige Euroge, 5.1 {Whally coned sulsidian

Key neasngerial pervonned (V)

Adike Bijpad {Munoging Dirceior & Groug CEQ)

Tapnish Kamar [Director & Group CFTOH

tavi Shanker Gopts | Group Chel Finmmcial OiMicer] (woef May 24 3021
Suresh Kumar Bhutani {Grosp Geasernl Coussel & Compony Secoetary] (w.e ey 24 30215
Arun Seth (Iodependent Divocsor woed July 29, 20211

Mahendrn Pratip Mall {Tdepeslent Directar w.e.f July 19, 20217

Teabul Tandit {Indopendent Dipeetor wood July 29, 2021)

Ragezh Sawhesy (Indepemdent DErogtor we £ July 2%, 20213

Ehubha Reo Miggm (Independent Directoe woe £ tuly 30, 2021}

Fruideric: Latonde (Independent Tirecor wee.f July 29, 1021

Detnds of trassactien with redated parikes:
Particeliors

Investment in squity shares
Confirm Tickel Omline Solubions Prvete Limieed {ingluding decnsed investmen )

Inige Burepe, 5L (fncluding doemed mvestnicnt}

Comsmbtsnucy Fee
Tadge Eurcgee. 5L {Whsally cwned subsidiong

Advertisement revense
Confirm Tickel Onding Sobations Privaie Liméed

Advertisement reforral
Confirm Ticket Onlire Sohitbane Privaes Limited

Technical support fees
Travenues Inncvalions Privaie Limibed
Confinn Ticket Onling Salutions Poveie Linmied

A vertiemind st
Confirm Tecket Onkme Solutions Prvie Linied

DMstrilvutiom cost
Canfirm Ticket Online Solstions Privaie Limeed

Purchnse of property, plont ond conipoest
Truvenioes lanmvirsons Privete Luniied

Cidlection of thx payments made
Trovennes Inneabions Friviie Lumied

Eecvipl during e year
Traverues Innovations Privale Limbed

Annual Report 2021-22

Far the year esded For the year emded
March 31, 2412 Mnrch 31, 2621
amiar 24026
1126
2152
07
07 r
- k2]
{L.HG =
fi.7d *
1275 +
- 0,23
] 14
L2 1,6
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Le Travemivi Tochaology Limited | Fornmrly Known g5 ® Lé Travenoes Technology Privaie Limited")
Motes i Stnndslngg Onkecinl stidements for o year ended Marveh 31, 2623
Al amenniz in INE millicns, onless aiherwiss sioed)

e} Defalis of sutcinndinp beingoes of relufod parties

Moone af relntpl pariy Azl An ok
— Mareh 31, 3032 Marek 31, 2021
Tiruade recilvehls
Travenues Innavations Privace Limndted |77 195
Coafinm Ticked Dnfine Solutions Privaie Limised 0.3 -
Trade Payahis
Canllem Ticket Onlise Soluthims Private Litnited .45
Share bassd payment Habiliie
Comfiten Ticke Onling Soliticoms Privaie Limded 486 0,67
Salary payables
Abake Hojpsd a7 142
Ragjrewily Bismar - 342
Ravi Shanker Gupe 4.8 .
Suresh Kumar Blsmini KR -
inelsding provigim for Varisble comsiderntion
The amioemis dischosed (n the mhbie are the amounts roasgised a5 am caporse during the reporuing persod rifmod 1n key managenen perssanel,
41 Compenaation of key nmnsgemest perannet of the Conspany
Fur the yeor endad For the yonr caded
imreh 31, 223 Ivtarch 31, E}

short-term emploves beeefia®
Aloke Bajps 10.5% T.26
Fagnesh Kumar i1} 725
Ravi Slsanker Gupta ** 15240 -
Suncsh Kusr Bhidmmi™ 153 -
Amun Seth | .08
Mahendrm Pratap Mall i1
Hahial Pandit 1.0
Rajosl Sawhiey .96
Shishhe Rao Muyya ned
Frededic Laloede 0.3 -
Simre bosrd paymesis
Favi Bhanker Gopls 14.26 -
Suresh Kras Blusani 1.1 -

*The remuneration (o the key mamsgensent personise] does ned inchude the provigian racke fior grasnity & cumpensaved ahsenees, a5 they ang digermined o an

aeterinl hasis for the Comipany 08 o whole.
*loelucling provisicn For Varloble considerationg

34 Segmoni Informntion

[he Managing Director apd Group CEO (MD & CED) reviews inenal iipeygetmen reporg fim The Grosp s oowhole Accordingy, e Manuging Dieeior s
Gingup CED (MO & CEMY Is considerad s b the Clisf Operming Decision Maker (CODMY. The CODM s perfoermece ind nllovires pesources ol spdiy
bevel, Aceondngy, the Group's businis activily is 2 single stemen operatian,

Geographdenl lnfor mation

Tise Company aperates in [ndia and therefire calers b the needs of the domestic market, Therefore, there & ol oind peographical segimend i hiscs, geournphical
segnent imformaton oo recqmined m hie dischased,

The Campamy provides services to castomiers in lsdin. Further, thire tre no nan-currens assers lpested sotside lidis,

Informesting aboul sminr coxtomers

Longadering the nifure of buseness, costigers nonmBy include individials smd Busines cnicrpeisss, Foriher, none ol the corporons and siber cosiomers neeannl [or
i e tian 1 oo muis off e Compny's revenpes

{Thdx spnce iy hasr dbesitanmTy et flink)
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L& Trovenses Technalegy Limited { Farmerly Kpown a3 ™ Le Trovesess Tethnalogy Private Linniled™)
Tentes te Standnlens financial sademsesis For the year ended Mareh 31, 29332
LA amuoesits in TN mullsons, uniess atheredse siated)

35 Blaape bussd pusmesis

(o} Deseripton of share bozed paymenl orrangememss

O | Oiober 3008, 30 Augesl 2002, 27 Moy 20173, 20 Deeanbor 3006, 1 Fuly 2020 snd 09 Aptil 2021 the Beacd of Dircerars apprimad the Employocs Bk Disfien Sehane 1000, 2002, 2003, 2016(A), 2020 X
M2 1A respoctively, These optiors are pranied (o cligile ensplovecs of the Company-deermined by ESOP Remunersifon Cowmitiee and are convertihfe inta equivlent nember of equite dheses of Re | caeh for
ESOP Sghenwe 2000, 2012, 2013, 20Ta1A), 2020, 2020A) Far the Compamy 2= por the terms of the plan Lipon vesimy, the employoes can aequire ooc convmon equily share of the respezine enmpeny fior every
pticm

Far J.II.EH{'II’ Sy, options will be gvuklabie for vesting upon aecesssfild completion o gervice dusing the vesiimg, period
¥estimg condificns
Faor EBOIP Sclwerma 2000, 32, 2003, DOI6A], 2020 & 202 | (A options shall ve: oo g,rﬂdml bazis amd ean bo exorcised within 60 mooths from the cabo af westing in respeci af the refesant vesied irenche o withis

oo vzt firoen b dete of lermisstion of employmest posl vesting. whichesar 5 st
Tz vesting prticrn and conireesunl [ of opfices ane given belew:

Adjrstient o suteanding options nd peercise prico comseguonl e e of Bsne shares

The ghuehoklers of the “Company at the somavedinary pensm| meeting hebd oo Augest 08, 2001, pad pramed the approvel oo ssue cquery shines of e Cangany of the Bice value of T 1 goch [hereipafter refierned ic
ns 1he “Beanus Shares™} 1o the members of the Cormpomy, in:l]wpmpmﬁun of 108 [Three Hundred Minety Mine) .I'_‘lpil.j' Shares for every | {Dne) Equaty Share hell By them on ihe reeced doie. The sbasehokders huil
Furthet authionised e basad af dencees of the Company (s “Boand”) o delerming sppoopriate adjidmends. for the alloiment of Risnus Shares ay sforesaid, w0 the eidstanding opticns gronied 1o the employess af the
Compary under the prevailing employes stock option schemes of the Cosnpany such that the exercise price for &l emstomding optioes ns an B reeord dese shall be propoetionarely adpsind and the suniber of options
pramied bt sl exercised as on ‘recomd date” shall he approprisiely Idjl.u.'lnd. In compliance with the approval gramted by the sherchodders for mokmg appropriaie sdjestments foe the Ronos Jsaoe 10 1he anbstamiling
iplives grinbed bat not eeisad under the prevmibng emploves sock aplion schemes of e Company, the Beart bad grantnd the approval om Aggoa 34, 2000, revising the sofal muntbser of oplices. gmnted i sai
exerined froen 1o 4060 and the Bxercise Price for afl the revised number of Options dhall be acconlingly adjusted so NI ( ohecbure] |25 and INRE 050 ( oheotone) ae the cese may ke, The vahied in folleading iotiles
hazoeen ndfnsted 1o take inypact of this revision

ESOT seheme
Vosiing® ] FIlIE FIlE W) aean  dudi (A)
Yoar [ 359 115 [T 0% ([HEA il
Yoar 3 A Lip L e - 15%
Your 3 30, i1} K[ 0% 5%
Yioard ¥ 44 A% g = bl
Cantraciual Hie ﬁ--ijl:l.u. - 0 years {i- 0 yours 5 -0 yemrs h Yy R T

* Phesse adap reier 10 noe fo) Tiw e modi Geation o vesting schaduly

{Thiz space ot heew Sitefanaih et biged)
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Le Travense Tecknalogy Limited | Formerly Keown ns ™ Le Trovenses Technalegy Private Limiied=)
fenies i Standabame finanelal wafemsenis for the year emded Mareh 31, 2022
{0 mmosnis in TNR millisme, anless atheroase stted)

(b} Measurenseal of e vl

Seleme Slenre price Exurcite price Expecioil velafiliiy Risic free roie Expeziod e flm  Dvidend ngutind el
_\'E‘hnl! yEE:I wakuatiom
2000 & | [-14,08 125 AT B6% « BOETH TRR% - £43% 5 - 6 years =
2012 &L 104,06 1,25 AT RO - AORTeE AT RIS 3 - fiyenrs . ”
anIa £11-17.5 [.23% 42E2% - 60ETH 4346% - BRI % 3 = [ yoars z i
ELLTEY 5.7-14.06 L35 ALA40% - B S0 A 3E% = BN 3~ fowvenrs < c"’“::mﬂ
0 14.06 8- 1.2 G007 38 1 year o
02| (A 48, B5-TO.0 [ 25 S0% - RO WS - n2% 4 -7 'vears

Thie mik-friw mnlires) mbcs e detemained based o curmesd yicld 1o matwrity of Govemmint Bronds with 10 ymrs cesidusl moienity, Expecicd volatiliny calesision b besnd on Insloncal daily closing slock prices of
gampexiiars ¢ Compony usmpr siancland devinton of dably shange in siock poee. The mimimum Jife of slock opdian is e minimunms penied bedore which the opdons cesant be exereksed pind 1B imasinmen 1ife & the
period afier which the options casmol be exercized. The expected Iife hos besny congidered bised on svernge sum of maximism B ond minimim |ifie ond may ol necessariby be mdicative of exergiss patiens that my
e, Davidemd yichd has bein calciated mking mio accoumt expocted mie of dividesd on equily share price 25 oo gront date basis pusi trends. For the mesissreisent of grant date Fair valwe cedrin morket condltions
were pinstered i the metbeul sd smluntion

{ch Effect of oroployve stock spdisn scheme on the Sintement of Profit end Loss

For thkb yoar coded.  For (e vear ended
Morch 31, 2922 March 51, 31

Employee stixchk aplion plan expense 1 TEA5 45010
Total TTE.HS TN

The carrying ssmmsni of the linkilin: rélnting & the Employes Stock Option Plan at March 30 2007 INR 1RS84 (3] March 2031 wid TNRE 81,223
1) Bezonelbinilsn sl omistending share npiies

Thic number and welghivd-avérapge mioreise prices of share spibons were fs Nolbows o af Muorch 31, 2023

. ESOP mhemme
20 011 T TE WA T 2L LAY
Cptioms oulstondieg ns &1 the beginning of the yenr A 11 600 A58 RS T4.43,200 20,07 Bl B
Akl Crviicms promied during ihe yea 10,00 o, R R 5, 1,400 241 20 T4, 100 T3, 07 0060
Lz Dlpptiuns lorfizived and expimod deving the year (o0 {HD £ HEG 437 400 4 S, A00 i, Rid 2 05500
Lizss: Options exercised during the vear 10,000 452,000 132,500 B A1 2. 12,800 2
Oipptinms vubstnisding ns ol the peried cnd Aa08 240,008 J140, 0 13,53,200 pllel T80
Excsuizable at the end af the perind - GEan0 575,404 133200 43,200 -
Weighled ovempe remaimng life of oplions censeerling &1 the end of 4,26 548 532 5540 448 671
i peerind fim i)
Weighaed weemage exenclse price as at the boglanbig of ihe yesr Ll 5.ip4 0,42 i .50 .
- Welgkned weempe execise prcs for prenis during flu year 125 1,28 125 I.EE 1.25 foXs
. "‘r:l]_!'ﬂﬁl b axanebag privoe foc S i Wi e 135 125 .13 |.25 .51 125
& T My - e
Wikl wverage oxerose prive as ai the end of the vear 1,15 1.25 1.25 Lk 135
Welihled meempe excrcise pries ol optieess Eicrclanble ol the el of
shic-porind 1.2% 125 3% 050 123
Annual Report 2021-22 Page | 176




Le Travesuves Techanlopy Linsted | Formeriy Knowao o3 ' Le Trevemns Techoology Private Limbrad"}
Nmdes in Standaloee Banncol siakements for e vesr ended Marels 31, 2001
FA aregrunts im INE mnblioos, usdess otherwise stnled)

The mumiber and welgbdad-dvarage exerciss prices ol simre oplioas were as FoBons av al March 31, 2021:

ESOF selpeme

005 2002 ElE] IAlGA) 1028 MRT 4]
Optinas sudsinndisg = ol the beginnéng of the yeur 1000 1104800 43 31008 1R 4,10 & ¥
Audd: Capthomg granded dusing the yuar 40,061 520,010 5,12 400 17,0 1,200 15,400 £
Lt Oyl frfiodted and expired daring the year AR o4, 70,000 1856000 ML L0 i, 15,600 -
Less: Opdions crorciscd during ihe yrar - - - =
Oiprinms pulstamding as ot the fear md 1,10 11,464,500 o, R 14,435 308 T B -
Eacerpinalalis i (he e of il poriod - 352,001 12,74, 200 AL EHI - :
Weightod avemge remurang: lifo of opiions oaistanding o ihe end of 530 492 447 SA% 425 =
e vean [im viars]
Welghaed sverge rxercisg price as at the bogianing of the yess 6.20 5.65 341 364 =
Weighted avompe oxieise price for gramis diring the yeas L 564 T 5.6 (TR Fy
Wi ghsed average exomise price for gramts excrossed during e yeor = - - - X
Weighted svomge exercize price os ot theend nf il yeor il 564 BkT 554 .58 =
Welghted gvernge exercise e of oprions Exocishle of tha end of - 543 LR 564 - a
e year

e Mndificadion dering (ke yenr

o 1st Moy 2021, the Company mode the folboosmny chinges in the BSOP Plan 2009, 2002, M13, 20060A) omd 20070

-The Webmy peniod of ESOT wero chamgied b 25% por yesr over o period of 4 years a8 ageins) D05, 006309 and S, [o-cnseof panioly wessad ESOP, the balonee unvested oplions shall vesi egually aver il
rEmRinng vering period.

The Exercise period of ESOF wes increased 103 vears from the dote of veming o | yeur lram the dats of leaving, whichever s curlier,

~The Exercise Price of ESOF wis raduced to INK 500 (ENR 125 Post Bonos [ssus adpastmemt)
The momnentsl fic vaboe togeiher with ibe originad grant date e valug ol oplions-will be recopnissd o8 an chpenss ovir il remaining vesiioy period | excepi ie the optisie which b veetod before il
ol fiaidn dele Tor which cxpense was recopnised immedisbehydl. The @ir vlue of modified optione wes determined osfog the sme models & principals & described above with the ffkawing inpeas:

Measmremnend of Eulr velees:

Scheme Dividens yicld Expected volaiifity Rigk [ree rai Expecied life {in Foir Yolueon  Enerementa)
FEauE) Denta el Fair Vslae
ssatileadne
200 1 TR o 67000 .67 o 300N il Y U | AT 554777 3,04.3.0]
23 159 HETN 1o 805 2.30% i 594% R TS | AT A7, TT |l 5l
23 1 6T 0 B5.32% 2.33% to G104 A2 fo 633 a1 4247 81 B
i Al 5 JAHTH o B850 00 b0 U L21 so 58H AT A 7. TH Y134, 34
b e 67 S0%% BT i 4R.30 Gi2s

(Thir spece bas been intertioumly lefl Blanki
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Le Trevennes Techoology Limited | Farmserhy Knswn a8 ® Lo Trovenoes Technology Privefe Linited™)
MNotes 1o B{andalone Tinanchk statements for the year ended Meieh 31, 2022
(&N ammimis m TNE millions, umless olbhenwise gated)

36 Cogital Managemest
For ihe purpose of Company's copin] manogemed, copital includes bsued equrty capital, convertible prefercoce shires,
securities premiumn aod afl osher equity reserves atiributnble to the eguity holdess of the parent. The primary objective of the
Company's copital mansgenent i3 0 maximise the shareholder value

The Comgany mannges its capitsl structure ond mukes adjustments o it in light of chenges in cconomic conditions, To
imainizin of sdjust the capital simiciere, the Company may schust retior capital o shareholders or issue new shares, The
Comgiany montiors capital using 8 genting miio, which is net debt divided by 1wotal capital plus net debl, The Company inclucdes
within nai debi, interssl bearing borrawings, trade and other payables; less cash ond cash equivpbenis,

Asat As mi

_March31,2002  Moareh 31,2021
Borrowhes (Mefee note 15) - 143.7H
Less; Convertible preference shares {unsecured) uf fuir valss - (3,63}
throwith profil o loss {FYVTRL]
Lease linhiliies 4339 1.0
Trabe payailes 393,13 LG4, 68
Crher financial lishtliies IR0S3 336,06
Lass: gush and cash equivalems {Refer note 11) [ TESL0) | | 36,58
Pict debi GEE.0 E54.40
Equity 3,73243 £97.20
Preference shones - 5463
Total Capital 373242 2EA
Capital and pet debi 4.360.44 75723
Gearing ratio 14.40% 73.21%

T arder 10 achicve this overal] abjective, the Company’s capital management, amengst other (hings, ains 10 ensure fhat it meets
terms & conditions attnched to the interesi-hearing boems and borrowings that define capital strsclure requinerronis.

Mo changes were made kn the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2023 and
wear ended March 31, 2021,

{Tin space how e intentioniiv T blank
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Le Trovenues Techndogy Limited { Formerly Known a5 * Le Travenwes Technology Frivate Limited™)
Motes to Sinndalone finencial stateraents for the venr eaded March 31, 2022
[ AT armewmits in TNE. millions,; unless cilserwise statsd}

3 Falr vidue mieassrements

Set vt below, s a comparison by class of the earrying mmounis and falr value of the Conspany's finaaial instrunsnts, inctuding thioge wiily currying
ot ilest are ressaneble approzimations of fair values:

Carrylng vaines Ealr valuen
AL i Agal MAs b s at
March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021 Mavch 31, 2022 Murch 31. 3021
Flanncisl assets
Investments 1218 26520 102118 A 20
Oeheer finnncial asgers 164,73 12.31 164.73 12.31
Total 1,185,091 277.51 1,185.91 TS
Carrying valocs Fiir valises
Aw st Asal As at As al
March 31, 2023 idarch 31, 2021 Mareh 31, 2022 Mareh 31, 21
Finnncipl Habilities
Bommonaings 2731 14941 I3 14%9.41
Cther financial linhilities 380,53 336406 SR0L53 360
Tatal Al7.84 455,47 46784 4R5.47

Management has asscesed that trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other bank balnrees, trude payohles and beerewings approximate their
carmying amoands largely due to the shori-lerm maturities of (hese insnments.

The fuir values of the un-quoted shires based on the valnation report from independent valuer and fadr values of mutual funds are based on price
quotations a1 the reposting dabe.

Discount rate used in detormining falr value

The interest rate used o discount estimated fisture cash flows, where applicable, are hased on the ineremental borowing rate of barrower which in
case of financial linbifities is average markel cost of borvowings of the company and in case of financizl asset 15 the average markes e of simitar
eredit rated inssrument. The Company maintans policies and procedures 1o valie financial assets or fimngial linhilities using the best and moss
rialevant data available

The fair value of de linancial assets and liahilities ks Included ot the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged m & corrent transaction
between willing parties, other then in a forced of liguidation sabe.

(This gpvree e bevn litearionally fefl hlank)
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L Tiravwmuee Techadozy Limbivd § Pty Ko &8 * Le Travemics Techmdeiy Fetvalio Ll
Teules de Stpndelone Mnandal iutemesrs foe ihe poar viided Manch ¥1, 20t
LA arooarms in BN oy, ialeis chotvbe e

3% el valne Mernrsky

Al Hinareciod trainemeais for whe D valie i nooogmsied i discined o caiegormed wiiin iho S vk hianriny, dismibod s ofirs, Bussd on s e e o ) B oagifioen o iy G

viha: meaanemem w3 whieln,

Lavel B2 This bvel of ismarohy idlodes Anoneisl sseas el aie neesered By refoseer 1o qpsled ured pecd Fgnces i aciee mares for alarnical peoti or | bilitos

Lavel 2- This leved of liiczarchy melsdes finenzial svseis that are regzswnsd usiag s, oty Sin qusted piees bedlisled within bevd |, (hed are chuervaisle for sech lieres, dircaly o indircaly,
Lawrl 3: This bevel o nierarchy inel s e ressioeed wbep & valissioe: ozl hawd oo asampeion el an roliler appanied by pricos: from pseervihio ousinl markol iinseland i e seme

waEmneils nor haoed gn pvaifably moarkes dina.

Tk Talbwing tebils jiimrides e forvabie meamrement hearehy of th Congeeys esso sad Hab@iies

Falr vialie messirenin beenrcky B aiels as ol Viaech 0, 2823
ﬂlb'ﬂ[ﬁmlld:

Tiul £t ks i anive Slgalficass Shgnileant
St furta {1 ll:l nbewrvahle lpeine amsbesvalil lnpais

[Lewt 1) fLvel 3}

Firancial ansets moavared ai e valee

Ervcatmemisat for vali tregh peedl ur loes

= Pl Barads 1Ak s

« Ml ER L < 144
- Dchgrrarcs 1i6 11

Frapzce| Exbuliiey mrzsnred g falr vajue
Lizhitity sn oo of imvwsimeen is aitaisry - -

Finsacia] Babilllies messured ot u sl £561
Bgrpwm a3 . 1730 3

Thitre o o irmrsies hoeoweet ke b disiag e oo coded bl b 11, 2003
Falr valee measeromiess Rierarciy D sasels o ol Marc 31, I3
Fasir vulose oA
Tai Cuunded priees In sethve IEW"‘T:“ Im R
rrmirkrts Olovel 1) (Livel 2} {Lived X

Fimmacial gt memgred gl felr vetae

Invedirnerits ol fuir valie theengh prfii or leas

« Bobuvam] Aamdy 5L 3181 - -
- Shdes H4l adF -

Flapacial Ralines messured ot Sabr valie
Erantatarign - Frefiemoe dkeres % i3 5 = ]

Finiescial lisbililies massumod s amsiimd oas
n 14518 (4378 =

There s ne s hotwim bevels divmg e vour eodied Pench 31 3021

Estiri-relallonsdifs Between slguificis

Typu Yalmnlen et lalijae SgraBcart yrneas vl oy tpbaE ronle ingate aad Galr valie
mrEalreEe
|rrvwwirmmys ai by valee iough poli o e (s e DAsounmied < i s Tlows Pre "hI"““"T‘_:"‘M" PR HER -
B i - Woletline HI-;: El'rq'-ﬁ'.-rqlnld Igim
Acued ax par ibe wTe
Liahiliey sy soousnt of b1 vevmeen m subaslisy ul i prieckeds Addpeiad eumang of asquismid sy
[PIEA P
Happrasnzs Discoimied cagy flons  Prevoding e miw i ek, it i

Balew ds rrevmcillarae of fair value measardnese. epiegerized withis leved ¥ of thie Tade valig Wlerarchy

NEarel 36 2000 Additisin Trancher ta dgully M) 30 3023
Berreatigs - Frofene siin 143 {535 .
Lzzbiley an secmant nf s mees o inetiog HET] JELLT | . -
Teal I f. i X :

(iAo Eh-f.l Al o ieake
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Lo Travemues Teenology Limited | Formerly Koewn as ® Le Trowmues Techisiny Privete Limtied®)
fades tn Standnlone finmmcis] glabamenis [ae e sear dodeil March 31, S0
LAl amones in MK millions, unbss-othorwise staind |

»

L

Floancial rick munsmemant nbjorthies und palicies
The Coraprany's setivites ave exprssd m vorog of franciul risks voda fk, Tigmding sisk anid forsgn corency nvk, The Compory's senlof. ess gemiesd oo ihe momigeisl
of these rlsks. The Comnpany's serior smampemont ensines thes the Company’s financial sisk acivicies am goversed by upproprisee policies and procoduees and that finanial risks

e amiifiel. messured ond momped in sectnlimes with the Compeoy’s policies ond rigk chisctives The Ceespany reviews ond agreds on polivie for inandging eoch of desr
riks wivich wi suminasized helow |

Credti rl=k
Cvidi fisk i the sk thet & couter party will st et B ubliguions wier o financial instroent o guiomer coserct, feoding 10 0 financial fo, The Coasamy is expsal o

eredit risk fiom its opermting activities (prineily tode reoelvables), chyding doposies with hasks oo fnascial instimstinm, forsign exehasge tmmsctions asd oiber il
et

Trasde roselvahles
Trode rocensbles nre npeatly unseeured. Credit risk 5 mesagel by the Conpesy drough onedit sppmvali ealikbees cnadil lnsss soif contininisdy nmnitaring the
crodimetiness ol cusmmens oo which the Compeny pranis sralil Gerns in the nhnsal coarse of esmas

The apeing omlbysis ol Bode reczivables a5 of the jepnnieg doie & as Bollors:

L] L 1} b & 1) 120 be 130 thus E51 days
Ax gl Morch 31, Dl 1R 1853 1324 H45 120 e 1H 55
Ax ot March 31, B iR VLA fil.7R 1.48 543 um TN
= The ngeing af 1rmde pecelvebles daes ool molmde oxpoviad cedt losd.
Egpeeted coedii bess for irpde recetveblvs ssing saplified approock
Ag ol Axal
Mlueels 30, 2023 Mareh 38,

17—
Cirtnes csirytisg oo T FTEAD
Expecied eradii loswes {net of inspaitsent {1485 (1470
Carryiny amount of trade recedvabies inet of lmpolrment) i4.59 A

Tigmidiny rlsk
gty cisk i the risk that the Cromgany Tiey st be ablo ta mpst fis presst and fuiere cash ani collaral sbliganions aithoo inurrig ymscceplable loses, The Compuny's

aibjeetive s 1o, 82 ol) Gimes matiias omimun levels of liguidity s mest s cash and eoliseral requiremients, The Company closely muodilors B Liquidity pesition and diplogs o
rodbvssd cush mamagensent system. & maintaing advgmto sourses of frunciny incldig boans frm hanks 8 an cpiinised cost

The inkle bebivw jumipsirise e moinriy profile of the Compeny®s Tnmelsl labiSitis bosed o0 eontrociusl undestonsied paymeats.

st ad Blareh 51, B2

Carrylng

0w Demand Upta § Year Maore than | vear Totud
—menpund
Baorneslags .51 271 - - 1731
Lzesse: Limbilsties 4330 - 1700 520 3380
Tande grayalslos WAL - 19313 - L e
Diihix financial liskifics 1853 - 13055 - A8k 53
Toual B EFET T =300
An ot flarch 51, 2620
it G Dt Upin 1 ¥ear  Morethan | yenr  Tonal
Borrowing ETE] 5 §4.55 (TN | 50060
Lo liabilities 308 . 1530 5280 fid. 10
Trade ([N 14} ¢ - E | el 8
Dihes Timmeial labiditics A s " Tl fir - 330,00
Toml TR Y a5 133 1845,
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L Travenues Techosisay Limited | Formerly Kaowa 84 ' Ly Travenwes Technology Privane Llmited™)

Mgriod [ Blapulnlose finascial stetemends for the veur eoded Moreh 31, 2022
(Al amounts i INKE milliens, unlss stheryise aoisd)

£) Pinrkel risk

Pkt pink i ot sk fheat dhe Bur valse af et gash flews of o fcancial insinment will fhiiuste bocosss of changes s murkei pricos. Mok rsk comprsos thees o of risk:
inierest mube sk, curnency risk und ether pree risk, soch e equily price dik snd commuoditg Hik, Fineseinl tstnimomts afecknl b marker rsl inchads ilvanecs, deposite anil

F¥TOC] investmenis

(13 Tatarast Ravp Risk.

Emtgreal ruie nak iy Bw sk that the faar valoe or fumire cash flows of 2 financal msiramem will fnowate because of chongzs. w markis ineress mmies. The Unmpany's exposune. m

e frek- ol chanpes momrket wilived anes rélakes 80 @ Company’s Bank Crendrafl Esilsy with floaiing interest nriee

Expotsce to inseresl raie elsk

Thex Interes swte prafile of the Comspony's mbeneit-bessing Gromcial insletminis a8 rposbed & smmigement @ 1 flloms:

Azl Al
i March 31, 2021 | Mareh 31, 2031
Varluble rase Bktr o culs
Bormewings aarm -

Inderest rade sersithvity anobysis for varlshlc instrementgs:

The Ealbiewing ek demonairaies The smsstingy 0o 0 escnebly possible change & sterenl mie of bormowing:. Wilh 2 ofher vamiabli= Bold constnl, the Coesgans penli Befisee

b s et thronighi dhe impect i foning rane Boerowdigs, 1 fallnwe

Parileaiars

Fuor ke year ended
March 31, Mzl

Impact an Smizoaesi of Frofir sud less for the vear

Eruresae by S0 s point

Impact on ot edqeity for the year

Rnereies By S0 hiss palnt
Diecrerse by 50 basis poin

14}

.14
(L4

Faor the year Illﬂ-lil
March 31, 2821

d] Foreeza currency rink
The Forcdn cumency expaiine ol dwe Cormpaiy of recsivindes sl movables & e ninierisl

{ Tiur space has heow Swemnonaliy letf bkl
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L Trevamued Teshosbany Limbed | Famedy Knpwn as ¥ Le Travennes Tenlmoksgy Frivade Limlimd™)
Py D SrEni iess Nndaneisl gratesbonin for (heriver wnded March 30, 3823
AR amonds i INE millicos, endess pihermmo ststed

6 Tovestined fis Subsidiary

i) T fanusry 31, 20031, ihe Comparny exeoaied @ Sl Ponghase A grosmist (5940 wilh sharehnlilers of Confitm Ticken Cinling Selatians Priviie Limiai
(e “CTPL) for dhe sequisition of o 30, 1% smke & CTPL in molunge o poyesnt ol npposlingidy TR 178 sed myvieemmpere fee of TRE G0 The
Compumy wilk pzguive tee remsisng 40.9% slake of CTPL in fbur tminches. As o Mecs 31, 2020, the fibevaloe ol e remuhng stake wis extlimaed whe
I 107,40,

Furcinse cnnsigerstion

Congidemiion dischamged through bank | TR
Hen-compeie fre el
Taiad 1xp.3%

s Manch 51, 3031, S Comijurty had recpedad e inves i ai e estinaiod valoe off 100% st inslesd oF reconding e s at oot of 501 % sake,
Thes bas been comested & ur banch 30, 3021, by reipelog the comyisg vaboe ol the mvesiasent by Bs 707596 and 0 eompgoniling rodeciion in corsnl
liakilitses of INFL2%4 45, non-cument Fahilieses ol TRE 100,20 snad shages d he neuisd on pecount of imestment s ssbsodsry of Bs 95,25 reipectively.

] O Fune 1, 2021, the Company furfher doguicead skands in CTIL by sl 8y i agily smmmbing o 13 37198 reisting w CTPL becaming am B3.60%
submitiary ps at Manch ¥1, 2022 The Company vl soquire the remsaining | 6.32% stake of TTPL in thiree trchies As i March 31, 2022, the (e vades of
the renaming shike is estinming i be Bs 753,83,

{ey s per the shorchodden agreemgn|, o Commpany bas o mght o acguere the renunnmg 1632 %, Accordingly il hus recondal deriverne dsses as al Misol ),
203 ol TR S48 | Margh 3], 3020 | TR W),

d1 Aeqalsilon during the year ended March 31, Wi 1 Ahhibus rasiness acguisidion mnder Bosiness Trassfer Agreemant

i#) s apponved by she Board of Dinceroes, the Ciroup on July 22, 2021, évtered in to g Business Tresfor Agrosmon (BTA') with Absftes Services [India)
Private Limitisd (“ghe Abdibes) imd fis lounder (ot ogether referned 10 & ife ‘Seller’) . o sequine Ablibu bisinss ndluiing s assess, Habilies,
enipoyees, itllociusd propery and Insivess conimacts idescificd in BTA LLFrld.u'tuLins i % & polng eoncem on o Slump Sale hasls ¢ ihe Aeguined
bmsimess” lor o o] coredkeraiion™ af IR 1 T13.50 in be sesiled by issuing eouiry of TNR 61203 amd TNR 1, 100038 poasidenmion throegh hanking
chanrszls and assuming addidone ne lighilities of MR (645, The wisl conssdomiion & 10 ba edfosiod i cess ol pon<tmnsfo of tusiness contracty undar
Ve BT a8 the closing dete. Ad per the terms of BTA, the Group ised gwn shena wonl THR 61205 on i losing and paid THE 104060 thnaph
banking channels over multiple tranches. Asal March 31, 2017 the anount payabie b TR 50009 which will b2 paad 5 ecbispiem imnelics.
The Gneup obimined contral over the Acquired business and (s deemed i B the bensfical swier of the Undesmbing sfesilve Augus |, 2021, The
enmsisdind @aiement of peoli and kess for the veor ended March 51, 2022 sed e consoliduied balanee sheor ae =t pMarch 11, 2023 Inedude 1he logacr of
operakors of Abhilus, Aceandingly the curment year nomisers are nol comparable with Hiose of previous year.

() Purchase consideration

Considerarion o e dischireed through Beek [inchidmg B4R 430 or non compets fes)* 1,100.55
Sheres issued on account of besiness combinatias BILES
Total eanslderitian II'I'I!-.!-I.I

Eaviieeatod o drcremre i ned Subefines sravmed

e} Assels acguired amd labilities nysumed
M grarzhase geice of TR 17T3.50 5 o the daie of aeguisition had boen albocaiod 0 the aoquinsd asscts and lohilites s follows

Propenty plinl wad oquipment i.7h
Trmle revcivalde R
Chber murmond assois 1403
Cuirrin] Léahiliny PER LT
Mou Cumwen Lishkmy [21L.6id)
Mat Assett sogmiredin) [FT6.95)
Intangibles

Sobmuie L8 XT
Trnde mark nia
Mon-comgcie 484
relierrad 12 linbility (58,34
Het Entnngiisker aoquired[ity 186,04
Mel Asartz arguiced (A0 LI}
Purchnse Congideratiin LTE3.50
Crmmdaill L1 T34, 80}

T ndemmiiahle sangible and hilimgitds pexis hove beon detoomined basis indepondeni valuatinn. Theae sllecaiens are prelimsa—y besed nn mesagemme's
esimaes, The Group 1s in the process of imekiog o fml desermination of the Teir wiloe of 1s0is ood Tiabilsies, Firalization of the purchase prace allocation
ey et w canem adustinems o the sbove allocatien,

() Usefud e of intangilles rooognlivd sn aogaitiom
Th inble below shows the values and lives of inmngihles recoprmed on sequisibee -

L Amspund
Buftware T yrs HiR.2T
Drowtin pdines bl irodkduiarks Y s 1B
‘Hom comipeie B Ol
hitangihles recopnkzed on sogaividiem EIH

izl Axymired recchaibes
Ko adjmusenty Tave leen inndks 1o avypreed T redimvnbles

11 Amelveis of cash Newy am seimisldes;
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Le Travenues Techndogy Limbted | Formerdy known as ™ Le Travenues Technology Private Limived")
Modes tn Slandsbone fnancinl statements for the vear ended March 31, 2122
(AL amsants in INE millFons; unkess oflserwise shibed )

41 Hatio Analysis and ity clomenis

= ___Ealin Mumernbor Denominster 31 -Mar-13 31-Mar-21 o chume Beason [or yvariange

Curment Ratio LCurpont Assets Curnenl Linhilities 12 LT 136% During ihe yeue, e Compiosy e radaed funds doe i
swhich eurrent ratdo his impeivied dorim the yvear,

Deba- Eyuity Ratin Toal Debs" sbhareholder’'s LAERS A2 -4%% During the venr, ihe Company bos prepeid the debeniures

Egulry® {bath 14.5% and 15%) . resulting B e subssatial
reduction m the deba- cgoity ratio.

Crebt Sepvice Coverape rafio.  Eamings available far Debt Serdee’ (0,30 a7 ~10% Due o dncrease i oot oo on debengienes & Tosses

debe service” incurnesl during the year o compared fo proffl in e Bast
RN
R an Equity rtio Pt Praflits afier ises Averagse -16.31% ~T3T% 121% During the vear, the Company el increimenial cost
Shnreholder’s Egisity bty ik provwth strategy o inememse in sharcholders cquity
arsmE ool of resmg el fonds which bove nol yer Tully
st
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ixigo

LE TRAVENUES TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Registered Office: Second Floor, Veritas Building, Sector - 53,
Golf Course Road, Gurugram - 122 002, Haryana, India.
CIN: U63000HR2006PLCO071540; Tel: +91 - 124 - 6682111
Email: secretarial@ixigo.com Website: https://www.ixigo.com/

NOTICE

NOTICE is hereby given that sixteenth annual general meeting of the members (“AGM”)
of Le Travenues Technology Limited (the “Company”) will be held on July 07, 2022,
Thursday at 11:00 A.M. (IST) through Video Conferencing (“VC”) / Other Audio-Visual
Means (“OAVM”) facility i.e., e-AGM via InStaMEET by Link Intime India Private Limited,
to transact the following business:

Ordinary Business
1. To receive, consider and adopt audited financial statements (including consolidated
financial statements) of the Company for the financial year ended March 31, 2022
and the Reports of the Board of Directors and the Auditors thereon.
2. To appoint a director in place of Mr. Rajnish Kumar (DIN: 02834454 ), who retires by

rotation and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

By order of the Board of Directors
For Le Travenues Technology Limited

Sd/-
Date :May 04, 2022 Aloke Bajpai
Place : Gurugram, Haryana (Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)

HMEBO
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NOTES

1. In view of outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (‘(MCA')
had via General Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, General Circular
No0.17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, General Circular No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020
and General Circular No. 02/2022 dated May 05, 2022 (collectively 'MCA Circulars'),
permitted companies to conduct Annual General Meeting through video conferencing
('VC') or Other Audio-Visual Means ('OAVM'). In compliance with the MCA Circulars
and applicable provisions of the Act, the Annual General Meeting of the Company
(‘AGM”) is being convened and conducted through VC / OAVM i.e., e-AGM via
InStaMEET by Link Intime India Private Limited, without the physical presence of the
Members at a common venue. The deemed venue for the AGM shall be the Registered
Office of the Company. Since the AGM will be held through VC/ OAVM Facility, the
Route Map is not annexed in this Notice.

2. For convening the AGM through VC / OAVM, necessary arrangements have been
made by the Company with Link Intime India Private Limited (“LIIPL”) and instructions
for the process to be followed for attending and participating in the AGM forms part of
this Notice.

3. Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Act read with Rule 20 of the Companies
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended) and MCA Circulars, the
Company is providing facility of remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM, to its
Members in respect of the businesses to be transacted at the AGM.

For this purpose, necessary arrangements have been made by the Company with
LIIPL to facilitate remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM. The instructions for the
process to be followed for remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM forms part of this
Notice.

4. Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, a member entitled to attend, and vote is entitled
to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of himself and the proxy need not be a
member of the Company. Since the AGM is being convened pursuant to MCA Circulars
through VC/OAVM facility, physical attendance of members has been dispensed with.
Accordingly, the facility for appointment of proxies by the members will not be available
for the AGM and hence the Proxy Form and Attendance Slip are not annexed to this
Notice.

5. The attendance of the members attending the AGM through VC/OAVM will be counted
for the purpose of ascertaining the quorum under Section 103 of the Companies Act,
2013.

6. Pursuant to Section 113 of the Act, representatives of Institutional / Corporate
Members (i.e., other than individuals / HUF, NRI, etc.) may be appointed for the
purpose of voting through remote e-voting or for participation and voting during the
AGM to be conducted through VC / OAVM. Corporate Members intending to vote or
attend the AGM through their authorised representatives are requested to send a
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certified true copy of the resolution of the board / governing body and power of attorney,
(PDF / JPG Format), authorizing its representative to attend and vote on their behalf
at the AGM. The said resolution / authorisation shall be sent to the Company by e-mail
through registered e-mail address of the corporate member at secretarial@ixigo.com
with a copy to enotices@linkintime.co.in

. The facility for joining the AGM through VC / OAVM will be opened 15 minutes before

the scheduled start time of the AGM i.e.,10:45 A.M. (IST)

. In compliance with MCA Circulars, Notice of the AGM along with the Annual Report for

FY 2021-22 is being sent only through electronic mode to those Members whose name
appear in the Register of Members / Beneficial Owners maintained by the Depositories
as on Friday, June 10, 2022 and whose email addresses are registered with the
Company / Depositories. Members may note that the Notice and Annual Report for FY
2021-22 will also be available on the website of the Company i.e.,
https://www.ixigo.com/ and on the website of LIIPL at https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

. Manner of registering / updating e-mail address: Members whose email address is not

registered, are requested to get the same registered / updated through the following
procedure:

a) Members holding shares in dematerialised mode can get their email address
registered / updated only by contacting their respective Depository Participant.

b) Members holding shares in physical mode may register / update their email address
with the RTA by writing to them at enotices@linkintime.co.in

All documents referred to in the notice and the register of directors and key managerial
personnel and their shareholding maintained under Section 170 of the Act will be
available for inspection in electronic mode. The Members may inspect the same by
sending an e-mail to the Company at secretarial@ixigo.com

The Company has appointed Mr. Surya Kant Gupta, Practicing Company Secretary
(Membership No. F9250) as the Scrutinizer for scrutinizing the remote e-voting and e-
voting process to ensure that the process is carried out in a fair and transparent
manner.

The Member whose name appears in the Register of Members / Beneficial Owners
maintained by the Depositories as on cut-off date i.e., Thursday, June 30, 2022 will
only be considered for the purpose of remote e-voting and e-voting.

The remote e-voting facility commences on Monday, July 04, 2022 at 9:00 A.M. (IST)
and ends on Wednesday, July 06, 2022 at 5:00 P.M. (IST). The remote e-voting shall
be disabled by LIIPL after aforesaid period.

The register of members and share transfer books of the Company will remain closed
from Friday, July 01, 2022 to Thursday, July 07, 2022 (both days inclusive).

Iigo
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Voting rights shall be reckoned on the paid-up value of shares registered in the name
of Members / Beneficial Owners maintained by the Depositories as on the cut-off date
i.e., Thursday, June 30, 2022.

In case of joint holders, the Member whose name appears as the first holder in the
order of names as per the register of members of the Company will be entitled to vote
at the AGM.

The Members attending the AGM who are entitled to vote but have not exercised their
right to vote through remote e-voting, may vote during the AGM through e-voting for all
businesses specified in the accompanying Notice. The Members who have exercised
their right to vote by remote e-voting may attend the AGM but shall not vote at the
AGM.

Members who are holding shares in physical form or who have not registered their
email address with the Company / Depository or any person who acquires shares of
the Company and becomes a Member of the Company after the Notice has been sent
electronically by the Company, and holds shares as of the cut-off date, i.e. Thursday,
June 30, 2022, may obtain the User ID and password by sending a request at
enotices@linkintime.co.in However, if a Member is already registered with LIIPL for
remote e-voting and e-voting then existing User ID and password can be used for
casting vote.

A person who is not a Member as on the cut-off date i.e., Thursday, June 30, 2022
should treat this Notice for information purpose only.

Members can avail the facility of nomination in respect of the equity shares held by
them in physical form pursuant to the provisions of Section 72 of the Act read with rules
thereunder. Members desiring to avail this facility may send their nomination in Form
SH-13 duly filled in, to the Company. Further, members desirous of cancelling / varying
nomination pursuant to the provisions of the Act are requested to send their requests
in Form SH-14 to the Company. These forms will be made available on request.

Additional Information of director seeking re-appointment at the AGM, as required
under Clause 1.2.5 of Secretarial Standard - 2 on General Meetings (“SS-27), is
annexed to the Notice.

All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be
addressed to Mr. Rajiv Ranjan, Assistant Vice President - evoting, LIIPL, C - 101, 1st
Floor, 247 Park, Lal Bahadur Shastri Marg, Vikhroli (West), Mumbai - 400 083;
Helpdesk: 022 - 49186000 / 49186175; E-mail: enotices@linkintime.co.in

The Scrutinizer shall, after the conclusion of AGM, submit the consolidated scrutinizer's
report (i.e., votes cast through remote e-voting and e-voting during AGM) to the
Chairman of AGM after completion of scrutiny and the results will be announced by the
Chairman or any other person authorised by the Chairman. Based on the Scrutinizer’'s
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report, the result will be declared not later than three days of conclusion of AGM and
the details of result along with Scrutinizer's Report will be placed on the website of the
Company at https://www.ixigo.com/ and on the website of LIIPL at
https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

INSTRUCTIONS FOR E-VOTING AND PROCESS AND MANNER FOR JOINING THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING THROUGH VC/ OAVM ARE AS FOLLOWS:

A. REMOTE E-VOTING INSTRUCTIONS:

Individual members holding securities in demat mode can register directly with the
depository or will have the option of accessing various ESP portals directly from their
demat accounts.

1. Login method for Individual members holding securities in demat mode is
given below:

i. Individual members holding securities in demat mode with NSDL

a) Existing IDeAS user can visit the e-Services website of NSDL viz...
https://eservices.nsdl.com either on a personal computer or on a mobile. On
the e-Services home page click on the “Beneficial Owner” icon under
“Login” which is available under 'IDeAS' section, this will prompt you to enter
your existing User ID and Password. After successful authentication, you
will be able to see e-Voting services under Value added services. Click on
“Access to e-Voting” under e-Voting services and you will be able to see e-
voting page. Click on company name or e-voting service provider name i.e.
LINKINTIME and you will be re-directed to “InstaVote” website for casting
your vote during the remote e-Voting period.

b) If you are not registered for IDeAS e-Services, option to register is available
at https://eservices.nsdl.com Select “Register Online for IDeAS Portal” or
click at https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/ldeasDirectReq.jsp

c) Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. Open web browser by typing the
following URL.: https://eservices.nsdl.com either on a personal computer or
on a mobile. Once the home page of e-Voting system is launched, click on
the icon “Login” which is available under 'Shareholder/Member' section. A
new screen will open. You will have to enter your User ID (i.e., your sixteen-
digit demat account number held with NSDL), Password/OTP and a
Verification Code as shown on the screen. After successful authentication,
you will be redirected to NSDL Depository site wherein you can see e-Voting
page. Click on company name or e-Voting service provider name i.e.,
LINKINTIME and you will be redirected to “InstaVote” website for casting
your vote during the remote e-Voting period.

ii. Individual members holding securities in demat mode with CDSL
a) Existing users who have opted for Easi / Easiest, can login through their
user id and password. Option will be made available to reach e-Voting page
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without any further authentication. The URL for users to login to Easi /
Easiest are https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/home/login
or www.cdslindia.com and click on New System Myeasi.

b) After successful login of Easi/Easiest the user will be able to see the E
Voting Menu. The Menu will have links of e-Voting service provider i.e.,
LINKINTIME. Click on LINKINTIME and you will be redirected to “InstaVote”
website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period.

c) If the user is not registered for Easi/Easiest, option to register is available
at https://web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/Registration/EasiReqistration.

d) Alternatively, the user can directly access e-Voting page by providing demat
account number and PAN from a link available at www.cdslindia.com home
page. The system will authenticate the user by sending OTP on registered
mobile and email as recorded in the demat account. After successful
authentication, user will be provided links for the respective ESP i.e.,
LINKINTIME. Click on LINKINTIME and you will be redirected to “InstaVote”
website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period.

iii. Individual members (holding securities in demat mode) login through their
depository participants

You can also login using the login credentials of your demat account through
your Depository Participant registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting facility.
Upon logging in, you will be able to see e-Voting option. Click on e-Voting option,
you will be redirected to NSDL / CDSL Depository site after successful
authentication, wherein you can see e-Voting feature. Click on company name
or e-Voting service provider name i.e., LINKINTIME and you will be redirected
to “InstaVote” website for casting your vote during the remote e-Voting period.

2. Login method for Individual members holding securities in physical form /
Non-Individual members holding securities in demat mode is given below:

Individual members, holding shares in physical form / non-individual members
holding securities in demat mode as on the cut-off date for e-voting may register for
e-Voting facility of Link Intime as under:

i. Open the internet browser and launch the URL.: https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

ii. Click on “Sign Up” under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab and register with your
following details:

A. User ID:

Members holding shares in physical form shall provide Event No + Folio Number
registered with the Company. Members holding shares in NSDL demat account
shall provide 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digit Client ID; Members holding
shares in CDSL demat account shall provide 16 Digit Beneficiary ID.
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B. PAN:

Enter your 10-digit Permanent Account Number (PAN) (Members who have not
updated their PAN with the Depository Participant (DP) / Company shall use the
sequence number provided to you, if applicable.

C. DOB/DOI:
Enter the Date of Birth (DOB) / Date of Incorporation (DOI) (As recorded with
your DP / Company - in DD/MM/YYYY format)

D. Bank Account Number:
Enter your Bank Account Number (last four digits), as recorded with your
DP/Company.

*Members holding shares in physical form but have not recorded ‘C’ and ‘D’, shall provide their
Folio number in ‘D’ above
*Members holding shares in NSDL form, shall provide ‘D’ above

» Set the password of your choice (The password should contain minimum 8
characters, at least one special Character (@!#$&*), at least one numeral, at
least one alphabet and at least one capital letter).

» Click “confirm” (Your password is now generated).

ii. Click on ‘Login’ under ‘SHARE HOLDER'’ tab.
iv. Enter your User ID, Password and Image Verification (CAPTCHA) Code and
click on ‘Submit’.

3. Cast your vote electronically:

i. After successful login, you will be able to see the notification for e-voting. Select
‘View’ icon.

ii. E-voting page will appear.

iii. Refer the resolution description and cast your vote by selecting your desired
option ‘Favour / Against’ (If you wish to view the entire resolution details, click
on the ‘View Resolution’ file link).

iv. After selecting the desired option i.e., Favour / Against, click on ‘Submit’. A
confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on
‘Yes’, else to change your vote, click on ‘No’ and accordingly modify your vote.

4. Guidelines for Institutional shareholders:

Institutional shareholders (i.e., other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and
Custodians are required to log on the e-voting system of LIIPL at
https://instavote.linkintime.co.in and register themselves as ‘Custodian / Mutual
Fund / Corporate Body’. They are also required to upload a scanned certified true
copy of the board resolution / authority letter / power of attorney etc. together with
attested specimen signature of the duly authorised representative(s) in PDF format
in the ‘Custodian / Mutual Fund / Corporate Body’ login for the Scrutinizer to

verify the same.
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5. Helpdesk for Individual members holding securities in physical mode /
Institutional shareholders:

Members facing any technical issue in login may contact Link Intime INSTAVOTE
helpdesk by sending a request at enotices@linkintime.co.in or contact on: Tel: 022
- 4918 6000.

6. Helpdesk for Individual members holding securities in demat mode:

Individual members holding securities in demat mode may contact the respective
helpdesk for any technical issues related to login through Depository i.e., NSDL

and CDSL.
Login type Helpdesk details
Individual Members facing any technical issue in login can contact
Shareholders NSDL helpdesk by sending a request at

holding securities in | evoting@nsdl.co.in or call at toll free number: 1800 1020
demat mode with 990 and 1800 22 44 30

NSDL
Individual Members facing any technical issue in login can contact
Shareholders CDSL helpdesk by sending a request at

holding securities in | helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact at 022-
demat mode with 23058738 or 022- 23058542-43.
CDSL

7. Individual members holding securities in Physical mode has forgotten the
password:

If an Individual members holding securities in Physical mode has forgotten the
USER ID [Login ID] or Password or both then the shareholder can use the “Forgot
Password” option available on the e-Voting website of Link Intime:
https://instavote.linkintime.co.in

i.Click on ‘Login’ under ‘SHARE HOLDER’ tab and further Click ‘forgot
password?’

ii. Enter User ID, select Mode and Enter Image Verification code (CAPTCHA). Click
on “SUBMIT”.

In case member is having valid email address, Password will be sent to his / her
registered e-mail address. Shareholders can set the password of his/her choice by
providing the information about the particulars of the Security Question and
Answer, PAN, DOB/DOI, Bank Account Number (last four digits) etc. as mentioned
above. The password should contain minimum 8 characters, at least one special
character (@#3$&*), at least one numeral, at least one alphabet and at least one
capital letter.
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User ID for members holding shares in Physical Form (i.e., Share Certificate): Your
User ID is Event No + Folio Number registered with the Company

8. Individual members holding securities in demat mode with NSDL/ CDSL has
forgotten the password:

Members who are unable to retrieve User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget
User ID and Forget Password option available at abovementioned depository /
depository participants website.

» It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other person
and take utmost care to keep your password confidential.

» For shareholders/ members holding shares in physical form, the details can be
used only for voting on the resolutions contained in this Notice.

» During the voting period, shareholders/ members can login any number of time
till they have voted on the resolution(s) for a particular “Event”.

B. PROCESS AND MANNER FOR ATTENDING THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
THROUGH INSTAMEET:

1. Open the internet browser and launch the URL.: https://instameet.linkintime.co.in

2. Select the “Company” and ‘Event Date’ and register with your following details:

i. Demat Account No. or Folio No: Enter your 16 digit Demat Account No. or Folio
No.

Manner of holding shares User ID
Shareholders / members holding shares in CDSL | 16 Digit Beneficiary ID
demat account
Shareholders/ members holding shares in NSDL | 8 Character DP ID

demat account followed by 8 Digit
Client ID

Shareholders/ members holding shares in | Folio Number registered

physical form with the Company

ii. PAN: Enter your 10-digit Permanent Account Number (PAN) (Members who have
not updated their PAN with the Depository Participant (DP) / Company shall use
the sequence number provided to you, if applicable.

iii. Mobile No.: Enter your mobile number.

iv. Email ID: Enter your email id, as recorded with your DP / Company.

3. Click “Go to Meeting” (You are now registered for InstaMeet and your attendance

is marked for the meeting).
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4. The Members can join the AGM in the VC / OAVM mode 15 minutes before the
scheduled time of the commencement of the AGM by following the procedure
mentioned in the Notice. The facility of participation at the AGM through VC /
OAVM will be made available to at least 1,000 members on first come first served
basis. This will not include large Shareholders (Shareholders holding 2% or more
shareholding), Promoters, Institutional Investors, Directors, Key Managerial
Personnel, the Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination and
Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders Relationship Committee, Auditors etc.
who are allowed to attend the AGM without restriction on account of first come first
served basis.

5. Please refer the instructions for the software requirements given in point ‘E’ below
and kindly ensure to install the same on the device which would be used to attend
the meeting. Please read the instructions carefully and participate in the meeting.
You may also call upon the InstaMeet Support Desk for any support on the
dedicated number provided to you in the instruction/ InstaMEET website.

C. Instructions for Members to speak during the AGM through InstaMeet:

1. The Members who would like to express their views / ask questions during the AGM
must register themselves as a speaker by sending their request from their
registered e-mail Id mentioning their name, demat account number / folio number,
email id, PAN, mobile number at secretarial@ixigo.com up to July 04, 2022, 05:00
P.M. (IST). Those Members who have registered themselves as a speaker will only
be allowed to express their views / ask questions during the AGM.

2. The Company reserves the right to restrict the number of questions and number of
speakers, depending upon availability of time as appropriate for smooth conduct of
the AGM.

3. Members will receive “speaking serial number” once they mark attendance for the
meeting.

4. Other Members may ask questions to the panelist, via active chat-board during the
meeting.

5. Please remember speaking serial number and start your conversation with panelist
by switching on video and audio mode of your device.

6. Members are requested to speak only when moderator of the meeting /
management will announce the name and serial number for speaking.

D. INSTRUCTIONS FOR MEMBERS TO VOTE DURING THE AGM THROUGH
INSTAMEET:

1. Once the electronic voting is activated by the scrutinizer / moderator during the
meeting, members who have not exercised their vote through the remote e-voting
can cast the vote as under:

i. On the Shareholders VC page, click on the link for e-Voting “Cast your vote”.

x[a]ale
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ii. Enter your 16 digit Demat Account No. / Folio No. and OTP (received on the
registered mobile number / registered email Id) received during registration for
InstaMEET and click on ‘Submit’.

iii. After successful login, you will see “Resolution Description” and against the
same the option “Favour” / “Against” for voting.

iv. Cast your vote by selecting appropriate option i.e., “Favour” / “Against” as
desired. Enter the number of shares (which represents no. of votes) as on the
cut-off date under “Favour” / “Against”.

v. After selecting the appropriate option i.e., Favour / Against as desired and you
have decided to vote, click on “Save”. A confirmation box will be displayed. If
you wish to confirm your vote, click on “Confirm”, else to change your vote, click
on “Back” and accordingly modify your vote.

vi. Once you confirm your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify or
change your vote subsequently.

Note: Members, who will be present in the AGM through InstaMeet facility and
have not casted their vote on the Resolutions through Remote e-voting and
are otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote through e-
Voting facility during the meeting. Members who have voted through Remote
e-voting prior to the AGM will be eligible to attend/ participate in the AGM
through InstaMeet. However, they will not be eligible to vote again during the
meeting.

2. Members are encouraged to join the Meeting through Tablets/ Laptops connected
through broadband for better experience.

3. Members are required to use Internet with a good speed (preferably 2 MBPS
download stream) to avoid any disturbance during the meeting.

4. Please note that Members connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through
Laptops connecting via Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Visual loss due to
fluctuation in their network. It is therefore recommended to use stable Wi-Fi or LAN
connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

5. In case members have any queries regarding login/ e-voting, they may send an
email to instameet@linkintime.co.in or contact on 022 - 49186175.

E. INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS AND OTHER GENERAL
INSTRUCTIONS

For a smooth experience of viewing the AGM proceedings of Link Intime India
Private Limited InstaMEET, shareholders / members who are registered as
speakers for the event are requested to download and install the Webex application
in advance by following the instructions as under:
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i. Please download and install the Webex application by clicking on the link
https://www.webex.com/downloads.html/ and join the meeting by clicking on Join
Now

OR
i.  You may join the meeting by following the process mentioned as under:

(a) If Webex application is not installed, a new page will appear giving you an
option to either Add Webex to chrome or Run a temporary application.

(b) Click on Run a temporary application, an exe file will be downloaded. Click
on this exe file to run the application and join the meeting by clicking on Join

Now.
By order of the Board of Directors
For Le Travenues Technology Limited
Sd/-
Place : Gurugram, Haryana Aloke Bajpai
Date : May 04, 2022 (Chairman, Managing Director & Group CEO)
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Annexure to Notice

Details of director seeking re-appointment as required for compliance with

Secretarial Standard - 2 issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India

Name of Director

Rajnish Kumar

DIN

02834454

Age

41

Qualifications

Bachelor of technology in computer science
and engineering from the Indian Institute of
Technology, Kanpur.

Experience

He worked as a software development
engineer at Amadeus in France. Under his
leadership, our Company launched ixigo.com
in India in 2007 and developed our mobile
application, ‘ixigo-trains’,

Terms & Conditions of Appointment

As a Non - Executive Director & Group
CPTO, he is entrusted with the responsibility
of heading the entire technology operations of
the Group.

Details of remuneration last drawn

Rs. 2.42 million for the financial year ended
March 31, 2022.

Date of first appointment on the
Board

April 01, 2010

Shareholding in the company

3,22,94,800 equity shares

Relationship with other Directors,
Manager and other Key Managerial
Personnel of the Company

Not related to any other Director, Manager or
KMP of the Company.

Number of Meetings of the Board
attended during the year

16

Other Directorships, Membership/
Chairmanship of Committees of
other Boards

Holding the office of director on the Board of

following entities:

e Travenues Innovations Private Limited

e Confirm Ticket Online Solutions Private
Limited

e Ixigo Europe S.L.
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